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Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements
Parts I and II of this annual report on Form 10-K (the "Report") contain forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. When used in this document, the words "believes," "plans," "expects,"
"anticipates," "intends," "continue," "may," "will," "could," "should," "future," "potential," "estimate," or the
negative of such terms and similar expressions as they relate to Pioneer Natural Resources Company ("Pioneer"
or the "Company") or its management are intended to identify forward-looking statements. The forward-looking
statements are based on the Company's current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about the
Company and the industry in which the Company operates. Although the Company believes that the expectations
and assumptions reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, they involve risks and uncertainties
that are difficult to predict and, in many cases, beyond the Company's control. Accordingly, no assurances can be
given that the actual events and results will not be materially different than the anticipated results described in the
forward-looking statements. See "Item 1. Business — Competition, Markets and Regulations", "Item 1A. Risk
Factors" and "Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" for a description of various
factors that could materially affect the ability of Pioneer to achieve the anticipated results described in the
forward-looking statements. The Company undertakes no duty to publicly update these statements except as
required by law.
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Definitions of Certain Terms and Conventions Used Herein
Within this Report, the following terms and conventions have specific meanings:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

•

"Bbl" means a standard barrel containing 42 United States gallons.
"Bcf" means one billion cubic feet.
"BOE" means a barrel of oil equivalent and is a standard convention used to express oil and gas volumes on a
comparable oil equivalent basis. Gas equivalents are determined under the relative energy content method by
using the ratio of 6.0 Mcf of gas to 1.0 Bbl of oil or natural gas liquid.
"BOEPD" means BOE per day.
"Btu" means British thermal unit, which is a measure of the amount of energy required to raise the
temperature of one pound of water one degree Fahrenheit.
"CBM" means coal bed methane.
"field fuel" means gas consumed to operate field equipment (primarily compressors) prior to the gas being
delivered to a sales point.
"GAAP" means accounting principles that are generally accepted in the United States of America.
"LIBOR" means London Interbank Offered Rate, which is a market rate of interest.
"LNG" means liquefied natural gas.
"MBbl" means one thousand Bbls.
"MBOE" means one thousand BOEs.
"Mcf" means one thousand cubic feet and is a measure of natural gas volume.
"MMBbl" means one million Bbls.
"MMBOE" means one million BOEs.
"MMBtu" means one million Btus.
"MMcf" means one million cubic feet.
"MMcfpd" means one million cubic feet per day.
"NGL" means natural gas liquid.
"NYMEX" means the New York Mercantile Exchange.
"NYSE" means the New York Stock Exchange.
"Pioneer" or the "Company" means Pioneer Natural Resources Company and its subsidiaries.
"proved reserves" mean the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from
known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions, i.e., prices and costs as of the date the
estimate is made. Prices include consideration of changes in existing prices provided only by contractual
arrangements, but not on escalations based upon future conditions.
(i)
Reservoirs are considered proved if economic producibility is supported by either actual production
or conclusive formation test. The area of a reservoir considered proved includes (A) that portion delineated by
drilling and defined by gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts, if any; and (B) the immediately adjoining portions
not yet drilled, but which can be reasonably judged as economically productive on the basis of available
geological and engineering data. In the absence of information on fluid contacts, the lowest known structural
occurrence of hydrocarbons controls the lower proved limit of the reservoir.
(ii)
Reserves which can be produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques
(such as fluid injection) are included in the "proved" classification when successful testing by a pilot project,
or the operation of an installed program in the reservoir, provides support for the engineering analysis on
which the project or program was based.
(iii)
Estimates of proved reserves do not include the following: (A) oil that may become available from
known reservoirs but is classified separately as "indicated additional reserves"; (B) crude oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids, the recovery of which is subject to reasonable doubt because of uncertainty as to geology,
reservoir characteristics or economic factors; (C) crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids, that may occur
in undrilled prospects; and (D) crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids that may be recovered from oil
shales, coal, gilsonite and other such sources.
"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
"Standardized Measure" means the after-tax present value of estimated future net cash flows of proved
reserves, determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, using prices and costs in effect
at the specified date and a ten percent discount rate.
"VPP" means volumetric production payment.
"U.S." means United States.
With respect to information on the working interest in wells, drilling locations and acreage, "net" wells,
drilling locations and acres are determined by multiplying "gross" wells, drilling locations and acres by the
Company's working interest in such wells, drilling locations or acres. Unless otherwise specified, wells,
drilling locations and acreage statistics quoted herein represent gross wells, drilling locations or acres.
Unless otherwise indicated, all currency amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars.
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PART I
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

General
Pioneer is a Delaware corporation whose common stock is listed and traded on the NYSE. The
Company is a large independent oil and gas exploration and production company with current operations in the
United States, South Africa and Tunisia. Pioneer is a holding company whose assets consist of direct and indirect
ownership interests in, and whose business is conducted substantially through, its subsidiaries.
The Company's executive offices are located at 5205 N. O'Connor Blvd., Suite 200, Irving, Texas 75039.
The Company's telephone number is (972) 444-9001. The Company maintains other offices in Anchorage, Alaska;
Denver, Colorado; Midland, Texas; London, England; Capetown, South Africa and Tunis, Tunisia. At December
31, 2007, the Company had 1,702 employees, 1,032 of whom were employed in field and plant operations.
Available Information
Pioneer files or furnishes annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with
the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"). The public may read and copy any
materials that Pioneer files with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington,
D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC
at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers, including Pioneer, that file electronically with the SEC. The
public can obtain any documents that Pioneer files with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.
The Company also makes available free of charge through its internet website (www.pxd.com) its Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable,
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act as soon as
reasonably practicable after it electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the SEC.
Mission and Strategies
The Company's mission is to enhance shareholder investment returns through strategies that maximize
Pioneer's long-term profitability and net asset value. The strategies employed to achieve this mission are
predicated on maintaining financial flexibility and capital allocation discipline. These strategies are anchored by
the Company's long-lived Spraberry oil field and Hugoton, Raton and West Panhandle gas fields which have an
estimated remaining productive life in excess of 40 years. Underlying these fields are approximately 89 percent of
the Company's proved oil and gas reserves as of December 31, 2007.
Business Activities
The Company is an independent oil and gas exploration and production company. Pioneer's purpose is to
competitively and profitably explore for, develop and produce oil and gas reserves. In so doing, the Company sells
homogenous oil, NGL and gas units which, except for geographic and relatively minor quality differences, cannot
be significantly differentiated from units offered for sale by the Company's competitors. Competitive advantage is
gained in the oil and gas exploration and development industry by employing well-trained experienced personnel
who make prudent capital investment decisions, embrace technological innovation and are focused on price and
cost management.
Petroleum industry. For the last several years the petroleum industry has generally been characterized by
volatile oil, NGL and gas commodity prices. During recent years, world oil prices increased in response to
increases in demand from developing economies and the perceived threat of supply disruptions in the Middle East,
Nigeria, Venezuela and other areas. In 2007, oil prices increased due to supply uncertainty surrounding Middle
East conflicts and increasing world demand for both oil and refined products. A significant increase of refinery
outages led to tightness in products markets which was responsible for oil price strength throughout much of the
year. North American gas prices were generally consistent throughout 2007. Early 2007 price weakness, a result of
a significant inventory overhang and mild weather, was largely offset by early fall when LNG imports to the Gulf
Coast were reduced. LNG cargoes slated for delivery into the U.S. instead were sold into Asia and Europe in
response to major demand increases brought on by harsh weather and large nuclear powered electric generation
plant outages. Significant factors that will impact 2008 commodity prices include: developments in the issues
currently impacting
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Iraq and Iran and the Middle East in general; demand of Asian and European markets; the extent to which
members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries ("OPEC") and other oil exporting nations are able
to continue to manage oil supply through export quotas; and overall North American gas supply and demand
fundamentals, including the impact of uncertain LNG deliveries to the United States. Perhaps the issue having the
greatest impact on prices will be the strength of the U.S. economy and the prospect of a recession. In conjunction
with the relatively higher commodity prices experienced during 2007, the Company also experienced increasing
costs, particularly higher drilling and well servicing rig rates and drilling supplies.
To mitigate the impact of commodity price volatility on the Company's net asset value, Pioneer utilizes
commodity hedge contracts. See "Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" and Note
J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data" for information regarding the impact to oil and gas revenues during 2007, 2006 and 2005 from the
Company's hedging activities and the Company's open hedge positions at December 31, 2007.
The Company. The Company's asset base is anchored by the Spraberry oil field located in West Texas, the
Raton gas field located in southern Colorado, the Hugoton gas field located in southwest Kansas and the West
Panhandle gas field located in the Texas Panhandle. Complementing these areas, the Company has exploration and
development opportunities and/or oil and gas production activities in the Edwards Trend area of South Texas, the
Barnett Shale area of North Texas, the Gulf of Mexico shelf, Mississippi and Alaska, and internationally in South
Africa and Tunisia. Combined, these assets create a portfolio of resources and opportunities that are well balanced
among oil, NGLs and gas, and that are also well balanced among long-lived, dependable production, lower-risk
exploration and development opportunities and a limited number of higher-impact exploration opportunities.
Additionally, the Company has a team of dedicated employees that represent the professional disciplines and
sciences that will allow Pioneer to maximize the long-term profitability and net asset value inherent in its physical
assets.
The Company provides administrative, financial, legal and management support to United States and foreign
subsidiaries that explore for, develop and produce proved reserves. Production operations are principally located
domestically in Texas, Kansas, Colorado, Alaska, Mississippi and the Gulf of Mexico shelf, and internationally in
South Africa and Tunisia.
Production. The Company focuses its efforts towards maximizing its average daily production of oil, NGLs
and gas through development drilling, production enhancement activities and acquisitions of producing properties
while minimizing the controllable costs associated with the production activities. During the year ended December
31, 2007, the Company's average daily production, on a BOE basis, increased eight percent as a result of
successful drilling programs in the United States and Tunisia and a five percent decrease in the delivery of VPP
volumes. Production, price and cost information with respect to the Company's properties for 2007, 2006 and 2005
is set forth under "Item 2. Properties — Selected Oil and Gas Information — Production, Price and Cost Data".
Development activities. The Company seeks to increase its oil and gas reserves, production and cash flow
through development drilling and by conducting other production enhancement activities, such as well
recompletions. During the three years ended December 31, 2007, the Company drilled 2,608 gross (2,415 net)
wells, 96 percent of which were successfully completed as productive wells, at a total drilling cost (net to the
Company's interest) of $4.2 billion.
The Company believes that its current property base provides a substantial inventory of prospects for future
reserve, production and cash flow growth. The Company's proved reserves as of December 31, 2007 include
proved undeveloped reserves and proved developed reserves that are behind pipe of 221 MMBbls of oil and NGLs
and 1,003 Bcf of gas. Development of these proved reserves will require future capital expenditures. The timing of
the development of these reserves will be dependent upon the commodity price environment, the Company's
expected operating cash flows and the Company's financial condition. The Company believes that its current
portfolio of proved reserves and unproved prospects provides attractive development and exploration opportunities
for at least the next three to five years.
Exploratory activities. The Company has devoted significant efforts and resources to hiring and developing
a highly skilled geoscience staff as well as acquiring a portfolio of lower-risk exploration opportunities
complemented by a limited number of higher-impact exploration opportunities. In 2008, the Company expects to
spend approximately 90 percent of its $1.0 billion capital budget on low-risk development and resource play
extension drilling in its four core onshore areas (Spraberry, Raton, Edwards Trend and Tunisia). The remaining ten
percent will be focused primarily on development drilling in the Company's Alaskan Oooguruk project and Barnett
Shale drilling. Exploratory and extension drilling involve greater risks of dry holes or failure to find commercial
quantities
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of hydrocarbons than development drilling or enhanced recovery activities. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors — Drilling
activities" below.
Acquisition activities. The Company regularly seeks to acquire properties that complement its operations,
provide exploration and development opportunities and potentially provide superior returns on investment. In
addition, the Company pursues strategic acquisitions that will allow the Company to expand into new geographical
areas that feature producing properties and provide exploration/exploitation opportunities. During 2007, 2006 and
2005, the Company invested $536.7 million, $223.2 million and $272.9 million, respectively, of acquisition capital
to purchase proved oil and gas properties, including additional interests in its existing assets, and to acquire new
prospects for future exploitation and exploration activities. See Note C of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for a description of the Company's
acquisitions of proved oil and gas properties during 2007, 2006 and 2005.
The Company periodically evaluates and pursues acquisition opportunities (including opportunities to
acquire particular oil and gas assets or entities owning oil and gas assets and opportunities to engage in mergers,
consolidations or other business combinations with such entities) and at any given time may be in various stages of
evaluating such opportunities. Such stages may take the form of internal financial analysis, oil and gas reserve
analysis, due diligence, the submission of an indication of interest, preliminary negotiations, negotiation of a letter
of intent or negotiation of a definitive agreement. The success of any acquisition is uncertain and will depend on a
number of factors, some of which are outside the Company's control. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors — Acquisitions".
Asset divestitures. The Company regularly reviews its asset base for the purpose of identifying nonstrategic
assets, the disposition of which would increase capital resources available for other activities and create
organizational and operational efficiencies. While the Company generally does not dispose of assets solely for the
purpose of reducing debt, such dispositions can have the result of furthering the Company's objective of increasing
financial flexibility through reduced debt levels. See Notes N, T and V of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for specific information regarding
the Company's asset divestitures, VPPs and discontinued operations during 2007, 2006 and 2005.
The Company anticipates that it will continue to sell nonstrategic properties or other assets from time to time
to increase capital resources available for other activities, to achieve operating and administrative efficiencies and
to improve profitability.
Operations by Geographic Area
The Company operates in one industry segment, that being oil and gas exploration and production. See Note
R of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data" for geographic operating segment information, including results of operations and segment assets.
Marketing of Production
General. Production from the Company's properties is marketed using methods that are consistent with
industry practices. Sales prices for oil, NGL and gas production are negotiated based on factors normally
considered in the industry, such as the index or spot price for gas or the spot price for oil, price regulations,
distance from the well to the pipeline, well pressure, estimated reserves, commodity quality and prevailing supply
conditions. See "Qualitative Disclosures" in "Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk" for additional discussion of operations and price risk.
Significant purchasers. During 2007, the Company's significant purchasers of oil, NGLs and gas were
Plains Marketing LP (14 percent), Oneok Resources (11 percent) and Occidental Energy Marketing, Inc. (11
percent). The Company is of the opinion that the loss of any one purchaser would not have an adverse effect on its
ability to sell its oil, NGL and gas production.
Hedging activities. The Company, from time to time, utilizes commodity swap and collar contracts in order
to (i) reduce the effect of price volatility on the commodities the Company produces and sells, (ii) support the
Company's annual capital budgeting and expenditure plans and (iii) reduce commodity price risk associated with
certain capital projects. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations" for a description of the Company's hedging activities, "Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk" and Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for information concerning the impact on oil and gas revenues
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during 2007, 2006 and 2005 from commodity hedging activities and the Company's open and terminated
commodity hedge positions at December 31, 2007.
Competition, Markets and Regulations
Competition. The oil and gas industry is highly competitive. A large number of companies, including major
integrated and other independent companies, and individuals engage in the exploration for and development of oil
and gas properties, and there is a high degree of competition for oil and gas properties suitable for development or
exploration. Acquisitions of oil and gas properties have been an important element of the Company's growth. The
Company intends to continue to acquire oil and gas properties that complement its operations, provide exploration
and development opportunities and potentially provide superior returns on investment. The principal competitive
factors in the acquisition of oil and gas properties include the staff and data necessary to identify, evaluate and
acquire such properties and the financial resources necessary to acquire and develop the properties. Higher recent
commodity prices have increased the cost of oil and gas properties available for acquisition. Many of the
Company's competitors are substantially larger and have financial and other resources greater than those of the
Company.
Markets. The Company's ability to produce and market oil, NGLs and gas profitably depends on numerous
factors beyond the Company's control. The effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted or anticipated.
Although the Company cannot predict the occurrence of events that may affect these commodity prices or the
degree to which these prices will be affected, the prices for any commodity that the Company produces will
generally approximate current market prices in the geographic region of the production.
Governmental regulations. Enterprises that sell securities in public markets are subject to regulatory
oversight by agencies such as the SEC and the NYSE. This regulatory oversight imposes on the Company the
responsibility for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures that will ensure that material
information relating to the Company is made known to management and that the financial statements and other
information included in submissions to the SEC do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made in such submissions not misleading. Compliance with
some of these regulations is costly and regulations are subject to change or reinterpretation.
Environmental matters and regulations. The Company's operations are subject to stringent and complex
foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations governing environmental protection as well as the discharge
of materials into the environment. These laws and regulations may, among other things:

•
•
•
•
•

require the acquisition of various permits before drilling commences;
enjoin some or all of the operations of facilities deemed in non-compliance with permits;
restrict the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the
environment in connection with oil and gas drilling, production and transportation activities;
limit or prohibit drilling activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected
areas; and
require remedial measures to mitigate pollution from former and ongoing operations, such as requirements
to close pits and plug abandoned wells.

These laws, rules and regulations may also restrict the rate of oil and gas production below the rate that
would otherwise be possible. The regulatory burden on the oil and gas industry increases the cost of doing business
in the industry and consequently affects profitability. Additionally, United States Congress and state legislatures,
federal and state agencies and foreign government and agencies frequently revise environmental laws and
regulations, and the clear trend in environmental regulation is to place more restrictions and limitations on
activities that may affect the environment. Any changes that result in more stringent and costly waste handling,
disposal and cleanup requirements for the oil and gas industry could have a significant impact on the Company's
operating costs.
The following is a summary of some of the existing laws, rules and regulations to which the Company's
business operations are subject.
Waste handling. The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA") and comparable state statutes
regulate the generation, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal and cleanup of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes. Under the auspices of the federal Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), the individual states
administer some or all of the provisions of RCRA, sometimes in conjunction with their own, more stringent
requirements. Drilling fluids, produced waters and most of the other wastes associated with the exploration,
development and production of crude oil or gas are currently regulated under RCRA's non-hazardous waste
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provisions. However, it is possible that certain oil and gas exploration and production wastes now classified as
non-hazardous could be classified as hazardous wastes in the future. Any such change could result in an increase in
the Company's costs to manage and dispose of wastes, which could have a material adverse effect on the
Company's results of operations and financial position. Also, in the course of the Company's operations, it
generates some amounts of ordinary industrial wastes, such as paint wastes, waste solvents, and waste oils, that
may be regulated as hazardous wastes.
Wastes containing naturally occurring radioactive materials ("NORM") may also be generated in
connection with the Company's operations. Certain processes used to produce oil and gas may enhance the
radioactivity of NORM, which may be present in oilfield wastes. NORM is not subject to regulation under the
Atomic Energy Act of 1954, or the Low Level Radioactive Waste Policy Act. NORM is subject primarily to
individual state radiation control regulations. In addition, NORM handling and management activities are
governed by regulations promulgated by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration ("OSHA"). These
state and OSHA regulations impose certain requirements concerning worker protection; the treatment, storage and
disposal of NORM waste; the management of waste piles, containers and tanks containing NORM; as well as
restrictions on the uses of land with NORM contamination.
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act. The Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA"), also known as the Superfund law,
imposes joint and several liability, without regard to fault or legality of conduct, on classes of persons who are
considered to be responsible for the release of a hazardous substance into the environment. These persons include
the current and past owner or operator of the site where the release occurred, and anyone who disposed or arranged
for the disposal of a hazardous substance released at the site. Under CERCLA, such persons may be subject to
joint and several liability for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the
environment, for damages to natural resources and for the costs of certain health studies. In addition, it is not
uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third-parties to file claims for personal injury and property
damage allegedly caused by the hazardous substances released into the environment.
The Company currently owns or leases numerous properties that have been used for oil and gas exploration
and production for many years. Although the Company believes it has utilized operating and waste disposal
practices that were standard in the industry at the time, hazardous substances, wastes, or hydrocarbons may have
been released on or under the properties owned or leased by the Company, or on or under other locations,
including off-site locations, where such substances have been taken for disposal. In addition, some of the
Company's properties have been operated by third parties or by previous owners or operators whose treatment and
disposal of hazardous substances, wastes, or hydrocarbons were not under the Company's control. In fact, there is
evidence that petroleum spills or releases have occurred in the past at some of the properties owned or leased by
the Company. These properties and the substances disposed or released on them may be subject to CERCLA,
RCRA and analogous state laws. Under such laws, the Company could be required to remove previously disposed
substances and wastes, remediate contaminated property or perform remedial plugging or pit closure operations to
prevent future contamination.
Water discharges and use. The Clean Water Act (the "CWA") and analogous state laws impose restrictions
and strict controls with respect to the discharge of pollutants, including spills and leaks of oil and other substances,
into waters of the United States. The discharge of pollutants into regulated waters is prohibited, except in
accordance with the terms of a permit issued by EPA or an analogous state agency. The CWA and regulations
implemented thereunder also prohibit the discharge of dredge and fill material into regulated waters, including
wetlands, unless authorized by an appropriately issued permit. Spill prevention, control and countermeasure
requirements of federal laws require appropriate containment berms and similar structures to help prevent the
contamination of navigable waters in the event of a petroleum hydrocarbon tank spill, rupture or leak. Federal and
state regulatory agencies can impose administrative, civil and criminal penalties for non-compliance with
discharge permits or other requirements of the CWA and analogous state laws and regulations.
The primary federal law imposing liability for oil spills is the Oil Pollution Act ("OPA"), which sets
minimum standards for prevention, containment and cleanup of oil spills. OPA applies to vessels, offshore
facilities and onshore facilities, including exploration and production facilities that may affect waters of the United
States. Under OPA, responsible parties, including owners and operators of onshore facilities, may be subject to oil
spill cleanup costs and natural resource damages as well as a variety of public and private damages that may result
from oil spills.
Operations associated with the Company's properties also produce wastewaters that are disposed via
injection in underground wells. These activities are regulated by the Safe Drinking Water Act (the "SDWA") and
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analogous state and local laws. The underground injection well program under the SDWA classifies produced
wastewaters and imposes restrictions on the drilling and operation of disposal wells as well as the quality of
injected wastewaters. This program is designed to protect drinking water sources and requires permits from the
EPA or analogous state agency for the Company's disposal wells. Currently, the Company believes that disposal
well operations on the Company's properties comply with all applicable requirements under the SDWA. However,
a change in the regulations or the inability to obtain permits for new injection wells in the future may affect the
Company's ability to dispose of produced waters and ultimately increase the cost of the Company's operations.
The waters produced by the Company's CBM operations also may be subject to the laws of various states
and regulatory bodies regarding the ownership and use of water. For example, in connection with the Company's
CBM operations in the Raton Basin in Colorado, water is removed from coal seams to reduce pressure and allow
the methane to be recovered. Historically, these operations have been regulated by the state agency responsible for
regulating oil and gas activity in the state. In a recent case brought by the owners of ranch land involving a CBM
competitor in a different CBM basin in Colorado, a state water court held that the use of water in CBM operations
should be subject to water-use regulation under an additional agency as is the case with other uses of water in the
state, including the need for the obtaining of permits, possible competition with other claimants for the use of the
water and the possibility of providing mitigation water for other water users. That decision is on appeal. However,
if that ruling or a similar ruling or regulation becomes applicable to the Company's CBM or other oil and gas
operations, the Company's ability to expand its operations could be adversely affected and these changes in
regulation could ultimately increase the Company's cost of doing business.
Air emissions. The Federal Clean Air Act (the "CAA") and comparable state laws regulate emissions of
various air pollutants through air emissions permitting programs and the imposition of other requirements. Such
laws and regulations may require a facility to obtain pre-approval for the construction or modification of certain
projects or facilities expected to produce air emissions or result in the increase of existing air emissions; obtain or
strictly comply with air permits containing various emissions and operational limitations; or utilize specific
emission control technologies to limit emissions of certain air pollutants. In addition, EPA has developed, and
continues to develop, stringent regulations governing emissions of toxic air pollutants at specified sources.
Moreover, states can impose air emissions limitations that are more stringent than the federal standards imposed by
EPA. Federal and state regulatory agencies can also impose administrative, civil and criminal penalties for noncompliance with air permits or other requirements of the federal CAA and associated state laws and regulations.
Permits and related compliance obligations under the CAA, as well as changes to state implementation
plans for controlling air emissions in regional non-attainment areas, may require the Company to incur future
capital expenditures in connection with the addition or modification of existing air emission control equipment and
strategies for gas and oil exploration and production operations. In addition, some gas and oil production facilities
may be included within the categories of hazardous air pollutant sources, which are subject to increasing regulation
under the CAA. Failure to comply with these requirements could subject a regulated entity to monetary penalties,
injunctions, conditions or restrictions on operations and enforcement actions. Gas and oil exploration and
production facilities may be required to incur certain capital expenditures in the future for air pollution control
equipment in connection with obtaining and maintaining operating permits and approvals for air emissions.
Health and safety. The Company's operations are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational
Safety and Health Act (the "OSH Act") and comparable state statutes. These laws and the implementing
regulations strictly govern the protection of the health and safety of employees. The OSH Act hazard
communication standard, EPA community right-to-know regulations under Title III of CERCLA and similar state
statues require that the Company organize and/or disclose information about hazardous materials used or produced
in the Company's operations. The Company believes that it is in substantial compliance with these applicable
requirements and with other OSH Act and comparable requirements.
Global warming and climate change. Recent scientific studies have suggested that emissions of certain
gases, commonly referred to as "greenhouse gases" and including carbon dioxide and methane, may be
contributing to warming of the Earth's atmosphere. In response to such studies, the U.S. Congress is actively
considering legislation to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases. In addition, several states (not including Texas)
have already taken legal measures to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases. Also, as a result of the U.S. Supreme
Court's decision on April 2, 2007 in Massachusetts, et al. v. EPA, the EPA may be required to regulate greenhouse
gas emissions from mobile sources (e.g., cars and trucks) even if Congress does not adopt new legislation
specifically addressing emissions of greenhouse gases. Other nations have already agreed to regulate emissions of
greenhouse gases, pursuant to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, also known as the
"Kyoto Protocol," an international treaty pursuant to which participating countries (not including the United
States) have agreed to reduce their emissions of greenhouse gases to below 1990 levels by 2012. Passage of
climate control legislation or other
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regulatory initiatives by Congress or various states of the U.S. or the adoption of regulations by the EPA and
analogous state agencies that restrict emissions of greenhouse gases in areas in which the Company conducts
business could have an adverse effect on the Company's operations and demand for oil and gas.
The Company believes it is in substantial compliance with all existing environmental laws and regulations
applicable to the Company's current operations and that its continued compliance with existing requirements will
not have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial condition and results of operations. For instance,
the Company did not incur any material capital expenditures for remediation or pollution control activities for the
year ended December 31, 2007. Additionally, the Company is not aware of any environmental issues or claims that
will require material capital expenditures during 2008. However, accidental spills or releases may occur in the
course of the Company's operations, and the Company cannot give any assurance that it will not incur substantial
costs and liabilities as a result of such spills or releases, including those relating to claims for damage to property
and persons. Moreover, the Company cannot give any assurance that the passage of more stringent laws or
regulations in the future will not have a negative impact on the Company's business, financial condition and results
of operations.
Other regulation of the oil and gas industry.The oil and gas industry is regulated by numerous foreign,
federal, state and local authorities. Legislation affecting the oil and gas industry is under constant review for
amendment or expansion, frequently increasing the regulatory burden. Also, numerous departments and agencies,
foreign, federal and state, are authorized by statute to issue rules and regulations binding on the oil and gas
industry and its individual members, some of which carry substantial penalties for failure to comply. Although the
regulatory burden on the oil and gas industry may increase the Company's cost of doing business by increasing the
cost of transporting its production to market, these burdens generally do not affect the Company any differently or
to any greater or lesser extent than they affect other companies in the industry with similar types, quantities and
locations of production.
The Department of Homeland Security Appropriations Act of 2007 requires the Department of Homeland
Security ("DHS") to issue regulations establishing risk-based performance standards for the security of chemical
and industrial facilities, including oil and gas facilities that are deemed to present "high levels of security risk."
The DHS is currently in the process of adopting regulations that will determine whether some of the Company's
facilities or operations will be subject to additional DHS-mandated security requirements. Presently, it is not
possible to accurately estimate the costs the Company could incur, directly or indirectly, to comply with any such
facility security laws or regulations, but such expenditures could be substantial.
Development and production. Development and production operations are subject to various types of
regulation at foreign, federal, state and local levels. These types of regulation include requiring permits for the
drilling of wells, the posting of bonds in connection with various types of activities and filing reports concerning
operations. Most states, and some counties and municipalities, in which the Company operates also regulate one or
more of the following:

•
•
•
•
•

the location of wells;
the method of drilling and casing wells;
the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled;
the plugging and abandoning of wells; and
notice to surface owners and other third parties.

State laws regulate the size and shape of drilling and spacing units or proration units governing the pooling
of oil and gas properties. Some states allow forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate exploration while
other states rely on voluntary pooling of lands and leases. In some instances, forced pooling or unitization may be
implemented by third parties and may reduce the Company's interest in the unitized properties. In addition, state
conservation laws establish maximum rates of production from oil and gas wells, generally prohibit the venting or
flaring of gas and impose requirements regarding the ratability of production. These laws and regulations may
limit the amount of oil and gas the Company can produce from the Company's wells or limit the number of wells
or the locations at which the Company can drill. Moreover, each state generally imposes a production or severance
tax with respect to the production and sale of oil, NGL and gas within its jurisdiction. States do not regulate
wellhead prices or engage in other similar direct regulation, but there can be no assurance that they will not do so
in the future. The effect of such future regulations may be to limit the amounts of oil and gas that may be produced
from the Company's wells, negatively impact the economics of production from these wells and/or to limit the
number of locations the Company can drill.
Regulation of transportation and sale of gas. The availability, terms and cost of transportation significantly
affect sales of gas. Foreign, federal and state regulations govern the price and terms for access to gas pipeline
transportation. The interstate transportation and sale for resale of gas is subject to federal regulation, including
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regulation of the terms, conditions and rates for interstate transportation, storage and various other matters,
primarily by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC"). The FERC's regulations for interstate gas
transmission in some circumstances may also affect the intrastate transportation of gas.
Although gas prices are currently unregulated, Congress historically has been active in the area of gas
regulation. The Company cannot predict whether new legislation to regulate gas might be proposed, what
proposals, if any, might actually be enacted by Congress or the various state legislatures and what effect, if any, the
proposals might have on the Company's operations. Sales of condensate and gas liquids are not currently regulated
and are made at market prices.
Gas gathering. While the Company owns or operates some gas gathering facilities, the Company also
depends on gathering facilities owned and operated by third parties to gather production from its properties, and
therefore the Company is impacted by the rates charged by such third parties for gathering services. To the extent
that changes in foreign, federal and/or state regulation affect the rates charged for gathering services, the Company
also may be affected by such changes. Accordingly, the Company does not anticipate that the Company would be
affected any differently than similarly situated gas producers.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
The nature of the business activities conducted by the Company subjects it to certain hazards and risks. The
following is a summary of some of the material risks relating to the Company's business activities. Other risks are
described in "Item 1. Business — Competition, Markets and Regulations" and "Item 7A. Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk". These risks are not the only risks facing the Company. The
Company's business could also be impacted by additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the
Company or that it currently deems to be immaterial. If any of these risks actually occur, they could materially
harm the Company's business, financial condition or results of operations and impair Pioneer's ability to implement
business plans or complete development projects as scheduled. In that case, the market price of the Company's
common stock could decline.
The prices of oil, NGL and gas are at historically high levels and are highly volatile. A sustained decline in
these commodity prices could adversely affect the Company's financial condition and results of operations.
The Company's revenues, profitability, cash flow and future rate of growth are highly dependent on
commodity prices. Oil prices have recently been at historically high levels and gas prices have been at high levels
over the past several years when compared to prior periods. Commodity prices may fluctuate widely in response to
relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and gas, market uncertainty and a variety of
additional factors that are beyond our control, such as:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

domestic and worldwide supply of and demand for oil, NGL and gas;
weather conditions;
overall domestic and global political and economic conditions, including those in the Middle East, Africa
and South America;
actions of OPEC and other state-controlled oil companies relating to oil price and production controls;
the impact of increasing LNG deliveries to the United States;
technological advances affecting energy consumption and energy supply;
domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxation;
the impact of energy conservation efforts;
the proximity, capacity, cost and availability of pipelines and other transportation facilities; and
the price and availability of alternative fuels.

In the past, commodity prices have been extremely volatile, and the Company expects this volatility to continue. A
significant downward trend in commodity prices would have a material adverse effect on the Company's revenues,
profitability and cash flow. The Company makes price assumptions that are used for planning purposes, and a
significant portion of the Company's cash outlays, including rent, salaries and noncancellable capital
commitments, are largely fixed in nature. Accordingly, if commodity prices are below expectations, the Company's
financial results are likely to be adversely and disproportionately affected because these cash outlays are not
variable in the short term and cannot be quickly reduced to respond to unanticipated decreases in commodity
prices.
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The Company's hedging activities could result in financial losses.
To reduce exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices, the Company has entered into, and expects in the
future to enter into, hedging arrangements for a portion of its oil and gas production. These hedging arrangements
may expose the Company to risk of financial loss in certain circumstances, including when:

•
•
•

production is less than the hedged volumes;
the counterparty to the hedging contract defaults on their contract obligations; or
the hedging arrangements limit the benefit the Company would otherwise receive from increases in
commodity prices.

Exploration and development drilling may not result in commercially productive reserves.
Drilling involves numerous risks, including the risk that no commercially productive oil or gas reservoirs
will be encountered. The cost of drilling, completing and operating wells is often uncertain and drilling operations
may be curtailed, delayed or canceled as a result of a variety of factors, including:

•
•
•
•
•
•

unexpected drilling conditions;
pressure or irregularities in formations;
equipment failures or accidents;
adverse weather conditions;
restricted access to land for drilling or laying pipelines; and
costs of, or shortages or delays in the delivery of, drilling rigs and equipment.

The Company's future drilling activities may not be successful and, if unsuccessful, such failure could have
an adverse effect on the Company's future results of operations and financial condition. While all drilling, whether
developmental, extension or exploratory, involves these risks, exploratory and extension drilling involves greater
risks of dry holes or failure to find commercial quantities of hydrocarbons. The Company expects that it will
continue to experience exploration and abandonment expense in 2008. Increased levels of drilling activity in the
oil and gas industry in recent periods have led to increased costs of some drilling equipment, materials and
supplies. If these trends continue in the future, they may impact the Company's profitability, cash flow and ability
to complete development projects as scheduled.
Future price declines could result in a reduction in the carrying value of the Company's proved oil and gas
properties, which could adversely affect the Company's results of operations.
Declines in commodity prices may result in the Company having to make substantial downward adjustments
to the Company's estimated proved reserves. If this occurs, or if the Company's estimates of production or
economic factors change, accounting rules may require the Company to write-down, as a noncash charge to
earnings, the carrying value of the Company's oil and gas properties for impairments. The Company is required to
perform impairment tests on proved assets whenever events or changes in circumstances warrant a review of the
Company's proved oil and gas properties. To the extent such tests indicate a reduction of the estimated useful life
or estimated future cash flows of the Company's oil and gas properties, the carrying value may not be recoverable
and therefore require a write-down. The Company may incur impairment charges in the future, which could
materially affect the Company's results of operations in the period incurred.
The Company periodically evaluates its unproved oil and gas properties, and could be required to recognize
noncash charges in the earnings of future periods.
At December 31, 2007, the Company carried unproved property costs of $277.5 million. GAAP requires
periodic evaluation of these costs on a project-by-project basis in comparison to their estimated fair value. These
evaluations will be affected by the results of exploration activities, commodity price outlooks, planned future sales
or expiration of all or a portion of the leases, contracts and permits appurtenant to such projects. If the quantity of
potential reserves determined by such evaluations is not sufficient to fully recover the cost invested in each project,
the Company will recognize noncash charges in the earnings of future periods.
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The Company may be unable to make attractive acquisitions, and any acquisition it completes is subject to
substantial risks that could impact its business.
Acquisitions of producing oil and gas properties have been an important element of the Company's growth.
The Company's growth following the full development of its existing property base could be impeded if it is
unable to acquire additional oil and gas reserves on a profitable basis. Acquisition opportunities in the oil and gas
industry are very competitive, which can increase the cost of, or cause the Company to refrain from, completing
acquisitions. In addition, higher recent commodity prices have increased the cost of properties available for
acquisition. The success of any acquisition will depend on a number of factors and involve potential risks,
including among other things:

•
•
•
•
•
•

the ability to estimate accurately the costs to develop the reserves, the recoverable volumes of reserves,
rates of future production and future net cash flows attainable from the reserves;
the assumption of unknown liabilities, losses or costs for which the Company is not indemnified or for
which the indemnity the Company receives is inadequate;
the validity of assumptions about costs, including synergies;
the impact on the Company's liquidity or financial leverage of using available cash or debt to finance
acquisitions;
the diversion of management's attention from other business concerns; and
an inability to hire, train or retain qualified personnel to manage and operate the Company's growing
business and assets.

All of these factors affect whether an acquisition will ultimately generate cash flows sufficient to provide a suitable
return on investment. Even though the Company performs a review of the properties it seeks to acquire that it
believes is consistent with industry practices, such reviews are often limited in scope. As a result, among other
risks, the Company's initial estimates of reserves may be subject to revision following an acquisition, which may
materially and adversely impact the desired benefits of the acquisition.
The Company may be unable to dispose of nonstrategic assets on attractive terms, and may be required to retain
liabilities for certain matters.
The Company regularly reviews its property base for the purpose of identifying nonstrategic assets, the
disposition of which would increase capital resources available for other activities and create organizational and
operational efficiencies. Various factors could materially affect the ability of the Company to dispose of
nonstrategic assets, including the availability of purchasers willing to purchase the nonstrategic assets at prices
acceptable to the Company. Sellers typically retain certain liabilities or indemnify buyers for certain matters. The
magnitude of any such retained liability or indemnification obligation may be difficult to quantify at the time of the
transaction and ultimately may be material. Also, as is typical in divestiture transactions, third parties may be
unwilling to release the Company from guarantees or other credit support provided prior to the sale of the divested
assets. As a result, after a sale the Company may remain secondarily liable for the obligations guaranteed or
supported to the extent that the buyer of the assets fails to perform these obligations.
The Company periodically evaluates its goodwill for impairment, and could be required to recognize noncash
charges in the earnings of future periods.
At December 31, 2007, the Company carried goodwill of $310.9 million associated with its United States
reporting unit. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, requiring an estimate of the fair values of the
Company's assets and liabilities. If the fair value of the Company's net assets is not sufficient to fully support the
goodwill balance, the Company will reduce the carrying value of goodwill for the impaired value, with a
corresponding noncash charge to earnings in the period in which goodwill is determined to be impaired.
The Company's gas processing operations are subject to operational risks, which could result in significant
damages and the loss of revenue.
As of December 31, 2007, the Company owned interests in four gas processing plants and ten treating
facilities. The Company operates two of the gas processing plants and all ten treating facilities. There are
significant risks associated with the operation of gas processing plants. Gas and NGLs are volatile and explosive
and may include carcinogens. Damage to or misoperation of a gas processing plant or facility could result in an
explosion or the discharge of toxic gases, which could result in significant damage claims in addition to
interrupting a revenue source.
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The Company's operations involve many operational risks, some of which could result in substantial losses to
the Company and unforeseen interruptions to the Company's operations for which the Company may not be
adequately insured.
The Company's operations are subject to all the risks normally incident to the oil and gas exploration and
production business, including:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

blowouts, cratering, explosions and fires;
adverse weather effects;
environmental hazards, such as gas leaks, oil spills, pipeline ruptures and discharges of toxic gases;
high costs, shortages or delivery delays of equipment, labor or other services;
facility or equipment malfunctions, failures or accidents;
title problems;
pipe or cement failures or casing collapses;
compliance with environmental and other governmental requirements;
lost or damaged oilfield workover and service tools;
unusual or unexpected geological formations or pressure or irregularities in formations; and
natural disasters.

Any of these risks could result in substantial losses to the Company due to injury or loss of life, damage to
or destruction of wells, production facilities or other property, clean-up responsibilities, regulatory investigations
and penalties and suspension of operations.
Although the Company currently maintains insurance coverage that it considers reasonable and that is
similar to that maintained by comparable companies in the oil and gas industry, it is not fully insured against
certain of the risks described above, either because such insurance is not available or because of the high premium
costs and deductibles associated with obtaining such insurance. Additionally, the Company relies to a large extent
on facilities owned and operated by third-parties, and damage to or destruction of those third-party facilities could
affect the ability of the Company to produce, transport and sell its hydrocarbons.
The Company may not be able to obtain access to pipelines, gas gathering, transmission and processing
facilities to market its oil and gas production.
The marketing of oil and gas production depends in large part on the availability, proximity and capacity of
pipelines, gas gathering systems and other transportation, processing and refining facilities, as well as the existence
of adequate markets. If there were insufficient capacity available on these systems, or if these systems were
unavailable to the Company, the price offered for the Company's production could be significantly depressed, or
the Company could be forced to shut-in some production or delay or discontinue drilling plans and commercial
production following a discovery of hydrocarbons while it constructs its own facility. The Company also relies
(and expects to rely in the future) on facilities developed and owned by third parties in order to process, transmit
and sell its oil and gas production. The Company's plans to develop and sell its oil and gas reserves could be
materially and adversely affected by the inability or unwillingness of third parties to provide sufficient
transmission or processing facilities to the Company.
The nature of the Company's assets exposes it to significant costs and liabilities with respect to environmental
and operational safety matters.
The oil and gas business is subject to environmental hazards, such as oil spills, produced water spills, gas
leaks and ruptures and discharges of substances or gases that could expose the Company to substantial liability due
to pollution and other environmental damage. A variety of United States federal, state and local, as well as foreign
laws and regulations govern the environmental aspects of the oil and gas business. Noncompliance with these laws
and regulations may subject the Company to administrative, civil or criminal penalties, remedial cleanups, and
natural resource damages or other liabilities, and compliance with these laws and regulations may increase the cost
of the Company's operations. Such laws and regulations may also affect the costs of acquisitions. See "Item 1.
Business — Competition, Markets and Regulations — Environmental matters and regulations" above for
additional discussion related to environmental risks.
The Company does not believe that its environmental risks are materially different from those of comparable
companies in the oil and gas industry. Nevertheless, no assurance can be given that existing or future
environmental
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laws will not result in a curtailment of production or processing activities, result in a material increase in the costs
of production, development, exploration or processing operations or adversely affect the Company's future
operations and financial condition. Pollution and similar environmental risks generally are not fully insurable.
The Company's credit facility and debt instruments have substantial restrictions and financial covenants that
may restrict its business and financing activities.
The Company is a borrower under fixed rate senior notes, senior convertible notes and a credit facility. The
terms of the Company's borrowings under the senior notes, senior convertible notes and the credit facility specify
scheduled debt repayments and require the Company to comply with certain associated covenants and restrictions.
The Company's ability to comply with the debt repayment terms, associated covenants and restrictions is
dependent on, among other things, factors outside the Company's direct control, such as commodity prices and
interest rates. See Note F of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data" for information regarding the Company's outstanding debt as of December 31, 2007 and
the terms associated therewith.
The Company's ability to obtain additional financing is also impacted by the Company's debt credit ratings
and competition for available debt financing. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" for a discussion of the Company's debt credit ratings.
The Company faces significant competition and many of its competitors have resources in excess of the
Company's available resources.
The oil and gas industry is highly competitive. The Company competes with a large number of companies,
producers and operators in a number of areas such as:

•
•
•

seeking to acquire oil and gas properties suitable for development or exploration;
marketing oil, NGL and gas production; and
seeking to acquire the equipment and expertise, including trained personnel, necessary to operate and
develop properties.

Many of the Company's competitors are larger and have substantially greater financial and other resources than the
Company. See "Item 1. Business — Competition, Markets and Regulations" above for additional discussion
regarding competition.
The Company's business depends to a significant extent upon the continued service and performance of key
senior managers and technical personnel.
The Company's business depends to a significant extent upon the continued service and performance of a
relatively small number of key senior managers and technical personnel. The loss of any existing key personnel, or
the inability to attract, motivate and retain additional key personnel, could harm the Company's business, financial
condition and results of operations.
The Company is subject to regulations that may cause it to incur substantial costs.
The Company's business is regulated by a variety of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations.
There can be no assurance that present or future regulations will not adversely affect the Company's business and
operations. See "Item 1. Business — Competition, Markets and Regulations" above for additional discussion
regarding government regulation.
The Company's international operations may be adversely affected by economic, political and other factors.
At December 31, 2007, approximately three percent of the Company's proved reserves were located outside
the United States. The success and profitability of international operations may be adversely affected by risks
associated with international activities, including:

•
•
•

economic and labor conditions;
war, terrorist acts and civil disturbances;
political instability;
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•
•
•
•

loss of revenue, property and equipment as a result of actions taken by foreign countries where the
Company has operations, such as expropriation or nationalization of assets and renegotiation,
modification or nullification of existing contracts;
changes in taxation policies (including host-country import-export, excise and income taxes and United
States taxes on foreign subsidiaries);
laws and policies of the United States and foreign jurisdictions affecting foreign investment, trade and
business conduct; and
changes in the value of the U.S. dollar versus the local currencies in which oil and gas producing
activities may be denominated.

In some cases, the market for the Company's production in foreign countries is limited to some extent. For
example, all of the Company's gas and condensate production from the South Coast Gas project in South Africa is
currently committed by contract to a single, government-affiliated gas-to-liquids facility. If such facility ceased to
purchase the gas because of an unforeseen event excusing performance, it might be difficult to find an alternative
market for the production, and if such a market were secured, the price received by the Company might be less
than that provided under its current gas sales contract. See "Critical Accounting Estimates" included in "Item 7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations", "Qualitative
Disclosures – Foreign currency, operations and price risk" in "Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk" and Note B of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" for information regarding other risks associated with the Company's
international operations.
Estimates of proved reserves and future net cash flows are not precise. The actual quantities and net cash flows
of the Company's proved reserves may prove to be lower than estimated.
Numerous uncertainties exist in estimating quantities of proved reserves and future net cash flows therefrom.
The estimates of proved reserves and related future net cash flows set forth in this Report are based on various
assumptions, which may ultimately prove to be inaccurate.
Petroleum engineering is a subjective process of estimating underground accumulations of oil and gas that
cannot be measured in an exact manner. Estimates of economically recoverable oil and gas reserves and of future
net cash flows depend upon a number of variable factors and assumptions, including the following:

•
•
•
•
•
•

historical production from the area compared with production from other producing areas;
the quality and quantity of available data;
the interpretation of that data;
the assumed effects of regulations by governmental agencies;
assumptions concerning future commodity prices; and
assumptions concerning future operating costs, severance, ad valorem and excise taxes, development
costs and workover and remedial costs.

Because all reserve estimates are to some degree subjective, each of the following items may differ
materially from those assumed in estimating reserves:

•
•
•
•

the quantities of oil and gas that are ultimately recovered;
the production and operating costs incurred;
the amount and timing of future development expenditures; and
future commodity prices.

Furthermore, different reserve engineers may make different estimates of reserves and cash flows based on
the same available data. The Company's actual production, revenues and expenditures with respect to reserves will
likely be different from estimates and the differences may be material.
As required by the SEC, the estimated discounted future net cash flows from proved reserves are based on
prices and costs as of the date of the estimate, while actual future prices and costs may be materially higher or
lower. Actual future net cash flows also will be affected by factors such as:

•
•
•
•

the amount and timing of actual production;
levels of future capital spending;
increases or decreases in the supply of or demand for oil and gas; and
changes in governmental regulations or taxation.
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The Company reports all proved reserves held under production sharing arrangements and concessions
utilizing the "economic interest" method, which excludes the host country's share of proved reserves. Estimated
quantities of production sharing arrangements reported under the "economic interest" method are subject to
fluctuations in commodity prices and recoverable operating expenses and capital costs. If costs remain stable,
reserve quantities attributable to recovery of costs will change inversely to changes in commodity prices.
Standardized Measure is a reporting convention that provides a common basis for comparing oil and gas
companies subject to the rules and regulations of the SEC. It requires the use of commodity prices, as well as
operating and development costs, prevailing as of the date of computation. Consequently, it may not reflect the
prices ordinarily received or that will be received for oil and gas production because of seasonal price fluctuations
or other varying market conditions, nor may it reflect the actual costs that will be required to produce or develop
the oil and gas properties. Accordingly, estimates included herein of future net cash flows may be materially
different from the future net cash flows that are ultimately received. In addition, the ten percent discount factor,
which is required by the SEC to be used in calculating discounted future net cash flows for reporting purposes,
may not be the most appropriate discount factor based on interest rates in effect from time to time and risks
associated with the Company or the oil and gas industry in general. Therefore, the estimates of discounted future
net cash flows or Standardized Measure in this Report should not be construed as accurate estimates of the current
market value of the Company's proved reserves.
The Company's actual production could differ materially from its forecasts.
From time to time the Company provides forecasts of expected quantities of future oil and gas production.
These forecasts are based on a number of estimates, including expectations of production decline rates from
existing wells and the outcome of future drilling activity. Should these estimates prove inaccurate, actual
production could be adversely impacted. Downturns in commodity prices could make certain drilling activities or
production uneconomical, which would also adversely impact production.
The Company may be unable to complete its plans to repurchase its common stock.
The Board of Directors (the "Board") approves share repurchase programs and sets limits on the price per
share at which Pioneer's common stock can be repurchased. From time to time, the Company may not be permitted
to repurchase its stock during certain periods because of scheduled and unscheduled trading blackouts.
Additionally, business conditions and availability of capital may dictate that repurchases be suspended or canceled.
As a result, there can be no assurance that additional repurchase programs will be commenced and, if so, that they
will be completed.
The Company may be unable to complete its plans to form a master limited partnership in the time expected, or
at all, and the structure and terms of any master limited partnership could change materially from those
anticipated.
In April, 2007, the Company announced an intention to form two new master limited partnerships, which
would own interests in long-lived, low-decline oil and gas assets. Although the Company's subsidiary, Pioneer
Southwest Energy Partners L.P. ("Pioneer Southwest"), has filed a preliminary registration statement (subject to
completion) with the SEC for an initial public offering of limited partner interests, the Company announced in
February 2008 that the offering had been postponed due to market conditions. In addition to market conditions, the
completion of the Company's plans to form the master limited partnerships is subject to numerous other risks
beyond the control of the Company, and therefore it is possible that one or both of the master limited partnerships
will not be formed, will not complete an offering of securities, will not raise the planned amount of capital even if
an offering of securities is completed, and will not be able to complete its proposed actions. Furthermore, the
structure, nature, purpose, proposed assets and liabilities, and proposed manner of offering of the master limited
partnerships may change materially from those anticipated. In addition, the Company's retained investment in any
master limited partnership formed would be subject to the risks normally attendant to businesses in the oil and gas
exploration and production industry, including most of the same risks to which the Company is subject. The
Company's announcement of its plan with respect to Pioneer Southwest's initial public offering did not, and this
report does not, constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. Any offers,
solicitations of offers to buy, or any sales of securities of either master limited partnership will be made only in
accordance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 or an exemption therefrom. See "Item
7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and Note W of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
discussions of Pioneer Southwest's proposed initial public offering.
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ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

The information included in this Report about the Company's proved reserves as of December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, which were located in the United States, Argentina, Canada, South Africa and Tunisia, were based
on evaluations prepared by the Company's engineers and audited by Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
("NSAI") with respect to the Company's major properties and prepared by the Company's engineers with respect to
all other properties. The reserve audits performed by NSAI in aggregate represented 86 percent, 89 percent and 82
percent of the Company's 2007, 2006 and 2005 proved reserves, respectively; and, 80 percent, 83 percent and 76
percent of the Company's 2007, 2006 and 2005 associated pre-tax present value of proved reserves discounted at
ten percent, respectively.
NSAI follows the general principles set forth in the standards pertaining to the estimating and auditing of oil
and gas reserve information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers ("SPE"). A reserve audit as
defined by the SPE is not the same as a financial audit. The SPE's definition of a reserve audit includes the
following concepts:

•
•

•

A reserve audit is an examination of reserve information that is conducted for the purpose of expressing
an opinion as to whether such reserve information, in the aggregate, is reasonable and has been presented
in conformity with generally accepted petroleum engineering and evaluation principles.
The estimation of proved reserves is an imprecise science due to the many unknown geologic and
reservoir factors that cannot be estimated through sampling techniques. Since reserves are only estimates,
they cannot be audited for the purpose of verifying exactness. Instead, reserve information is audited for
the purpose of reviewing in sufficient detail the policies, procedures and methods used by a company in
estimating its reserves so that the reserve auditors may express an opinion as to whether, in the aggregate,
the reserve information furnished by a company is reasonable.
The methods and procedures used by a company, and the reserve information furnished by a company,
must be reviewed in sufficient detail to permit the reserve auditor, in its professional judgment, to express
an opinion as to the reasonableness of the reserve information. The auditing procedures require the
reserve auditor to prepare its own estimates of reserve information for the audited properties.

To further clarify, in conjunction with the audit of the Company's proved reserves and associated pre-tax
present value discounted at ten percent, Pioneer provided to NSAI its external and internal engineering and
geoscience technical data and analyses. Following NSAI's review of that data, it had the option of honoring
Pioneer's interpretation, or making its own interpretation. No data was withheld from NSAI. NSAI accepted
without independent verification the accuracy and completeness of the historical information and data furnished by
Pioneer with respect to ownership interest; oil and gas production; well test data; commodity prices; operating and
development costs; and any agreements relating to current and future operations of the properties and sales of
production. However, if in the course of its evaluation something came to its attention that brought into question
the validity or sufficiency of any such information or data, NSAI did not rely on such information or data until it
had satisfactorily resolved its questions relating thereto or had independently verified such information or data.
In the course of its evaluations, NSAI prepared, for all of the audited properties, its own estimates of the
Company's proved reserves and the pre-tax present value of such reserves discounted at ten percent. NSAI
reviewed its audit differences with the Company, and, in a number of cases, held joint meetings with the Company
to review additional reserves work performed by the technical teams and any updated performance data related to
the reserve differences. Such data was incorporated, as appropriate, by both parties into the reserve estimates.
NSAI's estimates, including any adjustments resulting from additional data, of those proved reserves and the pretax present value of such reserves discounted at ten percent did not differ from Pioneer's estimates by more than
ten percent in the aggregate. However, when compared on a lease-by-lease, field-by-field or area-by-area basis,
some of the Company's estimates were greater than those of NSAI and some were less than the estimates of NSAI.
When such differences do not exceed ten percent in the aggregate and NSAI is satisfied that the proved reserves
and pre-tax present value of such reserves discounted at ten percent are reasonable and that its audit objectives
have been met, NSAI will issue an unqualified audit opinion. Remaining differences are not resolved due to the
limited cost benefit of continuing such analyses by the Company and NSAI. At the conclusion of the audit process,
it was NSAI's opinion, as set forth in its audit letter, that Pioneer's estimates of the Company's proved oil and gas
reserves and
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associated pre-tax future net revenues discounted at ten percent are, in the aggregate, reasonable and have been
prepared in accordance with petroleum engineering and evaluation principles.
The Company did not provide estimates of total proved oil and gas reserves during 2007, 2006 or 2005 to
any federal authority or agency, other than the SEC. The Company's reserve estimates do not include any probable
or possible reserves. Also, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors" and "Critical Accounting Estimates" in "Item 7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis and Results of Operations" for additional discussions regarding proved
reserves and their related cash flows.
Proved Reserves
The Company's proved reserves totaled 963.8 MMBOE, 904.9 MMBOE and 986.7 MMBOE at December
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, representing $9.0 billion, $4.7 billion and $7.3 billion, respectively, of
Standardized Measure. The Company's proved reserves include field fuel, which is gas consumed to operate field
equipment (primarily compressors) prior to the gas being delivered to a sales point. The following table shows the
changes in the Company's proved reserve volumes by geographic area during the year ended December 31, 2007
(in MBOE):

Production
United States

Extensions and
Discoveries

Purchases of
Minerals-inPlace

Sales of
Minerals-inPlace

Revisions of
Previous
Estimates

(35,715 )

44,571

50,424

(227 )

Canada

(2,950 )

10,755

—

(35,712 )

South Africa
Tunisia

(1,151 )

—

—

(1,557)

24,478

—

(11,771)

3,880

(41,373)

79,804

50,424

(47,710)

17,680

Total

—

21,495
(3,210 )
(4,485 )

Production. Production volumes include 2,891 MBOE of field fuel and 2,950 MBOE of production
associated with divested assets being presented as discontinued operations.
Extensions and discoveries. Extensions and discoveries are primarily the result of extension drilling in the
Raton field and Spraberry field in the United States and the Horseshoe Canyon field in Canada and lower-risk
exploratory drilling in the Company's South Texas Edwards Trend and Tunisian resource plays.
Purchases of minerals-in-place. Purchases of minerals-in-place are primarily attributable to bolt-on
acquisitions in the Company's Spraberry oil field, Raton gas field and the entry into the Barnett Shale gas field.
Sales of minerals-in-place. Sales of minerals-in-place are principally related to the Company's divestiture of
its Canadian assets and the Tunisian government's election to participate in 50 percent of the Company's
discoveries in the Cherouq concession in the Jenein Nord permit. See Note N of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."
Revisions of previous estimates. Revisions of previous estimates are comprised of 20 MMBOE of positive
price revisions offset by 2 MMBOE of negative technical revisions. The Company's proved reserves at December
31, 2007 were determined using year-end NYMEX equivalent prices of $95.92 per barrel of oil and $6.80 per Mcf
of gas, compared to $60.82 per barrel of oil and $5.64 per Mcf of gas at December 31, 2006.
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On a BOE basis, 62 percent of the Company's total proved reserves at December 31, 2007 were proved
developed reserves. Based on reserve information as of December 31, 2007, and using the Company's production
information for the year then ended, excluding production associated with divested assets included in discontinued
operations, the reserve-to-production ratio associated with the Company's proved reserves was in excess of 20
years on a BOE basis. The following table provides information regarding the Company's proved reserves and
average daily sales volumes by geographic area as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007:
Proved Reserves as of December 31, 2007
Oil
& NGLs
(MBbls)

Gas
(MMcf) (a)

2007 Average Daily Sales Volumes

Standardized
Measure

MBOE

Oil
& NGLs
(Bbls)

Gas
(Mcf) (b)

BOE

(in thousands)
United States

451,091

2,903,055

934,933

8,265,557

37,196

316,418

89,933

South Africa
Tunisia

757

40,565

7,520

215,256

2,681

2,840

3,154

17,850

20,794

21,314

536,071

3,845

2,513

4,264

469,698

2,964,414

963,767

9,016,884

43,722

321,771

97,351

Total

$

$

___________
(a)
(b)

The gas reserves contain 290,599 MMcf of gas that will be produced and utilized as field fuel.
The 2007 average daily sales volumes are from continuing operations and (i) do not include the field fuel
produced, which averaged 47,526 Mcf per day, and (ii) were calculated using a 365-day year and without
making pro forma adjustments for any acquisitions, divestitures or drilling activity that occurred during the
year.

The following table represents the estimated timing and cash flows of developing the Company's proved
undeveloped reserves as of December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, (a)

Estimated
Future
Production
(MBOE)

Future
Cash
Inflows

Future
Production
Costs

Future
Development
Costs

Future Net
Cash Flows

2008

4,050 $

289,199 $

34,854 $

547,631 $

(293,286)

2009

9,439

591,900

98,272

741,023

(247,395)

2010

13,517

818,245

126,394

584,203

107,648

2011

16,954

998,665

168,585

565,725

264,355

2012
Thereafter

19,144

1,105,860

189,013

466,388

450,459

304,410

18,937,469

4,052,416

979,991

13,905,062

367,514 $

22,741,338 $ 4,669,534 $

3,884,961 $

14,186,843

___________
(a)

Beginning in 2009 and thereafter, the production and cash flows represent the drilling results from the
respective year plus the incremental effects of proved undeveloped drilling since 2008.

Description of Properties
United States
Approximately 89 percent of the Company's proved reserves at December 31, 2007 are located in the
Spraberry field in the Permian Basin area, the Hugoton and West Panhandle fields in the Mid-Continent area and
the Raton field in the Rocky Mountains area. These fields generate substantial operating cash flow and the
Spraberry and Raton fields have a large portfolio of low-risk drilling opportunities. The cash flows generated from
these fields provide funding for the Company's other development and exploration activities both domestically and
internationally.
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The following tables summarize the Company's United States development and exploration/extension drilling
activities during 2007:
Development Drilling
Beginning
Wells
In Progress

Wells
Spud

Successful
Wells

Unsuccessful
Wells

Ending Wells
In Progress

Permian Basin

10

350

350

—

10

Mid-Continent

1

—

1

—

—

Rocky Mountains
Onshore Gulf Coast

5

230

233

2

—

2

16

18

—

—

18

596

602

2

10

Unsuccessful
Wells

Ending Wells
In Progress

Total United States

Exploration/Extension Drilling
Beginning
Wells
In Progress
Permian Basin
Rocky Mountains
Onshore Gulf Coast
Barnett Shale
Alaska
Total United States

Wells
Spud

Successful
Wells

1

1

1

—

1

16

19

15

2

18

4

19

19

1

3

—

6

6

—

—

—

3

—

2

1

21

48

41

5
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The following table summarizes the Company's United States costs incurred by geographic area during 2007:
Property
Acquisition Costs
Proved

Unproved

Exploration Development
Costs
Costs

Asset
Retirement
Obligations

Total

(in thousands)
Permian Basin

$

Mid-Continent
Rocky Mountains
Onshore Gulf Coast
Barnett Shale
Alaska

56,232 $

61,546 $

314

—

164,730
6,367

23,395 $

422,158

$

2,987 $ 566,318

47

21,436

(951)

20,846

43,502

71,467

180,340

29,813

489,852

6,364

148,756

140,130

1,507

303,124

99,133

87,788

23,351

—

1,320

—

1,554

68,993

260,848(a)

—

13

(1,269)

4,893

211,592

(218)

331,177

(1,315)

2,322

Gulf of Mexico
Continuing operations
Discontinued
operations
Total United States
$

—
326,776 $

—

745

200,767 $

335,485 $

354
1,030,159

—
$

1,099

33,143 $ 1,926,330

___________
(a)

Includes $22.0 million of capitalized interest related to the Oooguruk project.

Permian Basin
Spraberry field. The Spraberry field was discovered in 1949 and encompasses eight counties in West Texas.
The field is approximately 150 miles long and 75 miles wide at its widest point. The oil produced is West Texas
Intermediate Sweet, and the gas produced is casinghead gas with an average energy content of 1,400 Btu. The oil
and gas are produced primarily from three formations, the upper and lower Spraberry and the Dean, at depths
ranging from 6,700 feet to 9,200 feet. In addition, the Company has started completing the majority of its wells in
the Wolfcamp formation at depths ranging from 9,300 feet to 10,300 feet with successful results. The Company
believes the Spraberry field offers excellent opportunities to enhance oil and gas production because of the
numerous undeveloped drilling locations, many of which are reflected in the Company's proved undeveloped
reserves, and the ability to contain operating expenses and drilling costs through economies of scale.
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During July 2007, the Company entered into an agreement under which the Company has the option to
purchase an additional 22 percent interest in the Spraberry Midkiff-Benedum gas processing system for $230
million, subject to normal closing adjustments. The additional 22 percent can be purchased in 2008 and 2009 and,
if exercised, will increase the Company's interest in the system to 49 percent. In conjunction with this transaction,
the Company extended its percent of proceeds ("POP") contract with the plant to 2022 and negotiated incremental
increases in the Company's POP beginning in 2009.
In December 2007, the Company acquired approximately 44,000 gross acres in the Spraberry field for
$89.4 million, with Pioneer being operator of the acquired properties. Proved reserves associated with the
acquisition are approximately 15 MMBOE. The Company estimates that the acquisition provides more than 600
potential drilling locations utilizing 40-acre spacing.
During 2007, the Company (a) drilled 350 wells, an increase of over 17 percent compared to 2006, (b)
acquired approximately 185,000 gross acres, bringing its total acreage position to approximately 869,000 gross
acres (688,000 net acres), (c) completed several bolt-on property acquisitions and joint ventures and (d)
successfully drilled a majority of the wells to the Wolfcamp formation. The Company plans to drill approximately
350 wells in 2008 and continue to pursue acreage expansions and bolt-on acquisitions.
Mid-Continent
Hugoton field. The Hugoton field in southwest Kansas is one of the largest producing gas fields in the
continental United States. The gas is produced from the Chase and Council Grove formations at depths ranging
from 2,700 feet to 3,000 feet. The Company's gas in the Hugoton field has an average energy content of 1,025 Btu.
The Company's Hugoton properties are located on approximately 285,000 gross acres (247,000 net acres),
covering approximately 400 square miles. The Company has working interests in approximately 1,200 wells in the
Hugoton field, approximately 990 of which it operates, and partial royalty interests in approximately 500 wells.
The Company owns substantially all of the gathering and processing facilities, primarily the Satanta plant, which
service its production from the Hugoton field. Such ownership allows the Company to control the production,
gathering, processing and sale of its gas and NGL production.
The Company's Hugoton operated wells are capable of producing approximately 65 MMcf of wet gas per
day (i.e., gas production at the wellhead before processing or field fuel use and before reduction for royalties).
Pioneer successfully led a cooperative effort with other operators in this field to effect rule changes which will
enable further field development in future years. As part of the rule changes, the state-regulated production
allowables were canceled as of December 31, 2007, and the Company received regulatory approval to commingle
production from the Panoma and Council Grove formations. A commingling pilot program has been initiated and
the Company is monitoring its production performance. To capitalize on these rule changes, future completion
designs are being developed and continued optimization is planned for the existing field compression system.
West Panhandle field. The West Panhandle properties are located in the panhandle region of Texas. These
stable, long-lived reserves are attributable to the Red Cave, Brown Dolomite, Granite Wash and fractured Granite
formations at depths no greater than 3,500 feet. The Company's gas in the West Panhandle field has an average
energy content of 1,365 Btuand is produced from approximately 675 wells on more than 250,000 gross acres
(240,000 net acres) covering over 375 square miles. The Company controls 100 percent of the wells, production
equipment, gathering system and the Fain gas processing plant for the field. As this field is operated at or below
vacuum conditions, Pioneer continually works to improve compressor / gathering system efficiency. As part of this
effort, approximately 17 miles of 16 inch pipeline was recently replaced in the heart of the field. The Company
received regulatory relief in parts of the West Panhandle field to allow for future infill drilling locations.
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Rocky Mountains
Raton field. The Raton Basin properties are located in the southeast portion of Colorado. Exploration for
CBM in the Raton Basin began in the late 1970s and continued through the late 1980s, with several companies
drilling and testing more than 100 wells during this period. The absence of a pipeline to transport gas from the
Raton Basin prevented full scale development until January 1995, when Colorado Interstate Gas Company
completed the construction of the Picketwire lateral pipeline system. The Company's gas in the Raton Basin has an
average energy content of 1,000 Btu. Since the completion of the Picketwire lateral, production has continued to
grow, resulting in expansion of the system's capacity by its operator, the most recent expansion of which was in
2005. The Company owns approximately 318,000 gross acres (231,000 net acres) in the center of the Raton Basin
with current production from coal seams in the Vermejo and Raton formations. The Company owns the majority of
the well servicing and frac equipment that it utilizes in the Raton field to control costs and insure availability. In
the Raton field, the Company sells its gas at a Mid-Continent index price which historically has generally provided
higher realized gas prices as compared to the Rockies-based indexes.
In December 2007, the Company acquired approximately 30,000 net acres in the Raton Basin for $205.3
million. The acquired acreage has approximately 95 Bcf of proved reserves.
During 2007, the Company (a) drilled 230 wells, and put 301 wells on production, (b) added wellhead
compression and (c) continued efforts to optimize gathering and compression facilities. During 2008, the Company
expects to complete approximately 175 wells.
Piceance/Uinta Basins. The Piceance Basin is located in the central portion of western Colorado, and the
Uinta Basin is located in the central portion of eastern Utah. The Company owns approximately 244,000 gross
acres covering producing and prospective regions of the Piceance and Uinta Basins. Currently, production is
established from various tight sandstone, coal and shale formations. The Company's significant projects in the area
are CBM plays at Columbine Springs and Castlegate and a deep gas play at Main Canyon.
Sand Wash Basin. The Sand Wash Basin is the site of a potential CBM project located north of the
Company's Piceance Basin properties. The Company holds a 50 percent operated interest in 114,000 gross acres in
the Lay Creek field. At Lay Creek, the Company has drilled 18 wells in six separate pilot areas and completed
workovers and recompletions on 14 wells drilled by a previous operator. The Company completed the water
treatment facilities and initiated sales of production in 2007. Determination of success of the pilot project is
dependent on the ability to dewater the formation and determine if commercial quantities of gas can be produced.
The pilot project is currently in the dewatering phase and a determination of commerciality should be known by
the end of 2008.
Gas prices. In general, industry drilling success in the Rocky Mountains area (which affects the Company's
properties in the Piceance/Uinta Basins and Sand Wash Basin) has created more supply than can be transported by
the currently available pipeline infrastructure. As a result, gas prices in the region have experienced greater
volatility and at the end of the third quarter of 2007 spot gas prices for the area were approximately $.60 per
MMBtu. As a result of the extremely low gas prices during September and October of 2007, the Company shut-in
approximately 5 to 6 MMcfpd of gas production in the Uinta/Piceance area. Additional pipeline capacity was
added in the first quarter of 2008 with the start-up of the Rockies Express pipeline, which should alleviate the
capacity constraints, allowing more gas to reach consumer markets at improved price levels. Prices have
rebounded in the area since September 30, 2007 and the Company believes that gas prices will continue to improve
as a result of the Rockies Express pipeline being in service.
Onshore Gulf Coast
South Texas. In 2007, the South Texas drilling program focused on the Edwards Trend, a tight gas limestone
reservoir characterized by narrow bands of dry gas fields extending over 250 miles in length. The Company's
drilling activity occurred in both established areas such as Pawnee field and growth areas along the Trend. To date
the Company has acquired over 305,000 gross acres in the Edwards Trend. In addition to the Pawnee field, the
Company has operations in the SW Kenedy, Sawfish, Word, Three Rivers and Washburn fields. Production depths
in the Edwards Trend range from 9,500 feet to 14,500 feet.
During 2007, the Company drilled 20 exploration and appraisal wells targeting new field discoveries in the
Edwards Trend growth areas with 100 percent success, exceeding expectations and increasing proved gas reserves.
Nine of these new wells have been added to production, three wells are awaiting pipelines or testing, four are
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awaiting stimulation, and four are waiting on the horizontal lateral portion of the well to be completed. In
previously established areas, including the Pawnee field, 14 wells were drilled with 100 percent success.
The acquisition of 3-D seismic data has significantly enhanced field development in all areas of the Edwards
Trend, allowing the Company to more accurately locate and orient the horizontal wells for optimal results. To
expand its 3-D data coverage to include new discoveries and additional prospects, the Company is in the process of
shooting and interpreting approximately 900 square miles of new data. Multiple surveys were completed in 2007
and more are planned for 2008.
In order to accommodate its rapidly growing Edwards Trend production, the Company significantly
expanded its existing gas gathering and processing infrastructure during 2007. The expansion included over 30
miles of gathering system and three additional treating facilities were installed.
In 2008, the Company expects a comparable drilling program to that in 2007. Also planned are additional
facilities expansions to accommodate increasing production.
Mississippi. The Company has built an acreage position covering multiple plays in the Mississippi Salt Basin
and now holds leases and option interests covering approximately 150,000 net acres. Over the next two to three
years, the Company expects to test a number of opportunities and to continue technical work that is currently
underway.
The Company drilled two successful Cotton Valley wells in the Bolton field and installed a gas treating
facility to process the gas. The Company is permitting for a 3-D seismic shoot in 2008 for the Bolton field to better
define the resource potential and future drilling plans.
Barnett Shale
During 2007, the Company participated in the drilling of six successful exploration wells on its approximate
9,300 gross acres in the Barnett Shale play that it acquired in the second quarter of 2007.
In December 2007, the Company expanded its Barnett Shale acreage position by completing a $144.3
million acquisition. The Company estimates proved reserves on the acreage to be approximately 13.5 MMBOE.
The acreage being acquired contains more than 300 potential drilling locations, with most locations covered by 3D seismic data.
The Company's total holdings in the Barnett Shale play now approximate 80,000 gross acres, with more than
450 potential drilling locations. The Company plans to drill 20 wells in 2008 with the expectation of increasing its
drilling program in 2009.
Alaska
Oooguruk. In 2002, the Company acquired a 70 percent working interest and operatorship in ten state leases
on Alaska's North Slope, and in 2003 drilled three exploratory wells to test a possible extension of the productive
sands in the Kuparuk River field in the shallow waters offshore the North Slope of Alaska. Although all three of
the wells found the sands filled with oil, they were too thin to be considered commercial on a stand-alone basis.
However, the wells also encountered thick sections of oil-bearing Jurassic-aged sands, and the first well flowed at
a rate of approximately 1,300 Bbls per day. In January 2004, the Company farmed-into a large acreage block to the
southwest of the Company's discovery. In 2004, Pioneer completed an extensive technical and economic
evaluation of the resource potential within this area. As a result of this evaluation, the Company performed frontend engineering and permitting activities during 2005 to further define the scope of the project. In early 2006, the
Company announced that it had approved the development of the Oooguruk field in the project area.
The Company constructed and armored the gravel drilling and production island site in 2006. Installation of
a subsea flowline and production facilities to carry produced liquids to existing onshore processing facilities at the
Kuparuk River Unit was completed in 2007. Pioneer assembled the drilling rig on location and commenced
drilling the first of approximately 40 horizontal development and injector wells in December of 2007. The
Company estimates that first production will occur during the first half of 2008 and that first sales will occur midyear 2008. During 2008, the Company expects to drill 13 to 15 of the 40 planned wells.
Cosmopolitan. In 2005, the Company acquired an interest in the Cosmopolitan Unit in the Cook Inlet of
Alaska. Through a series of transactions, the Company now owns 100 percent of the Cosmopolitan Unit. The
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previous operator of the Cosmopolitan Unit had an oil discovery for which economic viability was not determined.
During 2005 and 2006, the Company completed and interpreted a 3-D seismic shoot. During 2007, the Company
drilled a lateral sidetrack from an existing wellbore at an onshore site to further appraise the resource potential of
the unit. The initial unstimulated production test results were encouraging. The Company plans to begin permitting
activities and continue facilities planning during 2008 for a future potential development of the project and to drill
another appraisal well in 2009.
Onshore North Slope area. During the 2006-2007 winter drilling season, the Company participated in
drilling two exploratory wells in the National Petroleum Reserve - Alaska ("NPRA") area, both of which were
noncommercial.
Gulf of Mexico
Gulf of Mexico area. During 2005, the Company announced a discovery on its Clipper prospect in the
Green Canyon Blocks 299 and 300 in the deepwater Gulf of Mexico. During 2006, the Company drilled two
successful Clipper appraisal wells, but drilled an unsuccessful exploratory well at the Flying Cloud prospect, a
prospect near the Clipper discovery. The Company began evaluation plans for the potential development of the
discovery, but projected capital costs for the project doubled during the evaluation, which resulted in the Company
electing to not pursue the development of the Clipper project. Accordingly, the Company recognized an
exploration and abandonment charge of $72.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2007.
As a result of Hurricane Rita, the Company's East Cameron facility, located on the Gulf of Mexico shelf, was
destroyed. Operations to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron facility began in 2007. During the second quarter
of 2007, the Company increased the estimated cost to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron facility by $66.0
million to an aggregate estimated cost of $185 million. The estimate to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron
facility is based upon an analysis prepared by a third-party engineering firm for the majority of the work, an
estimate by the Company for the remaining work that was not covered by the third-party analysis and actual
abandonment activity to date. See Note U of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information on the East Cameron 322 facility.
International
The Company's international operations are located offshore South Africa and onshore in southern Tunisia.
Additionally, the Company has an exploration permit in Equatorial Guinea. During 2007, the Company also
disposed of its interests in Block 320 in Nigeria, and relinquished its remaining interest in Block 256 in Nigeria
due to unsuccessful exploratory drilling results. The Company is currently winding up its efforts to exit Nigeria
completely. In November 2007, the Company closed the sale of all of the Company's common stock in its
Canadian subsidiaries for net proceeds of $525.7 million, resulting in a gain of $101.3 million. See Notes N, S and
V of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data" for a description of the Nigerian and Canadian divestitures. As of December 31, 2007, approximately three
percent of the Company's proved reserves were located in Africa.
The following tables summarize the Company's international development and exploration/extension drilling
activities during 2007:
Development Drilling
Beginning
Wells
In Progress
Canada
South Africa
Total International

Wells
Spud

Successful
Wells

Unsuccessful
Wells

Divested
Wells

Ending
Wells
In Progress

3

—

1

1

1

—

2

1

3

—

—

—

5

1

4

1

1

—
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Exploration/Extension Drilling
Beginning
Wells
In Progress
Canada
Tunisia
West Africa - Nigeria
Total International

Wells
Spud

Successful
Wells

Unsuccessful
Wells

Divested
Wells

Ending
Wells
In Progress
—

16

17

7

6

20

5

12

12

4

—

1

—

1

—

1

—

—

21

30

19

11

20

1

The following table summarizes the Company's international costs incurred by geographic area during 2007:
Property
Acquisition Costs
Proved

Exploration Development

Unproved

Costs

Costs

Asset
Retirement
Obligations

Total

(in thousands)
Canada – discontinued
operations
South Africa

$

82 $

3,620 $

32,160 $

—

—

276

Tunisia

—

718

Other

—
—

63,450

$

1,134 $

100,446

113,591(a)

(2,413)

111,454

103,381

9,724

1,265

115,088

—

5,149

—

—

5,149

—

704

—

—

704

West Africa:
Equatorial Guinea
Nigeria
Total International

—
$

82 $

—

18,052

4,338 $

159,722 $

—
186,765

—
$

(14) $

18,052
350,893

___________
(a)

Includes $10.5 million of capitalized interest related to the South Coast Gas project.

South Africa. The Company has agreements to explore for oil and gas covering over 3.6 million acres
offshore the southern coast of South Africa in water depths generally less than 650 feet. The Sable oil field began
producing in August 2003 and the majority of the gas from the field has been reinjected. The Company has a 40
percent working interest in the Sable field.
In 2005, the Company sanctioned the non-operated South Coast Gas development project, which includes
the subsea tie-back of gas from the Sable field and five additional gas accumulations to an existing production
facility on the F-A platform for transportation via existing pipelines to a gas-to-liquids plant. Pioneer has a 45
percent working interest in the project. As part of sanctioning of the South Coast Gas project, the Company signed
a six-year contract for the sale of all of its gas and condensate production from the project. The contract contains
an obligation for the purchaser to take or pay for a total of 91.4 BCF and associated condensate if the anticipated
deliverability estimates are achieved. The price for both gas and condensate is indexed to Brent oil prices. During
2007, two additional wells were drilled and installation of pipeline and facilities infrastructure was completed as
part of the South Coast Gas project. First production from the South Coast Gas project was achieved in the third
quarter of 2007 at approximately 15 to 20 MMcfpd (gross). It is expected that the simultaneous production of both
oil and gas from the Sable field will increase the ultimately recoverable oil reserves.
A significant portion of the gas reserves associated with the South Coast Gas project is in the Sable field.
Initially, the gas production from the Sable field was not expected to commence until the oil production was
completed. However, as a result of production performance from the Sable field and improved oil prices, which
have had the effect of extending the economic life of the Sable oil field, facilities modifications are being planned
that would allow for the simultaneous production of oil and gas from the Sable field. The modifications are
currently expected to be completed in late 2008 or early 2009.
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Tunisia. The Company holds interests in four separate onshore permits located in the southern portion of
Tunisia. These permits cover a gross area of approximately 11,900 square kilometers containing two production
concessions targeting the Acacus formation with additional future upside exploration potential from this and other
formations.

•

Jenein Nord Permit and Cherouq Concession. The Jenein Nord Permit covers approximately 1,200
square kilometers. Over the past two years, the Company has conducted an intensive exploration program
over the area. As a result of an aggressive seismic data acquisition and exploration drilling program, the
Company achieved a significant number of hydrocarbon discoveries. Based on the success, the Company,
along with the government oil agency, Enterprise Tunisienne d'Activities Petrolieres ("ETAP"), submitted
a joint application on November 10, 2007 to the Directeur Général de l'Energie for the development of a
portion of the permit area called the Cherouq Concession.
On December 17, 2007, the Consultative Committee of Hydrocarbons, the advisory committee to the
Directeur Général de l'Energie, approved the Cherouq Concession resulting in the Company and ETAP
each holding a 50 percent working interest in the concession. The concession covers approximately 760
square kilometers of the Jenein Nord Permit. During 2007, the Company drilled seven exploration wells
and first production from the concession was achieved in late fourth quarter 2007.
The Company plans to drill up to seven additional wells and acquire an additional 295 square kilometers
of 3-D seismic data over the Cherouq Concession during 2008.

•

Borj El Khadra Permit and Adam Concession. The Borj El Khadra Permit, including the Adam
Concession, covers approximately 2,900 square kilometers. Production from the Adam Concession began
in May 2003, for which the Company now has a 20 percent working interest. During 2007, the Company
continued its exploratory and appraisal activities on the Adam Concession by drilling four wells, of which
all were successful, and completed drilling of two wells in the Borj El Khadra Permit, of which one was
successful. The Company plans to drill an additional four wells in the Adam Concession and two wells in
the Borj El Khadra exploration permit during 2008.

•

El Hamra Permit. The El Hamra exploration permit covers approximately 4,000 square kilometers, of
which the Company is operator with a 50 percent working interest during the exploration period. In 2007,
the Company completed the acquisition of 310 kilometers of seismic data and began processing the data.
Processing and interpretation of the seismic data is scheduled to be completed during the second quarter
of 2008. The Company anticipates drilling an exploration well in the second half of 2008.

•

Anaguid Permit. The Anaguid exploration permit covers approximately 3,800 square kilometers. In
2007, the Company acquired an additional 15 percent interest in the Anaguid exploration permit, thereby
increasing its interest to 60 percent (during the exploration period) and resulting in the transfer of
operations to Pioneer. The Company intends to acquire an additional 900 square kilometers of 3-D
seismic data and expects to drill up to two exploration wells in the second half of 2008.

Equatorial Guinea. The Company owns a 50 percent interest in Block H in deepwater Equatorial Guinea,
which covers over 240,000 acres. In late 2006, the Republic of Equatorial Guinea ratified a new hydrocarbons law,
which among other things, appears to entitle Equatorial Guinea to increase substantially its carried interest in all
concessions, including Block H. In addition, drilling costs have increased significantly beyond those originally
anticipated. Given these and other facts, the Company and the other participants in the block have been unable to
reach an agreement as to their respective rights and obligations under a joint operating agreement relating to the
well operations in the block and as a result, the parties have commenced arbitration. In connection with the
ongoing arbitration among the parties, the Company recognized an impairment charge of approximately $10.3
million to write off its remaining basis in Block H. See Note I of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for specific information regarding the
Company's arbitration associated with Block H.
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Selected Oil and Gas Information
The following tables set forth selected oil and gas information from continuing operations for the Company
as of and for each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Because of normal production declines,
increased or decreased drilling activities and the effects of acquisitions or divestitures, the historical information
presented below should not be interpreted as being indicative of future results.
Production, price and cost data. The following tables set forth production, price and cost data with respect to
the Company's properties for 2007, 2006 and 2005. These amounts represent the Company's historical results from
continuing operations without making pro forma adjustments for any acquisitions, divestitures or drilling activity
that occurred during the respective years. The production amounts will not agree to the reserve volume tables in
the "Unaudited Supplementary Information" section included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data" due to field fuel volumes and production from discontinued operations being included in the reserve volume
tables.
PRODUCTION, PRICE AND COST DATA
Year Ended December 31, 2007
United
States

South
Africa

Tunisia

Total

Production information:
Annual sales volumes:
Oil (MBbls)

6,804

979

1,403

NGLs (MBbls)

6,771

—

—

6,771

115,493

1,037

917

117,447

32,825

1,151

1,557

35,533

Oil (Bbls)

18,643

2,681

3,845

25,169

NGLs (Bbls)

18,553

—

—

18,553

316,418

2,840

2,513

321,771

89,933

3,154

4,264

97,351

Gas (MMcf)
Total (MBOE)

9,186

Average daily sales volumes:

Gas (Mcf)
Total (BOE)
Average prices, including hedge results and
amortization of deferred VPP revenue:
Oil (per Bbl)

$

63.78

$

76.36

$

70.04

$

66.08

NGL (per Bbl)

$

41.60

$

—

$

—

$

41.60

Gas (per Mcf)

$

7.25

$

6.76

$

8.77

$

7.26

Revenue (per BOE)

$

47.30

$

70.98

$

68.33

$

48.99

Oil (per Bbl)

$

70.26

$

76.72

$

70.04

$

70.91

NGL (per Bbl)

$

41.60

$

—

$

—

$

41.60

Gas (per Mcf)

$

6.02

$

6.76

$

8.77

$

6.04

Revenue (per BOE)

$

44.31

$

71.29

$

68.33

$

46.24

$

6.54

$

22.43

$

3.46

$

6.91

Average prices, excluding hedge results and
amortization of deferred VPP revenue:

Average costs (per BOE):
Production costs:
Lease operating
Third-party transportation charges

0.97

—

1.57

0.97

1.33

—

—

1.23

2.12

—

—

1.96

0.83

—

0.11

Taxes:
Ad valorem
Production
Workover
Total
Depletion expense

0.77

$

11.79

$

22.43

$

5.14

$

11.84

$

10.27

$

12.07

$

5.01

$

10.10
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PRODUCTION, PRICE AND COST DATA – (Continued)
Year Ended December 31, 2006
United
States

South
Africa

Tunisia

Total

Production information:
Annual sales volumes:
Oil (MBbls)

6,467

1,506

871

NGLs (MBbls)

6,748

—

—

6,748

103,928

—

436

104,364

30,536

1,506

944

32,986

Oil (Bbls)

17,716

4,127

2,386

24,229

NGLs (Bbls)

18,488

—

—

18,488

284,732

—

1,195

285,927

83,659

4,127

2,585

90,371

Gas (MMcf)
Total (MBOE)

8,844

Average daily sales volumes:

Gas (Mcf)
Total (BOE)
Average prices, including hedge results and
amortization of deferred VPP revenue:
Oil (per Bbl)

$

65.73

$

65.92

$

63.16

$

65.51

NGL (per Bbl)

$

35.24

$

—

$

—

$

35.24

Gas (per Mcf)

$

6.15

$

—

$

5.97

$

6.15

Revenue (per BOE)

$

42.64

$

65.92

$

61.05

$

44.23

Oil (per Bbl)

$

62.92

$

65.74

$

63.16

$

63.42

NGL (per Bbl)

$

35.24

$

—

$

—

$

35.24

Gas (per Mcf)

$

5.96

$

—

$

5.97

$

5.96

Revenue (per BOE)

$

41.37

$

65.74

$

61.05

$

43.04

$

5.64

$

14.47

$

1.99

$

5.94

Average prices, excluding hedge results and
amortization of deferred VPP revenue:

Average costs (per BOE):
Production costs:
Lease operating
Third-party transportation charges.

0.81

—

1.42

0.79

1.45

—

—

1.35

1.99

—

—

1.84

0.72

—

—

Taxes:
Ad valorem
Production
Workover
Total
Depletion expense

0.66

$

10.61

$

14.47

$

3.41

$

10.58

$

9.07

$

6.28

$

4.25

$

8.80
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PRODUCTION, PRICE AND COST DATA – (Continued)
Year Ended December 31, 2005
United
States

South
Africa

Tunisia

Total

Production information:
Annual sales volumes:
Oil (MBbls)

8,008

2,405

1,269

NGLs (MBbls)

6,352

—

—

6,352

Gas (MMcf)

98,927

—

—

98,927

Total (MBOE)

30,849

2,405

1,269

34,523

Oil (Bbls)

21,942

6,588

3,477

32,007

NGLs (Bbls)

17,403

—

—

17,403

271,033

—

—

271,033

84,517

6,588

3,477

94,582

11,682

Average daily sales volumes:

Gas (Mcf)
Total (BOE)
Average prices, including hedge results and
amortization of deferred VPP revenue:
Oil (per Bbl)

$

32.01

$

53.01

$

52.98

$

38.61

NGL (per Bbl)

$

31.72

$

—

$

—

$

31.72

Gas (per Mcf)

$

6.94

$

—

$

—

$

6.94

Revenue (per BOE)

$

37.09

$

53.01

$

52.98

$

38.78

Oil (per Bbl)

$

54.05

$

53.01

$

52.98

$

53.72

NGL (per Bbl)

$

31.72

$

—

$

—

$

31.72

Gas (per Mcf)

$

7.26

$

—

$

—

$

7.26

Revenue (per BOE)

$

43.86

$

53.01

$

52.98

$

44.84

$

4.55

$

11.79

$

1.66

$

4.95

Average prices, excluding hedge results and
amortization of deferred VPP revenue:

Average costs (per BOE):
Production costs:
Lease operating
Third-party transportation charges

0.66

—

1.54

0.64

1.31

—

—

1.17

1.94

—

—

1.73

0.53

—

—

Taxes:
Ad valorem
Production
Workover
Total
Depletion expense

0.48

$

8.99

$

11.79

$

3.20

$

8.97

$

7.10

$

10.19

$

3.75

$

7.19
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Productive wells. The following table sets forth the number of productive oil and gas wells attributable to
the Company's properties as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
PRODUCTIVE WELLS (a)
Gross Productive Wells
Oil

Gas

Net Productive Wells

Total

Oil

Gas

Total

As of December 31, 2007:
United States

5,498

4,825

10,323

4,362

4,213

8,575

South Africa
Tunisia

3

5

8

1

2

3

13

—

13

3

—

3

5,514

4,830

10,344

4,366

4,215

8,581

4,889

4,253

9,142

3,916

3,932

7,848

48

832

880

31

699

730

4

2

6

2

1

3

10

—

10

2

—

2

4,951

5,087

10,038

3,951

4,632

8,583

4,552

4,028

8,580

3,606

3,695

7,301

821

261

1,082

684

202

886

65

675

740

30

511

541

8

—

8

2

—

2

4

—

4

2

—

2

5,450

4,964

10,414

4,324

4,408

8,732

Total
As of December 31, 2006:
United States
Canada
South Africa
Tunisia
Total
As of December 31, 2005:
United States
Argentina
Canada
South Africa
Tunisia
Total
__________
(a)

Productive wells consist of producing wells and wells capable of production, including shut-in wells.
One or more completions in the same well bore are counted as one well. If any well in which one of the
multiple completions is an oil completion, then the well is classified as an oil well. As of December 31,
2007, the Company owned interests in seven gross wells containing multiple completions.

Leasehold acreage. The following table sets forth information about the Company's developed, undeveloped
and royalty leasehold acreage as of December 31, 2007:
LEASEHOLD ACREAGE
Developed Acreage
Gross Acres

Undeveloped Acreage

Net Acres

Gross Acres

Net Acres

Royalty
Acreage

United States:
Onshore
Offshore

1,414,288

1,209,915

2,782,979

1,446,940

61,840

23,334

85,142

72,739

6,750

1,476,128

1,233,249

2,868,121

1,519,679

301,658

South Africa

119,579

53,281

3,508,421

1,578,790

—

Tunisia
West Africa

287,540

80,044

2,860,487

1,569,116

—

—

—

244,881

122,441

—

1,883,247

1,366,574

9,481,910

4,790,026

301,658

Total
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294,908

The following table sets forth the expiration dates of the leases on the Company's gross and net undeveloped
acres as of December 31, 2007:
Acres Expiring (a)
Gross

Net

2008 (b)

1,026,197

556,110

2009

1,914,820

1,087,405

2010

1,230,688

666,252

2011

272,400

227,596

2012
Thereafter

133,499

93,894

4,904,306

2,158,769

Total

9,481,910

4,790,026

__________
(a)
(b)

Acres expiring are based on contractual lease maturities.
Acres subject to expiration during 2008 include 827,308 gross acres (201,341 net acres) in Tunisia and
198,889 gross acres (153,427 net acres) in North America. In Tunisia, the Company has received
extensions, plans to make the necessary expenditures to extend the acreage or intends to seek extensions
on the 2008 expirations. As to the remaining acreage, the Company may extend the leases prior to their
expiration based upon 2008 planned activities or for other business reasons. In certain leases, the
extension is only subject to the Company's election to extend and the fulfillment of certain capital
expenditures commitments. In other cases, the extensions are subject to the consent of third parties, and
no assurance can be given that the requested extensions will be granted. See "Description of Properties"
above for information regarding the Company's drilling operations.

Drilling activities. The following table sets forth the number of gross and net productive and dry hole wells
in which the Company had an interest that were drilled during 2007, 2006 and 2005. This information should not
be considered indicative of future performance, nor should it be assumed that there was any correlation between
the number of productive wells drilled and the oil and gas reserves generated thereby or the costs to the Company
of productive wells compared to the costs of dry holes.
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DRILLING ACTIVITIES
Gross Wells

Net Wells

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

2007

2006

2005

2007

2006

2005

United States:
Productive wells:
Development

602

662

537

581

619

505

41

52

40

33

42

37

2

8

7

2

7

7

5

8

7

3

6

5

650

730

591

619

674

554

Development

—

14

65

—

14

64

Exploratory

—

4

19

—

4

18

—

1

4

—

1

4

—

2

14

—

2

14

—

21

102

—

21

100

Exploratory
Dry holes:
Development
Exploratory
Argentina:
Productive wells:

Dry holes:
Development
Exploratory
Canada:
Productive wells:
Development

1

2

27

1

2

26

Exploratory

7

326

87

5

297

72

1

—

—

—

—

—

6

16

7

5

15

7

15

344

121

11

314

105

Dry holes:
Development
Exploratory
South Africa:
Productive wells:
Development

3

2

—

1

1

—

—

—

1

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1

—

—

1

—

3

3

1

1

2

—

Development

—

—

—

—

—

—

Exploratory

12

2

2

8

1

1

—

—

—

—

—

—

4

2

2

3

—

1

16

4

4

11

1

2

Development

—

—

—

—

—

—

Exploratory

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1

1

1

—

—

—

1

1

1

—

—

—

685

1,103

820

642

1,012

761

Exploratory
Dry holes:
Development
Exploratory
Tunisia:
Productive wells:

Dry holes:
Development
Exploratory
West Africa:
Productive wells:

Dry holes:
Development
Exploratory
Total
Success ratio (a)

97 %

95 %

85 %

98 %

95 %

84 %

__________
(a)

Represents the ratio of those wells that were successfully completed as producing wells or wells capable
of producing to total wells drilled and evaluated.
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The following table sets forth information about the Company's wells upon which drilling was in progress
as of December 31, 2007:
Gross
Wells

Net Wells

United States:
Development
Exploratory

10

9

23

14

33

23

1

1

34

24

Tunisia:
Exploratory
Total
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is party to the legal proceedings that are described under "Legal actions" in Note I of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data". The
Company is also party to other proceedings and claims incidental to its business. While many of these matters
involve inherent uncertainty, the Company believes that the amount of the liability, if any, ultimately incurred with
respect to such other proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated
financial position as a whole or on its liquidity, capital resources or future annual results of operations.
ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

The Company did not submit any matters to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company's common stock is listed and traded on the NYSE under the symbol "PXD". The Board
declared dividends to the holders of the Company's common stock of $.27 per share and $.25 per share during each
of the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. On February 12, 2008, the Board declared a $.14
per share dividend to the holders of the Company's common stock on March 31, 2008.
The following table sets forth quarterly high and low prices of the Company's common stock and dividends
declared per share for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

High

Dividends
Declared
Per Share

Low

Year ended December 31, 2007
Fourth quarter

$

54.87 $

42.92 $

—

Third quarter

$

49.78 $

35.51 $

0.14

Second quarter

$

54.17 $

42.53 $

—

First quarter

$

43.62 $

37.18 $

0.13

Fourth quarter

$

44.46 $

36.48 $

—

Third quarter

$

46.70 $

37.07 $

0.13

Second quarter

$

46.75 $

36.43 $

—

First quarter

$

54.46 $

37.98 $

0.12

Year ended December 31, 2006

On February 15, 2008, the last reported sales price of the Company's common stock, as reported in the NYSE
composite transactions, was $43.94 per share.
As of February 15, 2008, the Company's common stock was held by approximately 25,000 holders of
record.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
The following table summarizes the Company's purchases of treasury stock during the three months ended
December 31, 2007:

Period
October 2007
November
2007
December 2007
Total

Total Number of
Shares (or Units)
Purchased (a)

Total Number of
Shares
(or Units) Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs

Average Price
Paid per Share
(or Unit)

113,873

$

44.97

110,400

28,696

$

44.43

—

5,952

$

46.74

—

148,521

$

44.94

110,400

Approximate Dollar
Amount of Shares
That May Yet Be
Purchased Under Plans
or Programs

$

537,216,725

__________
(a)

Amounts include shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding on employees' share-based awards.

During February 2007, the Board approved a share repurchase program authorizing the purchase of up to
$300 million of the Company's common stock. In April 2007, the Board approved an increase of $450 million to
the existing share repurchase program bringing the aggregate authorized share repurchase program to $750
million. During 2007, the Company purchased $212.8 million of common stock pursuant to the 2007 program.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data as of and for each of the five years ended December 31,
2007 for the Company should be read in conjunction with "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".
Year Ended December 31, (a)
2007

2006

2005

2003

2004

(in millions, except per share data)
Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues and other income:
Oil and gas

$

1,740.9 $

1,458.9 $

1,338.9 $

962.2 $

94.6

48.4

26.4

1.8

Interest and other (b)
Gain (loss) on disposition of assets, net

(2.2)

(6.5)

675.8
7.0

60.1

0.3

1.4

1,833.3

1,500.8

1,425.4

964.3

684.2

Oil and gas production

420.7

349.1

309.7

206.1

145.7

Depletion, depreciation and amortization

387.4

314.1

267.8

208.3

149.2

26.2

—

0.6

39.7

—

Exploration and abandonments

279.3

250.2

153.8

94.3

77.8

General and administrative

129.6

116.6

110.1

69.5

51.1

Accretion of discount on asset retirement
obligations
Interest

7.0

3.7

3.3

3.6

2.6

135.3

107.0

126.0

102.0

91.1

61.3

32.0

39.8

—

—

31.9

36.9

80.8

25.5

11.3

1,478.7

1,209.6

1,091.9

749.0

528.8

Costs and expenses:

Impairment of long-lived assets (c)

Hurricane activity, net (d)
Other (e)
Income before continuing operations before
income taxes and cumulative effect of changes
in accounting principle
Income tax benefit (provision) (f)
Income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
(a)

354.6

291.2

333.5

215.3

155.4

(112.6)

(141.0)

(149.2)

(62.1)

134.2

242.0

150.2

184.3

153.2

289.6

130.7

589.5

350.3

159.7

105.6

372.7

739.7

534.6

312.9

395.2

Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, net of tax (g)
Net income

—

—

—

—

15.4

$

372.7 $

739.7 $

534.6 $

312.9 $

410.6

Income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle per share:
Basic

$

2.01 $

1.21 $

1.35 $

1.22 $

2.47

Diluted

$

1.99 $

1.19 $

1.32 $

1.21 $

2.44

Basic

$

3.10 $

5.95 $

3.90 $

2.50 $

3.50

Diluted

$

3.06 $

5.81 $

3.80 $

2.46 $

3.46

Net income per share:

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic

120.2

124.4

137.1

125.2

117.2

Diluted

121.7

127.6

141.4

127.5

118.5

Dividends declared per share

$

0.27 $

0.25 $

0.22 $

0.20 $

—

Total assets

$

8,617.0 $

7,355.4 $

7,329.2 $

6,733.5 $

3,951.6

Long-term obligations and minority interests

$

4,580.1 $

3,483.7 $

4,078.8 $

3,357.2 $

1,762.0

Total stockholders' equity

$

3,042.7 $

2,984.7 $

2,217.1 $

2,831.8 $

1,759.8

Balance Sheet Data (as of December 31):
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__________
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)
(g)

Certain amounts for periods prior to January 1, 2007, have been reclassified (i) in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of LongLived Assets" ("SFAS 144") to reflect the results of operations of certain assets disposed of during 2007, 2006
and 2005 as discontinued operations, rather than as a component of continuing operations (see Notes B and V
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data" for additional discussion) and (ii) to conform to the current year presentation.
Interest and other income in 2007 includes $74.9 million of income from Alaskan Petroleum Production Tax
("PPT") credit dispositions. The Company earns PPT credits on qualifying capital expenditures. The Company
recognizes income from PPT credits at the time they are realized through a cash refund or sale. Interest and
other income in 2006 and 2005 include $7.6 million and $14.2 million, respectively, of income associated with
various business interruption insurance claims. See Notes M and U of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".
During 2007, the Company recorded impairment charges of $10.2 million on Block 320 in Nigeria, $10.3
million related to Block H in Equatorial Guinea and $5.7 million related to properties in the United States for a
total of $26.2 million. During 2005 and 2004, the Company recorded $.6 million and $39.7 million of
impairment charges for its Gabonese Olowi field because development of the discovery was canceled due to
significant increases in projected field development costs. See Note S of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".
Hurricane activity, net, for 2007, 2006 and 2005 includes $66.0 million, $75.0 million and $39.8 million,
respectively, of charges to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron facilities destroyed by Hurricane Rita. In
2006, the Company recorded $43.0 million of estimated insurance recoveries associated with debris removal.
See Note U of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data".
Other expense for 2007 and 2006 included $8.7 million and $.3 million of idle drilling equipment costs,
respectively, resulting from unused contract commitments. Other expense for 2006, 2005 and 2003 includes
losses on the early extinguishment of debt of $8.1 million, $26.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively. Other
expense for 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 includes $2.1 million, $(10.6) million, $29.8 million, $4.2
million and $2.8 million, respectively, of derivative ineffectiveness charges (credits). Other expense for 2007
also includes a $10.6 million postretirement benefit obligation revaluation credit. See Note O of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".
Income tax benefit for 2003 includes a $197.7 million adjustment to reduce United States deferred tax asset
valuation allowances.
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle for 2003 relates to the adoption of SFAS No. 143
"Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" on January 1, 2003.
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ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Financial and Operating Performance
Pioneer's financial and operating performance for 2007 included the following highlights:

•

As a result of the gain recognized on the sale of deepwater Gulf of Mexico and Argentine assets during
2006, partially offset by the gain recognized on the Canadian divestiture in 2007, net income decreased
50 percent to $372.7 million ($3.06 per diluted share) in 2007 from $739.7 million ($5.81 per diluted
share) in 2006.

•

Income from continuing operations increased to $242.0 million ($1.99 per diluted share) for 2007, as
compared to $150.2 million ($1.19 per diluted share) for 2006, primarily due to higher oil and gas
revenues.

•

Average daily sales volumes, on a BOE basis, increased eight percent in 2007 as compared to 2006,
primarily due to successful drilling programs and a five percent decrease in the delivery of VPP volumes.

•

Oil and gas revenues increased $281.9 million, or 19 percent in 2007, as compared to 2006, due to a
combination of increased production and increases in worldwide commodity prices.

•

The Company completed the divestiture of the Company's Canadian subsidiary for net proceeds of
$525.7 million, resulting in a gain of $101.3 million.

•

The Company recognized income from discontinued operations of $130.7 million ($1.07 per diluted
share) during 2007, primarily attributable to the sale of Canadian assets, as compared to income from
discontinued operations of $589.5 million ($4.62 per diluted share) during 2006, which included the sale
of the deepwater Gulf of Mexico and Argentine assets.

•

Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $20.5 million, or three percent as compared to that
of 2006, primarily due to increased sales volumes, increased commodity prices and $74.9 million of
income realized from the disposal of Alaskan PPT credits, offset by the cash provided by operating
activities associated with the 2006 deepwater Gulf of Mexico and Argentine asset dispositions and the
2007 disposal of the Canadian assets.

•

The Company added 147.9 MMBOE of proved reserves during 2007, resulting in total proved reserves of
963.8 MMBOE at December 31, 2007.

•

The Company commenced production at the South Coast Gas Project in South Africa late in the third
quarter of 2007.

•

The construction and installation of facilities at the Company's Alaskan Oooguruk project was completed
and drilling was initiated in December 2007 with first production on schedule for the first half of 2008,
with first sales expected mid 2008.

•

The Company acquired oil and gas properties that complemented the Company's exploration and
development drilling activities with significant acquisitions in the Spraberry field, Raton field and the
Barnett Shale play of approximately $439 million.
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2008 Outlook and Activities
Commodity prices. Significant factors that may impact future commodity prices include: developments in
the issues currently impacting Iraq and Iran and the Middle East in general; the extent to which members of the
OPEC and other oil exporting nations are able to continue to manage oil supply through export quotas; and overall
North American gas supply and demand fundamentals, including the impact of weather conditions and increasing
LNG deliveries to the United States. Although the Company cannot predict the occurrence of events that may
affect future commodity prices or the degree to which these prices will be affected, the prices for any commodity
that the Company produces will generally approximate current market prices in the geographic region of the
production. From time to time, Pioneer expects that it may hedge a portion of its commodity price risk to mitigate
the impact of price volatility on its oil, NGL and gas revenues. See Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information
regarding the Company's commodity hedge positions at December 31, 2007. Also see "Item 7A. Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" for disclosures about the Company's commodity related derivative
financial instruments.
Capital budget for 2008. The Company announced a 2008 capital budget of $1.0 billion, excluding
acquisitions, effects of asset retirement obligations, capitalized interest and geological and geophysical
administrative costs. The 2008 capital budget is significantly less than 2007 capital spending levels, excluding
acquisitions, due to the completion of facilities construction for both the South Coast Gas project off the coast of
South Africa and the Oooguruk project on the North Slope of Alaska, the sale of all Canadian assets and the
elimination of higher-risk exploration. Approximately 90 percent of the 2008 capital budget will be focused on
low-risk development drilling and resource play extensions in Pioneer's four core onshore areas (Spraberry, Raton,
Edwards Trend and Tunisia). The remaining ten percent will be focused primarily on development drilling in the
Oooguruk project and Barnett Shale drilling. For 2008, the Company currently expects that cash flows from
operations will be sufficient to fund the $1.0 billion capital budget.
2008 Annual Production. The Company believes that the results from its 2007 drilling program and 2008
capital budget will allow the Company to realize production growth per share during 2008 of 12 percent or more as
compared to the Company's 2007 production per share.
First Quarter 2008 Outlook. Based on current estimates, the Company expects that first quarter 2008
production will average 103,000 to 109,000 BOEPD. The range reflects the typical variability in the timing of oil
cargo shipments in South Africa and Tunisia.
First quarter production costs (including production and ad valorem taxes and transportation costs) are
expected to average $11.75 to $12.75 per BOE based on NYMEX strip prices for oil, NGLs and gas at the time of
the estimate. Depletion, depreciation and amortization ("DD&A") expense is expected to average $10.75 to $11.75
per BOE.
Total exploration and abandonment expense for the quarter is expected to be $40 million to $70 million
including (i) up to $40 million from activities in the Company's resource plays in the Edwards Trend in South
Texas, the Rockies area and Tunisia and (ii) up to $30 million in seismic investments and personnel costs,
primarily in the Edwards Trend and Tunisia resource plays. General and administrative expense is expected to be
$32 million to $36 million. Interest expense is expected to be $35 million to $40 million. Accretion of discount on
asset retirement obligations is expected to be $2 million to $3 million.
The Company's first quarter effective income tax rate is expected to range from 40 percent to 45 percent
based on current capital spending plans and higher tax rates in certain foreign jurisdictions. Cash income taxes are
expected to range from $10 million to $15 million, principally related to Tunisian income taxes.
Pioneer Southwest Energy Partners L.P. Initial Public Offering. On January 8, 2008, Pioneer Southwest
Energy Partners L.P. ("Pioneer Southwest"), a subsidiary of the Company, filed an amendment to its registration
statement (subject to completion) with the SEC to sell limited partner interests. If the offering is completed,
Pioneer Southwest would own interests in certain oil and gas properties currently owned by the Company in the
Spraberry field in the Permian Basin of West Texas. Pioneer Southwest's registration statement contemplates an
offering of 7,500,000 common units representing a 35.3 percent limited partner interest in Pioneer Southwest.
Upon completion of this offering, the Company would own a 0.1 percent general partner interest and a 64.6
percent limited partner interest in Pioneer Southwest. The underwriters would be granted a 30-day option to
purchase up to 1,125,000 additional common units. The Company's limited partner interest would be reduced to
61.4 percent if the
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underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full. Assuming an initial public offering price of $20.00 per
common unit and that the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option, estimated gross proceeds from the
offering would be $150 million. In February 2008, the Company announced that the initial public offering of
common units of Pioneer Southwest has been postponed due to market conditions and timing of the offering
remains uncertain. There can be no assurance that Pioneer Southwest will complete the offering, or if completed,
that the offering will be structured as described above.
This report shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities of Pioneer
Southwest. Any offers, solicitations of offers to buy, or any sales of securities of Pioneer Southwest will be made
only in accordance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 or an exemption therefrom.
Acquisitions
2007 acquisition expenditures. During 2007, the Company spent approximately $536.7 million to acquire
proved and unproved properties. The acquisitions primarily added proved reserves and increased the Company's
acreage positions in the Spraberry field, Raton field and Barnett Shale play.
2006 acquisition expenditures. During 2006, the Company spent approximately $223.2 million to acquire
proved and unproved properties, which was comprised of approximately $144.8 million of proved properties and
$78.3 million of unproved properties. The proved properties were primarily bolt-on and acreage acquisitions in the
Spraberry field and Edwards Trend area. In North America, the acquisition of unproved properties is comprised of
acreage acquisitions in the Spraberry field, Edwards Trend area, Rockies area, Alaska and Canada. The Company
also acquired an additional interest in its Jenein Nord block in Tunisia and recognized additional obligations
associated with its Nigerian prospects during 2006.
2005 acquisition expenditures. During 2005, the Company spent approximately $272.9 million to acquire
proved and unproved properties, which was comprised of approximately $173.4 million of proved properties and
approximately $99.5 million of unproved properties.
Divestitures
Canada. In November 2007, the Company sold its Canadian subsidiaries for $525.7 million, resulting in a
gain of $101.3 million. The historic results of these assets and the related gain on disposition are reported as
discontinued operations.
Nigeria. In prior years, a subsidiary of the Company joined other companies in a production sharing contract
covering the oil prospecting license for Block 320 in deepwater Nigeria, gaining exploration rights from the
Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation. During the third quarter of 2007, the Company disposed of all its shares
in the subsidiary holding Block 320. As a result of the disposition of the shares in the Nigerian subsidiary, the
Company no longer owns any interest in Block 320 and will not fund or participate in any future operations in
connection with Block 320.
Argentina and Deepwater Gulf of Mexico. During March 2006, the Company sold its interests in certain oil
and gas properties in the deepwater Gulf of Mexico for net proceeds of $1.2 billion, resulting in a gain of $725.3
million. During April 2006, the Company sold its Argentine assets for net proceeds of $669.6 million, resulting in
a gain of $10.9 million. The historic results of these properties and the related gains on disposition are reported as
discontinued operations.
Volumetric production payments. During 2005, the Company sold 27.8 MMBOE of proved reserves in the
Hugoton and Spraberry fields, by means of three VPPs for net proceeds of $892.6 million, including the
assignment of the Company's obligations under certain derivative hedge agreements.
The Company's VPPs represent limited-term overriding royalty interests in oil and gas reserves that: (i)
entitle the purchaser to receive production volumes over a period of time from specific lease interests; (ii) are free
and clear of all associated future production costs and capital expenditures; (iii) are nonrecourse to the Company
(i.e., the purchaser's only recourse is to the reserves acquired); (iv) transfers title of the reserves to the purchaser
and (v) allows the Company to retain the remaining reserves after the VPPs volumetric quantities have been
delivered. Based on the scheduled production deliveries, the multiple VPPs are scheduled to be completed between
2009 and 2012.
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Canada and Shelf Gulf of Mexico. During 2005, the Company sold its interests in the Martin Creek and
Conroy Black areas of northeast British Columbia and the Lookout Butte area of southern Alberta for net proceeds
of $197.2 million, resulting in a gain of $138.3 million. During 2005, the Company also sold all of its interests in
certain oil and gas properties on the Gulf of Mexico shelf for net proceeds of $59.2 million, resulting in a gain of
$27.9 million. The historic results of these properties and the related gains on disposition are reported as
discontinued operations.
Gabon divestiture. In 2005, the Company closed the sale of the shares in a Gabonese subsidiary that owns
the interest in the Olowi block for $47.9 million of net proceeds, resulting in a gain of $47.5 million with no
associated income tax effect either in Gabon or the United States. During 2007, Pioneer relinquished its rights to
receive additional payments for production discovered from deeper reservoirs on the block in consideration for a
release of certain obligations.
Results of Operations
Oil and gas revenues. Oil and gas revenues totaled $1.7 billion, $1.5 billion and $1.3 billion during 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The revenue increase during 2007, as compared to 2006, was primarily reflective of
increases in United States and Tunisian revenues, partially offset by decreases in South African revenues. The
increase in United States revenues was primarily due to an increase in average daily sales volumes resulting from
successful drilling programs and reductions in scheduled volumetric production payment ("VPP") deliveries,
combined with an 18 percent increase in reported NGL prices and an 18 percent increase in reported gas prices.
The increase in Tunisian revenues resulted from an increase in average daily sales volumes from successful
drilling efforts and a 12 percent increase in average reported prices. South African revenues declined due to normal
production decline rates in the Sable field and the timing of oil cargo liftings, partially offset by increases in
average reported oil prices and initial gas production from the South Coast Gas project. The revenue increase
during 2006, as compared to 2005, was due to a 70 percent increase in reported oil prices and an 11 percent
increase in NGL prices. Partially offsetting the effects of increased oil and NGL prices was an 11 percent decrease
in reported gas prices and a four percent decrease in average daily sales volumes on a BOE basis.
A significant factor contributing to the increases in reported oil prices and decreases in reported oil sales
volumes in 2006 as compared to 2005 was the initiation of first deliveries of oil volumes under the Company's
VPP agreements in January 2006. VPP gas deliveries were initiated during February 2005 and declined by three
percent during 2006, as compared to that of 2005. In accordance with GAAP, VPP deliveries result in VPP
deferred revenue amortization being recognized in oil and gas revenues with no associated sales volumes being
recorded.
The following table provides average daily sales volumes from continuing operations by geographic area and
in total, for 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

Oil (Bbls):
United States

18,643

17,716

21,942

South Africa
Tunisia

2,681

4,127

6,588

3,845

2,386

3,477

Worldwide

25,169

24,229

32,007

18,553

18,488

17,403

United States

316,418

284,732

271,033

South Africa
Tunisia

2,840

—

—

2,513

1,195

—

Worldwide

321,771

285,927

271,033

United States

89,933

83,659

84,517

South Africa
Tunisia

3,154

4,127

6,588

4,264

2,585

3,477

Worldwide

97,351

90,371

94,582

NGLs (Bbls):
United States
Gas (Mcf):

Total (BOE):
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On a BOE basis, average daily production for 2007, as compared to 2006, increased by seven percent in the
United States and by 65 percent in Tunisia, while average daily production decreased by 24 percent in South
Africa. Average daily per BOE production for 2006, as compared to 2005, decreased by one percent in the United
States, by 37 percent in South Africa and by 26 percent in Tunisia.
During the year ended December 31, 2007, oil and gas volumes delivered under the Company's VPPs
decreased by five percent, as compared to 2006.
The following table provides average daily sales volumes from discontinued operations by geographic area
and in total during 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

Oil (Bbls):
United States
Argentina
Canada
Worldwide

—

2,400

5,280
7,869

—

2,515

267

311

238

267

5,226

13,387

—

—

65
1,824

NGLs (Bbls):
United States
Argentina
Canada

—

421

371

463

615

371

884

2,504

United States

—

36,038

230,171

Argentina
Canada

—

43,905

137,032

44,645

43,434

42,916

44,645

123,377

410,119

Worldwide
Gas (Mcf):

Worldwide
Total (BOE):
United States

—

8,406

43,707

Argentina
Canada

—

10,253

32,531

8,080

8,013

8,005

8,080

26,672

84,243

Worldwide
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The following table provides average reported prices from continuing operations, including the results of
hedging activities and the amortization of VPP deferred revenue, and average realized prices from continuing
operations, excluding the results of hedging activities and the amortization of VPP deferred revenue, by
geographic area and in total, for 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

Average reported prices:
Oil (per Bbl):
United States

$

63.78

$

65.73

$

32.01

South Africa

$

76.36

$

65.92

$

53.01

Tunisia

$

70.04

$

63.16

$

52.98

Worldwide

$

66.08

$

65.51

$

38.61

$

41.60

$

35.24

$

31.72

NGL (per Bbl):
United States
Gas (per Mcf):
United States

$

7.25

$

6.15

$

6.94

South Africa

$

6.76

$

—

$

—

Tunisia

$

8.77

$

5.97

$

—

Worldwide

$

7.26

$

6.15

$

6.94

Total (per BOE):
United States

$

47.30

$

42.64

$

37.09

South Africa

$

70.98

$

65.92

$

53.01

Tunisia

$

68.33

$

61.05

$

52.98

Worldwide

$

48.99

$

44.23

$

38.78

Average realized prices:
Oil (per Bbl):
United States

$

70.26

$

62.92

$

54.05

South Africa

$

76.72

$

65.74

$

53.01

Tunisia

$

70.04

$

63.16

$

52.98

Worldwide

$

70.91

$

63.42

$

53.72

$

41.60

$

35.24

$

31.72

NGL (per Bbl):
United States
Gas (per Mcf):
United States

$

6.02

$

5.96

$

7.26

South Africa

$

6.76

$

—

$

—

Tunisia

$

8.77

$

5.97

$

—

Worldwide

$

6.04

$

5.96

$

7.26

Total (per BOE):
United States

$

44.31

$

41.37

$

43.86

South Africa

$

71.29

$

65.74

$

53.01

Tunisia

$

68.33

$

61.05

$

52.98

Worldwide

$

46.24

$

43.04

$

44.84

Hedging activities. The Company, from time to time, utilizes commodity swap and collar contracts in order
to (i) reduce the effect of price volatility on the commodities the Company produces and sells, (ii) support the
Company's annual capital budgeting and expenditure plans and (iii) reduce commodity price risk associated with
certain capital projects. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company's commodity price hedges decreased oil and
gas revenues from continuing operations by $83.5 million, $151.2 million and $284.8 million, respectively. The
effective portions of changes in the fair values of the Company's commodity price hedges are deferred as increases
or decreases to stockholders' equity until the underlying hedged transaction occurs. Consequently, changes in the
effective portions of commodity price hedges add volatility to the Company's reported stockholders' equity until
the hedge derivative matures or is terminated. See Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included
in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for information concerning the impact to oil and gas
revenues during 2007, 2006 and 2005 from the Company's hedging activities, the Company's open and terminated
hedge positions at December 31, 2007 and descriptions of the Company's commodity hedge derivatives. Also see
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"Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" for additional disclosures about the
Company's commodity related derivative financial instruments.
Subsequent to December 31, 2007, the Company entered into additional commodity swap contracts for
approximately 69,945 MMBtu per day of the Company's 2008 production at an average price of $7.28 per
MMBtu. See Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for information concerning these changes in gas hedge positions.
Deferred revenue. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company's recognition of previously deferred VPP
revenue increased oil and gas revenues from continuing operations by $181.2 million, $190.3 million and $75.8
million, respectively. The Company's amortization of deferred VPP revenue is scheduled to increase 2008 oil and
gas revenues by $158.1 million. See Note T of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for specific information regarding the Company's VPPs.
Interest and other income. The Company's interest and other income totaled $94.7 million, $48.4 million
and $26.5 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The $46.3 million increase during 2007, as compared
to 2006, is primarily attributable to (i) $74.9 million of 2007 Alaskan Petroleum Production Tax ("PPT") credit
dispositions and (ii) a $4.8 million 2007 royalty obligation accrual adjustment, partially offset by (iii) an $11.3
million decrease in interest income, (iv) a $7.6 million reduction in business interruption insurance claims and (v)
a $7.4 million decrease in derivative ineffectiveness income. The $21.9 million increase during 2006, as compared
to 2005, is primarily attributable to (i) a $12.9 million increase in interest income primarily attributable to the
investing the proceeds from the Argentine and deepwater Gulf of Mexico divestitures during 2006, (ii) $7.4
million of hedge ineffectiveness gains recorded during 2006 and (iii) $5.6 million of Alaskan exploration incentive
credits received in 2006, offset by (iv) a $6.6 million decrease in business interruption insurance claims primarily
attributable to the 2005 Fain plant fire in the West Panhandle field.
In 2006, Alaska replaced its severance tax with the PPT for periods beginning after March 31, 2006. In late
2007, Alaska made further changes to the PPT through legislation referred to as "Alaska's Clear and Equitable
Share" ("ACES"). The ACES modifications to PPT were effective as of July 1, 2007. Due to the Company's
expenditures in Alaska and having no current production, the Company has generated PPT related carryforwards.
At December 31, 2007, the Company had approximately $90 million of available PPT related carryforwards that
may be monetized in the future. The Company anticipates recognizing further benefits from the PPT related
carryforwards from (i) a reduction in PPT liabilities or (ii) sales of the carryforwards to third parties, if
transferable, or reimbursement from the State of Alaska. The Company anticipates that any transfers of PPT
related carryforwards to third parties would be at a discounted value, for which the amount of discount is currently
not known.
Gain (loss) on disposition of assets. The Company recorded a net loss on disposition of assets of $2.2
million in 2007, as compared to a net loss of $6.5 million in 2006 and a net gain of $60.1 million during 2005.
In 2005, the gain was primarily related to (i) the sale of the stock of a subsidiary that owned the interest in
the Olowi block in Gabon, which resulted in a $47.5 million gain and (ii) a $14 million property insurance
settlement on the Company's East Cameron facility that was destroyed by Hurricane Rita, which resulted in a $9.7
million gain.
During 2007, the Company recognized a gain on the sale of its Canadian assets of $101.3 million. During
2006, the Company recognized gains on the sale of its interest in certain oil and gas properties in the deepwater
Gulf of Mexico and its Argentina assets of approximately $736.2 million. During 2005, the Company recognized
gains on the sale of certain assets in Canada and the shelf of the Gulf of Mexico of approximately $166.2 million.
However, pursuant to SFAS 144, these gains and the results of operations from the assets are presented as
discontinued operations.
The net cash proceeds from asset divestitures during 2007, 2006 and 2005 were used, together with net cash
flows provided by operating activities, to fund additions to oil and gas properties and stock repurchase programs,
and to reduce outstanding indebtedness. See Notes N and V of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding asset
divestitures.
Oil and gas production costs. The Company's oil and gas production costs totaled $420.7 million, $349.1
million and $309.7 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In general, lease operating expenses and
workover expenses represent the components of oil and gas production costs over which the Company has
management control, while production taxes and ad valorem taxes are directly related to commodity price changes.
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Total production costs per BOE increased during 2007 by 12 percent as compared to 2006 primarily due to (i)
general inflation of field service and supply costs associated with rising commodity prices, (ii) increased repair and
clean up costs, and associated production downtime, from severe weather conditions that affected certain areas of
the Company's United States operations during the first quarter of 2007, (iii) increased workover activity and (iv)
fixed production costs associated with declining South African Sable oil production.
Total production costs per BOE increased during 2006 by 18 percent as compared to 2005 primarily due to
(i) the impact of a 126 percent increase in delivered volumes under VPP agreements, for which the Company bears
all associated production costs and records no associated sales volumes (representing a per BOE production cost
impact of approximately $1.50 during 2006 as compared to $.59 during 2005), (ii) general inflation of field service
and supply costs and (iii) increases in production and ad valorem taxes and field utility costs due to increasing
commodity and utility prices.
The following tables provide the components of the Company's total production costs per BOE and total
production costs per BOE by geographic area for 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
Lease operating expenses

$

6.91

Third-party transportation charges

2006
$

2005
5.94

$

4.95

0.97

0.79

0.64

Ad valorem

1.23

1.35

1.17

Production
Workover costs

1.96

1.84

1.73

0.77

0.66

Taxes:

Total production costs

$

11.84

$

10.58

0.48
$

8.97

Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

United States

$

11.79

$

10.61

$

8.99

South Africa

$

22.43

$

14.47

$

11.79

Tunisia

$

5.14

$

3.41

$

3.20

Worldwide

$

11.84

$

10.58

$

8.97

Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense. The Company's total DD&A expense was $10.90, $9.52
and $7.76 per BOE for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Depletion expense, the largest component of DD&A
expense, was $10.10, $8.80 and $7.19 per BOE during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. During 2007, the
increase in per BOE depletion expense was primarily due to (i) a generally increasing trend in the Company's oil
and gas properties' cost bases per BOE of proved and proved developed reserves as a result of cost inflation in
drilling rig rates and drilling supplies and (ii) first production of the South Coast gas project in South Africa, which
has a higher depletion rate.
During 2006, the increase in per BOE depletion expense was primarily due to (i) a generally increasing trend
in the Company's oil and gas properties' cost bases per BOE of proved and proved developed reserves as a result of
cost inflation in drilling rig rates and drilling supplies, (ii) the sale of proved reserves under VPP agreements, for
which the Company removed proved reserves with no corresponding decrease in cost basis, (iii) a $.50 per BOE
increase in Tunisian depletion, primarily associated with 2006 and 2005 decreases in the Company's interest in the
Adam Concession, offset by (iv) a $3.91 per BOE decrease in South Africa depletion, primarily associated with
2006 and 2005 positive revisions to proved reserves based on well performance.
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The following table provides depletion expense per BOE from continuing operations by geographic area for
2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

United States

$

10.27

$

9.07

$

7.10

South Africa

$

12.07

$

6.28

$

10.19

Tunisia

$

5.01

$

4.25

$

3.75

Worldwide

$

10.10

$

8.80

$

7.19

Impairment of long-lived assets. The Company reviews its long-lived assets to be held and used, including
oil and gas properties, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be
recoverable. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company recognized aggregate noncash impairment
charges of $26.2 million. During 2007, the Company recorded a charge of $10.3 million to write off the
Company's remaining basis in Block H in Equatorial Guinea. The charge was recorded in connection with the
ongoing arbitration among the parties participating in the Block H prospect. Another $10.2 million of the
impairment charges relate to the Company's announced intent to dispose of its Nigerian subsidiary that held the
interest in Block 320 and the resulting adjustment to reduce its carrying cost basis to Block 320's estimated fair
value. During the second quarter of 2007, the Company also recognized a $5.7 million impairment charge to
reduce the carrying values of certain oil and gas properties located in Louisiana due to poor well performance.
During 2005, the Company recognized noncash impairment charges of $644 thousand to reduce the carrying
value of its Gabonese Olowi field assets as development of the discovery was canceled. See "Critical Accounting
Estimates" below and Notes B and S of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information pertaining to the Company's accounting policies
regarding assessments of impairment and the Equatorial Guinea, Nigeria, Louisiana and Gabonese Olowi field
impairments.
Exploration, abandonments, geological and geophysical costs. The following table provides the Company's
geological and geophysical costs, exploratory dry hole expense, leasehold abandonments and other exploration
expense by geographic area for 2007, 2006 and 2005:
United
States

South
Africa

Tunisia

Other

Total

(in thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2007
Geological and geophysical

$

Exploratory dry holes
Leasehold abandonments and other

91,547

$

276

$

2,812

$

9,182

119,638

—

13,931

13,851

20,453

—

—

7,639

$

231,638

$

$

79,140

$

$

103,817
147,420
28,092

276

$

16,743

$

30,672

$

279,329

289

$

8,402

$

21,536

$

109,367

Year ended December 31, 2006
Geological and geophysical
Exploratory dry holes
Leasehold abandonments and other

80,023

7,227

6,214

15,845

13,696

—

—

17,824

109,309
31,520

$

172,859

$

7,516

$

14,616

$

55,205

$

250,196

$

63,707

$

282

$

1,857

$

32,214

$

98,060

Year ended December 31, 2005
Geological and geophysical
Exploratory dry holes
Leasehold abandonments and other
$

24,462

804

9,041

9,135

8,957

125

—

3,195

97,126

$

1,211

$

10,898

$

44,544

43,442
12,277
$

153,779

During 2007, significant components of the Company's exploratory dry hole provisions and leasehold
abandonments expense included: (i) $72.1 million of suspended well costs written off due to the discontinuation of
the Clipper project in the deepwater Gulf of Mexico due to increasing costs, (ii) $13.8 million of costs associated
with the Company's unsuccessful exploratory well on its Block 256 offshore Nigeria, (iii) $50.8 million for costs
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associated with two unsuccessful exploratory wells in the Company's Alaskan NPRA area and the write-off of the
remaining prospect costs in the onshore North Slope area and (iv) $13.9 million of Tunisian dry hole provisions
and abandonment costs, which primarily related to the write-off of a suspended well drilled in 2003 on the
Anaguid permit and an unsuccessful exploratory well in both the Jenein Nord permit and the Borj El Khadra
permit. During 2007, the Company's seismic activity primarily related to its resource plays in South Texas and the
Rocky Mountains. During 2007, the Company completed and evaluated 76 exploration/extension wells, 60 of
which were successfully completed as discoveries.
During 2006, significant components of the Company's dry hole provisions and leasehold abandonments
expense included (i) $34.0 million of costs associated with the Company's unsuccessful exploratory well on its
Block 256 prospect offshore Nigeria, including $17.8 million of associated unproved leasehold impairment, (ii)
$21.6 million of dry hole provisions recorded for the Company's unsuccessful Cronus, Storms and Antigua
prospects in the North Slope area of Alaska, (iii) $16.9 million of dry hole provisions and abandonment costs
recognized on prospects drilled in prior periods that were being evaluated for commerciality, including $7.2
million of costs associated with the Company's Boomslang prospect offshore South Africa, $5.5 million of costs
associated with two discoveries on the Gulf of Mexico shelf in 2005 and $4.2 million of costs associated with the
Company's Anaguid permit in Tunisia, (iv) $16.0 million of dry hole provision and unproved property impairment
recognized on the Company's unsuccessful Norphlet prospect in Mississippi and (v) a $14.3 million unsuccessful
well on the Company's Flying Cloud prospect in the Gulf of Mexico. During 2006, the Company completed and
evaluated 414 exploration/extension wells, 384 of which were successfully completed as discoveries.
Significant components of the Company's dry hole expense during 2005 included (i) $21.2 million related to
Alaskan well costs, (ii) $9.5 million associated with an unsuccessful Nigerian well, (iii) $3.5 million attributable to
an unsuccessful suspended well in the Company's El Hamra permit in Tunisia, (iv) $5.1 million attributable to an
unsuccessful suspended well in the Company's Anaguid permit in Tunisia and (v) various other exploratory wells.
During 2005, the Company completed and evaluated 180 exploratory/extension wells, 149 of which were
successfully completed as discoveries.
General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense totaled $129.6 million, $116.6
million and $110.1 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase in general and administrative
expense during 2007, as compared to 2006, was primarily due to an increase in performance related compensation
costs, including the amortization of share-based awards to officers, directors and employees. As of December 31,
2007, the Company has $34.9 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested share-based
awards that will be charged to earnings over a weighted average period of approximately one year and five
months. The Company continues to monitor its general and administrative expense and is focused on
administrative cost control. If Pioneer Southwest completes its initial public offering, the Company expects that its
general and administrative expenses would increase.
The increase in general and administrative expense during 2006, as compared to 2005, was primarily due to a
full year effect of the 2005 staff increases associated with the Evergreen acquisition.
Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations. Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations
from continuing operations was $7.0 million, $3.7 million and $3.3 million for the years ending during 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. The increase in accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations during 2007 was
primarily due to new wells placed on production from the 2007 drilling program and the carryover of the 2006
drilling program. See Note L of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding the Company's asset retirement
obligations.
Interest expense. Interest expense was $135.3 million, $107.1 million and $126.0 million during 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. The weighted average interest rate on the Company's indebtedness for the year ended
December 31, 2007 was 6.5 percent, as compared to 6.7 percent and 6.5 percent for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, including the effects of interest rate derivatives. The increase in interest expense for
2007 as compared to 2006 was primarily due to (i) a $44.3 million increase in interest incurred on long-term debt
due to a $712 million increase in average debt outstanding, primarily related to funding additions to oil and gas
properties, (ii) a $5.4 million increase in noncash interest expense attributable to certain discounted liabilities and
deferred hedge losses partially offset by (iii) a $20.4 million increase in capitalized interest on the Company's
Oooguruk and South Coast Gas development projects in Alaska and South Africa, respectively. The Company
expects interest expense to increase in future periods due to the completion of the South Africa South Coast Gas
project during the third quarter of 2007 and the Alaskan Oooguruk project facilities nearing completion, partially
offset by declining interest rates on the Company credit facility.
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The decrease in interest expense for 2006 as compared to 2005 was primarily due to the repayment of
portions of the Company's outstanding borrowings under the Company's credit facility with proceeds from the
divestiture of the deepwater Gulf of Mexico and Argentine assets and an $11.1 million increase in interest
capitalized on the Company's Oooguruk and South Coast Gas development projects, partially offset by a $4.1
million decrease in the amortization of interest rate hedge gains.
See Note F of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for additional information about the Company's long-term debt and interest expense.
Hurricane activity, net. The Company recorded net hurricane related activity expenses of $61.3 million,
$32.0 million and $39.8 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, associated with the Company's East
Cameron platform facility, located on the Gulf of Mexico shelf, that was destroyed during 2005 by Hurricane Rita.
The Company estimates that it will cost approximately $185 million to reclaim and abandon the East
Cameron facility. The operations to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron facilities began in January 2007. The
estimate to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron facility is based upon an analysis prepared by a third party
engineering firm for a majority of the work, an estimate by the Company for the remaining work that was not
covered by the third-party analysis and actual abandonment activity to date. The incremental $66.0 million
increase in the reclamation and abandonment obligation during 2007 is primarily due to increasing the estimated
time that it will take to complete certain aspects of the reclamation and abandonment project based on recent
project work experience. During the third quarter of 2007, the Company commenced legal actions against its
insurance carriers regarding certain policy coverage issues. However, the Company continues to expect that a
substantial portion of the loss will be recoverable by insurance. See Note U of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information about
the Company's East Cameron facility reclamation and abandonment.
Other expenses. Other expenses were $31.9 million during 2007, as compared to $36.9 million during 2006
and $80.7 million during 2005. The $5.1 million decrease in other expense during 2007, as compared to 2006, is
primarily attributable to (i) an $11.2 million decrease in the Company's postretirement benefit obligations, (ii) an
$8.1 million decrease in losses on early extinguishments of debt, (iii) a $6.5 million decrease in non-hedge
derivative charges and (iv) a $4.0 million decrease in insurance charges, partially offset by (v) a $12.7 million
increase in charges related to commodity hedge ineffectiveness and (vi) an $8.4 million increase in the cost of idle
drilling equipment.
The $43.8 million decrease in other expenses during 2006, as compared to 2005, is primarily attributable to
(i) a $40.4 million decrease in hedge ineffectiveness charges and (ii) an $18.4 million decrease in loss on early
extinguishment of portions of the Company's senior notes, partially offset by (iii) a $4.4 million increase in bad
debt expense, (iv) a $4.0 million insurance charge, (v) a $2.7 million increase in non-hedge derivative charges and
(vi) $3.4 million of other net increases in other expense components.
Income tax provision. The Company recognized income tax provisions on continuing operations of $112.6
million, $141.0 million and $149.2 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company's effective tax
rates for 2007, 2006 and 2005 were 32 percent, 48 percent and 45 percent, respectively, as compared to the
combined United States federal and state statutory rates of approximately 37 percent. The effective tax rates of
2007, 2006 and 2005 differ from the combined United States federal and state statutory rates primarily due to:

•
•
•
•
•
•

foreign tax rates;
statutes in foreign jurisdictions that differ from those in the United States, including a newly-enacted South
African tax law allowing for the deduction of 150 percent of development expenditures, resulting in a $15.7
million tax benefit in 2007;
an $8.8 million tax benefit in 2007 related to the reversal of Tunisian deferred tax asset valuation allowances
previously taken on the Company's Cherouq concession and the recognition of additional tax benefits for
costs inherited from the previous owners of the Jenein Nord permit, which management now believes is more
likely than not to be realized in the future from forecasted operations;
a $40.9 million tax benefit during 2007 related to the Company's exit from Nigeria;
a $13.8 million tax benefit during 2007 related to the Company's relinquishment of its remaining rights in
Gabon and the write off of costs associated with Block H in Equatorial Guinea;
an $18.9 million U.S. tax provision during 2007 related to the Company no longer having identifiable plans to
reinvest South Africa earnings in South Africa;
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•
•
•

recognition of $8.4 million of deferred tax benefit during 2006 as a result of the conversion of senior
convertible notes prior to the Company's repayment of the debt principal;
recognition of $7.2 million of taxes during 2005 associated with the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant
to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004; and
expenses for unsuccessful well costs and associated acreage costs in foreign locations where the Company
does not expect to receive income tax benefits, principally attributable to unsuccessful wells in Nigeria during
2006 and 2007.

See "Critical Accounting Estimates" below and Note P of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding the
Company's tax position.
Discontinued operations. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company sold its interests in the following oil
and gas asset groups:
Country

Description of Asset Groups

Date Divested

Canada

Martin Creek, Conroy Black and Lookout Butte fields

May 2005

United States

Two Gulf of Mexico shelf fields

August 2005

United States

Deepwater Gulf of Mexico fields

March 2006

Argentina

Argentine assets

April 2006

Canada

Canadian assets

November 2007

The Company recognized income from discontinued operations of $130.7 million during 2007 as compared
to $589.5 million during 2006 and $350.3 million during 2005. Pursuant to SFAS 144, the results of operations of
these assets and the related gains on disposition are reported as discontinued operations. See Notes V and W of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Financial Statements and Supplementary Data included
herein for additional data on discontinued operations.
Capital Commitments, Capital Resources and Liquidity
Capital commitments. The Company's primary needs for cash are for exploration, development and
acquisition of oil and gas properties, repayment of contractual obligations and working capital obligations.
Funding for exploration, development and acquisition of oil and gas properties and repayment of contractual
obligations may be provided by any combination of internally-generated cash flow, proceeds from the disposition
of nonstrategic assets or alternative financing sources as discussed in "Capital resources" and "Financing
activities" below. Generally, funding for the Company's working capital obligations is provided by internallygenerated cash flows.
Oil and gas properties. The Company's cash expenditures for additions to oil and gas properties during
2007, 2006 and 2005 totaled $2.1 billion, $1.4 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively. The Company's 2007
expenditures for additions to oil and gas properties were funded by $775.3 million of net cash provided by
operating activities, the net proceeds from the disposition of Canadian assets and borrowings on the Company's
line of credit. The Company's 2006 expenditures for additions to oil and gas properties were funded by $754.8
million of net cash provided by operating activities and by a portion of the net proceeds from the disposition of
deepwater Gulf of Mexico and Argentine assets. The Company's 2005 expenditures for additions to oil and gas
properties were internally funded by $1.3 billion of net cash provided by operating activities.
The Company strives to maintain its indebtedness at levels which will provide sufficient financial flexibility
to take advantage of future opportunities. The Company's capital budget for 2008 is approximately $1.0 billion.
The Company currently expects that cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund the capital budget.
Off-balance sheet arrangements. From time-to-time, the Company enters into off-balance sheet
arrangements and transactions that can give rise to material off-balance sheet obligations of the Company. As of
December 31, 2007, the material off-balance sheet arrangements and transactions that the Company has entered
into include (i) undrawn letters of credit, (ii) operating lease agreements, (iii) drilling commitments, (iv) VPP
obligations (to physically deliver volumes and pay related lease operating expenses in the future) and (v)
contractual obligations for which the ultimate settlement amounts are not fixed and determinable, such as
derivative contracts that are sensitive to future changes in commodity prices and gas transportation commitments.
Other than the off-balance sheet arrangements described above, the Company has no transactions, arrangements or
other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons that are reasonably likely to materially affect the
Company's liquidity or
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availability of or requirements for capital resources. See "Contractual obligations" below for more information
regarding the Company's off-balance sheet arrangements.
Contractual obligations. The Company's contractual obligations include long-term debt, operating leases,
drilling commitments (including commitments to pay day rates for drilling rigs), derivative obligations, other
liabilities, transportation commitments and VPP obligations.
The following table summarizes by period the payments due by the Company for contractual obligations
estimated as of December 31, 2007:
Payments Due by Year
2009 and
2011 and
2010
2012

2008

Thereafter

(in thousands)
Long-term debt (a)

$

—

$ 1,119,110

28,913

26,126

22,496

75,907

Drilling commitments (c)

190,155

179,570

8,065

—

Derivative obligations (d)

228,577

77,245

—

—

Other liabilities (e)

140,206

37,334

8,188

146,329

26,086

50,607

36,103

31,967

158,138

238,121

87,021

609,003

$ 1,280,983

Operating leases (b)

Transportation commitments (f)
VPP obligations (g)
$

3,777

775,852

$

$

$

1,726,875

—
$

1,981,078

__________
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

See Note F of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data". The amounts included in the table above represent principal maturities only.
See Note I of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data".
Drilling commitments represent future minimum expenditure commitments for drilling rig services and well
commitments under contracts to which the Company was a party on December 31, 2007.
Derivative obligations represent net liabilities for oil and gas commodity derivatives that were valued as of
December 31, 2007. These liabilities include $69.9 million of liabilities that are fixed in amount and are not
subject to continuing market risk. The ultimate settlement amounts of the remaining portions of the Company's
derivative obligations are unknown because they are subject to continuing market risk. See "Item 7A.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" and Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information
regarding the Company's derivative obligations.
The Company's other liabilities represent current and noncurrent other liabilities that are comprised of
postretirement benefit obligations, litigation and environmental contingencies, asset retirement obligations and
other obligations for which neither the ultimate settlement amounts nor their timings can be precisely
determined in advance. See Notes H, I and L of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item
8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding the Company's
postretirement benefit obligations, litigation and environmental contingencies and asset retirement obligations,
respectively.
Transportation commitments represent estimated transportation fees on gas throughput commitments. See Note
I of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data" for additional information regarding the Company's transportation commitments.
These amounts represent the amortization of the deferred revenue associated with the VPPs. The Company's
ongoing obligation is to deliver the specified volumes sold under the VPPs free and clear of all associated
production costs and capital expenditures. See Note T of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included
in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".

Capital resources. The Company's primary capital resources are net cash provided by operating activities,
proceeds from financing activities and proceeds from sales of nonstrategic assets. The Company expects that these
resources will be sufficient to fund its capital commitments for the foreseeable future. For 2007, the Company's
capital commitments exceeded estimated cash flows from operations, resulting in additional borrowings under the
Company's credit facility. For 2008, the Company currently expects that cash flow from operations will be
sufficient to fund the Company's $1.0 billion capital budget.
Asset divestitures. In November 2007, the Company sold all of the common stock of its Canadian
subsidiaries for net proceeds of $525.7 million. The proceeds from the sale were utilized to reduce amounts
outstanding under the Company's credit facility. Associated therewith, the Company reported a gain of $101.3
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million during the fourth quarter of 2007. The results of operations for the Canadian assets are included in the
Company's discontinued operations.
During March 2006, the Company sold all of its interests in certain oil and gas properties in the deepwater
Gulf of Mexico for net proceeds of $1.2 billion, resulting in a gain of $725.3 million. During April 2006, the
Company sold its Argentine assets for net proceeds of $669.6 million, resulting in a gain of $10.9 million. The
results of operations for these divestitures are included in the Company's discontinued operations. The net cash
proceeds from these divestitures were used to reduce outstanding indebtedness under the Company's credit facility,
to fund a portion of additions to oil and gas properties, for stock repurchases and for general corporate purposes.
During May 2005, the Company sold all of its interests in the Martin Creek, Conroy Black and Lookout
Butte oil and gas properties in Canada for net proceeds of $197.2 million, resulting in a gain of $138.3 million.
During August 2005, the Company sold all of its interests in certain oil and gas properties on the Gulf of Mexico
shelf for net proceeds of $59.2 million, resulting in a gain of $27.9 million. During October 2005, the Company
sold all of its shares in a subsidiary that owns the interest in the Olowi block in Gabon for net proceeds of $47.9
million, resulting in a gain of $47.5 million. The net cash proceeds from the 2005 divestitures were used to reduce
outstanding indebtedness.
During 2005, the Company sold 27.8 MMBOE of proved reserves, by means of three VPPs for net proceeds
of $892.6 million, including the assignment of the Company's obligations under certain derivative hedge
agreements. Proceeds from the VPPs were used to reduce outstanding indebtedness.
See Note T of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding the Company's VPPs.
Operating activities. Net cash provided by operating activities during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $775.3
million, $754.8 million and $1.3 billion, respectively. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities in
2007, as compared to that of 2006, was primarily due to increased sales volumes, increased commodity prices and
$74.9 million of income realized from the disposal of Alaskan PPT credits, offset by the cash provided by
operating activities associated with the 2006 deepwater Gulf of Mexico and Argentine asset dispositions and the
2007 disposal of the Canadian assets. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities in 2006, as
compared to that of 2005, was primarily due to the loss of cash flow from the aforementioned asset divestitures.
Investing activities. Net cash used in investing activities during 2007 was $1.8 billion, as compared to net
cash provided by investing activities of $145.5 million and $84.7 million during 2006 and 2005, respectively. The
decrease in net cash provided by investing activities during 2007, as compared to 2006, was primarily due to $1.6
billion of net proceeds received from the divestiture of assets during 2006, the substantial portion of which resulted
from the sale of the Company's deepwater Gulf of Mexico and Argentine assets, and a $663.8 million increase in
additions to oil and gas properties during 2007. The increase in net cash provided by investing activities during
2006, as compared to 2005, was primarily due to a $396.2 million increase in proceeds from disposition of assets,
partially offset by a $280.6 million increase in additions to oil and gas properties. See "Results of Operations"
above and Note N of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding asset divestitures.
Financing activities. Net cash provided by financing activities for 2007 was $1.0 billion, as compared to net
cash used in financing activities of $913.5 million and $1.4 billion during 2006 and 2005, respectively. During
2007, significant components of financing activities included $1.3 billion of net borrowings under long-term debt
and $221.4 million of net cash used to purchase 5.2 million shares of treasury stock. During 2006, significant
components of financing activities included $554.7 million of net cash used to repay long-term borrowings, $348.9
million of net cash used to purchase 8.9 million shares of stock and $31.7 million of dividend payments, partially
offset by $17.4 million of proceeds from the exercise of long-term incentive plan stock options and employee stock
purchases. During 2005, financing activities were comprised of $353.6 million of net principal repayments on
long-term debt, $60.1 million of payments of other noncurrent liabilities, primarily comprised of cash settlements
of acquired hedge obligations, $30.3 million of dividends paid and $949.3 million of stock repurchases, partially
offset by $41.6 million of proceeds from the exercise of long-term incentive plan stock options and employee stock
purchases.
During September 2005, the Company announced that the board of directors had approved a share
repurchase program authorizing the purchase of up to $1 billion of the Company's common stock. During 2006
and 2005, the Company expended a total of $348.9 million to acquire 8.9 million shares of stock and $949.3
million to acquire 20.0 million shares of stock, respectively, of which $345.3 million and $640.7 million,
respectively, were
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repurchased pursuant to the $1 billion repurchase program. In 2007, the Board authorized share repurchases of up
to $750 million of the Company's common stock. Through December 31, 2007, the Company had repurchased
$212.8 million of common stock under this 2007 authorized program.
On January 15, 2008, $3.8 million principal amount of the Company's 6.50% senior notes matured and were
repaid with borrowings under its credit facility. On August 15, 2007, $32.1 million principal amount of the
Company's 8.25% senior notes matured and were also repaid with borrowings under the Company's credit facility.
During April 2007, the Company amended its existing Amended and Restated $1.5 billion 5-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement with an Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement (the "Credit Facility") to
extend the maturity and improve the pricing. The Credit Facility provides for initial aggregate loan commitments
of $1.5 billion, which may be increased to a maximum aggregate amount of $2.0 billion if the lenders increase
their loan commitments or if loan commitments of new financial institutions are added. See Note F of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
additional information regarding the significant terms of the amended credit facility. During January 2008, the
Company entered into interest rate swap contracts and designated the contracts as cash flow hedges of the
forecasted interest rate risk associated with a portion of the Company's Credit Facility indebtedness. The interest
rate swap contracts are variable-for-fixed-rate swaps on $400 million notional amount of debt at a weighted
average fixed annual rate of 2.87 percent, excluding any applicable margins. The interest rate swaps have an
effective start date during February, 2008, $200 million of which terminate during February 2010 and $200 million
during February 2011.
During March 2007, the Company issued $500 million of 6.65% senior notes due 2017 for net proceeds of
$494.8 million. The Company used the net proceeds from the 6.65% senior notes to reduce indebtedness under its
credit facility.
During May 2006, the Company issued $450 million of 6.875% senior notes due 2018 for net proceeds of
$447.4 million. The Company used the net proceeds, in part, from the 6.875% senior notes to repurchase $346.2
million of its 6.50% senior notes due 2008 and for general corporate purposes.
During 2006, holders of all of the $100 million of 4 3/4% senior convertible notes due 2021 exercised their
conversion rights. Associated therewith, the Company paid $79.9 million in cash, issued 2.3 million shares of
common stock and recorded a $22.0 million increase to stockholders' equity.
During April 2005, $131.0 million of the Company's 8 7/8% senior notes due 2005 matured and were repaid.
During 2005, the Company also redeemed the remaining $64.0 million and $16.2 million, respectively, of
aggregate principal amount of its 9 5/8% senior notes due 2010 and its 7.50% senior notes due 2012. During
September 2005, the Company accepted tenders to purchase $188.4 million in principal amount of the 5.875%
senior notes due 2012 for $199.9 million. The Company utilized unused borrowing capacity under its credit
facility to fund these financing activities.
During 2007, the Company's board of directors declared total dividends of $.27 per common share.
Associated therewith, the Company paid $16.0 million of aggregate dividends during April 2007 and $16.8 million
of aggregate dividends during October 2007. Future dividends are at the discretion of the Board, and, if declared,
the Board may change the current dividend amount, including in response to the Company's liquidity and capital
resources at the time.
In 2007, Pioneer Southwest filed a preliminary registration statement (subject to completion) with the SEC
to sell limited partner interests. If the offering is completed, Pioneer Southwest would own interests in certain oil
and gas properties currently owned by the Company in the Spraberry field in the Permian Basin of West Texas.
Pioneer Southwest's registration statement contemplates an offering of 35.3 percent (before underwriters' overallotment option) of its limited partner interests to the public (the "Offering"). The Offering has been postponed
due to market conditions and timing of the Offering remains uncertain. Completion of the Offering is subject to
market conditions and numerous other risks beyond the control of Pioneer Southwest, and therefore it is possible
that the Offering will not be completed, will not raise the planned amount of capital even if the Offering is
completed, or will not be completed when planned.
In October 2007, Pioneer Southwest entered into a $300 million unsecured revolving credit facility ("PSE
Credit Agreement") with a syndicate of banks. The PSE Credit Agreement would mature five years following the
closing of the Offering and would contain certain financial covenants that would be applicable to Pioneer
Southwest. As a result of the most restrictive covenant, borrowings under the PSE Credit Agreement would be
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expected to be initially limited to approximately $150 million. It is a condition to the obligations of the lenders
under the PSE Credit Agreement that Pioneer Southwest completes the Offering. Pioneer Southwest is seeking an
extension of the facility from the lenders. There can be no assurance that the lenders will agree to an extension, or
if they do agree, that the terms of the facility will remain unchanged. If Pioneer Southwest were to seek a
replacement facility, there can be no assurance that it would be able to do so or if it were successful, that the terms
would be as favorable to Pioneer Southwest as the terms under the PSE Credit Agreement. See Notes F and W of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data"
for additional information on the Pioneer Southwest credit facility and initial public offering.
As the Company pursues its strategy, it may utilize various financing sources, including fixed and floating
rate debt, convertible securities, preferred stock or common stock. The Company may also issue securities in
exchange for oil and gas properties, stock or other interests in other oil and gas companies or related assets.
Additional securities may be of a class preferred to common stock with respect to such matters as dividends and
liquidation rights and may also have other rights and preferences as determined by the Board.
Liquidity. The Company's principal source of short-term liquidity is cash on hand and unused borrowing
capacity under its credit facility. There were $1.1 billion of outstanding borrowings under the credit facility as of
December 31, 2007. Including $80 million of undrawn and outstanding letters of credit under the credit facility, the
Company had $307 million of unused borrowing capacity as of December 31, 2007.
In January 2008, the Company issued $500 million of 2.875% senior convertible notes ("2.875%
Convertible Notes"). The notes will be convertible under certain circumstances using a net share settlement
process into a combination of cash and Pioneer common stock pursuant to a formula. The Company used the net
proceeds from the 2.875% Convertible Notes to reduce indebtedness under its credit facility.
Foreign currency translation. The functional currency of the Company's Canadian subsidiaries was the
U.S. dollar ("USD") and the Canadian subsidiaries' financial statements were maintained in Canadian dollars
("CND"). In accordance with GAAP, the net assets of the Canadian subsidiaries were translated into USDequivalent amounts when they were consolidated into the financial statements of the Company and resulting
translation gains and losses were deferred as items of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss in the
Company's consolidated stockholders' equity. As a result of modest fluctuations in the USD to CND exchange
rates during 2005 and 2006, the Company recorded other comprehensive income (loss) in accumulated other
comprehensive income – cumulative translation adjustment ("AOCI – CTA") in consolidated stockholders equity
of $8.1 million and $(6.6) million, respectively. However, during 2007 the CND strengthened significantly against
the USD, associated with which the Company recorded $77.7 million of other comprehensive income in AOCI –
CTA. During November 2007, the sale of the Company's common stock in the Canadian subsidiaries was
completed, at which time AOCI – CTA was eliminated as a component of the gain on the divestiture of the
Canadian assets. See Note V of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding the divestiture of the Canadian
subsidiaries.
Debt ratings. The Company receives debt credit ratings from Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, Inc.
("S&P") and Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moodys"), which are subject to regular reviews. S&P's rating for
the Company is BB+ with a stable outlook. Moodys rating for the Company is Ba1 with a negative outlook. S&P
and Moodys consider many factors in determining the Company's ratings including: production growth
opportunities, liquidity, debt levels and asset and reserve mix. A reduction in the Company's debt ratings could
negatively impact the Company's ability to obtain additional financing or the interest rate, fees and other terms
associated with such additional financing. As of December 31, 2007, the Company was in compliance with all of
its debt covenants.
Book capitalization and current ratio. The Company's book capitalization at December 31, 2007 was $5.8
billion, consisting of debt of $2.8 billion and stockholders' equity of $3.0 billion. The Company's debt to book
capitalization increased to 48 percent at December 31, 2007 from 33 percent at December 31, 2006, primarily due
to increased indebtedness which was used to fund the Company's additions to oil and gas properties and stock
repurchases. The Company's debt to book capitalization at December 31, 2005 was 48 percent and decreased to 33
percent at December 31, 2006. The decrease was principally due to the reduction of debt from the application of
the proceeds received from the divestiture of the deepwater Gulf of Mexico assets and Argentine assets in 2006.
The Company's ratio of current assets to current liabilities was .77 to 1.00 at December 31, 2007, as compared to
.60 to 1.00 at December 31, 2006.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements for inclusion in this Report in accordance with
GAAP. See Note B of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for a comprehensive discussion of the Company's significant accounting policies. GAAP
represents a comprehensive set of accounting and disclosure rules and requirements, the application of which
requires management judgments and estimates including, in certain circumstances, choices between acceptable
GAAP alternatives. Following is a discussion of the Company's most critical accounting estimates, judgments and
uncertainties that are inherent in the Company's application of GAAP.
Asset retirement obligations. The Company has significant obligations to remove tangible equipment and
facilities and to restore the land or seabeds at the end of oil and gas production operations. The Company's removal
and restoration obligations are primarily associated with plugging and abandoning wells and removing and
disposing of offshore oil and gas platforms. Estimating the future restoration and removal costs is difficult and
requires management to make estimates and judgments because most of the removal obligations are many years in
the future and contracts and regulations often have vague descriptions of what constitutes removal. Asset removal
technologies and costs are constantly changing, as are regulatory, political, environmental, safety and public
relations considerations.
Inherent in the present value calculation are numerous assumptions and judgments including the ultimate
settlement amounts, inflation factors, credit adjusted discount rates, timing of settlement and changes in the legal,
regulatory, environmental and political environments. To the extent future revisions to these assumptions impact
the present value of the existing asset retirement obligations, a corresponding adjustment is generally made to the
oil and gas property balance. See Notes B and L of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item
8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding the Company's asset
retirement obligations.
Successful efforts method of accounting. The Company utilizes the successful efforts method of accounting
for oil and gas producing activities as opposed to the alternate acceptable full cost method. In general, the
Company believes that, during periods of active exploration, net assets and net income are more conservatively
measured under the successful efforts method of accounting for oil and gas producing activities than under the full
cost method. The critical difference between the successful efforts method of accounting and the full cost method
is as follows: under the successful efforts method, exploratory dry holes and geological and geophysical
exploration costs are charged against earnings during the periods in which they occur; whereas, under the full cost
method of accounting, such costs and expenses are capitalized as assets, pooled with the costs of successful wells
and charged against the earnings of future periods as a component of depletion expense. During 2007, 2006 and
2005, the Company recognized exploration, abandonment, geological and geophysical expense from (i) continuing
operations of $279.3 million, $250.2 million and $153.8 million, respectively, and (ii) discontinued operations of
$14.4 million, $21.3 million and $73.4 million, respectively, under the successful efforts method.
Proved reserve estimates. Estimates of the Company's proved reserves included in this Report are prepared
in accordance with GAAP and SEC guidelines. The accuracy of a reserve estimate is a function of:

•
•
•
•

the quality and quantity of available data;
the interpretation of that data;
the accuracy of various mandated economic assumptions; and
the judgment of the persons preparing the estimate.

The Company's proved reserve information included in this Report as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
were prepared by the Company's engineers and audited by independent petroleum engineers with respect to the
Company's major properties. Estimates prepared by third parties may be higher or lower than those included
herein.
Because these estimates depend on many assumptions, all of which may substantially differ from future
actual results, reserve estimates will be different from the quantities of oil and gas that are ultimately recovered. In
addition, results of drilling, testing and production after the date of an estimate may justify, positively or
negatively, material revisions to the estimate of proved reserves.
It should not be assumed that the Standardized Measure included in this Report as of December 31, 2007 is
the current market value of the Company's estimated proved reserves. In accordance with SEC requirements, the
Company based the Standardized Measure on prices and costs on the date of the estimate. Actual future prices and
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costs may be materially higher or lower than the prices and costs as of the date of the estimate. See "Item 1A. Risk
Factors" for additional information regarding estimates of proved reserves.
The Company's estimates of proved reserves materially impact depletion expense. If the estimates of proved
reserves decline, the rate at which the Company records depletion expense will increase, reducing future net
income. Such a decline may result from lower market prices, which may make it uneconomical to drill for and
produce higher cost fields. In addition, a decline in proved reserve estimates may impact the outcome of the
Company's assessment of its proved properties and goodwill for impairment.
Impairment of proved oil and gas properties. The Company reviews its proved properties to be held and
used whenever management determines that events or circumstances indicate that the recorded carrying value of
the properties may not be recoverable. Management assesses whether or not an impairment provision is necessary
based upon its outlook of future commodity prices and net cash flows that may be generated by the properties and
if a significant downward revision has occurred to the estimated proved reserves. Proved oil and gas properties are
reviewed for impairment at the level at which depletion of proved properties is calculated.
Impairment of unproved oil and gas properties. At December 31, 2007, the Company carried unproved
property costs of $277.5 million. Management periodically assesses unproved oil and gas properties for
impairment, on a project-by-project basis. Management's assessment of the results of exploration activities,
commodity price outlooks, planned future sales or expiration of all or a portion of such projects impacts the
amount and timing of impairment provisions, if any.
Suspended wells. The Company suspends the costs of exploratory wells that discover hydrocarbons pending
a final determination of the commercial potential of the oil and gas discovery. The ultimate disposition of these
well costs is dependent on the results of future drilling activity and development decisions. If the Company decides
not to pursue additional appraisal activities or development of these fields, the costs of these wells will be charged
to exploration and abandonment expense.
The Company generally does not carry the costs of drilling an exploratory well as an asset in its
Consolidated Balance Sheets for more than one year following the completion of drilling unless the exploratory
well finds oil and gas reserves in an area requiring a major capital expenditure and both of the following conditions
are met:
(i) The well has found a sufficient quantity of reserves to justify its completion as a producing well.
(ii) The Company is making sufficient progress assessing the reserves and the economic and operating
viability of the project.
Due to the capital intensive nature and the geographical location of certain projects, it may take the
Company longer than one year to evaluate the future potential of the exploration well and economics associated
with making a determination on its commercial viability. In these instances, the project's feasibility is not
contingent upon price improvements or advances in technology, but rather the Company's ongoing efforts and
expenditures related to accurately predicting the hydrocarbon recoverability based on well information, gaining
access to other companies' production, transportation or processing facilities and/or getting partner approval to drill
additional appraisal wells. These activities are ongoing and being pursued constantly. Consequently, the
Company's assessment of suspended exploratory well costs is continuous until a decision can be made that the well
has found proved reserves or is noncommercial and is impaired. See Note D of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information
regarding the Company's suspended exploratory well costs.
Assessments of functional currencies. Management determines the functional currencies of the Company's
subsidiaries based on an assessment of the currency of the economic environment in which a subsidiary primarily
realizes and expends its operating revenues, costs and expenses. The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of all of
the Company's current international operations. The assessment of functional currencies can have a significant
impact on periodic results of operations and financial position.
Deferred tax asset valuation allowances. The Company continually assesses both positive and negative
evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will be realized prior to their
expiration. Pioneer monitors Company-specific, oil and gas industry and worldwide economic factors and
reassesses the likelihood that the Company's net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax attributes in
each jurisdiction will be utilized prior to their expiration. There can be no assurance that facts and circumstances
will not materially change and require the Company to establish deferred tax asset valuation allowances in certain
jurisdictions in a future period. As of December 31, 2007, the Company does not believe there is sufficient positive
evidence to reverse its valuation allowances related to certain foreign tax jurisdictions.
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Goodwill impairment. The Company reviews its goodwill for impairment at least annually. This requires the
Company to estimate the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting units that have goodwill. There is
considerable judgment involved in estimating fair values, particularly in the estimation of proved reserves as
described above. See Note B of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information.
Litigation and environmental contingencies. The Company makes judgments and estimates in recording
liabilities for ongoing litigation and environmental remediation. Actual costs can vary from such estimates for a
variety of reasons. The costs to settle litigation can vary from estimates based on differing interpretations of laws
and opinions and assessments on the amount of damages. Similarly, environmental remediation liabilities are
subject to change because of changes in laws and regulations, developing information relating to the extent and
nature of site contamination and improvements in technology. Under GAAP, a liability is recorded for these types
of contingencies if the Company determines the loss to be both probable and reasonably estimable. See Note I of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data"
for additional information regarding the Company's commitments and contingencies.
Valuations of defined benefit pension and postretirement plans. The Company is the sponsor of certain
defined benefit pension and postretirement plans. In accordance with GAAP, the Company is required to estimate
the present value of its unfunded pension and accumulated postretirement benefit obligations. Based on those
values, the Company records the unfunded obligations of those plans and records ongoing service costs and
associated interest expense. The valuation of the Company's pension and accumulated postretirement benefit
obligations requires management assumptions and judgments as to benefit cost inflation factors, mortality rates
and discount factors. Changes in these factors may materially change future benefit costs and pension and
accumulated postretirement benefit obligations. See "New Accounting Pronouncements" below and Note H of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding the Company's pension and accumulated postretirement
benefit obligations.
Valuation of stock-based compensation. The Company adopted the "modified prospective" approach as
prescribed under SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006. Under this approach, the Company is required to expense
all options and other stock-based compensation that vested during the year of adoption based on the fair value of
the award on the grant date. The calculation of the fair value of stock-based compensation requires the use of
estimates to derive the inputs necessary for using the various valuation methods utilized by the Company. The
Company utilizes (a) the Black-Scholes option pricing model to measure the fair value of stock options, (b) the
stock price on the date of grant for the fair value of restricted stock awards and (c) the Monte Carlo simulation
method for the fair value of performance unit awards.
New Accounting Pronouncements
The following discussions provide information about new accounting pronouncements that were issued by
the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") during 2007:
SFAS 157. In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS 157").
SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and enhances disclosures about fair
value measures required under other accounting pronouncements, but does not change existing guidance as to
whether or not an instrument is carried at fair value. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. The implementation of SFAS 157 will not have a material impact on the financial condition
or results of operations of the Company.
SFAS 159. In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities" ("SFAS 159"). SFAS 159 permits entities to measure many financial instruments and
certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. SFAS 159 is effective
for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. The implementation of SFAS 159 is not expected to have a material effect on the financial
condition or results of operations of the Company.
SFAS 141(R). In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), "Business Combinations" ("SFAS
141"). SFAS 141(R) replaces SFAS 141 and provides greater consistency in the accounting and financial reporting
of business combinations. SFAS 141(R) requires the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the
acquisition date, measured at the fair value as of that date. This includes the measurement of the acquirer shares
issued in consideration for a business combination, the recognition of contingent consideration, the accounting for
pre-acquisition gain and loss contingencies, the recognition of capitalized in-process research and development,
the
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accounting for acquisition-related restructuring cost accruals, the treatment of acquisition related transaction costs
and the recognition of changes in the acquirer's income tax valuation allowance and deferred taxes. SFAS 141(R)
is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008,
and is to be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which the statement is applied. The
implementation of SFAS 141(R) is not expected to have a material effect on the financial condition or results of
operations of the Company.
SFAS 160. In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160 "Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated
Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB Statement No. 51" ("SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 amends Accounting
Research Bulletin ("ARB") No. 51, "Consolidated Financial Statements," to establish accounting and reporting
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160
clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, which is sometimes referred to as minority interest, is an
ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as a component of equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Among other requirements, SFAS 160 requires consolidated net income to be reported at
amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. It also requires
disclosure, on the face of the consolidated income statement, of the amounts of consolidated net income
attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling interest. SFAS 160 is effective for the Company on January 1,
2009 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's financial statements.
58

ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following quantitative and qualitative information is provided about financial instruments to which the
Company was a party as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and from which the Company may incur future gains or
losses from changes in market interest rates, foreign exchange rates or commodity prices. Although certain
derivative contracts to which the Company has been a party did not qualify as hedges, the Company does not enter
into derivative or other financial instruments for trading purposes.
The fair value of the Company's derivative contracts is determined based on counterparties' estimates and
valuation models. The Company did not change its valuation method during 2007. During 2007, the Company was
a party to commodity, interest rate and foreign exchange rate swap contracts and commodity collar contracts. See
Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for additional information regarding the Company's derivative contracts, including deferred
gains and losses on terminated derivative contracts. The following table reconciles the changes that occurred in the
fair values of the Company's open derivative contracts during 2007:
Derivative Contract Net Liabilities (a)
Interest
Foreign
Commodities
Rate
Exchange Rate

Total

(in thousands)
Fair value of contracts outstanding
as of December 31, 2006
Changes in contract fair values (b)

$

Contract maturities
Contract terminations
Fair value of contracts outstanding
as of December 31, 2007

(68,228) $
(160,839)
(70,772)

$

—

65,429
$

—
(1,537)
1,537

(234,410) $

—

$

—

$

(68,228)

(1,500)

(163,876)

(61)

(70,833)

61

67,027

(1,500) $

(235,910)

__________
(a)

(b)

Represents the fair values of open derivative contracts subject to market risk. The Company also had
$69.9 million and $131.1 million of obligations under terminated derivatives as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively, for which no market risk exists.
At inception, new derivative contracts entered into by the Company have no intrinsic value.

Quantitative Disclosures
Foreign exchange rate sensitivity. Prior to its sale, the Company's Canadian subsidiary entered into shortterm forward currency agreements to purchase Canadian dollars with U.S. dollar gas sales proceeds. The Company
did not designate these derivatives as hedges due to their short-term nature.
During November 2007, the Company invested $131.7 million Canadian dollars ("CND") in a CNDdenominated escrow account associated with the sale of the Company's Canadian assets (see Notes V of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
additional information regarding the sale of the Company's Canadian assets). During December 2007, the
Company entered into foreign exchange rate derivatives to swap $131.7 million CND for $131.0 million U.S.
dollars ("USD") to be delivered during May 2008. As of December 31, 2007, the fair value of the foreign exchange
rate swap contracts was a liability of $1.5 million. The foreign exchange rate swaps were economic hedges of the
CND-denominated escrow account balance; however, uncertainty regarding the matching of cash flow timing
between the foreign exchange rate swaps and the liquidation of the CND-denominated escrow account caused the
Company not to designate the foreign exchange rate swaps as hedges. The CND-denominated escrow account was
liquidated during January 2008 for $129.0 million USD, at which time the foreign exchange rate swaps were
terminated at a gain of $1.8 million. Subsequent to these transactions, the Company has no remaining material
foreign exchange rate risk associated with financial instruments.
Interest rate sensitivity. The following tables provide information about other financial instruments to which
the Company was a party as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 that were sensitive to changes in interest rates. For
debt obligations, the tables present maturities by expected maturity dates, the weighted average interest rates
expected to be paid on the debt given current contractual terms and market conditions and the debt's estimated fair
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value. For fixed rate debt, the weighted average interest rate represents the contractual fixed rates that the
Company was obligated to periodically pay on the debt as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. For variable rate debt,
the average interest rate represents the average rates being paid on the debt projected forward proportionate to the
forward yield curve for LIBOR on February 8, 2008. As of December 31, 2007, the Company was not a party to
material derivatives that would subject it to interest rate sensitivity.
Interest Rate Sensitivity
Debt Obligations as of December 31, 2007
Liability
Fair Value
December
31,

Year Ending December 31,
2008

2009

2010

2011

Thereafter

2012

Total

2007

(dollars in thousands)
Total Debt:
Fixed rate principal
maturities (a)
$ 3,777 $
Weighted average
interest rate
6.55%
Variable rate
principal
maturities (b)
$
— $
Weighted average
interest rate
3.51%

—

$

6.55%

—

—

—

6.55%

$

3.91%

$

—

$

6.55%

$

—

4.78%

6,110

$ 1,726,875

6.55%

$ 1,113,000

5.38%

$ 1,736,762 $ 1,537,630

6.76%

$

5.48%

—

$ 1,113,000 $ 1,113,000

—%

________
(a)
(b)

Represents maturities of principal amounts excluding (i) debt issuance discounts and premiums and (ii)
deferred fair value hedge gains and losses.
During January 2008, the Company entered into $400 million notional amount of floating-for-fixed interest rate
swaps to hedge a portion of the interest rate risk associated with variable rate indebtedness at a fixed weighted
average annual interest rate of 2.87 percent, excluding any applicable margins. The interest rate swaps mature
during February 2010 ($200 million notional amount) and 2011 ($200 million notional amount).
Interest Rate Sensitivity
Debt Obligations as of December 31, 2006
Liability
Fair Value
December 31,

Year Ending December 31,
2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

Thereafter

Total

2006

(dollars in thousands)
Total Debt:
Fixed rate principal
maturities (a)
$ 32,075 $ 3,777 $
— $
— $
— $ 1,232,985 $ 1,268,837 $
Weighted
average
interest rate
6.64%
6.25%
6.51%
6.51%
6.51%
6.51%
Variable rate
principal
maturities
$
— $
— $
— $ 22,960 $ 305,040 $
— $ 328,000 $
Weighted
average
interest rate
(b)
6.23%
5.87%
5.88%
5.96%
6.28%
—%

1,244,846

328,000

________
(a)
(b)

Represents maturities of principal amounts excluding (i) debt issuance discounts and premiums and (ii)
deferred fair value hedge gains and losses.
Represents the average rates being paid on debt projected forward proportionate to the forward yield curve for
LIBOR on February 19, 2007.

Commodity price sensitivity. The following tables provide information about the Company's oil and gas
derivative financial instruments that were sensitive to changes in oil, NGL and gas prices as of December 31, 2007
and 2006. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, substantially all of the Company's oil, NGL and gas derivative
financial instruments qualified as hedges.
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Commodity hedge instruments. The Company hedges commodity price risk with derivative contracts, such
as swap and collar contracts. Swap contracts provide a fixed price for a notional amount of sales volumes. Collar
contracts provide minimum ("floor") and maximum ("ceiling") prices for the Company on a notional amount of
sales volumes, thereby allowing some price participation if the relevant index price closes above the floor price.
See Notes B, E and J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" for a description of the accounting procedures followed by the Company
relative to hedge derivative financial instruments and for specific information regarding the terms of the
Company's derivative financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in oil, NGL or gas prices.
Oil Price Sensitivity
Derivative Financial Instruments as of December 31, 2007
Liability
Fair Value at
December 31,

Year Ending December 31,
2008

2009

2010

2007
(in thousands)

Oil Hedge Derivatives:
Average daily notional Bbl volumes (a):
Swap contracts

15,250

Weighted average fixed price per Bbl

$

Collar contracts

61.36

8,000
$

3,000

71.57

4,000
$

$

237,071

$

24,517

71.46

2,000

—

Weighted average ceiling price per Bbl

$

80.80

$

76.50

$

Weighted average floor price per Bbl

$

65.00

$

65.00

$

—

Average forward NYMEX oil prices (b)

$

97.22

$

92.62

$

90.88

—

__________
(a)
(b)

See Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for hedge volumes and weighted average prices by calendar quarter.
The average forward NYMEX oil prices are based on February 15, 2008 market quotes.
Oil Price Sensitivity
Derivative Financial Instruments as of December 31, 2006
Liability
Fair Value at
December 31,

Year Ending December 31,
2007

2008

2009

2006
(in thousands)

Oil Hedge Derivatives:
Average daily notional Bbl volumes:
Swap contracts

4,512

6,500

—

Weighted average fixed price per Bbl

$

31.44

$

31.19

$

—

Average forward NYMEX oil prices (a)

$

61.47

$

63.93

$

63.86

__________
(a)

The average forward NYMEX oil prices are based on February 1, 2007 market quotes.
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$

130,574

NGL Price Sensitivity
Derivative Financial Instruments as of December 31, 2007
Liability
Fair Value at December
31,

Year Ending December 31,
2008

2009

2010

2007
(in thousands)

NGL Hedge Derivatives:
Average daily notional Bbl
volumes:
Swap contracts

500

Weighted average fixed
price per Bbl
$
Average forward Mont Belvieu
NGL prices (a)
$
__________
(a)

500

500 $

44.33 $

41.75 $

39.63

55.42 $

53.19 $

50.92

6,211

Forward Mont Belvieu NGL prices are not available as formal market quotes. These forward prices
represent estimates as of February 15, 2008 provided by third parties who actively trade in the
derivatives. Accordingly, these prices are subject to estimates and assumptions.
Gas Price Sensitivity
Derivative Financial Instruments as of December 31, 2007
Asset
Fair Value at
December 31,

Year Ending December 31,
2009

2008

2007

2010

(in thousands)
Gas Hedge Derivatives (a):
Average daily notional
MMBtu volumes (b):
Swap contracts (c)
Weighted average fixed
price per MMbtu
Average forward NYMEX
gas prices (d)
__________
(a)

(b)
(c)

(d)

129,167

9,897

2,500

$

7.60

$

7.85

$

7.33

$

9.18

$

9.36

$

9.17

$

33,389

To minimize basis risk, the Company enters into basis swaps for a portion of its gas hedges to convert
the index price of the hedging instrument from a NYMEX index to an index which reflects the
geographic area of production. The Company considers these basis swaps as part of the associated swap
and collar contracts and, accordingly, the effects of the basis swaps have been presented together with
the associated contracts.
See Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for hedge volumes and weighted average prices by calendar quarter.
Subsequent to December 31, 2007 and through February 15, 2008, the Company entered into additional
swap contracts for approximately 69,945 MMBtu per day of the Company's 2008 production at an
average price of $7.28 per MMBtu.
The average forward NYMEX gas prices are based on February 15, 2008 market quotes.
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Gas Price Sensitivity
Derivative Financial Instruments as of December 31, 2006
Asset
Fair Value at
December 31,

Year Ending December 31,
2007

2008

2006
(in thousands)

Gas Hedge Derivatives (a):
Average daily notional MMBtu volumes:
Swap contracts
Weighted average fixed price per
MMbtu
Collar contracts

86,194
$

Weighted average ceiling price per
MMbtu
$
Weighted average floor price per
MMbtu
$
Average forward NYMEX gas prices (b) $

8.13

15,000
$

6,164

$

54,835

$

7,511

8.62
—

11.52

$

—

9.00

$

—

7.99

$

8.29

__________
(a)

(b)

To minimize basis risk, the Company enters into basis swaps for a portion of its gas hedges to convert
the index price of the hedging instrument from a NYMEX index to an index which reflects the
geographic area of production. The Company considers these basis swaps as part of the associated swap
and collar contracts and, accordingly, the effects of the basis swaps have been presented together with
the associated contracts.
The average forward NYMEX gas prices are based on February 19, 2007 market quotes.

Qualitative Disclosures
Non-derivative financial instruments. The Company is a borrower under fixed rate and variable rate debt
instruments that give rise to interest rate risk. The Company's objective in borrowing under fixed or variable rate
debt is to satisfy capital requirements while minimizing the Company's costs of capital. See Note F of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for a
discussion of the Company's debt instruments.
Derivative financial instruments. The Company utilizes interest rate, foreign exchange rate and commodity
price derivative contracts to hedge interest rate, foreign exchange rate and commodity price risks in accordance
with policies and guidelines approved by the Board. In accordance with those policies and guidelines, the
Company's executive management determines the appropriate timing and extent of hedge transactions.
Foreign currency, operations and price risk. International investments represent, and are expected to
continue to represent, a portion of the Company's total assets. Pioneer currently has international operations in
Tunisia and South Africa, which together represented 11 percent of the Company's 2007 oil and gas revenues from
continuing operations. Although Pioneer's primary focus is directed toward onshore North American opportunities,
Pioneer continues to identify and selectively evaluate other international opportunities. As a result of such foreign
operations, Pioneer's financial results and international operations could be affected by factors such as changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, changes in the legal or regulatory environment, weak economic conditions or
changes in political or economic climates and other factors. For example:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

local political and economic developments could restrict or increase the cost of Pioneer's foreign
operations;
exchange controls and currency fluctuations could result in financial losses;
royalty and tax increases and retroactive tax claims could increase costs of Pioneer's foreign
operations;
expropriation of the Company's property could result in loss of revenue, property and equipment;
civil uprising, riots, terrorist attacks and wars could make it impractical to continue operations,
resulting in financial losses;
compliance with applicable U.S. law could be in conflict with the Company's contractual obligations,
the laws of foreign governments or local customs;
import and export regulations and other foreign laws or policies could result in loss of revenues;
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•
•

repatriation levels for export revenues could restrict the availability of cash to fund operations
outside a particular foreign country; and
laws and policies of the U.S. affecting foreign trade, taxation and investment could restrict Pioneer's
ability to fund foreign operations or may make foreign operations more costly.

Pioneer does not currently maintain political risk insurance. Pioneer evaluates on a country-by-country basis
whether obtaining political risk coverage is necessary and may add such insurance in the future if the Company
believes it is prudent to do so.

Africa. The Company's producing assets in Africa are in South Africa and Tunisia. The Company views the
operating environment in these African nations as stable and the economic stability as good. The Company also
has an exploration permit in Equatorial Guinea. While the values of the various African nations' currencies
fluctuate in relation to the U.S. dollar, the Company believes that any currency risk associated with Pioneer's
African operations would not have a material impact on the Company's results of operations given that such
operations are closely tied to oil prices, which are denominated in U.S. dollars.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Pioneer Natural Resources Company:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Pioneer Natural Resources Company (the
"Company") as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders' equity, cash flows and comprehensive income for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Pioneer Natural Resources Company at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and
the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
As discussed in Note P to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation
No. 48 "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpretation of FASB No. 109," effective January 1,
2007. As discussed in Note B to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment," effective January 1, 2006. As discussed in
Note H to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 158, "Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans,"
effective December 31, 2006.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 19, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 19, 2008
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PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

December 31,
2007

2006

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

12,171 $

7,033

Accounts receivable:
Trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $7,657 and $6,999 as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively
Due from affiliates

283,249

195,534

583

3,837

Income taxes receivable

40,046

24,693

Inventories

97,619

95,131

Prepaid expenses
Deferred income taxes

9,378

11,509

108,073

82,927

33,970

63,665

Other current assets:
Derivatives
Other
Total current assets

179,966

52,229

765,055

536,558

8,973,634

7,967,708

Property, plant and equipment, at cost:
Oil and gas properties, using the successful efforts method of accounting:
Proved properties
Unproved properties
Accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization

277,479

Total property, plant and equipment
Deferred income taxes

210,344

(2,028,472)

(1,895,408)

7,222,641

6,282,644

10,263

345

Goodwill

310,870

309,908

Other property and equipment, net

152,990

131,840

684

4,333

Other assets:
Derivatives
Other, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,573 and $4,045 as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively

154,478
$

8,616,981 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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89,771
7,355,399

PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2007

2006

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable:
Trade

$

Due to affiliates

350,782 $

332,795

27,634

17,025

Interest payable

42,020

31,008

Income taxes payable

12,842

12,865

Derivatives

262,547

141,898

Deferred revenue
Other

158,138

181,232

140,206

170,156

Other current liabilities:

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Derivatives

994,169

886,979

2,755,491

1,497,162

77,929

125,459

1,229,677

1,172,507

Deferred revenue

325,142

483,279

Other liabilities and minority interests

191,851

205,342

Deferred income taxes

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 123,389,014
and 122,686,073 shares issued at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost: 5,661,692 and 1,183,090 shares at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively
Retained earnings

1,234

1,227

2,693,257

2,654,047

(245,601)

(53,274)

822,089

497,488

(228,257)

(167,220)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Net deferred hedge losses, net of tax
Cumulative translation adjustment
Total stockholders' equity

—

52,403

3,042,722

2,984,671

8,616,981 $

7,355,399

Commitments and contingencies
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

$ 1,740,851

$ 1,458,940

$ 1,338,883

94,661

48,390

26,460

(2,163)

(6,459)

Revenues and other income:
Oil and gas
Interest and other
Gain (loss) on disposition of assets, net

60,063

1,833,349

1,500,871

1,425,406

Oil and gas production

420,738

349,066

309,714

Depletion, depreciation and amortization

387,397

314,081

267,757

Impairment of long-lived assets

26,215

—

644

Exploration and abandonments

279,329

250,196

153,779

General and administrative

129,587

116,595

110,104

7,028

3,726

3,349

135,270

107,050

125,987

61,309

32,000

39,813

31,852

36,919

80,723

1,478,725

1,209,633

1,091,870

Income from continuing operations before income taxes

354,624

291,238

333,536

Income tax provision

(112,645)

(141,021)

(149,231)

Income from continuing operations

241,979

150,217

184,305

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

130,749

589,514

Costs and expenses:

Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations
Interest
Hurricane activity, net
Other

Net income

350,263

$

372,728

$

739,731

$

534,568

Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

2.01

$

1.21

$

1.35

Net income

$

3.10

$

5.95

$

3.90

Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

1.99

$

1.19

$

1.32

Net income

$

Basic earnings per share:
1.09

4.74

2.55

Diluted earnings per share:
1.07
3.06

4.62
$

5.81

2.48
$

3.80

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic

120,158

124,359

137,110

Diluted

121,659

127,608

141,417

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands, except dividends per share)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Additional

Balance as of December 31, 2004
Dividends declared ($.22 per common share)
Exercise of long-term incentive plan stock options and employee
stock purchases
Purchase of treasury stock
Tax benefits related to stock-based compensation

Retained

Net Deferred

Cumulative

Total

Shares

Common

Paid-in

Treasury

Deferred

Earnings

Hedge Losses,

Translation

Stockholders'

Outstanding

Stock

Capital

Stock

Compensation

(Deficit)

Net of Tax

Adjustment

Equity

143,625

$

1,438

$

3,705,304

$

(27,793) $

(22,558) $

(634,146) $

—

—

(30,339)

—

—

94,670

—

(54,403)

—

—

41,577

(949,259)

—

—

—

—

(949,259)

—

—

—

—

18,752

(56,160)

—

—

—

—

26,857

—

—

—

26,857

—

6,034

—

—

—

334

—

—

—

534,568

—

—

534,568

—

—

—

—

—

(539,384)

—

(539,384)

—

—

—

—

—

180,941

—

180,941

—

—

—

—

—

93,157

—

93,157

—

—

—

2,429

—

1,310

(19,984)

—

—

—

—

18,752

—

762

14

56,146

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—
—

(241,350) $

50,885

$

2,831,780
(30,339)

Deferred compensation:
Compensation deferred
Deferred compensation included in net income
Forfeiture of deferred compensation
Net income

(5,700)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Deferred hedging activity, net of tax:
Net deferred hedge losses
Net hedge losses included in continuing operations
Net hedge losses included in discontinued operations
Deferred translation adjustment gain
Balance as of December 31, 2005

Dividends declared ($.25 per share)
Conversion of senior notes
Exercise of long-term incentive plan stock options and employee
stock purchases
Purchase of treasury stock
Tax benefits related to stock-based compensation

—
126,832

—
$

1,452

—
$

3,775,812

—
$

—

(882,382) $

—

(184,320) $

—

—

(31,726 )

107,023

—

39,568

—

(348,945 )

—

—

—

—

2,327

—

(85,023 )

860

—

4,010

—

—

—

—

4,247

—

—

45,827

(8,902 )

—

(45,827) $

—

8,118

(506,636) $

59,003

8,118
$

2,217,102

—

—

(31,726 )

—

—

22,000

—

—

17,381

—

—

(348,945 )

—

—

—

4,247

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
(26,197)

Compensation costs:
Adopted of SFAS 123(R)

—

—

(45,827 )

—

386

4

(4 )

—

—

—

32,065

—

—

—

—

—

32,065

Net income

—

—

—

—

—

739,731

—

—

739,731

Retirement of shares

—

(229 )

1,031,462

—

—

—

—

—

Net deferred hedge gains

—

—

—

—

—

—

118,139

—

118,139

Net hedge losses included in continuing operations

—

—

—

—

—

—

96,530

—

96,530

Net hedge losses included in discontinued operations

—

—

—

—

—

—

124,747

—

124,747

Compensation awards
Compensation costs included in net income

(1,031,233 )

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Deferred hedging activity, net of tax:

Deferred translation adjustment loss
Balance as of December 31, 2006

—
121,503

—
$

1,227

—
$

2,654,047

—
$

(53,274 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—
$

—

—
$

497,488

—
$

(167,220 )

(6,600 )
$

52,403

(6,600 )
$

2,984,671

PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands, except dividends per share)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Additional

Dividends declared ($0.27 per share)
Exercise of long-term incentive plan stock options and employee
stock purchases
Purchase of treasury stock
Tax benefits related to stock-based compensation

Retained

Net Deferred

Cumulative

Total

Shares

Common

Paid-in

Treasury

Deferred

Earnings

Hedge Losses,

Translation

Stockholders'

Outstanding

Stock

Capital

Stock

Compensation

(Deficit)

Net of Tax

Adjustment

Equity

—

—

—

671

—
—
—

3,908

(5,150)
—

—

—

(32,921)

—

—

(32,921)

—

29,097

—

(15,206)

—

—

13,891

—

(221,424)

—

—

—

—

(221,424)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

35,309

—

—

372,728

(94,330)

3,908

Compensation costs:
Compensation awards
Compensation costs included in net income
Net income

703

7

—

—

35,309

(7)

—

—

—

—

—

—

372,728

—

—

—

—

—

—

(94,330)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

52,686

—

52,686

—

—

—

—

—

—

(19,393)

—

(19,393)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

77,744

77,744

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(130,147)

(130,147)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Deferred hedging activity, net of tax:
Net deferred hedge losses
Net hedge losses included in continuing operations
Net hedge gains included in discontinued operations
Translation adjustment:
Deferred translation adjustment gain
Net gain included in discontinued operations
Balance as of December 31, 2007

117,727

$

1,234 $

2,693,257 $

(245,601) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—

$

822,089

$

(228,257) $

— $

3,042,722

PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

$

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
Impairment of long-lived assets
Exploration expenses, including dry holes
Hurricane activity
Deferred income taxes
(Gain) loss on disposition of assets, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations
Discontinued operations

372,728 $

739,731 $

534,568

387,397

314,081

267,757

26,215

—

644

171,751

140,135

49,037

66,000

75,000

39,813

123,819

161,761

2,163

6,459

(60,063)

—

8,076

25,975

7,028

3,726

99,379

3,349

(76,423)

(489,959)

Interest expense

17,049

11,042

4,399

Commodity hedge related activity

12,084

(8,443)

18,181

Amortization of stock-based compensation

35,309

32,065

26,857

(181,231)

(190,327)

(75,773)

3,182

14,486

19,563

(128,015)

Amortization of deferred revenue
Other noncash items
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions
and dispositions:
Accounts receivable, net

423,728

(96,691)

121,360

Income taxes receivable

(15,378)

(23,495)

(1,198)

Inventories

(10,901)

(48,060)

(36,948)

4,808

(7,504)

Prepaid expenses

656

Other current assets, net

(2,946)

(42,484)

972

Accounts payable

30,122

(36,085)

83,960

Interest payable

11,012

(6,500)

(7,115)

(3,695)

8,950

Income taxes payable
Other current liabilities

(23)

Net cash provided by operating activities

(107,607)

(28,854)

775,315

754,828

—

—

(13,362)
1,277,154

Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for acquisition, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from disposition of assets, net of cash sold

420,874

Additions to oil and gas properties
Additions to other assets and other property and equipment, net

(2,067,648)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

(1,782,992)

(965)

1,644,829

1,248,581

(1,403,879)

(1,123,297)

(95,435)

(39,585)

145,515

84,734

(136,218)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under long-term debt

2,030,000

Principal payments on long-term debt

(778,630)

Borrowings (payments) of other liabilities

1,426,490

1,203,190

(1,981,164)

(1,556,763)

768

Exercise of long-term incentive plan stock options and employee stock
purchase plan
Purchase of treasury stock
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

(60,129)

13,891

17,381

41,577

(221,424)

(348,945)

(949,259)

3,828

Payment of financing fees
Dividends paid

610

5,989

—

(4,310)

(2,178)

(1,911)

(32,804)

(31,726 )

(30,339 )
(1,353,634)

1,011,319

(913,543)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

3,642

(13,200)

8,254

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

1,496

1,431

3,291

7,033

18,802

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

12,171 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2007
Net income

$

2006

2005

372,728 $

739,731 $

534,568

(94,330)

118,139

(539,384)

52,686

96,530

180,941

(19,393)

124,747

93,157

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net hedge activity, net of tax:
Net deferred hedge gains (losses)
Net hedge losses included in continuing operations
Net hedge (gains) losses included in discontinued
operations
Translation adjustment:
Deferred translation adjustment gain (loss)
Net gain included in discontinued operations

77,744

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income

$

(6,600)

8,118

(130,147 )

—

(113,440)

332,816

(257,168)

1,072,547 $

277,400

259,288 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE A.

Organization and Nature of Operations

Pioneer Natural Resources Company ("Pioneer" or the "Company") is a Delaware corporation whose
common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange. The Company is a large independent oil and
gas exploration and production company with continuing operations in the United States, South Africa and
Tunisia.
NOTE B.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and
its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries since their acquisition or formation. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003) "Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities" ("FIN46(R)") requires that the Company's consolidated financial statements also include the
accounts of variable interest entities ("VIEs") in which Pioneer holds a variable interest that will absorb a majority
of the entities' expected losses, receive a majority of the entities' expected residual returns, or both. In accordance
therewith, the accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of PNR Holdings LLC as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2007 (see Oil and gas properties, below for additional information regarding
PNR Holdings LLC). The Company proportionately consolidates less than 100 percent-owned affiliate
partnerships, for which certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries serve as general partners, involved in oil and gas
producing activities in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Abstract Issue No. 00-1, "Investor
Balance Sheet and Income Statement Display under the Equity Method for Investments in Certain Partnerships and
Other Ventures". The Company owns less than a 31 percent interest in the oil and gas partnerships that it
proportionately consolidates. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries. The Company owns the majority interests in certain
subsidiaries with operations in the United States and owned the majority interest in a subsidiary with operations in
Nigeria, that was disposed of in 2007. Associated therewith, the Company has recognized minority interests in
consolidated subsidiaries of $11.9 million and $14.4 million in other liabilities and minority interests in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Minority interests in the net losses of the Company's consolidated Nigerian subsidiary totaled $2.8 million,
$4.9 million and $5.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are
included in interest and other income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. Minority
interests in the net income of the Company's consolidated United States subsidiaries totaled $2.4 million, $2.6
million and $3.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are included in
other expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Discontinued operations. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company sold its interests in the following oil
and gas asset groups:
Country

Description of Asset Groups

Date Divested

Canada

Martin Creek, Conroy Black and Lookout Butte fields

United States

Two Gulf of Mexico shelf fields

August 2005

United States

Deepwater Gulf of Mexico fields

March 2006

Argentina

Argentine assets

April 2006

Canada

Canadian assets

November 2007

May 2005

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" ("SFAS 144"), the Company has reflected the results of operations
of the above divestitures as discontinued operations, rather than as a component of continuing operations. See Note
V for additional information regarding discontinued operations.
Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements. Preparation of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
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revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Depletion of oil and gas properties and impairment of
goodwill and oil and gas properties, in part, is determined using estimates of proved oil and gas reserves. There are
numerous uncertainties inherent in the estimation of quantities of proved reserves and in the projection of future
rates of production and the timing of development expenditures. Similarly, evaluations for impairment of proved
and unproved oil and gas properties are subject to numerous uncertainties including, among others, estimates of
future recoverable reserves; commodity price outlooks; foreign laws, restrictions and currency exchange rates; and
export and excise taxes. Actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions utilized.
Cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and depository accounts held by banks.
Investments. Investments in unaffiliated equity securities that have a readily determinable fair value are
classified as "trading securities" if management's current intent is to hold them for the near term; otherwise, they
are accounted for as "available-for-sale" securities. The Company reevaluates the classification of investments in
unaffiliated equity securities at each balance sheet date. The carrying value of trading securities and available-forsale securities are adjusted to fair value as of each balance sheet date.
Unrealized holding gains are recognized for trading securities in interest and other income, and unrealized
holding losses are recognized in other expense during the periods in which changes in fair value occur.
Unrealized holding gains and losses are recognized for available-for-sale securities as credits or charges to
stockholders' equity and other comprehensive income (loss) during the periods in which changes in fair value
occur. Realized gains and losses on the divestiture of available-for-sale securities are determined using the average
cost method. The Company had no investments in available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2007 or 2006.
Investments in unaffiliated equity securities that do not have a readily determinable fair value are measured
at the lower of their original cost or the net realizable value of the investment. The Company had no significant
equity security investments that did not have a readily determinable fair value as of December 31, 2007 or 2006.
Inventories. Inventories were comprised of $94.3 million and $93.7 million of materials and supplies and
$3.3 million and $1.4 million of commodities as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The Company's
materials and supplies inventory is primarily comprised of oil and gas drilling or repair items such as tubing,
casing, chemicals, operating supplies and ordinary maintenance materials and parts. The materials and supplies
inventory is primarily acquired for use in future drilling operations or repair operations and is carried at the lower
of cost or market, on a first-in, first-out cost basis. Commodities inventory is carried at the lower of average cost or
market, on a first-in, first-out basis. Any impairments of inventory are reflected in gain (loss) on disposition of
assets in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company's materials
and supplies inventory was net of $1.1 million and $4.2 million, respectively, of valuation reserve allowances.
Oil and gas properties. The Company utilizes the successful efforts method of accounting for its oil and gas
properties. Under this method, all costs associated with productive wells and nonproductive development wells are
capitalized while nonproductive exploration costs and geological and geophysical expenditures are expensed. The
Company capitalizes interest on expenditures for significant development projects, generally when the underlying
project is sanctioned, until such projects are ready for their intended use.
The Company generally does not carry the costs of drilling an exploratory well as an asset in its
Consolidated Balance Sheets for more than one year following the completion of drilling unless the exploratory
well finds oil and gas reserves in an area requiring a major capital expenditure and both of the following conditions
are met:
(i)
(ii)

The well has found a sufficient quantity of reserves to justify its completion as a producing well.
The Company is making sufficient progress assessing the reserves and the economic and operating
viability of the project.

Due to the capital intensive nature and the geographical location of certain projects, it may take the
Company longer than one year to evaluate the future potential of the exploration well and economics associated
with making a determination on its commercial viability. In these instances, the project's feasibility is not
contingent upon price improvements or advances in technology, but rather the Company's ongoing efforts and
expenditures related to
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accurately predicting the hydrocarbon recoverability based on well information, gaining access to other companies'
production, transportation or processing facilities and/or getting partner approval to drill additional appraisal wells.
These activities are ongoing and being pursued constantly. Consequently, the Company's assessment of suspended
exploratory well costs is continuous until a decision can be made that the well has found proved reserves or is
noncommercial and is charged to exploration and abandonments expense. See Note D for additional information
regarding the Company's suspended exploratory well costs.
The Company owns interests in four natural gas processing plants and ten treating facilities. The Company
operates two of the gas processing plants and all ten treating facilities. The Company's ownership interests in the
natural gas processing plants and treating facilities is primarily to accommodate handling the Company's gas
production and thus are considered a component of the capital and operating costs of the respective fields that they
service. To the extent that there is excess capacity at a plant or treating facility, the Company attempts to process
third party gas volumes for a fee to keep the plant or treating facility at capacity. All revenues and expenses
derived from third party gas volumes processed through the plants and treating facilities are reported as
components of oil and gas production costs. Third party revenues from continuing operations generated from the
plant and treating facilities for the three years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $40.0 million, $37.8
million and $38.0 million, respectively. Third party expenses from continuing operations attributable to the plants
and treating facilities for the same respective periods were $12.1 million, $8.4 million and $7.8 million. The
capitalized costs of the plants and treating facilities are included in proved oil and gas properties and are depleted
using the unit-of-production method along with the other capitalized costs of the field that they service.
Capitalized costs relating to proved properties are depleted using the unit-of-production method based on
proved reserves. Costs of significant nonproducing properties, wells in the process of being drilled and
development projects are excluded from depletion until such time as the related project is completed and proved
reserves are established or, if unsuccessful, impairment is determined.
Proceeds from the sales of individual properties and the capitalized costs of individual properties sold or
abandoned are credited and charged, respectively, to accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization.
Generally, no gain or loss is recognized until the entire amortization base is sold. However, gain or loss is
recognized from the sale of less than an entire amortization base if the disposition is significant enough to
materially impact the depletion rate of the remaining properties in the depletion base.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company reviews its long-lived assets to be held and used, including
proved oil and gas properties accounted for under the successful efforts method of accounting, whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
indicated if the sum of the expected future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the assets. In this
circumstance, the Company recognizes an impairment loss for the amount by which the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.
Unproved oil and gas properties are periodically assessed for impairment on a project-by-project basis. The
impairment assessment is affected by the results of exploration activities, commodity price outlooks, planned
future sales or expiration of all or a portion of such projects. If the quantity of potential reserves determined by
such evaluations is not sufficient to fully recover the cost invested in each project, the Company will recognize an
impairment loss at that time.
During December 2007, PNR Holdings LLC completed acquisitions of proved and unproved oil and gas
properties located in the United States Raton Basin and Barnett Shale play for $352.2 million for the purpose of
conducting oil and gas producing activities. The Company caused PNR Holdings LLC to be formed pursuant to an
agreement with a third party in anticipation of having the acquisitions treated as part of a tax-deferred, like-kindexchange with the anticipated sale of oil and gas properties to Pioneer Southwest Energy Partners L.P. ("Pioneer
Southwest"), a subsidiary of the Company. See Note W for additional information on the Pioneer Southwest initial
public offering. The Company controls PNR Holdings LLC pursuant to a management agreement (the
"Management Agreement") whereby Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. ("PNR USA"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, provides operating and administrative management of all of PNR Holdings LLC's
properties. PNR Holdings LLC financed the acquisitions with borrowings under a credit agreement ("Holdings
Credit Agreement") entered into with PNR USA. Under the terms of the Holdings Credit Agreement and
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Management Agreement, PNR Holdings LLC is a VIE in which PNR USA will receive substantially all of the
entity's expected residual returns and absorb substantially all of the entity's expected losses. PNR USA's loans
under the Holdings Credit Agreement are secured by the property interests acquired by PNR Holdings LLC.
General creditors of PNR Holdings LLC may lack recourse as a result of PNR USA's secured debtor standing. As
of December 31, 2007, PNR Holdings LLC's proved oil and gas properties having a net carrying value of $260.3
million and unproved oil and gas properties with a carrying value of $91.5 million are included in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet of the Company. Outstanding PNR Holdings LLC borrowings of $351.8 million under the Holdings
Credit Agreement have been eliminated in consolidation against the associated loans from PNR USA.
Goodwill. During 2004, the Company recorded $327.8 million of goodwill associated with a business
combination. The goodwill was recorded to the Company's United States reporting unit. In accordance with EITF
Abstract Issue No. 00-23, "Issues Related to the Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25
and FASB Interpretation No. 44", the Company has reduced goodwill by $16.9 million since September 28, 2004
for tax benefits associated with the exercise of fully-vested stock options assumed in conjunction with the
Evergreen merger. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", goodwill is not
amortized to earnings, but is assessed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that impairment
of the carrying value of goodwill is likely, but no less often than annually. If the carrying value of goodwill is
determined to be impaired, it is reduced for the impaired value with a corresponding charge to pretax earnings in
the period in which it is determined to be impaired. During the third quarter of 2007, the Company performed its
annual assessment of impairment of the goodwill and determined that there was no impairment.
Other property, plant and equipment, net. Other property, plant and equipment is stated at cost and
primarily consists of items such as heavy equipment and rigs, furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of the assets using the straight-line method. At December
31, 2007 and 2006, other property, plant and equipment was net of accumulated depreciation of $166.6 million and
$145.3 million, respectively.
Asset retirement obligations. The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations in accordance with
SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" ("SFAS 143"). SFAS 143 requires that the fair
value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. Under the provisions of SFAS 143, asset retirement obligations are
generally capitalized as part of the carrying value of the long-lived asset. Conditional asset retirement obligations
meet the definition of liabilities and are recognized when incurred if their fair values can be reasonably estimated.
Asset retirement obligation expenditures are classified as cash used in operating activities in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
Derivatives and hedging. The Company follows the provisions of SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" ("SFAS 133"). SFAS 133 requires the accounting recognition of
all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value. Derivative instruments that are not hedges must
be adjusted to fair value through net income. Under the provisions of SFAS 133, the Company may designate a
derivative instrument as hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset or a liability or an identified
portion thereof that is attributable to a particular risk (a "fair value hedge") or as hedging the exposure to
variability in expected future cash flows that are attributable to a particular risk (a "cash flow hedge"). Both at the
inception of a hedge and on an ongoing basis, a fair value hedge must be expected to be highly effective in
achieving offsetting changes in fair value attributable to the hedged risk during the periods that a hedge is
designated. Similarly, a cash flow hedge must be expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting cash flows
attributable to the hedged risk during the term of the hedge. The expectation of hedge effectiveness must be
supported by matching the essential terms of the hedged asset, liability or forecasted transaction to the derivative
hedge contract or by effectiveness assessments using statistical measurements. The Company's policy is to assess
hedge effectiveness at the end of each calendar quarter.
Under the provisions of SFAS 133, changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that are fair value
hedges are offset against changes in the fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities, or firm commitments through
net income. Effective changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that are cash flow hedges are recognized
in
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accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - net deferred hedge losses, net of tax ("AOCI - Hedging") in the
stockholders' equity section of the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets until such time as the hedged items are
recognized in net income. Ineffective portions of a derivative instrument's change in fair value are immediately
recognized in earnings.
See Note J for a description of the specific types of derivative transactions in which the Company
participates.
Environmental. The Company's environmental expenditures are expensed or capitalized depending on their
future economic benefit. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations and that have
no future economic benefits are expensed. Expenditures that extend the life of the related property or mitigate or
prevent future environmental contamination are capitalized. Liabilities are recorded when environmental
assessment and/or remediation is probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. Such liabilities are
undiscounted unless the timing of cash payments for the liability is fixed or reliably determinable.
Treasury stock. Treasury stock purchases are recorded at cost. Upon reissuance, the cost of treasury shares
held is reduced by the average purchase price per share of the aggregate treasury shares held. During 2006, the
Company retired 22.9 million treasury shares, resulting in a reduction in treasury stock of $1.0 billion.
Revenue recognition. The Company does not recognize revenues until they are realized or realizable and
earned. Revenues are considered realized or realizable and earned when: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, (ii) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, (iii) the seller's price to the buyer is fixed or
determinable and (iv) collectibility is reasonably assured.
The Company uses the entitlements method of accounting for oil, natural gas liquid ("NGL") and gas
revenues. Sales proceeds in excess of the Company's entitlement are included in other liabilities and the
Company's share of sales taken by others is included in other assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets.
The Company had no material oil entitlement assets, NGL entitlement assets or NGL entitlement liabilities
as of December 31, 2007 or 2006. The following table presents the Company's oil entitlement liabilities and gas
entitlement assets and liabilities with their associated volumes as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:
December 31,
2007
Amount

2006
Volume

Amount

Volume

(dollars in millions)
Oil entitlement liabilities (volumes in MBbls)

$

12.6

129

$

—

—

Gas entitlement assets (volumes in MMcf)

$

8.8

3,291

$

13.0

4,201

Gas entitlement liabilities (volumes in MMcf)

$

4.3

1,127

$

3.9

1,082

Stock-based compensation. On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
"Share-Based Payment" ("SFAS 123(R)") to account for stock-based compensation. Among other items, SFAS
123(R) eliminates the use of the Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees" ("APB 25"), intrinsic value method of accounting and requires companies to recognize the cost of
employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of
those awards in the financial statements. The Company elected to use the modified prospective method for
adoption of SFAS 123(R), which requires compensation expense to be recorded for all unvested stock options and
other equity-based compensation beginning in the first quarter of adoption. For all unvested stock options
outstanding as of January 1, 2006, the previously measured but unrecognized compensation expense, based on the
fair value on the date of grant, was recognized in the Company's financial statements over their remaining vesting
periods, which ended in August 2006. For equity-based compensation awards granted or modified subsequent to
January 1, 2006, compensation expense, based on the fair value on the date of grant, is being recognized in the
Company's financial statements over the vesting period. The Company utilizes (a) the Black-Scholes option
pricing model to measure the fair value of stock options, (b) the stock price on the date of grant for the fair value of
restricted stock awards
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and (c) the Monte Carlo simulation method for the fair value of performance unit awards. Prior to the adoption of
SFAS 123(R), the Company followed the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 to account for stock
options. Prior period financial statements have not been restated. The modified prospective method requires the
Company to estimate forfeitures in calculating the expense related to stock-based compensation as opposed to its
prior policy of recognizing forfeitures as they occurred. The Company recorded no cumulative effect as a result of
adopting SFAS 123(R).
Additionally, under the provisions of SFAS 123(R), deferred compensation recorded under APB 25 related to
equity-based awards should be eliminated against the appropriate equity accounts. As a result, upon adoption of
SFAS 123(R), the Company eliminated $45.8 million of deferred compensation cost in stockholders' equity and
reduced a like amount of additional paid-in capital in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded $35.3 million and $32.1 million of
compensation costs for all stock-based plans, respectively, including compensation costs of $606 thousand and
$669 thousand, respectively, associated with the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), which is
a compensatory plan under the provisions of SFAS 123(R). The impact to the Company's net income of the year
ended December 31, 2006 of adopting SFAS 123(R) was $1.6 million, or less than $.02 per diluted share,
including the $669 thousand of ESPP compensation expense recorded in that year.
Pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 123(R), the Company's issued shares, as reflected in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity at December 31, 2007 and
2006, do not include 1,960,475 shares and 1,946,211 shares, respectively, related to unvested restricted stock
awards.
The following table illustrates the pro forma effect on net income and net income per share as if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to stock-based compensation
during the year ended December 31, 2005:
Year Ended
December 31, 2005
(in thousands, except
per share amounts)
Net income, as reported

$

Plus: Stock-based compensation expense included in net income for all awards,
net of tax (a)
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based
method for all awards, net of tax (a)
Pro forma net income

534,568
17,054
(19,772)

$

531,850

Basic - as reported

$

3.90

Basic - pro forma

$

3.88

Diluted - as reported

$

3.80

Diluted - pro forma

$

3.78

Net income per share:

__________
(a)

For the year ended December 31, 2005, stock-based compensation expense included in net income is net
of tax benefits of $9.8 million. Similarly, stock-based compensation expense determined under the fair
value based method for the year ended December 31, 2005 is net of tax benefits of $11.4 million. See
Note P for additional information regarding the Company's income taxes.

Foreign currency translation. The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for all of the Company's current
international operations. Accordingly, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are
remeasured to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the end of each reporting period; revenues and costs and
expenses denominated in a foreign currency are remeasured at the average of the exchange rates that were in effect
during the period in which the revenues and costs and expenses were recognized. The resulting gains or losses
from
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remeasuring foreign currency denominated balances into U.S. dollars are recorded in other income or other
expense, respectively. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are remeasured at the
historic exchange rates that were in effect when the assets or liabilities were acquired or incurred.
Prior to the sale, the functional currency of the Company's Canadian operations was the Canadian dollar. The
financial statements of the Company's Canadian subsidiaries were translated to U.S. dollars as follows: all assets
and liabilities were translated using the exchange rate in effect at the end of each reporting period; revenues and
costs and expenses were translated using the average of the exchange rates that were in effect during the period in
which the revenues and costs and expenses were recognized. The resulting gains or losses from translating nonU.S. dollar denominated balances were recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Stockholders'
Equity for the period through accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - cumulative translation adjustment
("AOCI-CTA").
During November 2007, the Company completed the divestiture of its Canadian subsidiaries. As such, the
net cumulative translation adjustment previously deferred in AOCI-CTA was recognized as part of the gain on sale
of the Canadian subsidiaries and, at December 31, 2007, the Company did not translate a Canadian balance sheet
into U.S dollars.
The following table presents the exchange rates used to translate the financial statements of the Company's
Canadian subsidiaries in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2006 and
2005 and for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
December 31,
2007
U.S. Dollar from Canadian Dollar - Balance Sheet
U.S. Dollar from Canadian Dollar - Statement of Operations

.9365

2006

2005

.8577

.8606

.8817

.8279

New accounting pronouncements. The following discussions provide information about new accounting
pronouncements that were issued by FASB during 2007:
SFAS 157. In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS 157").
SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and enhances disclosures about fair
value measures required under other accounting pronouncements, but does not change existing guidance as to
whether or not an instrument is carried at fair value. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. The implementation of SFAS 157 will not have a material impact on the financial condition
or results of operations of the Company.
SFAS 159. In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities" ("SFAS 159"). SFAS 159 permits entities to measure many financial instruments and
certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. SFAS 159 is effective
for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. The implementation of SFAS 159 is not expected to have a material effect on the financial
condition or results of operations of the Company.
SFAS 141(R). In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), "Business Combinations" ("SFAS
141"). SFAS 141(R) replaces SFAS 141 and provides greater consistency in the accounting and financial reporting
of business combinations. SFAS 141(R) requires the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the
acquisition date, measured at the fair value as of that date. This includes the measurement of the acquirer shares
issued in consideration for a business combination, the recognition of contingent consideration, the accounting for
pre-acquisition gain and loss contingencies, the recognition of capitalized in-process research and development,
the accounting for acquisition-related restructuring cost accruals, the treatment of acquisition related transaction
costs and the recognition of changes in the acquirer's income tax valuation allowance and deferred taxes. SFAS
141(R) is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December
15, 2008, and is to be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which the statement is applied.
The
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implementation of SFAS 141(R) is not expected to have a material effect on the financial condition or results of
operations of the Company.
SFAS 160. In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160 "Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated
Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB Statement No. 51" ("SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 amends Accounting
Research Bulletin ("ARB") No. 51, "Consolidated Financial Statements," to establish accounting and reporting
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160
clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, which is sometimes referred to as minority interest, is an
ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as a component of equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Among other requirements, SFAS 160 requires consolidated net income to be reported at
amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. It also requires
disclosure, on the face of the consolidated income statement, of the amounts of consolidated net income
attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. SFAS 160 is effective for the Company on January 1,
2009 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's financial statements.
NOTE C.

Proved Property Acquisitions

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company expended approximately $331.6
million, $78.3 million and $173.4 million, respectively, to acquire working interests in proved oil and gas
properties. During 2007, the Company's proved oil and gas property acquisitions primarily comprised property
interests in the Permian Basin, the Raton Basin, the Barnett Shale play and onshore Gulf Coast. During 2006, the
Company's proved oil and gas property acquisitions primarily comprised property interests in the Permian Basin,
onshore Gulf Coast and Alaska. During 2005, the Company's proved oil and gas property acquisitions primarily
comprised property interests in the Permian Basin and onshore Gulf Coast.
NOTE D.

Exploratory Well Costs

The Company capitalizes exploratory well costs until a determination is made that the well has either found
proved reserves or that it is impaired. The capitalized exploratory well costs are presented in proved properties in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. If the exploratory well is determined to be impaired, the well costs are charged to
expense.
The following table reflects the Company's capitalized exploratory well activity during each of the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Beginning capitalized exploratory well costs

$

Additions to exploratory well costs pending the determination of
proved reserves
Reclassification due to determination of proved reserves
Disposition of wells sold
Exploratory well costs charged to expense (a)
Ending capitalized exploratory well costs

$

265,053 $

198,291 $

126,472

434,321

451,109

243,272

(388,630)

(193,480)

(78,334)

(20,369)

(52,628)

(159,745)

(138,239)

130,630 $

265,053 $

—
(93,119)
198,291

__________
(a)

Includes exploratory well costs of discontinued operations of $4.4 million, $11.1 million and $46.4
million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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The following table provides an aging as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 of capitalized exploratory
well costs based on the date the drilling was completed and the number of wells for which exploratory well costs
have been capitalized for a period greater than one year since the date the drilling was completed:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands, except project counts)
Capitalized exploratory well costs that have been suspended:
One year or less
More than one year

$

$

76,237 $

126,749 $

54,393

138,304

114,249

265,053 $

198,291

130,630 $

Number of projects with exploratory well costs that have been
suspended for a period greater than one year

8

84,042

14

14

The following table provides the capitalized costs of exploration projects that have been suspended for more
than one year as of December 31, 2007:
Year Costs Incurred
Total

2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
United States:
Lay Creek

$

Other
International
Total

41,503 $
8,960

1,639

3,930
$

10,243 $
(15)

54,393 $

11,867 $

31,260 $
5,912
3,945
41,117 $

—
1,409
—
1,409

The following discussion describes the history and status of each significant suspended exploratory project
as of December 31, 2007:
Lay Creek. The Company's Lay Creek project is a coal bed methane pilot program located in northwestern
Colorado. The Company has drilled 18 wells in six separate pilot areas and completed workovers and
recompletions on 14 wells drilled by a previous operator. The Company completed the water treatment facilities
and initiated sales of production in 2007. Determination of success of the pilot project is dependent on the ability
to dewater the formation and determine if commercial quantities of gas can be produced. The pilot project is
currently in the dewatering phase and a determination of commerciality should be known by the end of 2008.
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NOTE E.

Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company's financial
instruments as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:
December 31,
2007
Carrying
Value

2006
Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

(in thousands)
Net derivative contract liabilities:
Commodity price hedges

$ (234,410) $ (234,410) $

Terminated commodity price hedges

$

(69,912) $

Foreign exchange rate swaps

$

(1,500) $

(1,500) $

— $

—

Trading securities

$

23,396 $

23,396 $

18,582 $

18,582

Notes receivable due 2008 to 2011

$

16,680 $

16,680 $

23,607 $

23,607

Canadian escrow deposit account

$

132,025 $

132,025 $

— $

—

(68,228) $

(68,228)

(69,912) $ (131,131) $ (131,131)

Financial assets:

Financial liabilities – long-term debt:
Credit facility

$ (1,113,000) $ (1,113,000) $ (328,000) $ (328,000)

8.25% senior notes due 2007

$

— $

— $

(32,081) $

(32,511)

6.50% senior notes due 2008

$

(3,776) $

(3,776) $

(3,761) $

(3,798)

5.875% senior notes due 2012

$

(6,213) $

(5,968) $

(6,235) $

(5,903)

5.875% senior notes due 2016

$ (434,442) $ (458,961) $ (427,588) $ (497,054)

6.65% senior notes due 2017

$ (498,534) $ (452,900) $

6.875% senior notes due 2018

$ (449,605) $ (403,425) $ (449,579) $ (452,430)

7.20% senior notes due 2028

$ (249,921) $ (212,600) $ (249,918) $ (253,150)

— $

—

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other current assets, accounts payable, interest payable
and other current liabilities. The carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.
Commodity price swap and collar contracts, interest rate swaps and foreign currency swap contracts. The
fair value of commodity price swap and collar contracts, interest rate swaps and foreign currency contracts are
estimated from quotes provided by the counterparties to these derivative contracts and represent the estimated
amounts that the Company would expect to receive or pay to settle the derivative contracts. See Note J for a
description of each of these types of derivatives, including whether the derivative contract qualifies for hedge
accounting treatment or is considered a speculative derivative contract.
Financial assets. The carrying amounts of the trading securities approximate fair value due to the short
maturity of these instruments. The fair value of the notes receivable approximates the carrying value at December
31, 2007 due to the adequacy of collateral security and interest yields. The current portion of the notes receivable,
amounting to $3.6 million and $5.1 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, is included in other
current assets, net in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. The trading securities and the noncurrent
portions of the notes receivable are included in other assets, net in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Canadian escrow deposit account is a deposit account denominated in Canadian dollars. The carrying value of
this account is measured in U.S. dollars based on the Canadian dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rate of .9984 as of
December 31, 2007. Consequently, the carrying value of the account approximated its fair value as of December
31, 2007, and is included in other current assets in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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Long-term debt. The carrying amount of borrowings outstanding under the Company's credit facility
approximates fair value because these instruments bear interest at variable market rates. The fair values of each of
the senior note issuances were determined based on quoted market prices for each of the issues. See Note F for
additional information regarding the Company's long-term debt.
NOTE F.

Long-term Debt

Long-term debt, including the effects of net deferred fair value hedge losses and issuance discounts and
premiums, consisted of the following components at December 31, 2007 and 2006:
December 31,
2007

2006

(in thousands)
Outstanding debt principal balances:
Credit facility

$

1,113,000 $

328,000

8.25% senior notes due 2007

—

32,075

6.50% senior notes due 2008

3,777

3,777

5.875% senior notes due 2012

6,110

6,110

5.875% senior notes due 2016

526,875

526,875

6.65% senior notes due 2017

500,000

—

6.875% senior notes due 2018
7.20% senior notes due 2028

450,000

450,000

Issuance discounts and premiums, net
Net deferred fair value hedge losses

250,000

250,000

2,849,762

1,596,837

(91,111)
(3,160)

Total long-term debt

$

2,755,491 $

(96,284)
(3,391)
1,497,162

Credit facility. During April 2007, the Company amended its prior credit agreement with an Amended and
Restated 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement (the "Credit Facility") that matures in April 2012 unless extended in
accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility provides for initial aggregate loan
commitments of $1.5 billion, which may be increased to a maximum aggregate amount of $2.0 billion if the
lenders increase their loan commitments or if loan commitments of new financial institutions are added. As of
December 31, 2007, the Company had $1.1 billion of outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and had
$80.0 million of undrawn letters of credit under the Credit Facility, leaving the Company with $307.0 million of
unused borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility.
Borrowings under the Credit Facility may be in the form of revolving loans or swing line loans. Aggregate
outstanding swing line loans may not exceed $150 million. Revolving loans bear interest, at the option of the
Company, based on (a) a rate per annum equal to the higher of the prime rate announced from time to time by
JPMorgan Chase Bank or the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members
of the Federal Reserve System during the last preceding business day plus .5 percent or (b) a base Eurodollar rate,
substantially equal to LIBOR, plus a margin (the "Applicable Margin") (currently .75 percent) that is determined
by a reference grid based on the Company's debt rating. Swing line loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to
the "ASK" rate for Federal funds periodically published by the Dow Jones Market Service plus the Applicable
Margin. Letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Facility are subject to a per annum fee, representing the
Applicable Margin plus .125 percent. The Company pays commitment fees on the undrawn amounts under the
Credit Facility that are determined by reference to a grid based on the Company's debt rating (.125 percent per
annum at December 31, 2007).
The Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants, which include the maintenance of a ratio of total
debt to book capitalization less intangible assets, accumulated other comprehensive income and certain noncash
asset impairments not to exceed .60 to 1.0. The covenants also include the maintenance of a ratio of the net present
value of the Company's oil and gas properties to total debt of at least 1.75 to 1.0 until the Company achieves an
investment grade rating by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poors Ratings Group, Inc. The lenders
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may declare any outstanding obligations under the Credit Facility immediately due and payable upon the
occurrence, and during the continuance of, an event of default, which includes a defined change in control of the
Company. As of December 31, 2007, the Company was in compliance with all of its debt covenants.
Senior notes. During May 2006, the Company issued $450 million of 6.875% senior notes due 2018 and
received proceeds, net of issuance discount and underwriting cost, of $447.4 million.
During March 2007, the Company issued $500 million of 6.65% senior notes due 2017 (the "6.65% Notes")
and received proceeds, net of issuance discount and underwriting costs, of $494.8 million. The Company used the
net proceeds from the issuance of the 6.65% Notes to reduce indebtedness under its credit facility.
On August 15, 2007, $32.1 million of the Company's 8.25% senior notes matured and were repaid with
borrowings under the Company's credit facility. On January 15, 2008, $3.8 million principal amount of the
Company's 6.50% senior notes matured and were repaid.
Senior convertible notes. During 2006, holders of the $100 million of 4 3/4% Senior Convertible Notes
exercised their conversion rights. Associated therewith, the Company paid $79.9 million in cash, issued 2.3 million
shares of common stock and recorded a $22 million increase to stockholders' equity.
During January 2008, the Company issued $500 million principal amount of 2.875% convertible senior notes
due 2038 (the "2.875% Senior Convertible Notes") and received proceeds, net of approximately $11.3 million of
underwriter discounts and offering costs, of approximately $488.7 million. The Company used the net proceeds
from the offering to reduce outstanding borrowings under its credit facility.
The 2.875% Senior Convertible Notes will be convertible under certain circumstances, using a net share
settlement process, into a combination of cash and the Company's common stock pursuant to a formula. The initial
base conversion price is approximately $72.60 per share (subject to adjustment in certain circumstances), which is
equivalent to an initial base conversion rate of 13.7741 common shares per $1,000 principal amount of convertible
notes. In general, upon conversion of a note, the holder of such note will receive cash equal to the principal amount
of the note and the Company's common stock for the note's conversion value in excess of such principal amount. If
at the time of conversion the applicable price of the Company's common stock exceeds the base conversion price,
holders will receive up to an additional 8.9532 shares of the Company's common stock per $1,000 principal
amount of notes, as determined pursuant to a specified formula.
The 2.875% Senior Convertible Notes mature on January 15, 2038 (the "Maturity Date"). The Company may
redeem the 2.875% Senior Convertible Notes for cash at any time on or after January 15, 2013 at a price equal to
100 percent of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. Holders of the 2.875% Senior Convertible
Notes may require the Company to purchase their 2.875% Senior Convertible Notes for cash at a price equal to
100 percent of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest if certain defined fundamental changes occur,
as defined in the agreement, or on January 15, 2013, 2018, 2023, 2028 or 2033. Additionally, holders may convert
their notes at their option in the following circumstances:

•

Following defined periods during which the reported sales price of the Company's common stock exceeds
130 percent of the base conversion price (initially $72.60 per share);

•
•

Upon notice of redemption by the Company; and
During the period beginning October 15, 2037, and ending at the close of business on the business day
immediately preceding the Maturity Date.

Interest on the principal amount of the 2.875% Senior Convertible Notes is payable semiannually in arrears
on January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning July 15, 2008. Beginning on January 15, 2013, during any sixmonth period thereafter from January 15 to July 14 and from July 15 to January 14, if the average trading day price
of a 2.875% Senior Convertible Note for the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the first day of
the applicable six-month interest period equals or exceeds $1,200, interest on the principal amount of the 2.875%
Senior Convertible Notes will be 2.375% solely for the relevant interest period.
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The Company's senior notes and senior convertible notes are general unsecured obligations ranking equally
in right of payment with all other senior unsecured indebtedness of the Company and are senior in right of
payment to all existing and future subordinated indebtedness of the Company. The Company is a holding company
that conducts all of its operations through subsidiaries; consequently, the senior notes and senior convertible notes
are structurally subordinated to all obligations of its subsidiaries. Interest on the Company's senior notes and senior
convertible notes is payable semiannually.
Pioneer Southwest credit facility. In October 2007, Pioneer Southwest entered into a $300 million
unsecured revolving credit facility ("PSE Credit Agreement"), as amended, with a syndicate of banks. The PSE
Credit Agreement would mature five years following the closing of Pioneer Southwest's initial public offering of
limited partner interests and would contain certain financial covenants that would be applicable to it, including (i)
the maintenance of a maximum leverage ratio of not more than 3.5 to 1.0, (ii) an interest coverage ratio
(representing a ratio of EBITDAX to interest expense) of not less than 2.5 to 1.0 and (iii) the maintenance of a
ratio of the net present value of Pioneer Southwest's oil and gas assets to total debt of at least 1.75 to 1.0. Because
of the net present value covenant, borrowings under the PSE Credit Agreement would be expected to be initially
limited to approximately $150 million. It is a condition to the obligations of the lenders under the PSE Credit
Agreement that Pioneer Southwest complete the offering. Pioneer Southwest is seeking an extension of the facility
from the lenders. There can be no assurance that the lenders will agree to an extension, or if they do agree, that the
terms of the facility will remain unchanged. If Pioneer Southwest were to seek a replacement facility, there can be
no assurance that it would be able to do so or if it were successful, that the terms would be as favorable to Pioneer
Southwest as the terms under the PSE Credit Agreement. See Note W for additional information on the Pioneer
Southwest initial public offering.
Early extinguishment of debt. During 2006, the Company repurchased $346.2 million of its outstanding
$350 million of 6.50% senior notes due 2008 (the "6.50% Notes"). The Company recognized a charge of $8.1
million in 2006 associated with the early extinguishment of the 6.50% Notes, which is included in other expense in
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. During 2005, the Company (i) redeemed the remaining
principal amounts of its outstanding 9 5/8% senior notes due 2010 and its 7.50% senior notes due 2012 of $64.0
million and $16.2 million, respectively, and (ii) accepted tenders to purchase for cash $188.4 million in principal
amount of its 5 7/8% senior notes due 2012. Consequently, the Company recognized a charge for the early
extinguishment of debt of $26.5 million included in other expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements
of Operations on these redemptions and tenders for 2005.
Principal maturities. Principal maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2007, are as follows (in
thousands):
2008

$

3,777

2009

$

—

2010

$

—

2011

$

—

2012

$

1,119,110

Thereafter

$

1,726,875
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Interest expenses. The following amounts have been incurred and charged to interest expense for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Cash payments for interest

139,624 $

114,745 $

Accretion/amortization of discounts or premiums on loans

$

6,707

6,096

5,286

Accretion of discount on derivative obligations

7,306

2,529

—

Accretion of discount on postretirement benefit obligations (see
Note H)
Amortization of net deferred hedge (gains) losses (see Note J)

1,150

1,037

434

14

Amortization of capitalized loan fees
Net changes in accruals

1,452

1,366

2,265

(6,571)

(7,092)

167,822

119,216

Less capitalized interest

(32,552)

(12,166)

135,270 $

107,050 $

NOTE G.

$

900
(4,052)

11,149

Interest incurred
Total interest expense

129,769

127,076
(1,089)
125,987

Related Party Transactions

The Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, serves as operator of properties in which it and its
affiliated partnerships have an interest. Accordingly, the Company receives producing well overhead, drilling well
overhead and other fees related to the operation of the properties. The affiliated partnerships also reimburse the
Company for their allocated share of general and administrative charges. Reimbursements of fees are recorded as
reductions to general and administrative expenses in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The activities with affiliated partnerships are summarized for the following related party transactions for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Receipt of lease operating and supervision charges in accordance
with standard industry operating agreements
Reimbursement of general and administrative expenses
NOTE H.

$

1,835 $

1,635 $

1,526

$

364 $

348 $

348

Incentive Plans

Retirement Plans
Deferred compensation retirement plan. In August 1997, the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors (the "Board") approved a deferred compensation retirement plan for the officers and certain key
employees of the Company. Each officer and key employee is allowed to contribute up to 25 percent of their base
salary and 100 percent of their annual bonus. The Company will provide a matching contribution of 100 percent of
the officer's and key employee's contribution limited to the first ten percent of the officer's base salary and eight
percent of the key employee's base salary. The Company's matching contribution vests immediately. A trust fund
has been established by the Company to accumulate the contributions made under this retirement plan. The
Company's matching contributions were $1.4 million, $1.3 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
401(k) plan. The Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. ("Pioneer USA") 401(k) and Matching Plan (the
"401(k) Plan") is a defined contribution plan established under the Internal Revenue Code Section 401. All regular
full-time and part-time employees of Pioneer USA are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan on the first day of
the month following their date of hire. Participants may contribute an amount of not less than two percent nor more
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than 30 percent of their annual salary into the 401(k) Plan. Matching contributions are made to the 401(k) Plan in
cash by Pioneer USA in amounts equal to 200 percent of a participant's contributions to the 401(k) Plan that are
not in excess of five percent of the participant's base compensation (the "Matching Contribution"). Each
participant's account is credited with the participant's contributions, Matching Contributions and allocations of the
401(k) Plan's earnings. Participants are fully vested in their account balances except for Matching Contributions
and their proportionate share of 401(k) Plan earnings attributable to Matching Contributions, which
proportionately vest over a four-year period that begins with the participant's date of hire. During the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company recognized compensation expense of $10.9 million, $9.3
million and $8.0 million, respectively, as a result of Matching Contributions.
Long-Term Incentive Plan
In May 2006, the Company's stockholders approved a new Long-Term Incentive Plan, which provides for
the granting of incentive awards in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance units,
restricted stock and restricted stock units to directors, officers and employees of the Company. The Long-Term
Incentive Plan provides for the issuance of 4.6 million incentive awards.
The following table shows the number of awards available under the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan
at December 31, 2007:
Approved and authorized awards
Awards issued after May 3, 2006

4,600,000

Awards available for future grant

3,730,261

(869,739 )

For the 2007-2008 director year, the Company's non-employee directors were offered a choice to receive
their annual fee retainers as (i) 100 percent in restricted stock units, (ii) 100 percent in cash or (iii) a combination
of 50 percent cash and 50 percent restricted stock units. All non-employee directors also received an annual equity
grant of restricted stock units.
Compensation costs. On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123(R), as more fully described in
Note B, and eliminated $45.8 million of deferred compensation in stockholders' equity and reduced a like amount
of additional paid-in capital in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Prior to adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company
recorded $56.2 million of deferred compensation associated with restricted stock awards in stockholders' equity
during 2005. Such amounts will be amortized to compensation expense over the vesting periods of the awards.
Adoption of SFAS 123(R), required the Company to prospectively (i) recognize the value of the unvested
stock options, which was approximately $959 thousand and (ii) recognize compensation expense associated with
the Company's ESPP. The Company's recognition of compensation expense attributable to restricted stock awards
did not change upon adoption of SFAS 123(R).
As of December 31, 2007, there was approximately $34.9 million of unrecognized compensation expense
related to unvested share-based compensation plan awards, primarily related to restricted stock and performance
unit awards. As of December 31, 2007, unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested share-based
compensation plan awards is being recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining vesting periods of the
awards, which is a remaining period of less than three years.
Restricted stock awards. During 2007, 2006 and 2005 the Company issued 831,799, 736,642 and 1,411,269,
respectively, restricted shares of the Company's common stock as compensation to directors, officers and
employees of the Company.
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The following table reflects the outstanding restricted stock awards as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
and activity related thereto for the years then ended:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
Number
Of Shares
Restricted stock awards:
Outstanding at beginning of
year
Shares granted

2006

Weighted
Average
Price

Number
Of Shares

2005

Weighted
Average
Price

Number
Of Shares

Weighted
Average
Price

2,126,547 $

39.32

1,966,223 $

36.90

1,447,987 $

28.46

831,799 $

40.61

736,642 $

43.44

1,411,269 $

39.79

Shares forfeited
Lapse of restrictions

(96,811) $

41.12

(190,538) $

39.32

(174,046) $

33.99

(702,941) $

35.74

(385,780) $

34.84

(718,987) $

26.26

Outstanding at end of year

2,158,594 $

40.90

2,126,547 $

39.32

1,966,223 $

36.90

Stock option awards. The Company did not grant any stock options during 2007, 2006 or 2005.
A summary of the Company's stock option plans as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, and changes
during the years then ended, are presented below:
Year Ended December31,
2007
Number
Of Shares
Nonstatutory stock options:
Outstanding at beginning of
year
Options forfeited
Options exercised
Outstanding at end of year
Exercisable at end of year

2006

Weighted
Average
Price

Number
Of Shares

2005

Weighted
Average
Price

Number
Of Shares

Weighted
Average
Price

1,601,495 $

20.50

2,685,398 $

20.32

5,180,584 $

18.60

(5,790) $

33.54

(267,851) $

22.60

(65,190) $

22.94

(620,960) $

19.62

(816,052) $

19.22 (2,429,996) $

15.95

974,745 $

20.99

1,601,495 $

20.50

2,685,398 $

20.32

974,745 $

20.99

1,601,495 $

20.50

2,382,714 $

19.74

The following table summarizes information about the Company's stock options outstanding and exercisable
at December 31, 2007:
Options Outstanding and Exercisable
Range of
Exercise Price

Number Outstanding
at December 31, 2007

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Intrinsic Value
at December 31, 2007
(in thousands)

$5-$11

67,114

2.5 years

$

10.75

$12-$18
$19-$26

381,443

1.6 years
2.2 years

$
$

17.52
24.80

526,188
974,745

$

2,556
11,945
12,650

$

27,151

Performance unit awards. During 2007, the Company awarded performance units ("Performance Units") to
the Company's corporate officers under the Long-Term Incentive Plan. The 2007 Performance Unit awards were
for 145,820 aggregate units, of which 142,326 units remain outstanding as of December 31, 2007, after
cancellation of 2,677 units for forfeitures and 817 units lapsed by their terms during 2007. A maximum of 355,815
shares of the Company's common stock may be issued under the Performance Units after a 34 month service
period ending on December 31, 2009. The actual shares, if any, to be issued at the end of the service period will be
based on a total share return ("TSR") market objective ranking the Company's TSR against a defined peer group's
individual TSRs.
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The aggregate fair value of the outstanding Performance Units is $6.1 million, based on a per-unit fair value of
$42.36 as of the grant date, which amount was determined using the Monte Carlo simulation method and is being
recognized as compensation expense ratably over the service period. The Company recognized $1.8 million of
compensation expense attributable to the Performance Units during 2007.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company has an ESPP that allows eligible employees to annually purchase the Company's common
stock at a discounted price. Officers of the Company are not eligible to participate in the ESPP. Contributions to
the ESPP are limited to 15 percent of an employee's pay (subject to certain ESPP limits) during the eight-month
offering period (January 1 to August 31). Participants in the ESPP purchase the Company's common stock at a
price that is 15 percent below the closing sales price of the Company's common stock on either the first day or the
last day of each offering period, whichever closing sales price is lower. During the years ended December 31, 2007
and 2006, the Company recognized compensation expense of $606 thousand and $669 thousand, respectively,
associated with the ESPP.
Postretirement Benefit Obligations
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had recorded $10.5 million and $19.8 million, respectively,
of unfunded accumulated postretirement benefit obligations, the current and noncurrent portions of which are
included in other current liabilities and other liabilities and minority interests, respectively, in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. These obligations are comprised of five plans of which four relate to predecessor
entities that the Company acquired in prior years. These plans had no assets as of December 31, 2007 or 2006.
Other than the Company's retirement plan, the participants of these plans are not current employees of the
Company.
At December 31, 2007, the accumulated postretirement benefit obligations pertaining to these plans were
determined by independent actuaries for four plans representing $6.6 million of unfunded accumulated
postretirement benefit obligations and by the Company for one plan representing $3.9 million of unfunded
accumulated postretirement benefit obligations. Interest costs at an annual rate of 6.25 percent of the periodic
undiscounted accumulated postretirement benefit obligations were employed in the valuations of the benefit
obligations. Certain of the aforementioned plans provide for medical and dental cost subsidies for plan
participants. Annual medical cost escalation trends of ten percent in 2008, declining to five percent in 2013 and
thereafter, and annual dental cost escalation trends of seven percent in 2008, declining to five percent in 2012 and
thereafter, were employed to estimate the accumulated postretirement benefit obligations associated with the
medical and dental cost subsidies.
The following table reconciles changes in the Company's unfunded accumulated postretirement benefit
obligations during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Beginning accumulated post retirement benefit obligations

$

Net benefit payments

19,837 $
(968)

Service costs

1,036

Net actuarial losses (gains)
Accretion of interest

(10,561)
1,150

Ending accumulated postretirement benefit obligations

$

10,494 $

18,576 $

15,534

(1,234)

(1,393)

816

324

642

3,211

1,037

900

19,837 $

18,576

Estimated benefit payments and service/interest costs associated with the plans for the year ending
December 31, 2008 are $1.2 million and $.8 million, respectively.
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The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 158 effective December 31, 2006. The Company previously
recognized the unfunded status of its defined benefit postretirement plans and currently recognizes periodic
changes in its defined benefit postretirement plans as components of service costs in the period of change as
allowed by SFAS 158. Consequently, the adoption of SFAS 158 did not have a material impact on the Company's
liquidity, financial position or future results of operations.
NOTE I.

Commitments and Contingencies

Severance agreements. The Company has entered into severance and change in control agreements with its
officers, subsidiary company officers and certain key employees. The current annual salaries for the parent
company officers, the subsidiary company officers and key employees covered under such agreements total $42.0
million.
Indemnifications. The Company has indemnified its directors and certain of its officers, employees and
agents with respect to claims and damages arising from acts or omissions taken in such capacity, as well as with
respect to certain litigation.
Legal actions. The Company is party to the legal actions that are described below. The Company is also
party to other proceedings and claims incidental to its business. While many of these matters involve inherent
uncertainty, the Company believes that the amount of the liability, if any, ultimately incurred with respect to such
other proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial
position as a whole or on its liquidity, capital resources or future annual results of operations. The Company will
continue to evaluate its litigation on a quarter-by-quarter basis and will establish and adjust any litigation reserves
as appropriate to reflect its assessment of the then current status of litigation.
MOSH Holding. On April 11, 2005, the Company and its principal United States subsidiary, Pioneer Natural
Resources USA, Inc., were named as defendants in MOSH Holding, L.P. v Pioneer Natural Resources Company;
Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc.; Woodside Energy (USA) Inc.; and JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA, ("JP
Morgan") as Trustee of the Mesa Offshore Trust, which is before the Judicial District Court of Harris County,
Texas (334th Judicial District). Subsequently, Dagger-Spine Hedgehog Corporation ("Dagger-Spine") and a group
of approximately fifty other unitholders ("Wiegand") each filed a Petition in Intervention in the lawsuit to assert
the same claims as MOSH Holding, L.P. ("MHLP"). MHLP, Dagger-Spine and Wiegand (collectively, "Plaintiffs")
are unitholders in the Trust, which was created in 1982 as the sole limited partner in a partnership that holds an
overriding royalty interest in certain oil and gas leases offshore Louisiana and Texas. The Company owns the
managing general partner interest in the partnership. Plaintiffs allege that the Company, together with Woodside
Energy (USA) Inc. ("Woodside"), concealed the value of the royalty interest and worked to terminate the Mesa
Offshore Trust ("MOT") prematurely and to capture for itself and Woodside profits that belong to MOT. Plaintiffs
also allege breaches of fiduciary duty, misapplication of trust property, common law fraud, gross negligence, and
breach of the conveyance agreement for the overriding royalty interest. The relief sought by the Plaintiffs includes
monetary and punitive damages and certain equitable relief, including an accounting of expenses, a setting aside of
certain farmouts, and a temporary and permanent injunction.
In July 2007, the Company filed a motion for summary judgment challenging Plaintiffs' standing to
prosecute the case and seeking dismissal. The Company also filed a motion for summary judgment challenging the
substantive merits of Plaintiffs' claims and seeking dismissal. These motions are pending before the court.
On October 26, 2007, the Plaintiffs and JP Morgan announced before the Court that they had reached a
tentative settlement of claims pending between them. As part of the tentative settlement, the Plaintiffs and JP
Morgan also announced their intention to seek Court appointment of a temporary trustee. The Company objected
to the terms of the proposed settlement and to the proposed substitution of a temporary trustee in place of JP
Morgan. In addition, on December 20, 2007, Pioneer filed a cross-claim against JP Morgan seeking, among other
things, to prevent JP Morgan from resigning as Trustee on the grounds that the Trust Indenture requires that the
Trust must be liquidated and terminated. On January 22, 2008, the Court issued an order denying the settlement
and proposed trustee substitution, as well as the Company's cross-claim.
The Company believes the claims made by the Plaintiffs in the MOSH Holding lawsuit are without merit and
intends to defend the lawsuit vigorously. The Company cannot predict whether the outcome of this proceeding will
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be adverse to the Company and if so, whether such an outcome will materially and negatively impact the
Company's liquidity, financial position or future results of operations.
Equatorial Guinea Block H Arbitration. On June 14, 2007, a subsidiary of the Company ("Pioneer EG")
commenced arbitration in London, England against Roc Oil (Equatorial Guinea) Company ("ROC EG"), Atlas
Petroleum International Limited ("Atlas") and Osborne Resources Limited ("Osborne") to determine the parties'
respective rights and obligations under a joint operating agreement relating to well operations in Block H in
deepwater Equatorial Guinea. ROC, Atlas and Osborne have, in turn, brought counterclaims against Pioneer EG in
respect to alleged breaches of the farm-in agreements relating to Block H. In late 2006, the Republic of Equatorial
Guinea ratified a new hydrocarbons law, which among other things, appears to entitle Equatorial Guinea to
increase substantially its carried interest in all concessions, including Block H, either directly or through the
National Oil Company. In addition, drilling costs for the well have increased significantly beyond those originally
anticipated.
Given these and other factors, Pioneer EG maintains that it does not have an obligation to approve the
drilling of a well on the block. The view of the other parties is that Pioneer EG does not have the right to prevent
the drilling of the well or to refuse to pay its share of the costs thereof. ROC EG, Atlas and Osborne have also
notified Pioneer EG that they reserve the right to claim damages should they suffer any loss, including any loss
suffered if the underlying production sharing contract is terminated by Equatorial Guinea.
The parties have consolidated their respective claims under the joint operating agreement and the farm-in
agreements into a single arbitration to be conducted in London, England during 2008. Pioneer EG intends
vigorously to assert its position in the arbitration. The Company cannot predict whether the outcome of this
proceeding will be adverse to the Company and if so, whether such an outcome will materially and negatively
impact the Company's liquidity, financial position or future results of operations.
Environmental Protection Agency Investigation.On November 4, 2005, the Company learned from the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency that the agency was conducting a criminal investigation into a 2003 spill that
occurred at a Company-operated drilling rig located on an ice island offshore Harrison Bay, Alaska. The
investigation is being conducted in conjunction with the U.S. Attorney's Office for the District of Alaska. The spill
was previously investigated by the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation ("ADEC") and, following
completion of a clean up, the ADEC issued a letter stating its determination that, at that time, the site did not pose
a threat to human health, safety or welfare, or the environment. The Company is fully cooperating with the
government's investigation. The Company cannot predict whether the outcome of this investigation will be adverse
to the Company and if so, whether such an outcome will materially and negatively impact the Company's liquidity,
financial position or future results of operations.
Obligations following divestitures. In April 2006, the Company provided the purchaser of its Argentine
assets certain indemnifications. The Company remains responsible for certain contingent liabilities related to such
indemnifications, subject to defined limitations. The Company does not believe that these obligations, which
primarily pertain to matters of litigation, environmental contingencies, royalty obligations and income taxes, are
probable of having a material impact on its liquidity, financial position or future results of operations.
The Company has also retained certain liabilities and indemnified buyers for certain matters in connection
with other divestitures, including the sale in 2007 of its Canadian assets.
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Lease agreements. The Company leases offshore production facilities, drilling rigs, equipment and office
facilities under noncancellable operating leases. Lease payments associated with these operating leases for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were approximately $47.0 million, $46.8 million and $64.5
million, respectively, which includes $1.7 million, $9.8 million and $27.1 million, respectively, associated with
discontinued operations. Future minimum lease commitments under noncancellable operating leases at December
31, 2007 are as follows (in thousands):
2008

$ 28,913

2009

$ 12,910

2010

$ 13,216

2011

$ 11,873

2012

$ 10,623

Thereafter

$ 75,907

Drilling commitments. The Company periodically enters into contractual arrangements under which the
Company is committed to expend funds to drill wells in the future. The Company also enters into agreements to
secure drilling rig services, which require the Company to make future minimum payments to the rig operators.
The Company records drilling commitments in the periods in which well capital is expended or rig services are
provided.
Transportation agreements. The Company is party to contractual commitments with pipeline carriers for the
future transportation of gas production from certain of the Company's properties located in the Raton and Uinta
Basins. The Raton Basin transportation commitments averaged approximately 205 million cubic feet ("MMcf") of
gross gas volumes per day during 2007, including fuel commitments, and will average approximately 226 MMcf
per day of gross gas volume during 2008, decreasing to approximately 219 MMcf per day per day during 2009,
204 MMcf per day during 2010, 182 MMcf per day during 2011, 122 MMcf per day during 2012, 102 MMcf per
day during 2013 and 35 MMcf per day during 2014, the year of termination.
The Uinta Basin transportation commitments commenced during June 2007 and averaged approximately 5
MMcf of gross gas volumes per day during the second half of 2007, including fuel commitments, and will average
approximately 8 MMcf per day during 2008, 13 MMcf per day during 2009 and 15 MMcf per day thereafter. The
Uinta Basin transportation commitments terminate during 2012, but may be extended for a period of up to three
years at the option of the Company.
Future minimum transportation fees under the Company's gas transportation commitments at December 31,
2007 are as follows (in thousands):

NOTE J.

2008

$ 26,086

2009

$ 25,972

2010

$ 24,635

2011

$ 21,567

2012

$ 14,536

Thereafter

$ 31,967

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses financial derivative contracts to manage exposures to commodity price, interest rate and
foreign currency fluctuations. The Company generally does not enter into derivative financial instruments for
speculative or trading purposes. The Company also may enter physical delivery contracts to effectively provide
commodity price hedges. Because these contracts are not expected to be net cash settled, they are considered to be
normal sales contracts and not derivatives. Therefore, these contracts are not recorded in the financial statements.
All derivatives are recorded on the balance sheet at estimated fair value. Fair value is generally determined
based on the present value difference between the fixed contract price and the underlying market price at the
determination date, and/or the value confirmed by the counterparty. Changes in the fair value of effective cash flow
hedges are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), which is later transferred
to earnings when the hedged transaction occurs. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are not designated as
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hedges, as well as the ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of hedge derivatives, are recorded in earnings.
The ineffective portion is calculated as the difference between the change in fair value of the derivative and the
estimated change in cash flows from the item hedged.
Fair value hedges. The Company monitors the debt capital markets and interest rate trends to identify
opportunities to enter into and terminate interest rate swap contracts with the objective of reducing costs of capital.
As of December 31, 2007, the carrying value of the Company's long-term debt in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets included a $3.2 million reduction in the carrying value attributable to net deferred
hedge losses on terminated fair value hedges that are being amortized as net increases to interest expense over the
original terms of the terminated agreements. The amortization of net deferred hedge losses on terminated interest
rate swaps increased the Company's reported interest expense by $434 thousand and $14 thousand during the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, as compared to net deferred gains amortization, which reduced the
Company's reported interest expense by $4.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2005.
The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2007, the scheduled amortization of net deferred hedge
losses on terminated interest rate hedges (including terminated fair value and cash flow hedges) that will be
recognized as increases to the Company's future interest expense:
Net deferred interest rate hedge losses
Fair Value

Cash Flow

Total

(in thousands)
2008

$

257

$

231

$

488

2009

$

281

$

260

$

541

2010

$

307

$

293

$

600

2011

$

337

$

328

$

665

2012

$

369

$

366

$

735

Thereafter

$

1,609

$

1,594

$

3,203

Cash flow hedges. The Company utilizes commodity swap and collar contracts to (i) reduce the effect of
price volatility on the commodities the Company produces and sells, (ii) support the Company's annual capital
budgeting and expenditure plans and (iii) reduce commodity price risk associated with certain capital projects. As
of December 31, 2007, all of the Company's open commodity hedges are designated as hedges of United States
forecasted sales. The Company also, from time to time, utilizes interest rate contracts to reduce the effect of
interest rate volatility on the Company's indebtedness and forward currency exchange agreements to reduce the
effect of exchange rate volatility.
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Oil prices.All material physical sales contracts governing the Company's oil production have been tied
directly or indirectly to the New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX") prices. The following table sets forth the
volumes hedged in barrels ("Bbl") underlying the Company's outstanding oil hedge contracts and the weighted
average NYMEX prices per Bbl for those contracts as of December 31, 2007:
Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Outstanding
Average

Average daily oil production
hedged:
2008 – Collar Contracts
Volume (Bbl)
Price per Bbl

3,000

3,000

3,000

3,000

3,000

$ 65.00-$80.80 $ 65.00-$80.80 $ 65.00-$80.80 $ 65.00-$80.80 $ 65.00-$80.80

2008 – Swap Contracts
Volume (Bbl)
Price per Bbl

15,250
$

15,250

15,250

15,250

15,250

61.36 $

61.36 $

61.36 $

61.36 $

61.36

2,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

2009 – Collar Contracts
Volume (Bbl)
Price per Bbl

$ 65.00-$76.50 $ 65.00-$76.50 $ 65.00-$76.50 $ 65.00-$76.50 $ 65.00-$76.50

2009 – Swap Contracts
Volume (Bbl)
Price per Bbl

$

8,000

8,000

8,000

8,000

8,000

71.57 $

71.57 $

71.57 $

71.57 $

71.57

4,000

4,000

4,000

4,000

4,000

71.46 $

71.46 $

71.46 $

71.46 $

71.46

2010 – Swap Contracts
Volume (Bbl)
Price per Bbl

$

The Company reports average oil prices per Bbl including the effects of oil quality adjustments, amortization
of deferred volumetric production payment ("VPP") revenue and the net effect of oil hedges. The following table
sets forth (i) the Company's oil prices from continuing operations, both reported (including hedge results and
amortization of deferred VPP revenue) and realized (excluding hedge results and amortization of deferred VPP
revenue), (ii) amortization of deferred VPP revenue to oil revenue from continuing operations and (iii) the net
effect of settlements of oil price hedges on oil revenue from continuing operations for the years ended December
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

Average price reported per Bbl

$

66.08 $

65.51 $

38.61

Average price realized per Bbl

$

70.91 $

63.42 $

53.72

VPP increase to oil revenue (in millions)

$

109.7 $

116.1 $

—

Decrease to oil revenue from hedging activity (in millions) (a)

$

154.1 $

97.6 $

176.6

__________
(a)

Excludes hedge losses of $12.3 million and $52.0 million attributable to discontinued operations for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Natural gas liquids prices.All material physical sales contracts governing the Company's NGL production
have been tied directly or indirectly to Mont Belvieu prices. The following table sets forth the volumes hedged in
Bbls under outstanding NGL hedge contracts and the weighted average Mont Belvieu prices per Bbl for those
contracts at December 31, 2007:
First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Outstanding
Average

Average daily NGL production
hedged:
2008 – Swap Contracts
Volume (Bbl)
Price per Bbl

500

500

500

500

$

44.33 $

44.33 $

44.33 $

44.33 $

500

500

500

500

500

$

41.75 $

41.75 $

41.75 $

41.75 $

500

500

500

500

$

39.63 $

39.63 $

39.63 $

39.63 $

44.33

2009 – Swap Contracts
Volume (Bbl)
Price per Bbl

500
41.75

2010 – Swap Contracts
Volume (Bbl)
Price per Bbl

500
39.63

The Company was not party to any NGL contracts for production occurring during the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
Gas prices.The Company employs a policy of hedging a portion of its gas production based on the index
price upon which the gas is actually sold in order to mitigate the basis risk between NYMEX prices and actual
index prices, or based on NYMEX prices, if NYMEX prices are highly correlated with the index price. The
following table sets forth the volumes hedged in million British thermal units ("MMBtu") under outstanding gas
hedge contracts and the weighted average index prices per MMBtu for those contracts as of December 31, 2007:
First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Outstanding
Average

Average daily gas production hedged
(a):
2008 – Swap Contracts
Volume (MMbtu)
Price per MMBtu

132,500
$

132,500

7.89 $

7.48 $

132,500
7.48 $

119,239
7.56 $

129,167
7.60

2009 – Swap Contracts
Volume (MMbtu)
Price per MMBtu

32,500
$

2,500

7.92 $

7.55 $

2,500
7.55 $

2,500
7.55 $

9,897
7.85

2010 – Swap Contracts
Volume (MMbtu)
Price per MMBtu

2,500
$

2,500

7.33 $

7.33 $

2,500
7.33 $

2,500
7.33 $

2,500
7.33

__________
(a)

Subsequent to December 31, 2007 and through February 15, 2008, the Company entered into additional
swap contracts for approximately 69,945 MMBtu per day of the Company's 2008 production at an
average price of $7.28 per MMBtu.

The Company reports average gas prices per Mcf including the effects of Btu content, gas processing,
shrinkage adjustments, amortization of deferred VPP revenue and the net effect of gas hedges. The following table
sets forth (i) the Company's gas prices from continuing operations, both reported (including hedge results and
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amortization of deferred VPP revenue) and realized (excluding hedge results and amortization of deferred VPP
revenue), (ii) amortization of deferred VPP revenue to gas revenue from continuing operations and (iii) the net
effect of settlements of gas price hedges on gas revenue from continuing operations for the years ended December
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

Average price reported per Mcf

$

7.26 $

6.15 $

6.94

Average price realized per Mcf

$

6.04 $

5.96 $

7.26

VPP increase to gas revenue (in millions)

$

71.6 $

74.2 $

75.8

Increase (decrease) to gas revenue from hedging activity
(in millions) (a)

$

70.6 $

(53.6) $

(108.2)

__________
(a)

Excludes hedge gains (losses) of $28.1 million, $(1.2) million and $(94.7) million attributable to
discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Interest rate. During March 2007, the Company entered into treasury lock contracts and designated the
contracts as cash flow hedges of the forecasted interest rate risk associated with the coupon rate on the Company's
6.65% Notes, which were issued in March 2007. The Company terminated these contracts for a loss of $1.5
million, which was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) – net deferred hedge losses, net of
tax ("AOCI – Hedging"). The Company did not realize any ineffectiveness in connection with the treasury lock
contracts. See Note F for information regarding the 6.65% Notes.
During January 2008, the Company entered into interest rate swap contracts and designated the contracts as
cash flow hedges of the forecasted interest rate risk associated with a portion of the Company's credit facility
indebtedness. The interest rate swap contracts are variable-for-fixed-rate swaps on $400 million notional amount
of debt at a weighted average fixed annual rate of 2.87 percent, excluding any applicable margins. The interest rate
swaps have an effective start date during February 2008, $200 million of which terminate during February 2010
and $200 million during February 2011.
Hedge ineffectiveness. The Company recognized ineffectiveness amounts related to (i) hedged volumes that
exceeded revised forecasts of production volumes due to delays in the start up of production in certain fields and
(ii) reduced correlations between the indexes of the financial hedge derivatives and the indexes of the hedged
forecasted production for certain fields. Ineffectiveness can be associated with closed contracts (i.e. realized) or
can be associated with open positions (i.e. unrealized). The following table sets forth the hedge ineffectiveness
income (loss) attributable to continuing operations recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in millions)
Interest and other income
Other expense

$

Total ineffectiveness (a)

$

— $

7.4 $

—

(2.1 )

10.6

(29.8 )

(2.1) $

18.0 $

(29.8)

__________
(a)

Excludes hedge ineffectiveness income (loss) attributable to discontinued operations of $7.4 million and
$(22.6) million during 2006 and 2005, respectively.

AOCI - Hedging. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, AOCI - Hedging represented net deferred losses of
$228.3 and $167.2 million, respectively. The AOCI - Hedging balance as of December 31, 2007 was comprised of
$246.4 million of net deferred losses on the effective portions of open cash flow hedges, $114.7 million of net
deferred losses on terminated cash flow hedges (including $3.1 million of net deferred losses on terminated cash
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flow interest rate hedges) and $132.8 million of associated net deferred tax benefits. The AOCI - Hedging balance
as of December 31, 2006 was comprised of $71.0 million of net deferred losses on the effective portions of open
cash flow hedges, $193.7 million of net deferred losses on terminated cash flow hedges (including $1.7 million of
net deferred losses on terminated cash flow interest rate hedges) and $97.5 million of associated net deferred tax
benefits. The increase in AOCI - Hedging during the year ended December 31, 2007 was primarily attributable to
increases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the hedge contracts, partially
offset by the reclassification of net deferred hedge losses to net income as derivatives matured by their terms. The
net deferred losses associated with open cash flow hedges remain subject to market price fluctuations until the
positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. The net
deferred losses on terminated cash flow hedges are fixed.
During the year ending December 31, 2008, based on current estimates of future commodity prices, the
Company expects to reclassify $157.2 million of net deferred losses associated with open commodity hedges and
$98.9 million of net deferred losses on terminated commodity hedges from AOCI - Hedging to oil and gas
revenues. The Company also expects to reclassify approximately $94.7 million of net deferred income tax benefits
associated with commodity hedges during the year ending December 31, 2008 from AOCI - Hedging to income
tax benefit.
Terminated commodity hedges. At times, the Company terminates open commodity hedge positions when
the underlying commodity prices reach a point that the Company believes will be the high or low price of the
commodity prior to the scheduled settlement of the open commodity position. This allows the Company to
maximize gains or minimize losses associated with the open hedge positions. At the time of termination of the
hedges, the amounts recorded in AOCI - Hedging are maintained and amortized to earnings over the periods the
production was scheduled to occur.
The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2007, the scheduled amortization of net deferred losses on
terminated commodity hedges that will be recognized as decreases to the Company's future oil and gas revenues:
First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Total

(in thousands)
2008 net deferred hedge losses

$

26,858 $

24,027 $

23,873 $

24,102 $

98,860

2009 net deferred hedge losses

$

2,330 $

232 $

230 $

822 $

3,614

2010 net deferred hedge losses

$

667 $

620 $

578 $

539 $

2,404

2011 net deferred hedge losses

$

873 $

889 $

902 $

906 $

3,570

2012 net deferred hedge losses

$

810 $

791 $

783 $

772 $

3,156

Non-hedge derivatives. During December 2007, the Company entered into foreign exchange rate swaps of
Canadian dollars ("CND") for U.S. dollars ("USD"). The foreign exchange rate swaps are economic hedges of a
CND-denominated escrow account balance that was funded during November 2007 associated with the sale of
Canadian assets (see Note V for additional information regarding the sale of the Company's Canadian assets);
however, uncertainty regarding the matching of cash flow timing between the foreign exchange rate swaps and the
liquidation of the CND-denominated escrow account caused the Company not to designate the foreign exchange
rate swaps as hedges. The foreign exchange rate swaps mature during May 2008 and are for a notional amount of
approximately $131.0 million USD. The Company recognized a loss of $1.5 million associated with these
derivatives, which amount is included in discontinued operations in the Company's accompanying Consolidated
Statement of Operations for 2007.
NOTE K.

Major Customers and Derivative Counterparties

Sales to major customers. The Company's share of oil and gas production is sold to various purchasers who
must be prequalified under the Company's credit risk policies and procedures. The Company records allowances
for doubtful accounts based on the agings of accounts receivable and the general economic condition of its
purchasers and, depending on facts and circumstances, may require purchasers to provide collateral or otherwise
secure their
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accounts. The Company is of the opinion that the loss of any one purchaser would not have an adverse effect on
the ability of the Company to sell its oil and gas production.
The following United States purchasers individually accounted for ten percent or more of the consolidated
oil, NGL and gas revenues, including the revenues from discontinued operations and the results of commodity
hedges, in at least one of the years, during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

Plains Marketing LP

14 %

12 %

7%

Oneok Resources

11 %

12 %

6%

Occidental Energy Marketing, Inc.

11 %

11 %

9%

Derivative counterparties. The Company uses credit and other financial criteria to evaluate the credit
standing of, and to select, counterparties to its derivative instruments. Although the Company does not obtain
collateral or otherwise secure the fair value of its derivative instruments, associated credit risk is mitigated by the
Company's credit risk policies and procedures. As of December 31, 2007, the Company had no derivative
counterparties with significant credit risks.
NOTE L.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company's asset retirement obligations primarily relate to the future plugging and abandonment of wells
and related facilities. The Company does not provide for a market risk premium associated with asset retirement
obligations because a reliable estimate cannot be determined. The Company has no assets that are legally restricted
for purposes of settling asset retirement obligations. The following table summarizes the Company's asset
retirement obligation transactions during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Beginning asset retirement obligations

$

Liabilities assumed in acquisitions

225,913 $

157,035 $

4,751

981

120,879
3,183

New wells placed on production and changes in estimates
(a)
Disposition of wells

91,067

122,685

57,405

(30,599)

(44,042)

(23,101)

Liabilities settled

(95,980)

(16,219)

(9,508)

Accretion of discount on continuing operations

7,028

3,726

3,349

Accretion of discount on discontinued operations
Currency translation

1,767

1,904

4,527

Ending asset retirement obligation

$

4,237

(157)

208,184 $

225,913 $

301
157,035

__________
(a)

Includes, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, a $66.0 million, $75.0
million and a $39.8 million increase in the abandonment estimate of the East Cameron facilities that
were destroyed by Hurricane Rita, which is reflected in hurricane activity, net in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

The Company records the current and noncurrent portions of asset retirement obligations in other current
liabilities and other liabilities and minority interests, respectively, in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The current portion of the Company's asset retirement obligations totaled $86.9 million and $111.2 million
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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NOTE M.

Interest and Other Income

The following table provides the components of the Company's interest and other income during the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Alaskan Petroleum Production Tax credits

$

Alaskan Exploration Incentive Tax credits

74,861 $

— $

—

—

5,570

Royalty obligation accrual adjustment

4,816

—

—

Sales and other tax refunds

3,730

645

1,792

Minority interest in subsidiary net loss (see Note B)

2,778

4,892

5,206

Interest income

3,038

14,369

1,510

Other income

3,210

3,276

1,714

Deferred compensation plan income

1,247

879

500

6

361

236

—

7,647

14,200

—

2,130

—

975

837

835

—

413

467

—

7,371

Foreign currency remeasurement and exchange gains (a)
Business interruption insurance claim (see Note U)
Bad debt recoveries
Credit card rebate
Seismic data sales
Derivative ineffectiveness (see Note J)
Total interest and other income

$

94,661 $

48,390 $

—

—
26,460

__________
(a)

NOTE N.

The Company's operations in Argentina, Canada and Africa periodically recognize monetary assets
and liabilities in currencies other than their functional currencies (see Note B for information
regarding the functional currencies of subsidiary entities). Associated therewith, the Company
realizes foreign currency remeasurement and transaction gains and losses.
Asset Divestitures

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company completed asset divestitures for
net proceeds of $553.7 million, $1.6 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively. Associated therewith, the Company
recorded gains (losses) on disposition of assets in continuing operations of $(2.2) million, $(6.5) million and $60.1
million during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and gains of $100.2 million,
$731.8 million and $166.5 million in discontinued operations in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The following
represent the significant divestitures:
Canadian divestiture. In November 2007, the Company completed the sale of its Canadian subsidiaries for
net proceeds of $525.7 million, resulting in a gain of $101.3 million. The net proceeds from the sale of the
Canadian subsidiaries includes $132.8 million of proceeds that were deposited by the purchaser into the
Company's Canadian escrow account pending receipt from the Canada Revenue Agency of appropriate tax
certifications, which were received in January 2008. Accordingly, the accompanying Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2007, includes only $392.9 million of proceeds from disposition of
assets, net of cash sold pertaining to the sale of the Canadian subsidiaries. As a result of this divestiture, the
Company has reclassified the historic results of operations, comprehensive income and cash flows of its Canadian
assets to discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS 144.
Nigeria. In June 2007, the Company entered into an agreement to divest its interest in a subsidiary
(owned 59 percent by the Company, the "Nigeria Subsidiary") that held an interest in the deepwater Nigerian
Block 320. The agreement was subject to governmental approval. The governmental approval was not obtained by
the deadline and as a result, Pioneer terminated the agreement. Also, as a result of due diligence efforts that
emerged as part of the Company's compliance efforts, and with assistance from outside counsel, the Company
determined that it could not, consistent with its legal obligations, fund or approve future operations in connection
with Block 320. As a
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result, during the third quarter of 2007 the Company engaged in a process to withdraw from the production sharing
contract relating to Block 320 and related agreements. As a part of this process the Company disposed of its shares
in the Nigeria Subsidiary to an unaffiliated third party. As a result, the Company no longer owns any interest in the
Nigeria Subsidiary or Block 320 and will not fund or participate in any future operations in connection with Block
320. See Note S for additional information regarding the Nigerian impairment.
Deepwater Gulf of Mexico and Argentine divestitures. During 2006, the Company sold its interests in
certain oil and gas properties in the deepwater Gulf of Mexico for net proceeds of $1.2 billion, resulting in a gain
of $725.3 million and its Argentine assets for net proceeds of $669.6 million, resulting in a gain of $10.9 million.
Pursuant to SFAS 144, the gain and the results of operations from these assets have been reclassified to
discontinued operations. See Note V for additional information.
Volumetric production payments. During 2005, the Company sold three VPPs for proceeds of $892.6
million. No gain or loss was recognized. See Note T for additional information.
Canadian and Gulf of Mexico Shelf divestitures. During 2005, the Company sold its interests in the Martin
Creek, Conroy Black and Lookout Butte areas in Canada for net proceeds of $197.2 million, resulting in a gain of
$138.3 million and certain assets on the Gulf of Mexico shelf for net proceeds of $59.2 million, resulting in a gain
of $27.9 million. Pursuant to SFAS 144, the gain and the results of operations from these assets have been
reclassified to discontinued operations. See Note V for additional information.
East Texas divestiture. During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company sold its interests in certain
East Texas properties for $25.3 million of net cash proceeds with no corresponding gain or loss recognized.
Gabon divestiture. In 2005, the Company closed the sale of the shares in a Gabonese subsidiary that owned
the Company's interest in the Olowi block for $47.9 million of net proceeds. A $47.5 million gain was recognized
with no associated income tax effect either in Gabon or the United States. During 2007, Pioneer relinquished its
rights to receive additional payments for production discovered from deeper reservoirs on the block in
consideration for a release of certain obligations.
NOTE O.

Other Expense

The following table provides the components of the Company's other expense during the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Contingency accrual adjustments (see Note I)

$

14,750 $

10,119 $

9,455

Idle drilling equipment cost

8,682

275

—

Bad debt expense

5,119

4,733

367

Well servicing operations

3,245

1,722

—

Minority interest in subsidiaries' net income

2,426

2,629

3,482

Derivative ineffectiveness (see Note J)

2,135

(10,595)

29,829

Other charges

1,125

3,287

18

Loss on early extinguishment of debt (see Note F)

—

8,076

26,465

Noncompete agreement amortization

—

1,670

3,914

Non-hedge derivative losses

—

6,517

3,860

Insurance charges

—

4,000

—

3,385

1,775

13

184

580

109

1,363

1,489

—

642

3,211

36,919 $

80,723

Abandoned acquisitions and divestitures
Foreign currency remeasurement and exchange losses (a)
Contingency settlements and costs
Postretirement benefit obligation revaluation

(10,562)

Total other expense

$
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__________
(a)

NOTE P.

The Company's operations in Argentina, Canada and Africa periodically recognize monetary assets and
liabilities in currencies other than their functional currencies (see Note B for information regarding the
functional currencies of subsidiary entities). Associated therewith, the Company realizes foreign
currency remeasurement and transaction gains and losses.
Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 109, "Accounting
for Income Taxes" ("SFAS 109"). The Company and its eligible subsidiaries file a consolidated United States
federal income tax return. Certain subsidiaries are not eligible to be included in the consolidated United States
federal income tax return and separate provisions for income taxes have been determined for these entities or
groups of entities. The tax returns and the amount of taxable income or loss are subject to examination by United
States federal, state, local and foreign taxing authorities. Current and estimated tax payments of $57.0 million,
$153.2 million and $41.4 million were made during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
SFAS 109 requires that the Company continually assess both positive and negative evidence to determine
whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets can be realized prior to their expiration. Pioneer monitors
Company-specific, oil and gas industry and worldwide economic factors and assesses the likelihood that the
Company's net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") and other deferred tax attributes in the United States, state,
local and foreign tax jurisdictions will be utilized prior to their expiration. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the
Company's valuation allowances (relating primarily to foreign tax jurisdictions) were $24.8 million and $94.7
million, respectively.
The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes" ("FIN 48") on January 1, 2007. In conjunction with the implementation of FIN 48, the Company analyzed
its filing positions for open tax years in all of the foreign, federal and state jurisdictions where it has material tax
attributes and is required to file income tax returns. Upon adoption, the Company believed that its income tax
filing positions and deductions would be substantially sustained on audit and did not anticipate any significant
adjustments. Consequently, the Company's adoption of FIN 48 did not have a material impact on the Company.
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various state and foreign
jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Company believes that it is no longer subject to examinations by tax
authorities for years before 2002. In December 2007, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") completed an
examination of the Company's 2004 U.S. federal income tax return. The Company agreed to proposed IRS
adjustments that resulted in a $0.6 million deferred tax benefit and a $1.8 million reduction of current income taxes
receivable. Subsequent amendments of federal and state returns relating to these audit adjustments are not expected
to have a significant effect on the Company's future results of operations or financial position. In addition, the
Company's 2003 through 2005 state income tax returns in Colorado are currently under audit and the Tunisian
government is concluding an audit of the Company's 2002 through 2005 income tax returns for the Adam
Concession. No significant adjustments have been proposed in Colorado or Tunisia.
In February 2007, the Republic of South Africa passed legislation that included significant new tax benefits
for oil and gas activities. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company is allowed a deduction from oil and gas income
equal to 200 percent of exploration expenditures and 150 percent of development expenditures. Pursuant to the
new tax legislation, the Company recorded a $15.7 million tax benefit for 2007 associated with capital
expenditures incurred after the effective date, primarily related to the South Coast Gas project.
Pursuant to Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 23 "Accounting for Income Taxes – Special
Areas," the Company historically treated the undistributed earnings in South Africa as permanently reinvested and
did not provide for a U.S. tax on such earnings. During the second quarter of 2007, the Company made the
determination that it no longer had identifiable plans to reinvest these earnings in South Africa and accordingly
recorded $18.9 million of U.S. deferred tax expense in 2007 associated with the results of operations of its South
African subsidiaries.
During the second quarter of 2007, the Company announced actions to exit Nigeria. During the third and
fourth quarters of 2007, the Company completed its disposal of the subsidiary holding Block 320 and relinquished
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all its rights in Block 256. This exit from Nigeria allows the Company to deduct in the U.S. the cumulative
expenditures associated with its past Nigerian activities and accordingly the Company has recognized a $40.9
million tax benefit in 2007. Additionally, the Company has relinquished all remaining rights in Gabon and has
written off costs associated with Block H in Equatorial Guinea generating a $13.8 million tax benefit in 2007.
The Company's income tax provision (benefit) and amounts separately allocated were attributable to the
following items for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Income from continuing operations

$

Income from discontinued operations

112,645 $

141,021 $

149,231

(17,972)

295,501

215,614

Changes in goodwill

961

(1,742)

(7,255)

Changes in stockholders' equity:
Net deferred hedge gains (losses)

(28,304)

Tax benefits related to stock-based compensation
Translation adjustment

193,719

(3,908)
$

(166,572)

(4,247)

644

8,421

64,066 $

632,673 $

(18,752)
3,685
175,951

The Company's income tax provision (benefit) attributable to income from continuing operations consisted
of the following for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Current:
U.S. federal

$

U.S. state and local
Foreign

(60,320) $

(54,004) $

331

13,104

(52)

(254)

48,815

33,316

37,002

(11,174)

(20,740)

49,852

132,246

126,215

90,988

6,576

18,438

3,038

(15,003)

17,108

5,353

123,819

161,761

99,379

112,645 $

141,021 $

Deferred:
U.S. federal
U.S. state and local
Foreign

$

149,231

Income from continuing operations before income taxes consists of the following for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
U.S. Federal
Foreign

$

309,262 $

$

354,624 $

45,362
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Reconciliations of the United States federal statutory tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate for income
from continuing operations are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in percentages)
U.S. federal statutory tax rate

35.0

35.0

35.0

State income taxes (net of federal benefit)

2.2

1.7

1.1

U.S. valuation allowance changes

0.1

0.3

0.2

Foreign valuation allowances

6.9

8.8

0.3

Rate differential on foreign operations

4.8

4.7

2.8

(0.2 )

1.0

0.1

(15.4 )

—

—

(4.4 )

—

—

South Africa earnings (U.S. federal income taxes)

5.3

—

—

Gabon investment deduction

—

—

7.4

Gabon tax free book gain

—

—

(4.7 )

Repatriation of foreign earnings

—

—

2.0

Conversion of senior convertible notes
Other

—

(2.7 )

—

(2.5 )

(0.4 )

0.5

Consolidated effective tax rate

31.8

48.4

44.7

Change in statutory rates
West Africa exit (U.S. federal benefit)
South Africa expenditures uplift - 50% of development capital expenditures

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities are as follows as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:
December 31,
2007

2006

(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards

$

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards

103,918

$

102,251

41,668

—

132,763

97,717

Asset retirement obligations
Other

71,396

76,509

47,457

99,330

Total deferred tax assets

397,202

375,807

Net deferred hedge losses

Valuation allowances
Net deferred tax assets

(24,838)

(94,745)

372,364

281,062

1,317,571

1,232,025

Deferred tax liabilities:
Oil and gas properties, principally due to differences in basis, depletion
and the deduction of intangible drilling costs for tax purposes
State taxes and other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

$

104

166,134

138,272

1,483,705

1,370,297

(1,111,341) $ (1,089,235)
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At December 31, 2007, the Company had NOLs in the United States, South Africa and Tunisia for income
tax purposes as set forth below, which are available to offset future regular taxable income in each respective tax
jurisdiction, if any. Additionally, the Company has alternative minimum tax NOLs ("AMT NOLs") in the United
States which are available to reduce future alternative minimum taxable income, if any. These carryforwards
expire as follows:
U.S.
Expiration Date

NOL

South Africa

Tunisia

NOL

NOLs

AMT NOL

(in thousands)
2009

32,003 $

—

2010

$

49,858

47,854

—

—

2020

5,588

5,055

—

—

53

—

—

—

—

160,504

84,912 $

160,504

2021
Indefinite

29,999

$

—
$

85,498

$

$

—

54,896
$

54,896

The remaining $85.5 million of the U.S. NOLs and $84.9 million of AMT NOLs are subject to Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code and will become available to offset future regular or alternative minimum taxable
income over the next four years. During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company utilized
$409.8 million and $311.6 million of NOLs, respectively, for U.S. federal income tax purposes. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, the Company generated a tax loss of approximately $272 million, which will be carried back
and utilized in 2006.
The Company's income tax provision (benefit) attributable to income from discontinued operations consisted
of the following for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Current:
U.S. federal

$

U.S. state and local
Foreign

— $

145,623 $

2,438

—

1,421

104

4,915

4,633

5,290

4,915

151,677

7,832

(21,612)

144,387

153,030

Deferred:
U.S. federal
U.S. state and local
Foreign

—
(1,275)

$
NOTE Q.

6,449

6,558

(7,012)

48,194

(22,887)

143,824

207,782

(17,972) $

295,501 $

215,614

Income Per Share From Continuing Operations

Basic income per share from continuing operations is computed by dividing income from continuing
operations by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The computation of
diluted income per share from continuing operations reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or
other contracts to issue common stock that are dilutive to income from continuing operations were exercised or
converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that would then share in the earnings of
the Company.
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The following table is a reconciliation of the basic income from continuing operations to diluted income
from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Basic income from continuing operations
Interest expense on convertible notes, net of tax

$

Diluted income from continuing operations

$

241,979 $

150,217 $

—

184,305

1,903

241,979 $

3,207

152,120 $

187,512

The following table is a reconciliation of the basic weighted average common shares outstanding to diluted
weighted average common shares outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Weighted average common shares outstanding (a):
Basic
Dilutive common stock options
Restricted stock awards
Contingently issuable - performance shares (b)
Convertible notes dilution (c)
Diluted

120,158

124,359

137,110

433

747

1,136

1,045

989

844

23

—

—

—

1,513

2,327

121,659

127,608

141,417

__________
(a)

(b)

(c)

In 2007, the Board authorized share repurchases of up to $750 million of the Company's common stock.
Through December 31, 2007, the Company had repurchased $212.8 million of common stock under this
2007 authorized program. During 2005, the Board approved a share repurchase program authorizing the
purchase of up to $1 billion of the Company's common stock, $640.7 million of which was completed in
2005 and $345.3 million of which was completed in 2006.
During 2007, a target amount of 145,820 performance units were awarded of which amount 2,677
performance units have since been forfeited and canceled, 817 units have been earned and 142,326 remain
outstanding. At December 31, 2007, based on the performance criteria met, the Company included 22,880 of
performance units in weighted average shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2007.
During 2006, holders of the $100 million of 4 3/4% Senior Convertible Notes exercised their conversion
rights.
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NOTE R. Geographic Operating Segment Information
The Company has operations in only one industry segment, that being the oil and gas exploration and
production industry; however, the Company is organizationally structured along geographic operating segments or
regions. The Company has reportable continuing operations in the United States, South Africa, Tunisia and Other.
Other is primarily comprised of operations in Equatorial Guinea and Nigeria.
During 2007, the Company sold its Canadian assets having a carrying value of $424.4 million. During 2006,
the Company sold certain oil and gas properties in the deepwater Gulf of Mexico and all of its Argentine assets,
which had carrying values of $430.6 million and $658.7 million, respectively, on their dates of sale. During 2005,
the Company sold certain Canadian and United States oil and gas properties having carrying values of $58.9
million and $31.4 million, respectively, on their dates of sale. The results of operations of those properties have
been reclassified as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS 144 and, aside from costs incurred for oil
and gas activities, are excluded from the geographic operating segment information provided below. See Note V
for information regarding the Company's discontinued operations.
The following tables provide the Company's geographic operating segment data required by SFAS No. 131,
"Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information," as well as results of operations of oil and
gas producing activities required by SFAS No. 69, "Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing Activities" as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Geographic operating segment income tax benefits
(provisions) have been determined based on statutory rates existing in the various tax jurisdictions where the
Company has oil and gas producing activities. The "Headquarters" table column includes income and expenses
that are not routinely included in the earnings measures internally reported to management on a geographic
operating segment basis.
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United
States

South
Africa

Tunisia

Other

Headquarters

Consolidated
Total

(in thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2007:
Revenues and other income:
Oil and gas
Interest and other
Gain (loss) on disposition of
assets, net

$ 1,552,780 $

81,730 $

106,341 $

— $

— $

1,740,851

—

—

—

—

94,661

94,661

844

—

—

—

(3,007)

(2,163)

1,553,624

81,730

106,341

—

91,654

1,833,349

Oil and gas production

386,914

25,820

8,004

—

—

420,738

Depletion, depreciation and
amortization
Impairment of long-lived assets

337,024

13,901

7,804

—

28,668

387,397

5,687

—

—

20,528

—

26,215

Exploration and abandonments

231,638

276

16,743

30,672

—

279,329

General and administrative

—

—

—

—

129,587

129,587

Accretion of discount on asset
retirement obligations
Interest

—

—

—

—

7,028

7,028

—

—

—

—

135,270

135,270

61,309

—

—

—

—

61,309

Costs and expenses:

Hurricane activity, net
Other
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)
Income (loss) from continuing
operations

—

—

—

—

31,852

31,852

1,022,572

39,997

32,551

51,200

332,405

1,478,725

(51,200)

(240,751)

354,624

141,492

(112,645)

531,052

41,733

73,790

(196,489)

(12,103)

(45,545)

—

$ 334,563 $

29,630 $

28,245 $

(51,200) $

(99,259) $

241,979

$ 1,302,029 $

99,309 $

57,602 $

— $

— $

1,458,940

—

—

—

—

48,390

(451)

—

—

—

(6,008)

1,301,578

99,309

57,602

—

42,382

1,500,871

Oil and gas production

324,049

21,795

3,222

—

—

349,066

Depletion, depreciation and
amortization
Exploration and abandonments

276,921

9,455

4,007

—

23,698

314,081

172,859

7,516

14,616

55,205

—

250,196

General and administrative

—

—

—

—

116,595

116,595

Accretion of discount on asset
retirement obligations
Interest

—

—

—

—

3,726

3,726

—

—

—

—

107,050

107,050

32,000

—

—

—

—

32,000

—

—

—

—

36,919

36,919

805,829

38,766

21,845

55,205

287,988

1,209,633

495,749

60,543

35,757

(55,205)

(245,606)

291,238

(183,427)

(17,557)

(22,450)

82,413

(141,021)

(163,193) $

150,217

Year ended December 31, 2006:
Revenues and other income:
Oil and gas
Interest and other
Loss on disposition of assets, net

48,390
(6,459)

Costs and expenses:

Hurricane activity, net
Other
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)
Income (loss) from continuing
operations

$ 312,322 $

42,986 $
108
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United
States

South
Africa

Tunisia

Other

Consolidated
Total

Headquarters

(in thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2005:
Revenues and other income:
Oil and gas

$ 1,144,163 $

Interest and other
Gain on disposition of assets, net

127,470 $

67,250 $

— $

— $

1,338,883

—

—

—

—

26,460

12,114

—

—

47,532

417

26,460
60,063

1,156,277

127,470

67,250

47,532

26,877

1,425,406

Oil and gas production

277,297

28,354

4,063

—

—

309,714

Depletion, depreciation and
amortization
Impairment of long-lived assets

219,045

24,494

4,758

—

19,460

267,757

—

—

—

644

—

644

Exploration and abandonments

97,126

1,211

10,898

44,544

—

153,779

General and administrative

—

—

—

—

110,104

110,104

Accretion of discount on asset
retirement obligation
Interest

—

—

—

—

3,349

3,349

—

—

—

—

125,987

125,987

39,813

—

—

—

—

39,813

—

—

—

—

80,723

80,723

633,281

54,059

19,719

45,188

339,623

1,091,870

2,344

Costs and expenses:

Hurricane activity, net
Other
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)
Income (loss) from continuing
operations

$

522,996

73,411

47,531

(190,894)

(21,289)

(32,422)

332,102 $

52,122 $

15,109 $

(312,746)

333,536

—

95,374

(149,231)

2,344 $

(217,372) $

184,305

December 31,
2006

2007
Segment Assets:

2005

(in thousands)

United States

$

Canada

7,932,366 $

6,395,046 $

5,899,637

—

547,012

363,773

8,076

2,444

735,191

South Africa

294,491

176,789

64,071

Tunisia

216,221

72,142

59,125

West Africa
Headquarters

2,360

41,238

47,288

163,467

120,728

160,149

8,616,981 $

7,355,399 $

Argentina

Total consolidated assets
NOTE S.

$

7,329,234

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets to be held and used, including oil and gas properties, whenever
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable. During the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2005, the Company recognized aggregate impairment charges of $26.2 million and
$644 thousand, respectively.
Nigerian impairment. In June 2007, the Company entered into an agreement to divest its interest in a
subsidiary (owned 59 percent by the Company, the "Nigeria Subsidiary") that held an interest in the deepwater
Nigerian Block 320. The agreement was subject to governmental approval. The governmental approval was not
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obtained by the deadline and as a result, Pioneer terminated the agreement. Based on the terms of the agreement,
which established the Company's estimate of fair value, the Company recorded a $12.2 million noncash
impairment charge in the second quarter of 2007 to reduce the net basis to the estimated fair value. Also, as a result
of due diligence efforts that emerged as part of the Company's compliance efforts, and with assistance from outside
counsel, the Company determined that it could not, consistent with its legal obligations, fund or approve future
operations in connection with Block 320. As a result, during the third quarter of 2007 the Company engaged in a
process to withdraw from the production sharing contract relating to Block 320 and related agreements. As a part
of this process, the Company disposed of its shares in the Nigeria Subsidiary to an unaffiliated third party and
associated therewith, the Company recorded a reduction of $2.0 million to the previous noncash impairment
charge. As a result, the Company no longer owns any interest in the Nigeria Subsidiary or Block 320 and will not
fund or participate in any future operations in connection with Block 320.
Equatorial Guinea impairment. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a noncash charge
of $10.3 million to write off the Company's remaining basis in Block H in Equatorial Guinea. The charge was
recorded in connection with the ongoing arbitration among the parties participating in the Block H prospect. See
Note I for additional information regarding the Block H arbitration.
United States impairment. During the second quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a $5.7 million
noncash impairment provision to reduce the carrying values of certain proved oil and gas properties located in
Louisiana. The impairment provision was determined in accordance with SFAS 144, and reduced the carrying
values of the assets to their estimated fair value.
Gabon impairment. During 2005, the Company recognized noncash impairment charges of $644 thousand
to reduce the carrying value of its Gabonese Olowi field assets as development of the discovery was canceled.
Piceance/Uinta Basins. During 2007, events and circumstances indicated that approximately $130.9 million
of net assets in the Company's Piceance/Uinta area may have been partially impaired. However, the Company's
estimate of undiscounted cash flows indicated that such carrying amounts were expected to be recovered.
Nonetheless, it is reasonably possible that the estimate of undiscounted cash flows may change in the future
resulting in the need to write down those assets to fair value.
NOTE T.

Volumetric Production Payments

During 2005, the Company sold 27.8 MMBOE of proved reserves by means of three VPP agreements for net
proceeds of $892.6 million, including the assignment of the Company's obligations under certain derivative hedge
agreements. Proceeds from the VPPs were initially used to reduce outstanding indebtedness. The first VPP sold 58
Bcf of gas volumes over an expected five-year term that began in February 2005. The second VPP sold 10.8
million barrels ("MMBbls") of oil volumes over an expected seven-year term that began in January 2006. The third
VPP sold 6.0 Bcf of gas volumes over an expected 32-month term that began in May 2005 and 6.2 MMBbls of oil
volumes over an expected five-year term that began in January 2006.
The Company's VPPs represent limited-term overriding royalty interests in oil and gas reserves that: (i)
entitle the purchaser to receive production volumes over a period of time from specific lease interests; (ii) are free
and clear of all associated future production costs and capital expenditures; (iii) are nonrecourse to the Company
(i.e., the purchaser's only recourse is to the reserves acquired); (iv) transfer title to the purchaser; and (v) allow the
Company to retain the remaining reserves after the VPPs volumetric quantities have been delivered.
Under SFAS No. 19, "Financial Accounting and Reporting by Oil and Gas Producing Companies," a VPP is
considered a sale of proved reserves. As a result, the Company (i) removed the proved reserves associated with the
VPPs; (ii) recognized the VPP proceeds as deferred revenue which are being amortized on a unit-of-production
basis to oil and gas revenues over the terms of the VPPs; (iii) retained responsibility for 100 percent of the
production costs and capital costs related to VPP interests; and (iv) no longer recognizes production associated
with the VPP volumes.
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The following table provides information about the deferred revenue carrying values of the Company's VPPs:
Gas

Oil

Total

(in thousands)
Deferred revenue at December 31, 2006
Less: 2007 amortization

$

Deferred revenue at December 31, 2007

$

175,088

$

(71,575)
103,513

489,423

$

(109,656)
$

379,767

664,511
(181,231)

$

483,280

The above deferred revenue amounts will be recognized in oil and gas revenues in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations as noted below, assuming the related VPP production volumes are delivered as scheduled
(in thousands):
2008

$ 158,138

2009

147,906

2010

90,215

2011
2012

44,951
42,070
$ 483,280

NOTE U.

Insurance Claims

Fain Plant. During May 2005, the Company sustained damages as a result of a fire at its Fain gas plant in
the West Panhandle field. The damages interrupted production from mid-May through mid-July of 2005. The
Company maintained business interruption and physical damage insurance coverage for such circumstances. The
Company recognized a total of $17.9 million in business interruption recoveries and $4.4 million in physical
damage recoveries associated with the Fain gas plant fire. The Company recognized $14.2 million of the business
interruption recoveries in 2005 and the remaining $3.7 million in 2006, which is included in other income in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Hurricanes Katrina and Rita. During August and September 2005, the Company sustained damages as a
result of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita at various facilities in the Gulf of Mexico. Other than the East Cameron
facility discussed further below, the damages to the facilities were covered by physical damage insurance.
The Company filed a business interruption claim with its insurance provider related to its Devils Tower field
resulting from its inability to sell production as a result of damages to third-party facilities. During 2006, the
Company settled its business interruption claim with its insurance provider for $18.5 million, which is included in
income from discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
As a result of Hurricane Rita, the Company's East Cameron facility, located in the Gulf of Mexico shelf, was
destroyed. The Company currently estimates that it will cost approximately $185 million to reclaim and abandon
the East Cameron facility. The operations to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron facilities began in January
2007. The estimate to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron facility is based upon an analysis prepared by a third
party engineering firm for a majority of the work, an estimate by the Company for the remaining work that was not
covered by the third-party analysis and actual abandonment activity to date. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the
Company recorded additional abandonment obligation charges for changes in estimates of $66.0 million, $75.0
million and $39.8 million, respectively, which amounts are included in hurricane activity, net in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The $185 million estimate to reclaim and abandon the East Cameron facilities contains a number of
assumptions that could cause the ultimate cost to be higher or lower as there are many uncertainties when working
offshore and underwater with damaged equipment and wellbores. The Company currently believes costs could
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range from $185 million to $205 million; however, at this point no better estimate than any other amount within
the range can be determined, thus the Company has recorded the estimated provision of $185 million.
The Company filed a claim with its insurance providers regarding the loss at East Cameron. Under the
Company's insurance policies, the East Cameron facility had the following coverages: (a) $14 million of scheduled
property value for the platform, (b) $4 million of scheduled business interruption insurance after a deductible
waiting period, (c) $100 million of well restoration and safety, in total, for all assets per occurrence and (d) $400
million for debris removal coverage for all assets per occurrence.
In December 2005, the Company received the $14 million of scheduled property value for the East Cameron
assets and recognized a gain of $9.7 million associated therewith. The Company received the $4 million of
business interruption recoveries in 2006, which is reflected in interest and other income in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company recorded estimated
insurance recoveries of $43 million, which is reflected in other current assets in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet and in hurricane activity, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations, related to
the estimated costs for the debris removal portion of the claim as the Company believes that it is probable that it
will be successful in asserting coverage under the debris removal part of its insurance coverage. During 2007, the
Company received $5 million, reflected in hurricane activity, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations,
from one of its insurance providers related to debris removal. At the present, no recoveries have been reflected
related to certain costs associated with plugging and abandonment and the well restoration and safety coverages, as
the Company is working to resolve coverage issues regarding coverage under this section of the insurance policies.
In the third quarter of 2007, the Company commenced legal actions against its insurance carriers regarding policy
coverage issues, primarily related to debris removal, certain costs associated with plugging and abandonment, and
the well restoration and safety coverages. However, the Company continues to expect that a substantial portion of
the loss will be recoverable from insurance.
NOTE V.

Discontinued Operations

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company sold its interests in the following significant oil and gas assets:
Country

Description of Assets

Canada

Martin Creek, Conroy
Black
and Lookout Butte fields
Two Gulf of Mexico shelf
fields
Deepwater Gulf of Mexico
fields
Argentine assets
Canadian assets

United States
United States
Argentina
Canada

Date Divested

Net Proceeds
(in millions)

Gain

May 2005

$

197.2

$

138.3

August 2005

$

59.2

$

27.9

March 2006

$

1,156.9 (a)

$

725.3

April 2006
November 2007

$
$

669.6
525.7 (b)

$
$

10.9
101.3

__________
(a)
(b)

Net proceeds do not reflect the cash payment of $164.3 million for terminated hedges associated with the
deepwater Gulf of Mexico assets.
In November 2007, the Company did not receive $132.8 million of the proceeds which was deposited in a
Canadian escrow account pending receipt from the Canada Revenue Agency of appropriate tax certifications
which were received in January 2008. See Note E for additional information regarding the Canadian escrow
account.
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Pursuant to SFAS 144, the Company has reflected the results of operations of the above divestitures as
discontinued operations, rather than as a component of continuing operations. The following table represents the
components of the Company's discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Revenues and other income:
Oil and gas

$

Interest and other
Gain on disposition of assets, net (a)

135,842 $

322,426 $

920,704

1,885

33,550

70,590

100,178

731,827

166,521

237,905

1,087,803

1,157,815

Oil and gas production

55,400

80,514

154,032

Depletion, depreciation and amortization (a)

34,502

82,770

311,472

Exploration and abandonments (a)

14,423

21,275

73,400

General and administrative

12,302

14,501

14,619

1,767

1,904

4,527

389

442

1,800

6,345

1,382

32,088

125,128

202,788

591,938

112,777

885,015

565,877

Costs and expenses:

Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations (a)
Interest
Other
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision):
Current
Deferred (a)
Income from discontinued operations

$

(4,915)

(151,677)

(7,832)

22,887

(143,824)

(207,782)

130,749 $

589,514 $

350,263

__________
(a)

Represents the significant noncash components of discontinued operations included in the Company's
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

NOTE W.

Pioneer Southwest Energy Partners L.P. Initial Public Offering (unaudited)

On January 8, 2008, Pioneer Southwest Energy Partners L.P. ("Pioneer Southwest"), a subsidiary of the
Company, filed an amendment to its registration statement (subject to completion) with the SEC to sell limited
partner interests. If the offering is completed, Pioneer Southwest would own interests in certain oil and gas
properties currently owned by the Company in the Spraberry field in the Permian Basin of West Texas. Pioneer
Southwest's registration statement contemplates an offering of 7,500,000 common units representing a 35.3 percent
limited partner interest in Pioneer Southwest. If the offering is completed, the Company would own a 0.1 percent
general partner interest and a 64.6 percent limited partner interest in Pioneer Southwest. The underwriters would
be granted a 30-day option to purchase up to 1,125,000 additional common units. The Company's limited partner
interest would be reduced to 61.4 percent if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full. In
February 2008, the Company announced that the initial public offering of common units of Pioneer Southwest has
been postponed due to market conditions and timing of the offering remains uncertain. There can be no assurance
that Pioneer Southwest will complete the offering, or if completed, that the offering will be structured as described
above.
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Capitalized Costs
December 31,
2007

2006

(in thousands)
Oil and gas properties:
Proved
Unproved

$

8,973,634 $
277,479

210,344

9,251,113

8,178,052

(2,028,472)

(1,895,408)

Capitalized costs for oil and gas properties
Less accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization
Net capitalized costs for oil and gas properties

$

Costs Incurred for Oil and Gas Producing Activities (a)
Property
Acquisition Costs
Proved

7,967,708

7,222,641 $

6,282,644

Exploration

Development

Total
Costs

Costs

Costs

Incurred

Unproved

(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2007:
United States

$

331,526 $

200,767 $

335,778 $

1,058,259 $

1,926,330

Canada

82

3,620

32,160

64,584

South Africa

—

—

276

111,178

111,454

Tunisia
Other (b)

—

718

104,585

9,785

115,088

Total
Year Ended December 31,
2006:
United States

—

—

23,905

100,446

—

23,905

$

331,608 $

205,105 $

496,704 $

1,243,806 $

2,277,223

$

78,318 $

109,321 $

296,301 $

700,340 $

1,184,280

Argentina

—

2

10,223

25,542

35,767

Canada

—

19,932

103,245

105,487

228,664

South Africa

—

—

288

131,475

131,763

Tunisia
Other (b)

—

5,000

40,813

336

46,149

—

10,584

36,172

—

Total
Year Ended December 31,
2005:
United States

46,756

$

78,318 $

144,839 $

487,042 $

963,180 $

1,673,379

$

170,827 $

60,731 $

217,723 $

454,109 $

903,390

Argentina

—

512

36,878

92,250

129,640

2,593

7,344

43,437

77,863

131,237

South Africa

—

259

755

17,527

18,541

Tunisia
Other (b)

—

—

18,395

2,922

21,317

—

30,664

44,456

291

Canada

Total

$

173,420 $

99,510 $

361,644 $

75,411

644,962 $

1,279,536

__________
(a)

The costs incurred for oil and gas producing activities includes the following amounts of asset
retirement obligations:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
Proved property acquisition costs

$

Exploration costs
Development costs
Total
(b)

$

4,750

$

$

3,183

3,376

—

26,880

41,110

16,055

33,129

$

Other is primarily comprised of activities in Nigeria and Equatorial Guinea.
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Results of Operations
Information about the Company's results of operations for oil and gas producing activities by geographic
operating segment is presented in Note R of the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Reserve Quantity Information
The estimates of the Company's proved reserves as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, which were
located in the United States, Argentina, Canada, South Africa and Tunisia, were based on evaluations prepared by
the Company's engineers and audited by independent petroleum engineers with respect to the Company's major
properties and prepared by the Company's engineers with respect to all other properties. Reserves were estimated
in accordance with guidelines established by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and the
FASB, which require that reserve estimates be prepared under existing economic and operating conditions with no
provision for price and cost escalations except by contractual arrangements. The Company reports all reserves held
under production sharing arrangements and concessions utilizing the "economic interest" method, which excludes
the host country's share of proved reserves. Estimated quantities for production sharing arrangements reported
under the "economic interest" method are subject to fluctuations in the commodity prices of and recoverable
operating expenses and capital costs. If costs remain stable, reserve quantities attributable to recovery of costs will
change inversely to changes in commodity prices. The reserve estimates as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
utilized respective oil prices of $95.45, $60.54 and $59.62 per Bbl (reflecting adjustments for oil quality),
respective NGL prices of $56.13, $29.82 and $36.34 per Bbl, and respective gas prices of $6.12, $5.13 and $6.36
per Mcf (reflecting adjustments for Btu content, gas processing and shrinkage).
Proved reserve quantity estimates are subject to numerous uncertainties inherent in the estimation of
quantities of proved reserves and in the projection of future rates of production and the timing of development
expenditures. The accuracy of such estimates is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and
geological interpretation and judgment. Results of subsequent drilling, testing and production may cause either
upward or downward revision of previous estimates. Further, the volumes considered to be commercially
recoverable fluctuate with changes in prices and operating costs. The Company emphasizes that proved reserve
estimates are inherently imprecise and that estimates of new discoveries are more imprecise than those of currently
producing oil and gas properties. Accordingly, these estimates are expected to change as additional information
becomes available in the future.
The following table provides a rollforward of total proved reserves by geographic area and in total for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, as well as proved developed reserves by geographic area and in
total as of the beginning and end of each respective year. Oil and NGL volumes are expressed in MBbls, gas
volumes are expressed in MMcf and total volumes are expressed in thousands of barrels of oil equivalent
("MBOE").
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Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

Oil &
NGLs
Gas
(MBbls) (MMcf)(a)

2005

Oil &
Total
NGLs
Gas
(MBOE) (MBbls) (MMcf)(a)

Oil &
Total
NGLs
Gas
(MBOE) (MBbls) (MMcf)(a)

Total
(MBOE)

Total Proved Reserves:
UNITED STATES
Balance, January 1
Revisions of previous
estimates
Purchases of minerals-inplace
Extensions and discoveries

406,725

2,685,961

854,385 385,771

2,750,856

15,571

35,542

21,495

(7,467)

(10,664)

(9,244)

(5,471)

(141,473)

(29,049)

19,678

184,478

50,424

41,825

52,308

50,543

65,800

83,179

79,663

3,000,335

863,313

44,571

11,948

34,733

225

22,692

131,277

Production (b)
Sales of minerals-in-place

(13,575)

(132,840)

Balance, December 31

451,091

2,903,055

Balance, January 1

—

—

—

Revisions of previous
estimates
Extensions and discoveries

—

—

—

(306)

(2,043)

—

—

—

135

4,576

Production (b)
Sales of minerals-in-place

—

—

—

(1,072)

(16,025)

(3,743)

—

—

—

(32,781)

(390,831)

(97,920)

—

—

—

Balance, December 31

—

—

—

—

—

—

34,024

404,323

101,411

2,199

173,509

31,117

2,423

130,514

24,175

4,095

119,869

24,073

(18,778)

(3,210)

434

15,887

3,082

—

(1,363)

(35,715) (14,091)
(227 ) (11,261)
934,933 406,725

136,712

844,247 363,257

(134,445)
(108,806)
2,685,961

(36,499) (16,311)
(29,395) (21,729)
854,385 385,771

103,616

17,494

(197,391)

(49,210)

(97,410)

(37,964)

2,750,856

844,247

33,168

560,374

126,564

(646)

2,060

(137,640)

(20,881)

898

2,334

31,606

7,602

(3,538)

(50,017)

(11,874)

ARGENTINA
34,024

404,323

101,411

CANADA
Balance, January 1
Revisions of previous
estimates
Purchases of minerals-inplace
Extensions and discoveries
Production (b)
Sales of minerals-in-place
Balance, December 31

(81)

(159)

(7,953)

(1,485)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

292

49

378

62,263

10,755

217

66,801

11,351

652

55,130

9,840

(15,853)

(2,924)

(2,922)

(234)

(16,295)

(2,950)

(282)

(2,262)

(200,699)

(35,712 )

—

—

—

(311)

(15,665)

(2,447)

(44,999)

(9,947)

—

—

—

2,199

173,509

31,117

2,423

130,514

24,175

3,070

60,511

13,156

3,055

60,395

13,121

3,419

—

3,419

(1,334)

(18,909)

(4,485)

1,521
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1,541

694

—

694

—

—

—

1,347

60,395

11,413

SOUTH AFRICA
Balance, January 1
Revisions of previous
estimates
Extensions and discoveries
Production (b)

—

—

—

(979)

(1,037)

(1,151 )

(1,506)

(1,506)

(2,405)

757

40,565

7,520

3,070

60,511

13,156

3,055

60,395

13,121

Balance, January 1

4,977

7,846

6,284

3,769

—

3,769

4,852

—

4,852

Revisions of previous
estimates
Extensions and discoveries

1,570

13,861

3,880

1,579

59

1,588

4

24,478

500

8,223

1,870

(1,557)
(11,771 )

(871)

Balance, December 31

—

—

(2,405)

TUNISIA

24,477

Production (b)
Sales of minerals-in-place

(11,771)

Balance, December 31

17,850

20,794

416,971

2,927,827

15,726

11,716

17,680

(4,832)

19,678

184,478

50,424

47,547

193,544

79,804

Production (b)
Sales of minerals-in-place

(16,191)
(14,033)

(151,089)
(202,062)

Balance, December 31

469,698

(1,403)

(917)
—

(436)

(943)

(510)

—

696

—

(1,269)

—

(510)
696
(1,269)

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,977

7,846

6,284

3,769

—

3,769

904,942 429,042

3,346,088

21,314

TOTAL
Balance, January 1
Revisions of previous
estimates
Purchases of minerals-inplace
Extensions and discoveries

2,964,414

986,723 408,791

(20,485)

(8,246)

(2,793)

41,825

52,308

50,543

12,800

216,312

48,852

(41,373) (17,822)
(47,710 ) (44,042)
963,767 416,971

(263,226)

(46,664)

65,800

83,471

79,712

5,254

250,747

47,045

(263,073)
(142,409)

(67,680)
(47,911)

(166,759) (45,615) (23,834)
(499,637) (127,315) (24,176)
2,927,827

3,680,578 1,022,221

904,942 429,042

3,346,088

986,723

__________

(a)
(b)

The proved gas reserves as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 include 290,599 MMcf, 316,528 MMcf and 306,303 MMcf, respectively, of gas that will be produced
and utilized as field fuel. Field fuel is gas consumed to operate field equipment (primarily compressors) prior to the gas being delivered to a sales point.
Production for 2007, 2006 and 2005 includes approximately 17,347 MMcf, 17,364 MMcf, and 14,452 MMcf of field fuel, respectively. Also, for 2007, 2006 and 2005,
production includes 2,950 MBOE, 9,735 MBOE and 31,195 MBOE of production associated with discontinued operations. See Note V for additional information.

116

PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Year Ended December 31,
2007
Oil &
NGLs
(MBbls)
Proved Developed
Reserves:
United States
Argentina
Canada
South Africa
Tunisia
Balance, January 1
United States

2006

Gas
(MMcf)
(a)

211,814 1,805,974

Oil &
Total
NGLs
(MBOE) (MBbls)

2005

Gas
(MMcf)
(a)

512,809 210,680 1,875,866

Oil &
Total
NGLs
(MBOE) (MBbls)

Gas
(MMcf)
(a)

Total
(MBOE)

523,324 223,749 2,045,275

564,628

—

—

—

20,844

282,815

67,980

20,565

320,616

74,001

2,053

117,672

21,665

2,202

99,025

18,706

3,849

107,547

21,773

1,708

3,419

—

3,419

3,769

4,852

1,822

—

4,977

7,846

1,822

1,708

—

6,285

3,769

—

—

4,852

220,666 1,931,492

542,581 239,203 2,257,706

615,487 256,434 2,473,438

668,673

238,072 1,976,080

567,419 211,814 1,805,974

512,809 210,680 1,875,866

523,324

Argentina

—

—

—

—

—

—

20,844

282,815

67,980

Canada

—

—

—

2,053

117,672

21,665

2,202

99,025

18,706

757

40,565

7,518

1,822

—

1,822

1,708

—

1,708

17,850

20,794

21,316

4,977

7,846

6,285

3,769

—

3,769

542,581 239,203 2,257,706

615,487

South Africa
Tunisia
Balance, December 31

256,679 2,037,439

596,253 220,666 1,931,492

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows
The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is computed by applying year-end commodity
prices (with consideration of price changes only to the extent provided by contractual arrangements) to the
estimated future production of proved reserves less estimated future expenditures (based on year-end costs) to be
incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves, discounted using a rate of ten percent per year to reflect
the estimated timing of the future cash flows. Future income taxes are calculated by comparing undiscounted
future cash flows to the tax basis of oil and gas properties plus available carryforwards and credits and applying
the current tax rates to the difference. The discounted future cash flow estimates do not include the effects of the
Company's commodity hedging contracts. Utilizing December 31, 2007, commodity prices held constant over each
hedge contract's term, the net present value of the Company's hedge obligations, less associated estimated income
taxes and discounted at ten percent, was a liability of approximately $139.1 million at December 31, 2007.
Discounted future cash flow estimates like those shown below are not intended to represent estimates of the
fair value of oil and gas properties. Estimates of fair value should also consider probable reserves, anticipated
future commodity prices, interest rates, changes in development and production costs and risks associated with
future production. Because of these and other considerations, any estimate of fair value is necessarily subjective
and imprecise.
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PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
The following tables provide the standardized measure of discounted future cash flows by geographic area
and in total as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, as well as a roll forward in total for each respective year:
December 31,
2006

2007
UNITED STATES

2005

(in thousands)

Oil and gas producing activities:
Future cash inflows

$

52,649,378

$

32,162,975

$

37,171,750

Future production costs

(14,562,540)

(10,605,170)

(10,911,204)

Future development costs
Future income tax expense

(4,252,134)

(3,746,920)

(2,757,072)

(11,265,645)

(5,695,788)

(7,552,644)

22,569,059

12,115,097

15,950,830

(14,303,502)

(7,925,926)

(9,872,066)

10% annual discount factor
Standardized measure of discounted future cash flows

$

8,265,557

$

4,189,171

$

6,078,764

$

—

$

—

$

2,256,468

ARGENTINA
Oil and gas producing activities:
Future cash inflows
Future production costs

—

—

(366,362)

Future development costs
Future income tax expense

—

—

(353,182)

—

—

—

—

—

—

10% annual discount factor
Standardized measure of discounted future cash flows

(282,661)
1,254,263
(446,366)

$

—

$

—

$

807,897

$

—

$

1,054,264

$

1,062,258

CANADA
Oil and gas producing activities:
Future cash inflows
Future production costs

—

(399,248)

Future development costs
Future income tax expense

—

(115,721)

(46,312)

—

(69,693)

(166,333)

10% annual discount factor
Standardized measure of discounted future cash flows

(404,891)

—

469,602

444,722

—

(200,313)

(190,655)

$

—

$

269,289

$

254,067

$

365,145

$

509,081

$

503,499

SOUTH AFRICA
Oil and gas producing activities:
Future cash inflows
Future production costs

(36,934)

(82,989)

(56,987)

Future development costs
Future income tax expense

(44,263)

(165,318)

(248,005)

10% annual discount factor
Standardized measure of discounted future cash flows

$

118

(31,584)

(58,870)

(18,510)

252,364

201,904

179,997

(37,108)

(58,182)

(70,453)

215,256

$

143,722

$

109,544

PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
December 31,
2007

2006

2005

(in thousands)
TUNISIA
Oil and gas producing activities:
Future cash inflows

$

1,892,519

Future production costs
Future development costs
Future income tax expense
10% annual discount factor
Standardized measure of discounted future cash flows

$

329,773

$

214,982

(165,668)

(47,116)

(45,831)

(16,265)

(9,164)
(2,700)

(860,342)

(148,361)

(121,675)

820,678

118,031

81,443

(284,607)

(31,224)

(34,818)

$

536,071

$

86,807

$

46,625

$

54,907,042

$

34,056,093

$

41,208,957

TOTAL
Oil and gas producing activities:
Future cash inflows
Future production costs
Future development costs(a)
Future income tax expense
10% annual discount factor
Standardized measure of discounted future cash flows

(14,765,142)

(11,134,523)

(11,748,608)

(4,342,228)

(4,044,224)

(3,407,271)

(12,157,571)

(5,972,712)

(8,141,823)

23,642,101

12,904,634

17,911,255

(14,625,217)

(8,215,645)

(10,614,358)

$

9,016,884

$

4,688,989

$

7,296,897

__________
(a)

Includes $471.5 million, $324.1 million and $357.5 million of undiscounted future asset retirement expenditures estimated as of
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, using current estimates of future abandonment costs. See Note L for corresponding
information regarding the Company's discounted asset retirement obligations.

Changes in Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

2005

(in thousands)
Oil and gas sales, net of production costs

$

(1,462,189) $

(1,516,503) $

Net changes in prices and production costs

4,700,608

Extensions and discoveries

1,889,282

413,200

661,956

672,572

Development costs incurred during the period
Sales of minerals-in-place

(1,921,270)

(970,215)

Purchases of minerals-in-place

322,470

(38,837)

(595,873)
908,047

660,755

895,455
486,328

Change in present value of future net revenues

6,731,963

Balance, end of year

1,247,921

(2,404,068)

1,088,438

(594,099)

4,327,895

(2,607,908)

653,822

9,016,884

119

78,880

(3,696,346)

4,688,989
$

645,315
(907,229)

1,240,959

Balance, beginning of year

446,978
(1,492,864)

(1,041,343)

Accretion of discount
Changes in production rates, timing and other
Net change in present value of future income taxes

459,251

280,475

(897,587)

Revisions of previous quantity estimates

3,932,683

(1,926,423)

585,924

Revisions of estimated future development costs

(2,227,267)

7,296,897
$

4,688,989

6,643,075
$

7,296,897

PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Selected Quarterly Financial Results
The following table provides selected quarterly financial results for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006:
Quarter
First

Second

Third

Fourth

(in thousands, except per share data)
Year ended December 31, 2007:
Oil and gas revenues:
As reported
Less discontinued operations
Adjusted

$

391,918

$

(38,336)

458,032

$

(38,240)

458,898

$

508,579

—

—

$

353,582

$

419,792

$

458,898

$

508,579

$

406,094

$

483,920

$

490,447

$

530,886

Total revenues:
As reported
Less discontinued operations
Adjusted

(38,775)

(39,223)

—

—

$

367,319

$

444,697

$

490,447

$

530,886

$

359,880

$

432,731

$

336,480

$

426,069

Total costs and expenses:
As reported
Less discontinued operations
Adjusted

(35,209)

(41,226)

—

—

$

324,671

$

391,505

$

336,480

$

426,069

$

29,593

$

36,480

$

101,927

$

204,728

Basic

$

0.24

$

0.30

$

0.85

$

1.74

Diluted

$

0.24

$

0.30

$

0.84

$

1.72

Net income
Net income per share:
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December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Quarter
First

Second

Third

Fourth

(in thousands, except per share data)
Year ended December 31, 2006:
Oil and gas revenues:
As reported
Less discontinued operations
Adjusted

$

379,468

$

(28,362)

407,570

$

(34,154)

418,106

$

376,905

(33,994)

(26,599)

$

351,106

$

373,416

$

384,112

$

350,306

$

396,506

$

413,908

$

432,627

$

389,840

Total revenues:
As reported
Less discontinued operations
Adjusted

(34,547)

(35,340)

(34,934)

(27,189)

$

361,959

$

378,568

$

397,693

$

362,651

$

376,756

$

297,815

$

312,031

$

337,291

Total costs and expenses:
As reported
Less discontinued operations
Adjusted

(26,732)

(27,759)

(32,106)

(27,663)

$

350,024

$

270,056

$

279,925

$

309,628

$

543,207

$

88,039

$

80,799

$

27,686

Basic

$

4.28

$

0.70

$

0.65

$

0.23

Diluted

$

4.28

$

0.69

$

0.64

$

0.22

Net income
Net income per share:

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company elected to not pursue the development of the Clipper project
in the deepwater Gulf of Mexico. Associated therewith, the Company's income from continuing operations for the
fourth quarter of 2007 includes a pretax exploration and abandonment charge of $72.1 million.
During November 2007, the Company sold its Canadian assets. During March and April 2006, the Company
sold all of its interests in certain oil and gas properties in the deepwater Gulf of Mexico and its Argentine assets,
respectively. These divestitures qualified as discontinued operations pursuant to SFAS 144. In accordance with
SFAS 144, the Company reclassified the results of operations and gains on the sales of the divested assets from
continuing operations to discontinued operations in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations. See
Note V of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding these divestitures that
gave rise to the adjustments in the tables above.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. The Company's management, with the participation of its
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, have evaluated, as required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the
Exchange Act, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) as
of the end of the period covered by this Report. Based on that evaluation, the principal executive officer and
principal financial officer concluded that the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it
files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC's rules and forms.
Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There have been no changes in the Company's internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the
Company's last fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.
MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. The Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the
supervision of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company's financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
As of December 31, 2007, management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting based on the criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting established in
"Internal Control — Integrated Framework", issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on the assessment, management determined that the Company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on those criteria.
Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial
statements of the Company included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. The report,
which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, is included in this Item under the heading "Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting".
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Pioneer Natural Resources Company:
We have audited Pioneer Natural Resources Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Pioneer Natural
Resources Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the
accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Pioneer Natural Resources Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Pioneer Natural Resources Company as of December 31, 2007
and 2006 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, cash flows and
comprehensive income for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, and our report dated
February 19, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Ernst & Young LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 19, 2008
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ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.
PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required in response to this item will be set forth in the Company's definitive proxy
statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held during May 2008 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required in response to this item will be set forth in the Company's definitive proxy
statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held during May 2008 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table summarizes information about the Company's equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2007:

Number of
Securities to
be Issued
Upon Exercise of
Outstanding
Options (a)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders (c):
Pioneer Natural Resources Company:
2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan
Long-Term Incentive Plan
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Predecessor plans

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price of
Outstanding
Options

—
865,170
—

$
$
$

—
22.11
—

109,575

$

12.11

974,745

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans
(Excluding Securities
Reflected in First Column
(b)

3,730,261
—
418,875
—
4,149,136

__________
(a)

(b)

(c)

There are no outstanding warrants or equity rights awarded under the Company's equity compensation
plans. The securities do not include restricted stock awarded under the Company's previous Long-Term
Incentive Plan and the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "Plan").
In May 2006, the stockholders of the Company approved the Plan, which provides for the issuance of up
to 4.6 million awards. Awards under the Plan can be in the form of stock options, stock appreciation
rights, performance units, restricted stock and restricted stock units. No additional awards may be made
under the prior Long-Term Incentive Plan. The number of remaining securities available for future
issuance under the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan is based on the original authorized
issuance of 750,000 shares less 331,125 cumulative shares issued through December 31, 2007. See Note
H of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for a description of each of the Company's equity compensation plans.
All equity compensation plans have been approved by security holders.

The remaining information required in response to this item will be set forth in the Company's definitive
proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held during May 2008 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
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ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required in response to this item will be set forth in the Company's definitive proxy
statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held during May 2008 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required in response to this item will be set forth in the Company's definitive proxy
statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held during May 2008 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.
(a)

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Listing of Financial Statements

Financial Statements
The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are included in "Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data":
Report of Independent Registered Pubic Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Unaudited Supplementary Information
(b)

Exhibits

The exhibits to this Report required to be filed pursuant to Item 15(c) are listed below and in the "Index to
Exhibits" attached hereto.
(c)

Financial Statement Schedules
No financial statement schedules are required to be filed as part of this Report or they are inapplicable.
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Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

2.1

3.1

3.2
4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

Description

— Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between Pioneer as Seller and Marubeni Offshore Production
(USA) Inc. as Purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2006).
— Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated June 27, 1997, Registration
No. 333-26951).
— Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 17, 2006, File No. 1-13245).
— Form of Certificate of Common Stock, par value $.01 per share, of the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated June 27, 1997,
Registration No. 333-26951).
— Rights Agreement dated July 24, 2001, between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on July 24, 2001).
— Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement, dated as of May 22, 2006, between the Company and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Amendment No. 1 the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A, File No. 1-13245, filed
with the SEC on May 23, 2006).
— Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A, File
No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on July 24, 2001).
— Indenture dated April 12, 1995, between Pioneer USA (successor to Parker & Parsley Petroleum
Company ("Parker & Parsley")) and The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association), as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Parker & Parsley's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
April 12, 1995, File No. 1-10695).
— First Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 7, 1997, among Parker & Parsley, The Chase
Manhattan Bank, as trustee, and Pioneer USA, with respect to the indenture identified above as
Exhibit 4.5 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1997, File No. 1-13245).
— Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 30, 1997, among Pioneer USA, Pioneer
NewSub1, Inc. and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified
above as Exhibit 4.5 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 2, 1998).
— Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 30, 1997, among Pioneer NewSub1, Inc. (as
successor to Pioneer USA), Pioneer DebtCo, Inc. and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as trustee, with
respect to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.5 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 2,
1998).
— Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 30, 1997, among Pioneer DebtCo, Inc. (as
successor to Pioneer NewSub1, Inc., as successor to Pioneer USA), the Company, Pioneer USA and
The Chase Manhattan Bank, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.5
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No.
1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 2, 1998).
— Indenture dated January 13, 1998, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's and Pioneer USA's Current Report on
Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14, 1998).
— First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 13, 1998, among the Company, Pioneer USA, as
the subsidiary guarantor, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture
identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's and
Pioneer USA's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14,
1998).
— Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 11, 2000, among the Company, Pioneer USA, as
the subsidiary guarantor, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture
identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000, File No. 1-13245).
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4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

4.25

10.1 H

— Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 30, 2002, among the Company, Pioneer USA, as the
subsidiary guarantor, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified
above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, File No. 1-13245).
— Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15, 2004, among the Company and The Bank of
New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed
with the SEC on July 19, 2004).
— Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15, 2004, among the Company, Pioneer USA, as the
subsidiary guarantor, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified
above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on July 19, 2004).
— Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2006, among the Company, Pioneer Natural
Resources USA, Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, with respect to
the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 4, 2006).
— Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 12, 2007, among the Company, Pioneer Natural
Resources USA, Inc., The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A, as original trustee under the
indenture, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as series trustee, with respect to the
indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on March 12, 2007).
— Indenture dated as of March 10, 2004, among Evergreen and Wachovia Bank, National Association,
as trustee, relating to Evergreen's 5.875% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2012 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Evergreen's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31, 2004, File No. 1-13171, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2004).
— First Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 28, 2004, among Pioneer Evergreen Properties,
LLC (as successor to Evergreen) and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect
to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.18 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on October 1, 2004).
— Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 30, 2004, among Pioneer Debt Sub, LLC and
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified above as
Exhibit 4.18 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2004).
— Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 30, 2004, among the Company and Wachovia
Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.18
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No.
1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2004).
— Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 1, 2004, among the Company, Pioneer USA,
as guarantor, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect to the indenture
identified above as Exhibit 4.18 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2004).
— Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 16, 2005, among the Company, Pioneer USA,
as Guarantor, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Trustee, with respect to the indenture
identified above as Exhibit 4.18 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005).
— Indenture, dated January 22, 2008, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 22, 2008).
— First Supplemental Indenture, dated January 22, 2008, by and among the Company, Pioneer USA
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified
above as Exhibit 4.24 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 22, 2008).
— The Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8, Registration No. 333-35087, filed with the SEC on
September 8, 1997).
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— First Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of November 23, 1998
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 1-13245).
— Second Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of May 20, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 1-13245).
— Third Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of February 17, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.76 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 1-13245).
— Fourth Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of November 20, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Fifth Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of May 12, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Sixth Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of December 17, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement with respect to grants under the Company's Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6,
2005).
— Form of Omnibus Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for Non-employee Directors with respect
to grants under the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, File
No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Form of Omnibus Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for Option Award Participants with respect
to grants under the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (Group 1) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-employee Directors with respect to grants under
the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245).
— Pioneer Natural Resources Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated
effective September 1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on
December 14, 2005).
— The Company's Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, Amended and Restated Effective as of
August 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6,
2005).
— Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of January
1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2006, File No. 1-13245).
(a) — Pioneer USA 401(k) and Matching Plan, Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2008.
— Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of April 11, 2007 among the
Company, as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent and certain other
lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2007, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 9, 2007).
— First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 20, 2007
among the Company, as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and
certain other lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14, 2008).
— Non-Competition Agreement dated October 29, 2004, between the Company and Mark S. Sexton
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No.
1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 4, 2004).
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— Production Payment Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of January 26, 2005 among the
Company, as the Seller, and Royalty Acquisition Company, LLC, as the Buyer (related to Hugoton
gas) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File
No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on February 1, 2005).
— Production Payment Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of January 26, 2005 among the
Company, as the Seller, and Royalty Acquisition Company, LLC, as the Buyer (related to Spraberry
oil) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File
No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on February 1, 2005).
— Production Payment Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of April 19, 2005 among the Company,
as the Seller, and Wolfcamp Oil and Gas Trust, as the Buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
99.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on April
21, 2005).
— 2000 Stock Incentive Plan of Evergreen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-119355, filed with the SEC on September 29,
2004).
— Indemnification Agreement dated November 15, 2006, between the Company and Scott D.
Sheffield, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the
Company and each of its non-employee directors and executive officers identified on the schedule
and identifying the material differences between each of those agreements and the filed
Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 17, 2006).
(a) — Severance Agreement dated August 16, 2005, between the Company and Scott D. Sheffield, together
with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the Company and each
of its executive officers identified on the schedule and identifying the material differences between
each of those agreements and the filed Severance Agreement.
— Change in Control Agreement, dated August 16, 2005, between the Company and Scott D. Sheffield,
together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the Company
and each of its executive officers identified on the schedule and identifying the material differences
between each of those agreements and the filed Change in Control Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed
with the SEC on August 17, 2005).
— Change in Control Agreement, dated August 10, 2005, between the Company and William F.
Hannes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245).
— Form of Change in Control Agreement dated September 10, 2005, between the Company and each
of Jay P. Still and David McManus (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14, 2008).
— Form of Indemnification Agreement dated November 15, 2006, between the Company and each of
Jay P. Still and David McManus (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14, 2008).
— Pioneer Natural Resources Company 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on
May 9, 2006).
— Form of restricted stock unit Award Agreement for non-employee directors with respect to grants
under the Company's 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, together with a schedule identifying
substantially identical agreements between the Company and each of its non-employee directors
identified on the schedule and identifying the material differences between each of those agreements
and the filed Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 9, 2006).
— Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement between the Company and each of Scott D. Sheffield
and Timothy L. Dove, with respect to awards made under the Company's 2006 Long-Term Incentive
Plan, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the
Company and each of its other executive officers and identifying the material differences between
each of those agreements and the filed Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed
with the SEC on March 2, 2007).

130

10.32 H

— Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement, dated February 26, 2007, between the Company and
each of Scott D. Sheffield and Timothy L. Dove, with respect to awards made under the Company's
2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical
agreements between the Company and each of its other executive officers and identifying the
material differences between each of those agreements and the filed Performance Unit Award
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2007).
— Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement, dated February 12, 2008, between the Company and
each of Scott D. Sheffield and Timothy L. Dove, with respect to awards made under the Company's
2006 Long Term Incentive Plan, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical
agreements between the Company and each of its other executive officers and identifying the
material differences between each of those agreements and the filed Performance Unit Award
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on February 19, 2008).
— Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, effective June 1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2007).
— Subsidiaries of the registrant.
— Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
— Consent of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
— Chief Executive Officer certification under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
— Chief Financial Officer certification under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
— Chief Executive Officer certification under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
— Chief Financial Officer certification under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

10.33 H

14.1
21.1 (a)
23.1 (a)
23.2 (a)
31.1 (a)
31.2 (a)
32.1 (b)
32.2 (b)
___________
(a)
(b)
G
H

Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.
Executive Compensation Plan or Arrangement filed herewith pursuant to Item 15(b).
Executive Compensation Plan or Arrangement previously filed pursuant to Item 15(b).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
Date: February 19, 2008

By:

/s/ Scott D. Sheffield
Scott D. Sheffield,
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ Scott D. Sheffield
Scott D. Sheffield
/s/ Richard P. Dealy
Richard P. Dealy
/s/ Darin G. Holderness
Darin G. Holderness
/s/ James R. Baroffio
James R. Baroffio
/s/ Edison C. Buchanan
Edison C. Buchanan
/s/ R. Hartwell Gardner
R. Hartwell Gardner
/s/ Linda K. Lawson
Linda K. Lawson
/s/ Andrew D. Lundquist
Andrew D. Lundquist
/s/ Charles E. Ramsey, Jr.
Charles E. Ramsey, Jr.
/s/ Frank A. Risch
Frank A. Risch
/s/ Robert A. Solberg
Robert A. Solberg
/s/ Jim A. Watson
Jim A. Watson

Title

Date

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
(principal accounting officer)
Director

February 19, 2008

Director

February 19, 2008

Director

February 19, 2008

Director

February 19, 2008

Director

February 19, 2008

Director

February 19, 2008

Director

February 19, 2008

Director

February 19, 2008

Director

February 19, 2008
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February 19, 2008
February 19, 2008
February 19, 2008
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Exhibit
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2.1
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4.2
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4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

Description

— Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between Pioneer as Seller and Marubeni Offshore Production
(USA) Inc. as Purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2006).
— Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated June 27, 1997, Registration
No. 333-26951).
— Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 17, 2006, File No. 1-13245).
— Form of Certificate of Common Stock, par value $.01 per share, of the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated June 27, 1997,
Registration No. 333-26951).
— Rights Agreement dated July 24, 2001, between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on July 24, 2001).
— Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement, dated as of May 22, 2006, between the Company and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Amendment No. 1 the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A, File No. 1-13245, filed
with the SEC on May 23, 2006).
— Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A, File
No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on July 24, 2001).
— Indenture dated April 12, 1995, between Pioneer USA (successor to Parker & Parsley Petroleum
Company ("Parker & Parsley")) and The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association), as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Parker & Parsley's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
April 12, 1995, File No. 1-10695).
— First Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 7, 1997, among Parker & Parsley, The Chase
Manhattan Bank, as trustee, and Pioneer USA, with respect to the indenture identified above as
Exhibit 4.5 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1997, File No. 1-13245).
— Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 30, 1997, among Pioneer USA, Pioneer
NewSub1, Inc. and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified
above as Exhibit 4.5 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 2, 1998).
— Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 30, 1997, among Pioneer NewSub1, Inc. (as
successor to Pioneer USA), Pioneer DebtCo, Inc. and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as trustee, with
respect to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.5 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18
to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 2,
1998).
— Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 30, 1997, among Pioneer DebtCo, Inc. (as
successor to Pioneer NewSub1, Inc., as successor to Pioneer USA), the Company, Pioneer USA and
The Chase Manhattan Bank, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.5
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No.
1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 2, 1998).
— Indenture dated January 13, 1998, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's and Pioneer USA's Current Report on
Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14, 1998).
— First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 13, 1998, among the Company, Pioneer USA, as
the subsidiary guarantor, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture
identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's and
Pioneer USA's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14,
1998).
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4.16
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— Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 11, 2000, among the Company, Pioneer USA, as
the subsidiary guarantor, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture
identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000, File No. 1-13245).
— Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 30, 2002, among the Company, Pioneer USA, as the
subsidiary guarantor, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified
above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, File No. 1-13245).
— Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15, 2004, among the Company and The Bank of
New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed
with the SEC on July 19, 2004).
— Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15, 2004, among the Company, Pioneer USA, as the
subsidiary guarantor, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified
above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on July 19, 2004).
— Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2006, among the Company, Pioneer Natural
Resources USA, Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, with respect to
the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 4, 2006).
— Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 12, 2007, among the Company, Pioneer Natural
Resources USA, Inc., The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A, as original trustee under the
indenture, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as series trustee, with respect to the
indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.10 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on March 12, 2007).
— Indenture dated as of March 10, 2004, among Evergreen and Wachovia Bank, National Association,
as trustee, relating to Evergreen's 5.875% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2012 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Evergreen's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31, 2004, File No. 1-13171, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2004).
— First Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 28, 2004, among Pioneer Evergreen Properties,
LLC (as successor to Evergreen) and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect
to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.18 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on October 1, 2004).
— Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 30, 2004, among Pioneer Debt Sub, LLC and
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified above as
Exhibit 4.18 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2004).
— Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 30, 2004, among the Company and Wachovia
Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified above as Exhibit 4.18
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No.
1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2004).
— Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 1, 2004, among the Company, Pioneer USA,
as guarantor, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect to the indenture
identified above as Exhibit 4.18 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2004).
— Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 16, 2005, among the Company, Pioneer USA,
as Guarantor, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Trustee, with respect to the indenture
identified above as Exhibit 4.18 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005).
— Indenture, dated January 22, 2008, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 22, 2008).

134

4.25

10.1 H

10.2 H

10.3 H

10.4 H

10.5 H

10.6 H

10.7 H

10.8 H

10.9 H

10.10 H

10.11 H

10.12 H

10.13 H

10.14 H

10.15 G

— First Supplemental Indenture, dated January 22, 2008, by and among the Company, Pioneer USA
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, with respect to the indenture identified
above as Exhibit 4.24 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 22, 2008).
— The Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8, Registration No. 333-35087, filed with the SEC on
September 8, 1997).
— First Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of November 23, 1998
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 1-13245).
— Second Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of May 20, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 1-13245).
— Third Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of February 17, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.76 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 1-13245).
— Fourth Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of November 20, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Fifth Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of May 12, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Sixth Amendment to the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of December 17, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement with respect to grants under the Company's Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6,
2005).
— Form of Omnibus Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for Non-employee Directors with respect
to grants under the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, File
No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Form of Omnibus Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for Option Award Participants with respect
to grants under the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (Group 1) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2005).
— Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-employee Directors with respect to grants under
the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245).
— Pioneer Natural Resources Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated
effective September 1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on
December 14, 2005).
— The Company's Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, Amended and Restated Effective as of
August 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 6,
2005).
— Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of January
1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2006, File No. 1-13245).
(a) — Pioneer USA 401(k) and Matching Plan, Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2008.
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10.16

— Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of April 11, 2007 among the
Company, as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent and certain other
lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2007, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 9, 2007).
10.17
— First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 20, 2007
among the Company, as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and
certain other lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14, 2008).
10.18
— Non-Competition Agreement dated October 29, 2004, between the Company and Mark S. Sexton
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No.
1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 4, 2004).
10.19
— Production Payment Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of January 26, 2005 among the
Company, as the Seller, and Royalty Acquisition Company, LLC, as the Buyer (related to Hugoton
gas) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File
No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on February 1, 2005).
10.20
— Production Payment Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of January 26, 2005 among the
Company, as the Seller, and Royalty Acquisition Company, LLC, as the Buyer (related to Spraberry
oil) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File
No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on February 1, 2005).
10.21
— Production Payment Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of April 19, 2005 among the Company,
as the Seller, and Wolfcamp Oil and Gas Trust, as the Buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
99.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on April
21, 2005).
10.22 H
— 2000 Stock Incentive Plan of Evergreen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-119355, filed with the SEC on September 29,
2004).
10.23 H
— Indemnification Agreement dated November 15, 2006, between the Company and Scott D.
Sheffield, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the
Company and each of its non-employee directors and executive officers identified on the schedule
and identifying the material differences between each of those agreements and the filed
Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on November 17, 2006).
10.24 G (a) — Severance Agreement dated August 16, 2005, between the Company and Scott D. Sheffield,
together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the Company
and each of its executive officers identified on the schedule and identifying the material differences
between each of those agreements and the filed Severance Agreement.
10.25 H
— Change in Control Agreement, dated August 16, 2005, between the Company and Scott D.
Sheffield, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the
Company and each of its executive officers identified on the schedule and identifying the material
differences between each of those agreements and the filed Change in Control Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No.
1-13245, filed with the SEC on August 17, 2005).
10.26 H
— Change in Control Agreement, dated August 10, 2005, between the Company and William F.
Hannes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 1-13245).
10.27 H
— Form of Change in Control Agreement dated September 10, 2005, between the Company and each
of Jay P. Still and David McManus (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14, 2008).
10.28 H
— Form of Indemnification Agreement dated November 15, 2006, between the Company and each of
Jay P. Still and David McManus (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on January 14, 2008).
10.29 H
— Pioneer Natural Resources Company 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC
on May 9, 2006).
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10.33 H

14.1
21.1 (a)
23.1 (a)
23.2 (a)
31.1 (a)
31.2 (a)
32.1 (b)
32.2 (b)
____________
(a)
(b)
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— Form of restricted stock unit Award Agreement for non-employee directors with respect to grants
under the Company's 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, together with a schedule identifying
substantially identical agreements between the Company and each of its non-employee directors
identified on the schedule and identifying the material differences between each of those agreements
and the filed Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on May 9, 2006).
— Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement between the Company and each of Scott D. Sheffield
and Timothy L. Dove, with respect to awards made under the Company's 2006 Long-Term Incentive
Plan, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the
Company and each of its other executive officers and identifying the material differences between
each of those agreements and the filed Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed
with the SEC on March 2, 2007).
— Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement, dated February 26, 2007, between the Company and
each of Scott D. Sheffield and Timothy L. Dove, with respect to awards made under the Company's
2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical
agreements between the Company and each of its other executive officers and identifying the
material differences between each of those agreements and the filed Performance Unit Award
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2007).
— Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement, dated February 12, 2008, between the Company and
each of Scott D. Sheffield and Timothy L. Dove, with respect to awards made under the Company's
2006 Long Term Incentive Plan, together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical
agreements between the Company and each of its other executive officers and identifying the
material differences between each of those agreements and the filed Performance Unit Award
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on February 19, 2008).
— Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, effective June 1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 1-13245, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2007).
— Subsidiaries of the registrant.
— Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
— Consent of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
— Chief Executive Officer certification under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
— Chief Financial Officer certification under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
— Chief Executive Officer certification under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
— Chief Financial Officer certification under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.
Executive Compensation Plan or Arrangement filed herewith pursuant to Item 15(b).
Executive Compensation Plan or Arrangement previously filed pursuant to Item 15(b).
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PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES USA, INC.
401(k) AND MATCHING PLAN
(Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2008)
THIS 401(k) AND MATCHING PLAN, a profit sharing plan, made and executed by PIONEER
NATURAL RESOURCES USA, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”),
WITNESSETH THAT:
WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore maintained for the benefit of its employees a qualified profit
sharing plan known as the Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. 401(k) and Matching Plan; and
WHEREAS, the Company now desires to restate the Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. 401(k) and
Matching Plan to update the plan for tax compliance, incorporate prior amendments, add provisions allowing
designated Roth contributions, and make certain other changes;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and pursuant to the authority reserved thereunder,
the Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. 401(k) and Matching Plan is hereby amended by restatement in its
entirety, effective as of January 1, 2008, to read as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION
Section 1.1

Definitions. Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, when used in this Plan:

(a)
“Account” means a Participant’s After-Tax Account, Catch-Up Contribution Account,
Employer Account, Matching Plan Account, Mesa After-Tax Account, Mesa Premium Account, Mesa
Profit-Sharing Account, Pre-Tax Account, Prior Plan Employer Account, Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account,
Rollover Account, Roth Account, Roth Catch-Up Contribution Account and/or Roth Rollover Account,
as the context requires. The Committee may establish and maintain separate subaccounts within a
Participant’s Accounts if it deems such to be necessary for the proper administration of the Plan.
(b)
“Affiliated Company” means any corporation or organization, other than an Employer,
which is a member of a controlled group of corporations (within the meaning of Code Section 414(b)) or
of an affiliated service group (within the meaning of Code Section 414(m)) with respect to which an
Employer is also a member, and any other incorporated or unincorporated trade or business which along
with an Employer is under common control (within the meaning of the regulations from time to time
promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to Code Section 414(c));

provided, however, that for the purposes of Section 10.3 of the Plan, Code Section 414(b) and (c) shall be
applied as modified by Code Section 415(h).
(c)
“After-Tax Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan by
the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to After-Tax Contributions.
(d)
“After-Tax Contribution” means a contribution made by a Participant to this Plan
pursuant to Section 3.4.
(e)
“Basic Compensation” means the sum of (i) the base salary or wages and any overtime
payable by an Employer to an Employee for personal services rendered to the Employer but excluding
any amount payable pursuant to an Employer’s salary continuation program, (ii) any contributions made
by an Employer on behalf of the Employee to a qualified cash or deferred arrangement (within the
meaning of Code Section 401(k)) maintained by such Employer, including any Catch-Up Contributions,
Pre-Tax Contributions and Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions made by an Employer to this Plan on behalf of
such Employee, (iii) any compensation reduction amounts elected by such Employee for the purchase of
benefits pursuant to a cafeteria plan (within the meaning of Code Section 125(d)) maintained by an
Employer, and (iv) any elective amounts that are not includible in the gross income of an Employee by
reason of Code Section 132(f)(4); provided, however, that the Basic Compensation of an Employee taken
into account under the Plan for any Plan Year shall not exceed $200,000 (as adjusted to take into account
any cost-of-living increases authorized pursuant to Code Section 401(a)(17)(B)).
(f)
“Catch-Up Contribution” means a contribution made by an Employer on behalf of a
Participant pursuant to Section 3.3.
(g)
“Catch-Up Contribution Account” means the account established and maintained under
this Plan by the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to Catch-Up
Contributions (other than Catch-Up Contributions that are treated by an Employer as designated Roth
contributions (within the meaning of Code Section 402A(c)) pursuant to Section 3.3.
(h)

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(i)
“Committee” means the 401(k) and Matching Plan Committee appointed by the Board of
Directors of the Company to administer the Plan.
(j)
“Company” means Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and
any successor thereto.
(k)
“Compensation” means the sum of (i) wages within the meaning of Code Section
3401(a) and all other payments of remuneration to an Employee by an Employer (in the course of the
Employer’s trade or business) for which the Employer is required to furnish the Employee a written
statement under Code Sections 6041(d), 6051(a)(3) and 6052, but determined without regard to any rules
that limit the remuneration included in
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wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception
for agricultural labor in Code Section 3401(a)(2)), (ii) any contributions made by an Employer on behalf
of the Employee to a qualified cash or deferred arrangement (within the meaning of Code Section 401(k))
maintained by such Employer, including any Catch-Up Contributions, Pre-Tax Contributions and Pre-Tax
Bonus Contributions made by an Employer to this Plan on behalf of such Employee, (iii) any
compensation reduction amounts elected by such Employee for the purchase of benefits pursuant to a
cafeteria plan (within the meaning of Code Section 125(d)) maintained by an Employer, and (iv) any
elective amounts that are not includible in the gross income of an Employee by reason of Code Section
132(f)(4); provided, however, that except for purposes of determining whether an Employee is a Highly
Compensated Employee or a Key Employee (within the meaning of Section 9.1(c)), the Compensation of
an Employee taken into account under the Plan for any Plan Year shall not exceed $200,000 (as adjusted
to take into account any cost-of-living increases authorized pursuant to Code Section 401(a)(17)(B)).
(l)
“Covered Employee” means any Employee other than an individual who is (i) a member
of a collective bargaining unit with which an Employer negotiates and with respect to whom no coverage
under this Plan has been provided by collective bargaining agreement, (ii) a nonresident alien with
respect to the United States who receives no earned income from an Employer which constitutes income
from sources within the United States, (iii) classified by an Employer as a student or intern, (iv) not
treated by an Employer at the time of the performance of services as an employee for federal tax
purposes, regardless of any subsequent reclassification by an Employer, any governmental agency or
account, or (v) treated as a leased employee by an Employer. A leased employee means any person who
is not an employee of the recipient of the services performed and who provides services to the recipient if
(i) such services are provided pursuant to an agreement between the recipient and any other person, (ii)
such person has performed such services for the recipient (or for the recipient and related persons) on a
substantially full-time basis for a period of at least one year, and (iii) such services are performed under
primary direction or control by the recipient.
(m)

“Employee” means any individual employed by an Employer.

(n)
“Employer” shall include the Company and any other incorporated or unincorporated
trade or business which may subsequently adopt this Plan with the consent of the Board of Directors of
the Company.
(o)
“Employer Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan by
the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to (i) any amounts credited to
his or her Employer Account under the Superseded Plan as in effect on December 31, 2001, and (ii) any
Matching Contributions made to the Plan for the Participant on or after January 1, 2002.
(p)

“Employment Date” means the date an Employee first performs an Hour of Service.

(q)

“Highly Compensated Employee” means for a Plan Year:
3

(i)
any Employee who during such Plan Year or during the preceding Plan Year
was at any time a 5% owner (as defined in Code Section 416(i)(1)) of an Employer or Affiliated
Company; or
(ii)
any Employee who during the preceding Plan Year received Compensation
greater than $80,000 (as adjusted to take into account any cost-of-living increases authorized
pursuant to Code Section 414(q)(1)) and who is in the group consisting of the top 20% (when
ranked on the basis of Compensation received during such preceding year) of all Employees,
except those excluded pursuant to Code Section 414(q)(5).
Solely for purposes of this definition, (A) an employee of an Affiliated Company shall be deemed to be
an Employee, (B) compensation received from an Affiliated Company shall be deemed to be
Compensation, and (C) a nonresident alien who receives no earned income from an Employer or
Affiliated Company which constitutes income from sources within the United States shall not be
considered an Employee.
(r)
“Hour of Service” means an hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly
compensated or entitled to compensation (including back pay, regardless of mitigation of damages) by an
Employer for the performance of duties for an Employer or for reasons (such as vacation, sickness or
disability) other than the performance of duties for an Employer. An Employee will be credited with eight
Hours of Service per day for any customary work period during which such Employee is on leave of
absence authorized by his or her Employer. Leaves of absence shall be granted by an Employer to its
Employees on a uniform, nondiscriminatory basis. In no event shall more than 501 Hours of Service be
credited on account of any single continuous period during which the individual performs no duties. An
Employee’s Hours of Service shall be credited to the appropriate Plan Years or eligibility computation
period determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 2530.200b-2(b) and (c) of the Department
of Labor Regulations, which are incorporated herein by this reference. In determining Hours of Service
for the purposes of this Plan, periods of employment by an Affiliated Company and services performed as
a leased employee (within the meaning of Code Section 414(n)) of an Employer or Affiliated Company
shall be deemed to be periods of employment by an Employer.
(s)
“Investment Fund” means any fund authorized for the investment of Trust assets pursuant
to Section 4.2.
(t)
“Matching Contribution” means a contribution made by an Employer to the Plan for a
Participant pursuant to Section 3.2.
(u)
“Matching Plan Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan
by the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to matching contributions
made for such Participant pursuant to the provisions of the Matching Plan as in effect on December 31,
2001.

4

(v)
“Matching Plan” means the Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. Matching Plan, as in
effect from time to time prior to January 1, 2002.
(w)
“Mesa After-Tax Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan
by the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to his or her accrued
benefit derived from after-tax contributions to the Mesa Profit-Sharing Plan as in effect on September 30,
1997.
(x)
“Mesa Premium Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan
by the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to Employer contributions
made for such Participant pursuant to the provisions of the Mesa Premium Plan as in effect on September
30, 1997.
(y)
“Mesa Premium Plan” means the Mesa Employees Premium Plan and Trust Agreement
as in effect from time to time prior to October 1, 1997.
(z)
“Mesa Profit-Sharing Account” means the account established and maintained under this
Plan by the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to his or her accrued
benefit derived from employer contributions to the Mesa Profit-Sharing Plan as in effect on September
30, 1997.
(aa) “Mesa Profit-Sharing Plan” means the Mesa Profit-Sharing Plan and Trust Agreement as
in effect from time to time prior to October 1, 1997.
(bb) “Non-Highly Compensated Employee” means for a Plan Year any Employee who is not
a Highly Compensated Employee for such Plan Year.
(cc) The “Normal Retirement Date” of a Participant means the day such Participant attains the
age of 65 years.
(dd) “One Year Break in Service” means a 12-consecutive-month Period of Severance during
which an Employee fails to complete a single Hour of Service.
(ee)
“Participant” means any individual who was a participant in either the Superseded Plan
or the Matching Plan or who has elected to participate in this Plan pursuant to Section 2.2, and whose
Vested Interest under this Plan has not been fully distributed.
(ff)
“Period of Service” means, for purposes of determining a Participant’s Vested Interest in
his or her Employer Account, the sum, rounded downward to the nearest whole year, of each period of
time commencing with an Employee’s Employment Date or Reemployment Date and ending on the first
date thereafter a Period of Severance begins (except as provided in subsection (gg) of this Section in the
case of an Employee’s maternity or paternity leave of absence). Included in such sum to be credited to an
Employee shall be each period of time during which the Employee is on an authorized leave of absence
for reasons of vacation, sickness, layoff or another occasion designated and applied by an Employer or
Affiliated Company on a nondiscriminatory basis, but in no event exceeding one year in length. A Period
of Service also includes any Period of
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Severance of less than 12 consecutive months. If an Employee who has no vested right to any amount
credited to his or her Account incurs a One Year Break in Service, such Employee shall forfeit his or her
prior Period of Service unless he or she completes an additional one-year Period of Service before the
number of his or her consecutive One Year Breaks in Service equals five. Solely for the purpose of
determining the Period of Service completed by a Covered Employee who was in the employ of Colorado
Interstate Gas Company on May 1, 2001, periods of employment by Colorado Interstate Gas Company or
a subsidiary thereof prior to May 1, 2001, shall be considered to be periods of employment by an
Employer. Solely for the purpose of determining the Period of Service completed by a Covered Employee
who was in the employ of Evergreen Resources, Inc. (or a subsidiary thereof) on September 27, 2004, and
who becomes an employee of an Employer on September 28, 2004 and a Participant in this Plan on
October 1, 2004, service with Evergreen Resources, Inc. or a subsidiary thereof (or a predecessor of any
such entity) prior to September 28, 2004, that is taken into account for purposes of determining such
Employee’s service for vesting purposes under the Evergreen Resources, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan
shall be considered to be service with an Employer.
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, if a Participant participated in the
Superseded Plan prior to October 1, 1997, the Period of Service completed by such Participant prior to
January 1, 1998, shall be (i) such Participant’s years of Vesting Service determined under the Retirement
Savings Plan for Employees of Parker & Parsley as of June 27, 1996, (ii) plus one year for the Plan Year
ending December 31, 1996, if during such Plan Year such Participant completed a Year of Service under
the Retirement Savings Plan for Employees of Parker & Parsley as in effect at the end of such year, (iii)
plus one year for the Plan Year ending December 31, 1997, if such Participant either (A) completed a year
of Vesting Service as of September 30, 1997, under the Superseded Plan as in effect on such date or (B)
completed a one-year Period of Service under the foregoing provisions of this definition during the entire
such Plan Year. For purposes of clause (ii) of the preceding sentence, a Participant shall be credited with a
number of Hours of Service applying the monthly equivalency method set forth in Labor Reg. §
2530.200b-3(e)(1)(iv) to any fractional part of a year credited to such Participant as of June 28, 1996.
(gg)
“Period of Severance” means a period of time commencing with the date an Employee
ceases to be employed by an Employer or Affiliated Company for reasons of Retirement, Permanent
Disability, death, being discharged, or voluntarily ceasing employment, or with the first anniversary of the
date of his or her absence for any other reason, and ending with the date such Employee resumes
employment with an Employer or Affiliated Company; provided, however, that solely for purposes of
determining whether an Employee incurs a One Year Break in Service, the Period of Severance of an
Employee who is absent from work due to the pregnancy of the Employee, the birth of a child of the
Employee, the placement of a child with the Employee in connection with the adoption of such child by
such Employee, or caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such birth or
placement shall not commence until the second anniversary of the first date of such absence and the
period between the first and second
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anniversaries of the first date of such absence shall be considered neither a Period of Service nor a Period
of Severance.
(hh)
“Permanent Disability” means a Participant’s disability that qualifies the Participant for
long-term disability benefits under a plan providing such benefits sponsored by an Employer or, if a
Participant is not eligible for benefits under such a plan, a disability that, as determined by the Social
Security Administration, entitles the Participant to Social Security disability benefits.
(ii)
“Pioneer Stock” means the common stock of Pioneer Natural Resources Company, a
Delaware corporation, and any successor thereto.
(jj)
“Plan” means this Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. 401(k) and Matching Plan
(Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2008), as in effect from time to time.
(kk)

“Plan Year” means the calendar year.

(ll)
“Pre-Tax Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan by the
Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to (i) Pre-Tax Contributions and
Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions made by an Employer on behalf of such Participant, other than Pre-Tax
Contributions and Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions that are treated by an Employer as designated Roth
contributions (within the meaning of Code Section 402A(c)) pursuant to Section 3.1, and (ii) any amounts
credited to his or her Employee Pre-Tax Contribution Account under the Superseded Plan as in effect on
September 30, 1997.
(mm) “Pre-Tax Bonus Contribution” means a contribution made by an Employer to this Plan
on behalf of a Participant pursuant to Section 3.1(b).
(nn) “Pre-Tax Contribution” means a contribution made by an Employer to this Plan on behalf
of a Participant pursuant to Section 3.1(a).
(oo) “Prior Plan Employer Account” means the account established and maintained under this
Plan by the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to any amounts
credited to his or her BOUSA Employer Matching Contribution Account under the Retirement Savings
Plan for Employees of Parker & Parsley as in effect on June 27, 1996.
(pp)
“Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account” means the account established and maintained under this
Plan by the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to any amounts
credited to his or her Plan A Salary Deferral Contribution Account or his or her BOUSA Plan Salary
Deferral Contribution Account under the Retirement Savings Plan for Employees of Parker & Parsley as
in effect on June 27, 1996.
(qq) “Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity” means an annuity which is payable for the life of
the Participant with a survivor annuity payable for the life of his or
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her spouse equal to 50% of the amount of the annuity payable during the life of the Participant; provided,
however, that in the case of a Participant who is not married, a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity
means an annuity which is payable for the life of the Participant. “Alternate Qualified Joint and Survivor
Annuity” means an annuity which is payable for the life of the Participant with a survivor annuity payable
for the life of his or her spouse equal to 75% or 100% of the amount of the annuity payable during the life
of the Participant.
(rr)
“Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity” means an annuity which is payable for the
life of the Participant’s surviving spouse.
(ss)
“Reemployment Date” means the date an Employee first performs an Hour of Service
following a Period of Severance.
(tt)
“Retirement” means the termination of a Participant’s employment with an Employer or
Affiliated Company on or after his or her Normal Retirement Date for any reason other than death or
transfer to the employment of another Employer or Affiliated Company.
(uu) “Rollover Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan by the
Committee to record a Participant's interest under this Plan attributable to (i) Rollover Contributions
made by such Participant to this Plan pursuant to Section 3.9, (ii) any amounts credited to his or her
Rollover Contribution Account under the Superseded Plan as in effect on September 30, 1997, and (iii)
any amounts credited to his or her Rollover Account under the Mesa Profit-Sharing Plan as in effect on
September 30, 1997.
(vv)

“Rollover Contribution” means a contribution made to this Plan pursuant to Section 3.9.

(ww) “Rollover Property” means property the value of which would be excluded from the
gross income of the transferor under Code Sections 402(c), 403(a)(4) or 408(d)(3) if transferred to the
Plan.
(xx)
“Roth Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan by the
Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to Roth Contributions.
(yy)
“Roth Catch-Up Contribution Account” means the account established and maintained
under this Plan by the Committee to record a Participant’s interest under this Plan attributable to CatchUp Contributions designated as Roth contributions (within the meaning of Section 402A(c) of the Code)
pursuant to Section 3.3.
(zz) “Roth Contribution” means a Pre-Tax Contribution or Pre-Tax Bonus Contribution made
by an Employer to this Plan on behalf of a Participant and designated by the Participant as a Roth
contribution (within the meaning of Section 402A(c) of the Code) pursuant to Section 3.1(e).
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(aaa) “Roth Rollover Account” means the account established and maintained under this Plan
by the Committee to record an individual’s interest under this Plan attributable to Roth Rollover Property
transferred by such individual to this Plan.
(bbb)
“Roth Rollover Property” means cash the amount of which would be a rollover
contribution described in Section 402A(c)(3) of the Code if transferred to the Plan.
(ccc) “Superseded Plan” means the Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. 401(k) Plan, as in
effect from time to time prior to January 1, 2002. Prior to August 7, 1997, the Superseded Plan was
known as the Retirement Savings Plan for Employees of Parker & Parsley.
(ddd) “Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions” means the sum of the Pre-Tax Contributions, PreTax Bonus Contributions, and Roth Contributions made on behalf of a Participant.
(eee) “Trust” means the trust fund established pursuant to Section 4.1.
(fff)
“Trustee” means the individual or corporate trustee or trustees from time to time
appointed and acting as trustee or trustees of the Trust established pursuant to the Plan.
(ggg)

Valuation Date” means each business day.

(hhh) The “Vested Interest” of a Participant means the then vested portion of the amount
credited to the Accounts of such Participant at the particular point in time in question.
(iii) “Year of Eligibility Service” means the period of 12 consecutive months commencing on
an Employee’s Employment Date, or any Plan Year commencing after his or her Employment Date,
during which the Employee completes at least 1,000 Hours of Service.
Section 1.2
Construction. The titles to the Articles and the headings of the Sections in this Plan are
placed herein for convenience of reference only and in case of any conflict the text of this instrument, rather than
such titles or headings, shall control. Whenever a noun or pronoun is used in this Plan in plural form and there be
only one person or entity within the scope of the word so used, or in singular form and there be more than one
person or entity within the scope of the word so used, such noun or pronoun shall have a plural or singular
meaning as appropriate under the circumstance.
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ARTICLE II
ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION
Section 2.1
Eligibility. Each participant in the Plan on December 31, 2007, shall continue as a
Participant in this Plan as of January 1, 2008. Each other Covered Employee shall be eligible to become a
Participant in the Plan as follows:
(a)
For a Covered Employee classified by his or her Employer as employed on a temporary
or seasonal basis, he or she may become a Participant in the Plan as of the earlier of (i) the first day of the
Plan Year immediately following his or her completion of a Year of Eligibility Service or (ii) the date six
months after the date the Covered Employee completed a Year of Eligibility Service unless he or she
experiences a separation from service with his or her Employer before the date referred to in (i) or (ii).
(b)
Any other Covered Employee may become a Participant in the Plan as of the first payroll
date following his or her Employment Date.
If a Participant ceases to be a Covered Employee, such Participant shall remain a Participant under this Plan but no
contributions shall be made to the Plan on his or her behalf while he or she is not a Covered Employee.
Section 2.2
Participation. Each Covered Employee who is eligible to participate in the Plan may
elect, in the manner prescribed by the Committee, to participate in this Plan as soon as administratively practicable
but no later than 31 days following the completion and submission of such election. Any Participant who ceases to
be a Covered Employee shall thereupon cease to be eligible to participate in the Plan; provided, however, that if
any such Participant is thereafter reemployed as a Covered Employee, he or she shall be eligible to elect to resume
participating in the Plan as of the date of such reemployment.
ARTICLE III
CONTRIBUTIONS, LIMITATIONS AND FORFEITURES
Section 3.1

Pre-Tax and Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions.

(a)
Each Participant may elect to have his or her Employer make a Pre-Tax Contribution to
the Plan on his or her behalf for each pay period in an amount up to 80% of his or her Basic
Compensation for that pay period, subject to any other deductions from the Participant’s Basic
Compensation that are required by law or authorized by the Participant pursuant to a compensation
reduction agreement. All such contributions shall be made by uniform payroll deductions pursuant to a
compensation reduction agreement which authorizes the Employer to pay such contributions to the
Trustee on behalf of the Participant.
(b)
In addition, each Participant may elect to have his or her Employer make a Pre-Tax
Bonus Contribution to the Plan on his or her behalf in an amount up to 80% of the bonus payable to such
Participant under the Employer’s annual bonus program.
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(c)
The Committee shall establish and maintain for each Participant a Pre-Tax Account. All
amounts attributable to Pre-Tax Contributions and Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions made by an Employer on
behalf of such Participant pursuant to this Section 3.1 (other than those contributions designated as Roth
Contributions) shall be credited to such Participant’s Pre-Tax Account.
(d)
A Participant may change the applicable percentage of such payroll (or bonus)
deductions or suspend his or her election to have Pre-Tax Contributions and/or Pre-Tax Bonus
Contributions made to the Plan at any time. Any such change or suspension will be effective as soon as
administratively practicable but no later than 31 days following the submission of such change or
submission.
(e)
A Participant may irrevocably elect in such manner as the Committee may require to
have his or her Employer designate all or any portion of a Pre-Tax Contribution or Pre-Tax Bonus
Contribution as a designated Roth Contribution. A Participant may change the applicable amount or
percentage or suspend such election at any time. Any such change or suspension will be effective as soon
as administratively practicable but no later than 31 days following the submission of such change or
suspension. Any amount designated as a Roth Contribution shall be treated by the Participant’s Employer
as not excludable from the Participant’s gross income.
(f)
The Committee shall establish and maintain for each Participant a Roth Account. All
amounts attributable to Pre-Tax Contributions or Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions made by an Employer on
behalf of such Participant and designated as Roth Contributions pursuant to Section 3.1(e) shall be
credited to such Participant’s Roth Account.
(g)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amount of Total TaxAdvantaged Contributions made to the Plan by an Employer on behalf of a Participant for a calendar year
when added to the amount of any other elective deferrals within the meaning of Code Section 402(g)(3)
made with respect to such Participant pursuant to any other plan, contract or arrangement of an Employer
or Affiliated Company for such calendar year shall not exceed the dollar limitation contained in Code
Section 402(g) in effect for such calendar year, except to the extent permitted under Section 3.3 of the
Plan and Code Section 414(v), if applicable. In the event the limitation of this subsection (g) is exceeded
with respect to a Participant for a Plan Year, then if such Participant notifies the Committee of the amount
of Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions that exceeded such limitation within such reasonable period of
time prior to the first April 15 following such year as the Committee may prescribe in its absolute
discretion, the Participant may elect, in accordance with procedures established by the Committee, to
have an amount of Pre-Tax Contributions, Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions, and/or Roth Contributions equal
to the excess Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions (along with any income allocable thereto) distributed
to such Participant no later than such April 15. A Participant will be deemed to have so notified the
Committee of excess elective deferrals for a calendar year if, and only to the extent, such excess arises on
account of Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions made to this Plan and elective deferrals made to other
plans maintained by an Employer or Affiliated Company for such calendar
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year. Any such excess deferrals distributed to a Participant shall be distributed pursuant to the
Participant’s election; provided, however, that if no such election is made, such excess deferrals shall be
distributed first from any Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions and then, to the extent necessary, from Pre-Tax
Bonus Contributions that are designated as Roth Contributions and then, to the extent necessary, from
Pre-Tax Contributions and then from Pre-Tax Contributions that are designated as Roth
Contributions.The income allocable to any excess Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions for a Participant
for a taxable year shall be the sum of (i) the income allocable to any excess contributions distributed from
his or her Pre-Tax Account, and (ii) the income allocable to any excess contributions distributed from his
or her Roth Account, where the income allocable to such contributions distributed from either Account
for this purpose shall be determined by multiplying the amount of income allocable to such Participant’s
Pre-Tax Account or Roth Account for such year by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of
excess Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions for such year and the denominator of which is the sum of the
amount credited to such Participant’s Pre-Tax Account or Roth Account as of the beginning of such year
plus the amount of such Participant’s Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions for such year. For Plan Years
prior to January 1, 2008, where income allocable to the gap period following the Plan Year but before the
date of distribution must be included in determining the income allocable to excess contributions, the
income allocable to excess Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions for the gap period following the calendar
year will be determined on a date that is no more than 7 days before the distribution. For Plan Years
beginning on or after January 1, 2008, income allocable to the gap period will not be distributed. If any
portion of a Pre-Tax Contribution, Pre-Tax Bonus Contribution, or Roth Contribution is distributed
pursuant to this subsection, any portion of a Matching Contribution (along with any income allocable
thereto) made to this Plan for such Participant that matches the distributed Pre-Tax Contribution, Pre-Tax
Bonus Contribution, or Roth Contribution shall be forfeited.
(h)
An Employer may amend or revoke any Participant’s compensation reduction agreement
at any time during a Plan Year if such amendment or revocation is deemed by such Employer to be
necessary or appropriate to ensure that all applicable limitations, including those set forth in Sections
3.1(g), 3.7 and 10.3 are met for such year.
Section 3.2

Matching Contributions.

(a)
For each pay period an Employer shall make to the Plan for each Participant in its
employ a Matching Contribution equal to 200% of the Pre-Tax Contributions and Pre-Tax Contributions
designated as Roth Contributions made by the Employer on such Participant’s behalf during such pay
period which are not in excess of 5% of such Participant’s Basic Compensation for such pay period.
(b)
As of the end of each Plan Year, an Employer shall make to the Plan for each Participant
in its employ on the last day of such Plan Year an additional Matching Contribution equal to A minus B,
where A is equal to 200% multiplied by the lesser of (i) the Participant’s Total Tax-Advantaged
Contributions for the Plan Year or (ii) 5% of the Participant’s Basic Compensation for the Plan Year, and
B is equal to the total amount of
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Matching Contributions made for the Participant for the Plan Year pursuant to Section 3.2(a); provided,
however, that a Participant shall not receive an allocation of an additional Matching Contribution if the
amount of such contribution is less than $1.
(c)
The Committee shall establish and maintain an Employer Account for each Participant.
All Matching Contributions made for a Participant pursuant to this Section shall be credited to such
Participant’s Employer Account.
Section 3.3
Catch-Up Contributions. All Employees who are eligible to elect to make Pre-Tax
Contributions to this Plan and who have attained age 50 before the close of the Plan Year shall be eligible to make
Catch-Up Contributions pursuant to a compensation reduction agreement and in accordance with, and subject to
the limitations of, Code Section 414(v) and the regulations thereunder. Such Catch-Up Contributions shall not be
taken into account for purposes of the provisions of the Plan implementing the required limitations of Code
Sections 402(g) and 415. The Plan shall not be treated as failing to satisfy the provisions of the Plan implementing
the requirements of Code Sections 401(k)(3), 401(k)(11), 401(k)(12), 410(b), or 416, as applicable, by reason of
the making of such Catch-Up Contributions. The Committee may permit a Covered Employee to elect to have his
or her Employer treat any amount or whole percentage of his or her Catch-Up Contributions as Roth contributions.
Catch-Up Contributions made by an Employer on behalf of a Participant pursuant to this Section 3.3 shall be
credited to such Participant’s Catch-Up Contribution Account; provided, however, that Catch-Up Contributions
that are designated as Roth contributions shall be credited to such Participant’s Roth Catch-Up Contribution
Account.
Section 3.4

After-Tax Contributions Section 1.1.

(a)
Each Participant may elect to make an After-Tax Contribution to the Plan for each pay
period in an amount which, when combined with any Pre-Tax Contributions made to the Plan on behalf
of such Participant for that pay period, shall not exceed 80% of the Basic Compensation of such
Participant during such pay period, subject to any other deductions from the Participant’s Basic
Compensation that are required by law or authorized by the Participant pursuant to a compensation
reduction agreement.
(b)
The Committee shall establish and maintain for each Participant an After-Tax Account.
All amounts attributable to After-Tax Contributions made by a Participant pursuant to this Section 3.4
shall be credited to such Participant’s After-Tax Account.
(c)
After-Tax Contributions may be made by uniform payroll deductions which the
Participant authorizes his or her Employer, in the manner prescribed by the Committee, to withhold and
pay over to the Trustee. A Participant may change the applicable percentage of such payroll deductions or
suspend his or her election to have After-Tax Contributions made to the Plan at any time. Any such
change or suspension will be effective as soon as administratively practicable but no later than 31 days
following the submission of such change or suspension.
(d)
At any time and from time to time during a Plan Year, the Company may limit the AfterTax Contributions made by a Participant or suspend the making of
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After-Tax Contributions if the Company, in its absolute discretion, deems such to be necessary or
appropriate to ensure that all applicable limitations, including those set forth in Sections 3.7 and 10.3, are
satisfied for such year.
Section 3.5
Payment for Contributions. Pre-Tax Contributions, Catch-Up Contributions, and AfterTax Contributions made to the Plan by an Employer for or on behalf of Participants for a pay period shall be paid
to the Trustee in cash as soon as practicable after such pay period ends, but no later than the 15th business day after
the end of the month in which such pay period ends. Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions made to the Plan for or on
behalf of Participants shall be paid to the Trustee in cash as soon as practicable after the bonus payment is made,
but no later than the 15th day of the month after the end of the month in which such bonus payment is made.
Matching Contributions made to the Plan for a pay period pursuant to Section 3.2(a) shall be paid to the Trustee as
soon as practicable, but no later than 30 days after the end of the month in which such pay period ends. Matching
Contributions made to the Plan for a Plan Year pursuant to Section 3.2(b) shall be paid to the Trustee no later than
the time prescribed by law, including extensions thereof, for the filing of such Employer’s federal income tax
return for such year.
Section 3.6
Return of Employer Contributions. Contributions made to this Plan are conditioned upon
being currently deductible under Code Section 404. Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding,
upon an Employer’s request, any such contribution or portion thereof made to this Plan by such Employer which
(i) was made under a mistake of fact which is subsequently discovered, or (ii) is disallowed as a deduction under
Code Section 404, shall be returned to such Employer to the extent not previously distributed to Participants or
their beneficiaries; provided, however, that the amounts returnable to an Employer pursuant to this Section shall be
reduced by any Trust losses allocable thereto and shall be returned to such Employer only if such return is made
within one year after the mistaken payment of the contribution or the date of the disallowance of the deduction, as
the case may be. Except as provided in this Section, no contribution made by an Employer pursuant to this Plan
shall ever revert to or be recoverable by any Employer.
Section 3.7

Nondiscrimination Testing.

(a)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, if for any Plan Year the actual
deferral percentage for the group of Highly Compensated Employees eligible to elect to have Pre-Tax
Contributions, Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions, or Roth Contributions made during such Plan Year fails to
satisfy one of the following tests:
(i)
the actual deferral percentage for said group of Highly Compensated
Employees is not more than 1.25 times the actual deferral percentage for the preceding Plan
Year for all Non-Highly Compensated Employees eligible during the preceding Plan Year to
elect to have Pre-Tax Contributions, Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions, or Roth Contributions made
on their behalf, or
(ii)
the excess of the actual deferral percentage for said group of Highly
Compensated Employees over the actual deferral percentage for the preceding Plan Year for all
Non-Highly Compensated Employees eligible during
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the preceding Plan Year to elect to have Pre-Tax Contributions, Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions, or
Roth Contributions made on their behalf is not more than two percentage points, and the actual
deferral percentage for said group of Highly Compensated Employees is not more than two
times the actual deferral percentage for the preceding year for all Non-Highly Compensated
Employees eligible during the preceding Plan Year to elect to have Pre-Tax Contributions, PreTax Bonus Contributions, or Roth Contributions made on their behalf,
then the actual deferral percentage of Participants who are members of said group of Highly
Compensated Employees shall be reduced by reducing the actual deferral percentages of the Highly
Compensated Employees with the largest individual actual deferral percentages to the largest uniform
actual deferral percentage (commencing with the Highly Compensated Employee with the largest actual
deferral percentage and reducing his or her actual deferral percentage to the extent necessary to satisfy
one of the above tests or to lower such actual deferral percentage to the actual deferral percentage of the
Highly Compensated Employee with the next largest actual deferral percentage, and repeating this
process as necessary) that permits the actual deferral percentage for said group of Highly Compensated
Employees to satisfy one of said tests. For purposes of this subsection (a), the term “actual deferral
percentage” for a specified group of Employees for a Plan Year means the average of the ratios
(calculated separately for each Employee in such group and after any distributions to Highly
Compensated Employees required to satisfy the limitation imposed by Code Section 402(g)) of (i) the
aggregate amount of Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions made on behalf of each such Employee for that
year, to (ii) the amount of such Employee’s Compensation for that year or, in the Committee’s discretion,
only for such portion of that year during which the Employee was eligible to participate in the Plan. If
two or more plans that include cash or deferred arrangements are considered as one plan for purposes of
Code Sections 401(a)(4) or 410(b) (other than for purposes of the average benefit percentage test), the
cash or deferred arrangements included in such plans shall be treated as one arrangement for purposes of
this subsection (a). If a Highly Compensated Employee is a participant in two or more cash or deferred
arrangements maintained by an Employer or Affiliated Company, then for purposes of this Section, all
such cash or deferred arrangements (other than those that may not be permissively aggregated) shall be
treated as one cash or deferred arrangement in accordance with applicable regulations.
(b)
The aggregate amount of any Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions which may not be
credited to Pre-Tax Accounts and Roth Accounts for a Plan Year because of the limitation contained in
subsection (a) of this Section, calculated by adding together the dollar amount of excess contributions
determined in subsection (a) of this Section for each affected Highly Compensated Employee, shall be
distributed to Highly Compensated Employees (along with any income allocable to such excess
contributions for the Plan Year) no later than the last day of the Plan Year immediately following such
year (and, if practicable, within 2½ months after the end of such year).The amount of Total TaxAdvantaged Contributions to be distributed to a particular Highly Compensated Employee shall be
determined on the basis of the amount of Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions made for each Highly
Compensated Employee commencing with the Highly Compensated Employee with the largest amount of
Total Tax-
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Advantaged Contributions for such Plan Year and reducing his or her Total Tax-Advantaged
Contributions to the extent necessary to lower such amount to the amount of Total Tax-Advantaged
Contributions of the Highly Compensated Employee with the next largest amount of Total TaxAdvantaged Contributions, and repeating this process as necessary to distribute such aggregate amount;
provided, however, that the amount of Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions to be distributed shall first be
reduced by any excess deferrals to be distributed pursuant to Code Section 402(g). A Participant may
elect, in accordance with procedures established by the Committee, an amount of Pre-Tax Contributions,
Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions, and/or Roth Contributions equal to the excess contributions which shall be
distributed to such Participant (along with any income allocable thereto); provided, however, that if a
Participant does not make such an election, any such excess contribution shall be distributed first from
any Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions and then, to the extent necessary, from any Pre-Tax Bonus
Contributions designated as Roth Contributions and then, to the extent necessary, from any Pre-Tax
Contributions and then, to the extent necessary, from any Pre-Tax Contributions designated as Roth
Contributions. The income allocable to any such excess contributions for a Participant for a Plan Year
shall equal the sum of (i) the income allocable to any excess contributions distributed from his or her PreTax Account, and (ii) the income allocable to any excess contributions from his or her Roth Account,
where the income allocable to excess contributions distributed from either such Account for this purpose
shall be determined by multiplying the amount of income allocable to such Participant’s Pre-Tax Account
or Roth Account, whichever is applicable, for such year by a fraction, the numerator of which is the
amount of the excess contributions for such year and the denominator of which is the sum of the amount
credited to such Participant’s Pre-Tax Account or Roth Account as of the beginning of such year plus the
amount of such Participant’s Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions for such year. For Plan Years prior to
January 1, 2008, where income allocable to the gap period following the Plan Year but before the date of
distribution must be included in determining the income allocable to excess contributions, the income
allocable to excess Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions for the gap period following the calendar year
will be determined on a date that is no more than 7 days before the distribution. For Plan Years beginning
on or after January 1, 2008, income allocable to the gap period will not be distributed. Any provision of
this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions otherwise distributable
pursuant to this subsection (b) to a Participant who is eligible to make Catch-Up Contributions to the Plan
may, to the extent permitted by Code Section 414(v) and the regulations thereunder, be treated by the
Committee as a Catch-Up Contribution. If any portion of a Pre-Tax Contribution, Pre-Tax Bonus
Contribution, or Roth Contribution made by an Employer on behalf of a Participant is distributed to such
Participant or is treated as a Catch-Up Contribution pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this
subsection (b), any portion of a Matching Contribution (along with any income allocable thereto) made
for such Participant that matches the distributed Pre-Tax Contribution, Pre-Tax Bonus Contribution, or
recharacterized Catch-Up Contribution shall be forfeited.
(c)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, if for any Plan Year the
contribution percentage for the group of Highly Compensated Employees
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eligible to receive an allocation of Matching Contributions or to make After-Tax Contributions to the Plan
for such Plan Year fails to satisfy one of the following tests:
(i)
the contribution percentage for said group of Highly Compensated Employees
is not more than 1.25 times the contribution percentage for the preceding Plan Year for all NonHighly Compensated Employees eligible for the preceding Plan Year to receive an allocation of
Matching Contributions or make After-Tax Contributions, or
(ii)
the excess of the contribution percentage for said group of Highly Compensated
Employees over the contribution percentage for the preceding Plan Year for all Non-Highly
Compensated Employees eligible for the preceding Plan Year to receive an allocation of
Matching Contributions or make After-Tax Contributions is not more than two percentage
points, and the contribution percentage for said group of Highly Compensated Employees is not
more than two times the contribution percentage for the preceding Plan Year for all Non-Highly
Compensated Employees eligible for the preceding Plan Year to receive an allocation of
Matching Contributions or make After-Tax Contributions,
then the contribution percentage of Participants who are members of said group of Highly Compensated
Employees shall be reduced by reducing the contribution percentages of the Highly Compensated
Employees with the largest individual contribution percentages to the largest uniform contribution
percentage (commencing with the Highly Compensated Employee with the largest contribution
percentage and reducing his or her contribution percentage to the extent necessary to satisfy one of the
above tests or to lower such contribution percentage to the contribution percentage of the Highly
Compensated Employee with the next largest contribution percentage, and repeating this process as
necessary) that permits the contribution percentage for said group of Highly Compensated Employees to
satisfy one of said tests. For purposes of this subsection (c), the term “contribution percentage” for a
specified group of Employees for a Plan Year means the average of the ratios (calculated separately for
each Employee in such group and after application of the reduction provisions of subsection (a) and the
forfeiture provisions of subsection (b) of this Section) of (i) the aggregate amount of After-Tax
Contributions and Matching Contributions made by or for such Employee (and, at the election of the
Committee, the Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions made on behalf of such Employee) for that year, to
(ii) the amount of such Employee’s Compensation for that year or, in the Committee’s discretion, only for
such portion of that year during which the Employee was eligible to participate in the Plan. If two or
more plans to which matching contributions or employee after-tax contributions are made are considered
as one plan for purposes of Code Section 410(b) (other than for purposes of the average benefit
percentage test), such plans shall be treated as one plan for purposes of determining the contribution
percentages for this subsection (c). If a Highly Compensated Employee is a participant in two or more
plans maintained by an Employer or Affiliated Company to which matching contributions or employee
after-tax contributions are made, then for purposes of this Section, all such plans (other than those that
may not be permissively aggregated) shall be treated as one plan in accordance with applicable
regulations.
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(d)
The aggregate amount of any Matching Contributions and After-Tax Contributions which
may not be credited to Participant’s Accounts for a Plan Year because of the limitation contained in
subsection (c) of this Section, calculated by adding together the dollar amount of excess aggregate
contributions determined in subsection (c) of this Section for each affected Highly Compensated
Employee, shall be forfeited if forfeitable, but if not forfeitable, distributed to such Highly Compensated
Employees (along with any income allocable to such excess aggregate contributions) no later than the last
day of the Plan Year immediately following such year (and, if practicable, within 2½ months after the end
of such year). The amount to be distributed to a particular Highly Compensated Employee shall be
determined on the basis of the amount of Matching Contributions and After-Tax Contributions made by
or for each such Highly Compensated Employee commencing with the Highly Compensated Employee
with the largest amount of Matching Contributions and After-Tax Contributions for such Plan Year and
reducing first his or her After-Tax Contributions and then, if necessary, Matching Contributions to the
extent necessary to lower such total amount to the amount of Matching Contributions and After-Tax
Contributions of the Highly Compensated Employee with the next largest amount of Matching
Contributions and After-Tax Contributions, and repeating this process as necessary to distribute such
aggregate amount. The income allocable to any such excess aggregate contributions for a Participant for a
Plan Year shall be determined by multiplying the amount of income allocable to such Participant’s
Employer Account or After-Tax Account, whichever is applicable, for such year by a fraction, the
numerator of which is the amount of the excess aggregate contributions for such year and the
denominator of which is the sum of the amount credited to such Participant’s Employer Account or AfterTax Account, whichever is applicable, as of the beginning of such year plus the amount of Matching
Contributions or After-Tax Contributions, as applicable, made for such Participant for such year. For Plan
Years prior to January 1, 2008, where income allocable to the gap period following the Plan Year but
before the date of distribution must be included in determining the income allocable to excess aggregate
contributions, the income allocable to excess aggregate contributions for the gap period following the
calendar year will be determined on a date that is no more than 7 days before the distribution. For Plan
Years beginning on or after January 1, 2008, income allocable to the gap period will not be distributed.
(e)
Any provision of this Section to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company in its
discretion may cause the provisions of subsections (a) and (c) of this Section to be satisfied without use of
the corrective provisions set forth in subsections (b) and (d) of this Section by requiring each Employer to
make a qualified non-elective contribution and/or a qualified matching contribution to the Plan to be
allocated to the Pre-Tax Accounts (with respect to a contribution intended to be taken into account for
purposes of determining the actual deferral percentage pursuant to subsection (a)) or the Employer
Accounts (with respect to a contribution intended to be taken into account for purposes of determining the
contribution percentage pursuant to subsection (c)) of those Participants who were Non-Highly
Compensated Employees in the employ of (or on authorized leave of absence from) an Employer on the
last day of such Plan Year. A qualified non-elective contribution shall be allocated to the eligible
Participants in the proportion that the Basic Compensation of each such eligible Participant while both a
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Participant and a Covered Employee during that year bears to the Basic Compensation of all such eligible
Participants while both Participants and Covered Employees during that year. A qualified matching
contribution shall be allocated to the eligible Participants in the proportion that the Pre-Tax Contributions
made with respect to each such eligible Participant for such Plan Year bears to the Pre-Tax Contributions
made with respect to all such eligible Participants for such Plan Year. Any qualified non-elective
contribution or qualified matching contribution will be made within the limits specified in applicable
regulations.
(f)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the determination of the
actual deferral percentage and the contribution percentage required by this Section for Non-Highly
Compensated Employees for the preceding Plan Year shall be made in accordance with Code Sections
401(k) and 401(m) and any regulations or other authorities issued thereunder.
Section 3.8
Application of Forfeitures. As soon as practicable after the valuation of all Accounts at
the end of each Plan Year, all amounts forfeited during that Plan Year shall first be applied to restore any forfeited
Accounts required to be restored pursuant to Sections 6.5 and 6.8, and any forfeitures in excess of the amount
needed to restore any such Account may be applied to pay administrative expenses in accordance with Section 7.4.
Any remaining forfeitures for such Plan Year, if any, shall be used to reduce the amount of the earliest subsequent
Matching Contributions an Employer otherwise would be required to make to the Plan.
Section 3.9
Rollover Contributions. With the consent of and subject to such reasonable limitations as
may be imposed by the Committee or its delegate, a Covered Employee may make a Rollover Contribution to the
Plan as follows:
(a)
a direct rollover of an eligible rollover distribution, including a distribution consisting of
Roth Rollover Property, from: (i) a qualified plan described in Code Section 401(a) or 403(a), including
after tax employee contributions, (ii) an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b), excluding
after tax employee contributions, or (iii) an eligible plan under Code Section 457(b) which is maintained
by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political
subdivision of a state; or
(b)
a contribution by the Covered Employee of an eligible rollover distribution, excluding
any distribution consisting of amounts designated as Roth contributions, from: (i) a qualified plan
described in Code Section 401(a) or 403(a), (ii) an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b), or
(iii) an eligible plan under Code Section 457(b) which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a
state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state; or
(c)
a contribution by the Covered Employee of the portion of a distribution from an
individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or 408(b) that is eligible to be
rolled over, excluding any amounts designated as Roth contributions, and that would otherwise be
includible in gross income of the Covered Employee.
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Amounts attributable to Roth Rollover Property shall be credited to a separate Roth Rollover Account to be
established and maintained for the benefit of the contributing Covered Employee. All other Rollover Contribution
amounts shall be credited to a separate Rollover Account to be established and maintained for the benefit of the
contributing Covered Employee. A Covered Employee who is not a Participant, but for whom a Rollover Account
or Roth Rollover Account is being maintained, shall be accorded all of the rights and privileges of a Participant
under the Plan except that no contributions shall be made to the Plan by or for such Employee until he or she meets
the eligibility and participation requirements of Article II.
ARTICLE IV
TRUST FUND AND VALUATIONS
Section 4.1
Trust and Trustee. All of the contributions paid to the Trustee pursuant to this Plan and
the Superseded Plan, together with the income therefrom and the increments thereof, shall be held in trust by the
Trustee under the terms and provisions of the separate trust agreement between the Trustee and the Company, a
copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference for all purposes, establishing a trust
fund known as the PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES USA, INC. 401(k) AND MATCHING TRUST for the
exclusive benefit of the Participants and their beneficiaries.
Section 4.2
Trust Investment Options. For investment purposes the Trust shall be divided into the
Pioneer Stock Investment Fund, which shall be a common fund invested in Pioneer Stock, and such number and
kind of other separate and distinct Investment Funds as the Committee shall determine in its absolute discretion.
The Trust assets allocated to a particular Investment Fund other than the Pioneer Stock Investment Fund shall be
invested by the Trustee and/or one or more investment managers duly appointed in accordance with the provisions
of the Trust, as the case may be, in such type of property, whether real, personal or mixed, as the Trustee is directed
to acquire and hold for such Investment Fund. Dividends and other amounts received with respect to Pioneer Stock
held in the Pioneer Stock Investment Fund shall be invested in Pioneer Stock. The assets of the Trust allocated to a
particular Investment Fund shall be invested by the Trustee and/or one or more investment managers duly
appointed in accordance with the provisions of the trust agreement establishing the Trust, as the case may be, in
such type of property acceptable to the Trustee as the Trustee is directed to acquire and hold for such Investment
Fund. Upon becoming a Participant in the Plan, each Participant shall direct, in the manner prescribed by the
Committee, that all amounts credited to his or her Accounts under the Plan shall be invested, in percentage
multiples authorized by the Committee, in one or more of the Investment Funds. In the absence of such direction,
the Participant will be deemed to have directed that his or her Accounts under the Plan be invested in life-cycle of
targeted-retirement-date fund or account within the meaning of Department of Labor Regulations Section
2550.404c-5(e)(4)(i). Subject to such conditions and limitations as the Committee in its absolute discretion may
prescribe from time to time for application to all Participants on a uniform basis, a Participant may change his or
her investment direction with respect to future contributions or redirect the investment of the amounts credited to
his or her Accounts each business day to be effective as soon as is administratively practicable.
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Section 4.3
Valuation and Adjustment of Accounts. As of each Valuation Date, the Trustee shall
determine the fair market value of all assets of the Trust with the value of the assets of each Investment Fund being
separately determined. On the basis of such valuations and in accordance with such procedures as may be specified
from time to time by the Committee, the portion of each Account invested in a particular Investment Fund shall be
adjusted by the Committee to reflect its proportionate share of the income collected and accrued, realized and
unrealized profits and losses, expenses and all other transactions attributable to that particular Investment Fund for
the valuation period then ended. The amount of any distribution, withdrawal or forfeiture shall be determined on
the basis of the most recent valuation preceding the date of distribution, withdrawal or forfeiture, as the case may
be.
ARTICLE V
VESTING
Section 5.1
Fully Vested Accounts. The amounts credited to a Participant’s After-Tax Account,
Catch-Up Contribution Account, Mesa After-Tax Account, Mesa Premium Account, Mesa Profit-Sharing Account,
Pre-Tax Account, Prior Plan Employer Account, Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account, Rollover Account, Roth Account,
Roth Catch-Up Contribution and Roth Rollover Account shall be fully vested at all times.
Section 5.2

Vesting of Employer Account.

(a)
The amounts credited to the Employer Account and Matching Plan Account of a
Participant shall become fully vested upon the occurrence of any of the following events while the
Participant is in the employ of (or on authorized leave of absence from) an Employer or Affiliated
Company: (i) the completion of an Hour of Service by the Participant on or after the date he or she attains
age 60, (ii) the Participant’s death, or (iii) the Participant’s Permanent Disability. Unless sooner vested
pursuant to the preceding sentence, and except as provided in subsection (b) of this Section and Section
5.3, the amounts credited to a Participant’s Employer Account and Matching Plan Account shall vest in
accordance with the following schedule:

Period of Service
Completed by Participant

Percentage Vested

Less than 1 year

None

1 year

25%

2 years

50%

3 years

75%

4 or more years

100%

21

(b)
If a Participant makes an in-service withdrawal under Section 6.6 from his or her
Employer Account at a time when the Participant is not fully vested, the Participant’s vested amount in
such account on any date thereafter shall be an amount X determined by the following formula:
X = P(AB + D) - D. For purposes of this formula, P is the Participant’s vested percentage under the Plan’s
vesting schedule on the relevant date, AB is the account balance on the relevant date and D is the amount
of the Participant’s in-service withdrawal.
Section 5.3

Special Vesting Provisions.

(a)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amounts credited to the
Employer Account and/or Matching Plan Account of a Participant who is specifically designated by the
Vice President Administration of the Company as being involuntarily terminated in connection with the
divestiture program and corporate restructuring announced on February 10, 1998, shall become fully
vested and nonforfeitable on the date of such involuntary termination.
(b)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amounts credited to the
Employer Account and/or Matching Plan Account of a Participant who is specifically designated by the
Vice President Administration of the Company as being involuntarily terminated in connection with the
corporate restructuring announced on November 11, 1998, shall become fully vested and nonforfeitable
on the date of such involuntary termination.
(c)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amounts credited to the
Matching Plan Account of a Participant who is specifically designated by the Vice President
Administration of the Company as being involuntarily terminated in connection with the sale by the
Company of the Plum Creek Plant, Leon County, Texas, to a third party shall become fully vested and
nonforfeitable on the date of such involuntary termination.
(d)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amounts credited to the
Matching Plan Account of a Participant who is specifically designated by the Vice President –
Administration and Risk Management of the Company as being involuntarily terminated in connection
with one of the following events shall become fully vested and nonforfeitable on the date of such
involuntary termination:
(i)
the transfer of operations of the Howard Parker/Joe Parsley Joint Venture wells
to a third party;
(ii)

the sale of Iatan Field properties to a third party;

(iii)

the reorganization of Offshore Operations effective September 22, 1999;

(iv)
the restructuring and consolidation of the Domestic Reservoir Engineering
Department effective February 15, 2000; or
(v)

the sale of NationsBank building, Midland, Texas.
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(e)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amounts credited to the
Matching Plan Account of a Participant who is specifically designated by the Vice President Administration and Risk Management of the Company as being involuntarily terminated in connection
with the implementation of the TOW Production System technology, shall become fully vested and
nonforfeitable on the date of such involuntary termination.
(f)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amounts credited to the
Employer Account of a Participant who is specifically designated by the Vice President Administration of
the Company as being involuntarily terminated in connection with the closing on or about June 24, 2005
of the Castlegate office located in Price, Utah shall become fully vested and nonforfeitable on the date of
such involuntary termination.
(g)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amounts credited to the
Employer Account of a Participant who is specifically designated by the Vice President Administration of
the Company as being involuntarily terminated in connection with the sale of all eases, wells and
equipment associated with the Timbalier Bay and Grand Bay Fields in Louisiana shall become fully
vested and nonforfeitable on the date of such involuntary termination.
(h)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the amounts credited to the
Employer Account of a Participant who is specifically designated by the Vice President Administration of
the Company as being involuntarily terminated in connection with the reorganization of the Human
Resources Department establishing a Regional HR Manager position located in Denver, Colorado shall
become fully vested and nonforfeitable on the date of such involuntary termination.
ARTICLE VI
VALUATIONS, DISTRIBUTIONS AND WITHDRAWALS
Section 6.1

Time of Distribution.

(a)
Distribution to a Participant or beneficiary under this Article shall be made or commence
being made no later than 60 days after the close of the Plan Year in which the latest of the following
occurs: (i) the Participant’s Normal Retirement Date, (ii) the tenth anniversary of the year in which the
Participant commenced participation in the Plan, or (iii) the Participant’s separation from the employment
of an Employer for any reason other than his or her transfer to the employment of another Employer or
Affiliated Company.
(b)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, in the case of a Participant
who is a 5% owner (as defined in Code Section 416(i)), distribution to such Participant under the Plan
shall be made or commence being made no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar
year in which the Participant attains age 70½.
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Distributions that commence being made pursuant to the preceding sentence to a Participant who has not
separated from the employment of an Employer or Affiliated Company shall be made pursuant to Section
6.2 as if the Participant had terminated employment at such time and shall be made in accordance with
the minimum distribution requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) and such regulations thereunder as may
be applicable from time to time; provided, however, that if the Participant elects to waive the normal form
of payment in accordance with Section 6.2, the alternative form of distribution shall be the minimum
amounts required to be distributed pursuant to Code Section 401(a)(9) and such regulations thereunder as
may be applicable from time to time, with any amount remaining upon the termination of the Participant’s
employment or the death of the Participant to be paid in accordance with Section 6.2 or Section 6.3,
whichever is applicable. Further, any other Participant who attained age 70½ prior to January 1, 1999,
and who elected to continue to receive distributions prior to such Participant’s termination of employment
shall be entitled receive an annual distribution in accordance with the preceding sentence (or may elect a
larger or smaller amount for such annual distribution) unless and until such Participant revokes such
election. Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no distribution shall be made from
this Plan that would violate Code Section 401(k). For a Participant who is a 5% owner (as defined in
Code Section 416(i)), the “required beginning date” is April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar
year such Participant attains age 70½. For a Participant who is not a 5% owner (as defined in Code
Section 416(i)), the “required beginning date” is April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the
calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70½ or retires.
(c)
Subject to the provision of this Article requiring that distributions and withdrawals be
made in the form of an annuity contract, distributions and withdrawals shall be made in cash, except that
amounts credited to an Account that are invested in the Pioneer Stock Investment Fund may, at the
election of the Participant, be distributed in the form of Pioneer Stock with cash in lieu of fractional
shares.
(d)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, all distributions from this
Plan are intended to satisfy the statutory rules of Code Section 401(a)(9), including the incidental death
benefit requirement in Code Section 401(a)(9)(G), as well as Treasury Regulations Sections 1.401(a)(9)-2
through 1.401(a)(9)-9 and other applicable rules related to Code Section 401(a)(9) that are prescribed by
the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service in revenue rulings, notices and other guidance
published in the Internal Revenue Bulletin. If any provision of the Plan is not consistent with those
statutory rules, regulations and other guidance, then the statutory rules, regulations and other guidance
related to Code Section 401(a)(9) will override that provision of the Plan to the extent the provision is not
consistent with Code Section 401(a)(9).
(e)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, all optional forms of benefit
under the Plan, the Superseded Plan, the Matching Plan, the Mesa Premium Plan, and the Mesa ProfitSharing Plan that are protected benefits under Code Section 411(d)(6) shall continue to be optional forms
of benefit for Participants to whom such optional forms of benefit apply notwithstanding any subsequent
amendment
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purporting to revise or delete any such optional form of benefit, except to the extent that such optional
forms of benefit may be deleted in accordance with applicable law.
(f)
Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article, distributions may be made under a
designation made before January 1, 1984, in accordance with Section 242(b)(2) of the Tax Equity and
Fiscal Responsibility Act (“TEFRA”) and the provisions of the Plan that relate to TEFRA Section 242(b)
(2).
Section 6.2

Distribution of Retirement and Disability Benefits.

(a)
Except as otherwise provided in this Section, upon the Retirement or termination of
employment on account of Permanent Disability of a Participant, the Vested Interest of such Participant
shall be distributed to such Participant by the Trustee at the direction of the Committee in a single
distribution; provided, however, that if such Participant’s Vested Interest exceeds $5,000, he or she may
elect to receive his or her Vested Interest in monthly, quarterly or annual installment distributions over a
period of two or more years with the first such installment to be payable within 90 days after the end of
the Plan Year in which the Participant’s employment terminates. Such installment payments may be made
over a period of years not to exceed one or a combination of the following periods: (i) the life of the
Participant, (ii) the lives of the Participant and his or her designated beneficiary, (iii) a period certain not
extending beyond the life expectancy of the Participant, and (iv) a period certain not extending beyond
the joint life and last survivor expectancy of the Participant and his or her designated beneficiary. Any
provision of Section 6.3 to the contrary notwithstanding, if a Participant who elected installment
payments dies prior to the distribution of the entire amount of his or her Vested Interest, the remaining
portion thereof shall be distributed to his or her beneficiary or beneficiaries, as determined in accordance
with Section 6.3(a), in a single distribution within 90 days after the end of the Plan Year during which the
Participant died. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6.2, no distribution shall be
made upon a Participant’s termination of employment on account of Permanent Disability prior to his or
her Normal Retirement Date unless (i) such Participant elects to receive such distribution or (ii) such
Participant’s Vested Interest does not exceed $5,000. For purposes of determining whether the value of a
Participant’s Vested Interest exceeds or does not exceed $5,000, the value of a Participant’s Vested
Interest shall be determined without regard to the value of the Participant’s Rollover Account or Roth
Rollover Account.
(b)
Except as otherwise provided in this subsection (b), upon the Retirement or termination
of employment on account of Permanent Disability of a Participant whose Vested Interest exceeds
$5,000, such Participant’s Matching Plan Account, Mesa Premium Account, Prior Plan Employer
Account and Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account shall be distributed to him or her by the Trustee at the direction
of the Committee in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity contract to be purchased from a
company selected by the Committee and commencing in payment as soon as practicable. Not more than
180 days prior to the date such annuity contract is to commence in payment, the Committee shall provide
such Participant with a written explanation of (i) the terms and conditions of the Qualified Joint and
Survivor Annuity, (ii) his or her right to make, and
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the effect of, an election to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity form of benefit, (iii) the rights
of his or her spouse with respect to the receipt and waiver of the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity,
and (iv) the right to make, and the effect of, a revocation of an election to waive the Qualified Joint and
Survivor Annuity. The written explanation shall be required at least 30 days prior to the date the Qualified
Joint and Survivor Annuity contract is to commence in payment; provided, however, that a Participant
may elect (with any applicable spousal consent) to waive such requirement if the distribution to the
Participant commences no earlier than 8 days after such explanation is provided. After receiving the
written explanation, the Participant may elect at any time during the 180-day period ending on the date
the annuity contract is to commence in payment to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity form
of benefit and also may revoke any such election during such period. Any such election to waive a
Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity form of benefit by a married Participant will be effective only if the
spouse of such Participant consents in writing within the 180-day period preceding such date to both the
election and the optional form of benefit selected by the Participant and such consent is witnessed by a
notary public. Any amount payable from the Matching Plan Account, Mesa Premium Account, Prior Plan
Employer Account or Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account upon the Retirement or Permanent Disability of a
Participant who has elected to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity form of benefit as
provided above shall be distributed to such Participant by the Trustee at the direction of the Committee in
accordance with subsection (a) of this Section; provided, however, that a Participant who has an amount
payable from his or her Matching Plan Account or Mesa Premium Account may, in addition to the
optional forms available under subsection (a), elect to have such amounts paid in the form of an Alternate
Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. For purposes of determining whether the value of a Participant’s
Vested Interest exceeds $5,000, the value of a Participant’s Vested Interest shall be determined without
regard to the value of the Participant’s Rollover Account or Roth Rollover Account.
Section 6.3

Distribution of Death Benefit.

(a)
Except as otherwise provided in this Section, upon the death of a Participant, the Vested
Interest of such Participant shall be distributed by the Trustee at the direction of the Committee to such
Participant’s beneficiary or beneficiaries determined in accordance with this subsection (a). Any amount
payable under the Plan upon the death of a married Participant shall be distributed to the surviving spouse
of such Participant unless such Participant designates otherwise with the written consent of his or her
spouse which is witnessed by a notary public. Any amount payable under the Plan upon the death of a
Participant who is not married or who is married but has designated, as provided above, a beneficiary
other than his or her spouse, shall be distributed to the beneficiary or beneficiaries designated by such
Participant. Such designation of beneficiary or beneficiaries shall be made in writing on a form prescribed
by the Committee and, when filed with or as directed by the Committee, shall become effective and
remain in effect until changed by the Participant by the filing of a new beneficiary designation form with
the Committee. If an unmarried Participant fails to so designate a beneficiary, or in the event all of a
Participant’s designated beneficiaries are individuals who predecease such Participant, then the
Committee shall direct the Trustee
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to distribute the amount payable under the Plan to such Participant’s surviving spouse, if any, but if none,
to such Participant’s estate. All distributions under this subsection (a) shall be made in a single
distribution as soon as practicable following a Participant’s death; provided, however, that if the
Participant’s Vested Interest exceeds $5,000, he or she may elect (or if the Participant does not elect, his
or her designated beneficiary may elect) that distribution be made in monthly, quarterly or annual
installments over a period of two or more years with the first such installment to be payable within 90
days after the end of the Plan Year in which the Participant died. Installment payments may be made only
to an individual over a period of years not to exceed one or a combination of the following periods: (i) the
life of the Participant’s designated beneficiary, or (ii) a period certain not extending beyond the life
expectancy of the Participant’s designated beneficiary. For purposes of determining whether the value of
a Participant’s Vested Interest exceeds $5,000, the value of a Participant’s Vested Interest shall be
determined without regard to the value of the Participant’s Rollover Account or Roth Rollover Account.
(b)
Any provision of subsection (a) of this Section to the contrary notwithstanding, except as
otherwise provided in this subsection (b), upon the death of a married Participant whose Vested Interest
exceeds $5,000, such Participant’s Matching Plan Account, Mesa Premium Account, Prior Plan Employer
Account and Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account shall be distributed to his or her surviving spouse in the form of
a Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity contract to be purchased from a company selected by the
Committee and commencing in payment on the date that would have been such Participant’s Normal
Retirement Date if he or she were still living. The Committee shall provide each such married Participant
with a written explanation of the Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity provided above, including the
Participant’s right to waive the distribution of such Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity with the
consent of his or her spouse and to revoke any such waiver, within whichever of the following periods
ends last: (i) the period beginning with the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains the
age of 32 and ending with the close of the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year in which the Participant
attains the age of 35, (ii) the one-year period after the individual becomes a Participant, or (iii) the oneyear period after separation from employment in the case of a Participant who separates before attaining
age 35. Each married Participant may elect at any time prior to such Participant’s death to waive the
Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity form of benefit provided above so that his or her entire benefit
may be paid to his or her designated beneficiary. No election to waive the Qualified Preretirement
Survivor Annuity will be effective upon the Participant’s death unless such election designates a
beneficiary that cannot be changed without spousal consent, the Participant’s surviving spouse consents
in writing to such election and such consent is witnessed by a notary public. A spousal consent will be
valid only with respect to the spouse who signs the consent and such consent shall be irrevocable. A
married Participant may revoke any such election to waive the Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity
at any time prior to his or her death. The amount payable under the Plan upon the death of a married
Participant who has elected, as provided above, to waive the Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity
shall be distributed in accordance with subsection (a) of this Section. The surviving spouse of any
deceased Participant may elect in writing after the Participant’s death to receive the entire benefit
otherwise
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payable to such surviving spouse in accordance with this subsection (a) of this Section. For purposes of
determining whether the value of a Participant’s Vested Interest exceeds $5,000, the value of a
Participant’s Vested Interest shall be determined without regard to the value of the Participant’s Rollover
Account or Roth Rollover Account.
Section 6.4

Distribution of Separation from Employment Benefit.

(a)
Except as otherwise provided in this Section, if a Participant separates from the
employment of an Employer or Affiliated Company for any reason other than his or her Retirement,
Permanent Disability, death or transfer to the employment of another Employer or Affiliated Company,
the Accounts of such Participant shall be retained in trust and shall continue to be credited with applicable
earnings as provided in Section 4.3, and the Vested Interest of such Participant shall be distributed to him
or her by the Trustee at the direction of the Committee in accordance with Section 6.2(a) as soon as
practicable after his or her Normal Retirement Date (or, if the Participant dies prior to such date, the
Vested Interest of such Participant shall be distributed upon his or her death in accordance with Section
6.3); provided, however, that (i) each such Participant shall have the right to elect, in the manner
prescribed by the Committee, to receive an early distribution of his or her Vested Interest as soon as
practicable and (ii) the Committee shall require an early distribution of any such Participant’s Vested
Interest which does not exceed $5,000 in the form of a single distribution. The Vested Interest of a
Participant who elects to receive an early distribution shall be distributed to him or her in the same
manner as provided in Section 6.2(a) for a distribution upon Retirement or Permanent Disability. Any
provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, for purposes of this Article a Participant shall not
be treated as having separated from the employment of an Employer or Affiliated Company prior to such
time that a distribution can be made to such Participant in accordance with Code Section 401(k) and the
regulations thereunder. For purposes of determining whether the value of a Participant’s Vested Interest
exceeds $5,000, the value of a Participant’s Vested Interest shall be determined without regard to the
value of the Participant’s Rollover Account or Roth Rollover Account.
(b)
Any provision of subsection (a) of this Section to the contrary notwithstanding, except as
otherwise provided in this subsection (b), if a Participant’s whose Vested Interest exceeds $5,000
separates from the employment of an Employer or Affiliated Company for any reason other than his or
her Retirement, Permanent Disability, death or transfer to the employment of another Employer or
Affiliated Company, such Participant’s Matching Plan Account, Mesa Premium Account, Prior Plan
Employer Account and/or Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account shall be distributed to such Participant by the
Trustee at the direction of the Committee upon such Participant’s Normal Retirement Date by payment of
the entire amount in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity contract to be purchased from a
company selected by the Committee and commencing in payment as soon as practicable thereafter (or, if
the Participant dies prior to his or her Normal Retirement Date, the Vested Interest of such Participant
under the Plan shall be distributed upon his or her death in accordance with Section 6.3); provided,
however, that each such Participant shall have the right to elect, in the manner prescribed by the
Committee, to receive an early distribution of the amount
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credited to his or her Matching Plan Account, Mesa Premium Account, Prior Plan Employer Account
and/or Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account as soon as practicable after such election. If a Participant elects under
this subsection (b) to receive an early distribution, such distribution shall be made in the form of (i) a
Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity contract to be purchased from a company selected by the
Committee and commencing in payment as soon as practicable following such election, or (ii) upon
satisfaction of the notice and waiver requirements of Section 6.2(b), in accordance with subsection (a) of
this Section. For purposes of determining whether the value of a Participant’s Vested Interest exceeds
$5,000, the value of a Participant’s Vested Interest shall be determined without regard to the value of the
Participant’s Rollover Account or Roth Rollover Account.
Section 6.5

Forfeitures.

(a)
Unless sooner forfeited as provided below, any unvested portion of the Accounts of a
Participant who separates from the employment of an Employer or Affiliated Company for any reason
other than his or her Retirement, Permanent Disability, death or transfer to the employment of another
Employer or Affiliated Company shall be forfeited upon the earlier of the date of such Participant’s death
or the date such Participant incurs five consecutive One Year Breaks in Service unless such Participant is
reemployed by an Employer or Affiliated Company prior to such date.
(b)
If a Participant receives a complete distribution of his or her Vested Interest under
Section 6.4 by the close of the second Plan Year following the Plan Year in which his or her separation
from employment occurred, any portion of such Participant’s Accounts which is not vested at the time of
such distribution shall be forfeited at such time. If a Participant who separates from the employment of an
Employer or Affiliated Company for any reason other than his or her Retirement, Permanent Disability,
death or transfer to the employment of another Employer or Affiliated Company, is not entitled to receive
any distribution from the Plan due to the fact that such Participant has no Vested Interest, such Participant
shall be deemed to have received a distribution from the Plan of his or her entire Vested Interest under the
Plan and any amount credited to such Participant’s Accounts shall be forfeited at the time of such
separation from employment. If a Participant, any portion of whose Accounts is forfeited pursuant to this
subsection (b), is reemployed as a Covered Employee prior to incurring five consecutive One Year Breaks
in Service, the amount so forfeited shall be restored to such individual’s Accounts, out of current-year
forfeitures or, if such forfeitures are insufficient, by an additional Employer contribution; provided,
however, that no amount shall be restored to the Accounts of an individual who previously received a
distribution of the vested portion of such Accounts unless he or she repays to the Plan, while a Covered
Employee and within five years of the date of such reemployment, the full amount previously distributed
from such Accounts for crediting to his or her Accounts.
(c)
If a Participant who has not yet incurred five consecutive One Year Breaks in Service
receives a distribution under Section 6.4 after the end of the second Plan Year following the year in which
his or her separation from employment occurred, any portion of such Participant’s Accounts which is not
vested at the time of such distribution shall

29

be retained in such Account and shall be forfeited upon the earlier of the date of such Participant’s death
or the date such Participant incurs five consecutive One Year Breaks in Service unless such Participant is
reemployed by an Employer or Affiliated Company prior to such date. If a Participant receives a
distribution from the Plan after the end of the second Plan Year following the year in which his or her
separation from employment occurred and is reemployed by an Employer or Affiliated Company prior to
incurring five consecutive One Year Breaks in Service, then the unvested balance in his or her Accounts
shall be transferred to a segregated account for such Participant and the amount that the Participant is
entitled to receive from such segregated account as of any later date shall be an amount equal to X, which
amount shall be determined in accordance with the following formula: X = P(AB + D) - D, where P is the
Participant’s vested percentage at such later date, AB is the amount in his or her segregated account at
such later date, and D is the amount distributed to the Participant in connection with his or her earlier
separation from employment.
(d)
All amounts forfeited under the Plan shall be credited to a forfeiture account and invested
by the Trustee at the direction of the Committee in its discretion until such forfeited amounts and any
earnings attributable thereto are applied in accordance with Section 3.8.
Section 6.6
(a)

In-Service Withdrawals.
A Participant in the employ of an Employer may make –

(i)
a withdrawal of all or a portion (in any whole percentage or in whole dollar
amounts) of the total amount credited to his or her After-Tax Account, Mesa After-Tax Account,
Rollover Account, or Roth Rollover Account;
(ii)
if the Participant has attained the age of 59½, a withdrawal of all or a portion
(in any whole percentage or in whole dollar amounts) of the total vested amount credited to his
or her Accounts (other than his or her Matching Plan Account and Mesa Premium Account); or
(iii)
a hardship withdrawal of such amount as the Committee shall determine to be
necessary to satisfy an immediate and heavy financial need of such Participant from his or her
Catch-Up Contribution Account, Pre-Tax Account, Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account, Roth Account,
or Roth Catch-Up Contribution Account other than earnings credited to either such Accounts for
any period of time after December 31, 1988, and qualified nonelective contributions allocated to
either such Accounts.
provided, however, that (i) no withdrawal may be made unless notice of such withdrawal is delivered to
or in the manner prescribed by the Committee by the withdrawing Participant within such period of time
prior to the effective date thereof as the Committee may prescribe in its discretion, (ii) no withdrawal may
be made by a Participant to whom a loan from the Trust is then outstanding unless the Committee is
satisfied that such loan will remain nontaxable and fully secured by the withdrawing Participant’s Vested
Interest
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following such withdrawal, and (iii) withdrawals from the Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account and Prior Plan
Employer Account may be made only pursuant to the notice and consent requirements of Section 6.2(b).
The Committee shall direct the Trustee to distribute any withdrawn amount to such Participant as soon as
practicable following the effective date of the withdrawal. Any withdrawal from an Account pursuant to
this Section shall be taken proportionally from each Investment Fund in which such Account is invested;
provided, however, that a Participant may elect in the manner prescribed by the Committee to have his or
her withdrawal taken from the portion of such Account that is invested in one or more Investment
Fund(s). The Committee may prescribe uniform and nondiscriminatory rules and procedures limiting the
number of times that a Participant may make withdrawals during a Plan Year and the minimum amount
that a Participant may withdraw on any single occasion.
(b)
A hardship withdrawal will be considered to be made on account of an immediate and
heavy financial need of a Participant only if the Committee determines that such withdrawal is on account
of (i) expenses for (or necessary to obtain) medical care that would be deductible under Code Section
213(d) (determined without regard to whether the expenses exceed 7.5% of adjusted gross income), (ii)
costs directly related to the purchase of a principal residence for such Participant (excluding mortgage
payments), (iii) payment of tuition and related educational fees for the next 12 months of post-secondary
education for such Participant or his or her spouse, children or dependents (within the meaning of Code
Section 152 without regard to Code Sections 152(b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)(B)), (iv) payments necessary to
prevent the eviction of such Participant from his or her principal residence or foreclosure on the mortgage
of such residence, (v) payments for burial or funeral expenses for the Participant’s deceased parent,
Spouse, children or dependents (as defined in Code Section 152 without regard to Code Section 152(d)(1)
(B)), or (vi) expenses for the repair of damage to the Participant’s principal residence that would qualify
for the casualty deduction under Code Section 165 (determined without regard to whether the loss
exceeds 10% of adjusted gross income).
(c)
A hardship withdrawal will be considered to be necessary to satisfy an immediate and
heavy financial need of a Participant only if the Committee determines that (i) the amount of such
withdrawal is not in excess of the amount of such need plus any amounts necessary to pay any federal,
state or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the withdrawal, and (ii) such
Participant has obtained all distributions and withdrawals, other than hardship withdrawals, and all
nontaxable loans currently available under all plans maintained by the Employers.
(d)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, if a Participant makes a
hardship withdrawal, no contributions shall be made to this Plan on behalf of such Participant for 6
months after receipt of such withdrawal and no contributions shall be made by or on behalf of such
Participant to any other deferred compensation plan maintained by an Employer or Affiliated Company
for 6 months after receipt of such withdrawal.
Section 6.7
Distributions to Minors and Persons Under Legal Disability. If any distribution under the
Plan becomes payable to a minor or other person under a legal disability, such
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distribution may be made to the duly appointed guardian or other legal representative of the estate of such minor or
person under legal disability.
Section 6.8
Benefits Payable to Missing Participant or Beneficiary. If the Committee cannot locate a
Participant or beneficiary entitled to a distribution under this Plan within a period of three years after such
Participant or beneficiary becomes entitled to the distribution, the amounts credited to the Accounts of such
Participant or beneficiary shall be forfeited; provided, however, that if a claim for any such forfeited amounts is
subsequently made by any person entitled to the distribution, such forfeited amounts shall be restored (without
adjustment for earnings or appreciation) out of current-year forfeitures, or if such forfeitures are insufficient, by an
additional Employer contribution.
Section 6.9

Plan Loans.

(a)
Subject to such conditions and limitations as the Committee may from time to time
prescribe for application to all Participants and beneficiaries on a uniform basis, at the request of a
Participant or beneficiary of a deceased Participant who is a party in interest (within the meaning of
Section 3(14) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended) with respect to the
Plan (hereinafter called the “Borrower”), the Committee shall direct the Trustee to loan to such Borrower
from his or her Accounts (other than the Borrower’s Matching Plan Account and Mesa Premium
Account) an amount of money which, when added to the total outstanding balance of all other loans to
such Borrower from the Plan or from a qualified employer plan (within the meaning of Code Section
72(p)) maintained by an Employer or Affiliated Company, does not exceed the lesser of (i) $50,000
(reduced, however, by the excess, if any, of the highest total outstanding balance of all such other loans
during the one-year period ending on the day before the date such loan is made, over the outstanding
balance of all such other loans on the date such loan is made), or (ii) one-half of such Participant’s Vested
Interest under the Plan (or, in the case of a loan to a beneficiary, one-half of such beneficiary’s Accounts).
(b)
Any such loan made to a Borrower shall be evidenced by a promissory note or other
evidence of indebtedness payable to the Trustee, shall bear a reasonable rate of interest, shall be secured
by one-half of the Participant’s vested interest under the Plan (or, in the case of a loan to a beneficiary, by
one-half of such beneficiary’s Accounts), shall be repayable in substantially equal payments no less
frequently than quarterly and shall be repayable within five years or, in the case of a loan that is to be
used to acquire any dwelling unit which within a reasonable period of time is to be used as the principal
residence of the Participant, within such period greater than five years as shall be determined by the
Committee or its delegate in its absolute discretion.
(c)
Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, (i) the promissory note or
other evidence of indebtedness evidencing any such loan shall be held by the Trustee as a segregated
investment allocated to and made solely for the benefit of the Account of the Borrower from which such
loan was made, and (ii) no loan shall be made to a married Participant from a Prior Plan Pre-Tax Account
or Prior Plan Employer Account unless the spouse of such Participant consents in writing thereto within
the 180-
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day period preceding the date such loan is made and such consent is witnessed by a notary public.
(d)
Plan loans to directors and executive officers of an Employer may be denied in the event
that the Committee determines that loans may not be made to such persons under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 or other federal law.
Section 6.10
notwithstanding:

Qualified Domestic Relations Orders. Any provision of this Plan to the contrary

(a)
The Committee shall establish and maintain for each alternate payee named with respect
to a Participant under a domestic relations order which is determined by the Committee to be a qualified
domestic relations order (as defined in Code Section 414(p)) such separate Accounts as the Committee
may deem to be necessary or appropriate to reflect such alternate payee’s interest in the Accounts of such
Participant. Such alternate payee’s Accounts shall be credited with the alternate payee’s interest in the
Participant’s Accounts as determined under such qualified domestic relations order. The alternate payee
may change investment direction with respect to his or her Account balances in accordance with Section
4.2 in the same manner as the Participant.
(b)
Except to the extent otherwise provided in the qualified domestic relations order naming
an alternate payee with respect to a Participant, (i) the alternate payee may designate a beneficiary on a
form prescribed by and filed with or as directed by the Committee, (ii) if no such beneficiary is validly
designated or if the designated beneficiary is a person who predeceases the alternate payee, the
beneficiary of the alternate payee shall be the alternate payee’s estate, and (iii) the beneficiary of the
alternate payee shall be accorded under the Plan all of the rights and privileges of the beneficiary of a
Participant.
(c)
An alternate payee named with respect to a Participant shall be entitled to receive a
distribution from the Plan in accordance with the qualified domestic relations order naming such alternate
payee. Such distribution may be made only in a form provided under the Plan and shall include only such
amounts as are vested. If a qualified domestic relations order so provides, a lump sum distribution of the
total vested amount credited to the alternate payee’s Accounts may be made to the alternate payee at any
time prior to the date the Participant named in such qualified domestic relations order attains his or her
earliest retirement age (as defined in Section Code 414(p)(4)(B)). To the extent provided by a qualified
domestic relations order, the alternate payee named with respect to a Participant may make withdrawals
(other than hardship withdrawals) from his or her Accounts in accordance with Article VI in the same
manner as the Participant with respect to whom such alternate payee was named under said qualified
domestic relations order.
(d)
If a portion of any unvested amount credited to the Employer Account or Matching Plan
Account of a Participant named in the qualified domestic relations order is credited to the Employer
Account or Matching Plan Account, whichever is applicable, of the alternate payee named in such
qualified domestic relations order, the portion credited
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to the alternate payee’s Employer Account or Matching Plan Account shall vest and/or be forfeited at the
same time and in the same manner as the Participant’s Employer Account or Matching Plan Account,
whichever is applicable.
Section 6.11

Transfer of Eligible Rollover Distribution.

(a)
If a Participant is entitled to receive an eligible rollover distribution (as defined in Code
Section 402(c) and the regulations thereunder, which exclude, among other distributions, any hardship
distribution described in Code Section 401(k)(2)(B)(i)(IV)) from the Plan, such Participant may elect to
have the Committee direct the Trustee to transfer the entire amount of such distribution directly to any of
the following specified by such Participant: an individual retirement account described in Code Section
408(a), an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b) (other than an endowment
contract), a defined contribution plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) the terms of which permit
rollover contributions or an annuity plan described in Code Section 403(a); provided, however, than an
amount credited to a Roth Account may be transferred only to a designated Roth account or Roth IRA
described in Code Section 402A.
(b)
If the surviving spouse of a deceased Participant is entitled to receive an eligible rollover
distribution from the Plan, such surviving spouse may elect to have the Committee direct the Trustee to
transfer the entire amount of such distribution directly to either an individual retirement account
described in Code Section 408(a) or an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b)
(other than an endowment contract) specified by such surviving spouse.
(c)
If a designated beneficiary of a deceased Participant other than the Participant’s surviving
spouse is entitled to receive a distribution under this Plan, and the distribution would be an eligible
rollover distribution as defined in Code Section 402(c) except for the requirement that the distribution be
made to the Participant’s spouse, the designated beneficiary may request to have any portion of the
distribution made to an eligible individual retirement plan, as defined in Code Section 402(c)(8)(b)(i) or
(ii), that has been established for the purpose of receiving the distribution on behalf of the designated
beneficiary. The Committee will direct the Trustee to make distributions under this subsection only if the
Committee determines that the requested distribution satisfies the requirements of Code Section 402(c)
(11) and any regulations or other guidance issued under that Section.
(d)
If an alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order (as defined in Code
Section 414(p)) is the spouse or former spouse of the Participant specified in the qualified domestic
relations order, this Section shall apply to such alternate payee as if the alternate payee were a Participant.
(e)
A distributee of an eligible rollover distribution who is entitled to make an election under
this Section may specify that some portion less than the entire amount of such distribution be transferred
in accordance with this Section.
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(f)

The preceding provisions of this Section to the contrary notwithstanding:

(i)
an “eligible retirement plan” shall also mean an annuity contract described in
Code Section 403(b) and an eligible plan under Code Section 457(b) which is maintained by a
state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political
subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such
plan from this Plan;
(ii)
the definition of “eligible retirement plan” shall also apply in the case of a
distribution to a surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee
under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p);
(iii)
any amount that is distributed on account of hardship shall not be an eligible
rollover distribution and the distributee may not elect to have any portion of such a distribution
paid directly to an eligible retirement plan; and
(iv)
a portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an eligible rollover distribution
merely because the portion consists of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible
in gross income, provided that such portion may be transferred only to an individual retirement
account or annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or (b), or to a qualified defined contribution
plan described in Code Section 401(a) or 403(a) that agrees to separately account for amounts so
transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is
includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.
Section 6.12 Automatic Rollovers. If a single distribution exceeding $1,000 is required to be made to
a Participant pursuant to Section 6.2(a) or 6.4(a) prior to the Participant’s attainment of age 65, and if the
Participant does not elect either to receive the distribution directly or to have the distribution transferred in a direct
rollover pursuant to Section 6.11 to an eligible retirement plan specified by the Participant, the Committee shall
direct the distribution to be transferred in a direct rollover to an individual retirement plan designated by the
Committee. For purposes of determining whether a distribution will exceed $1,000, a Participant’s Roth Account
together with his or her Roth Catch-Up Contribution Account and the Participant’s other Accounts are treated as
held under two separate plans.
ARTICLE VII
PLAN ADMINISTRATION
Section 7.1
401(k) and Matching Plan Committee. The plan administrator of the Plan shall be a
401(k) and Matching Plan Committee composed of at least three individuals appointed by the Board of Directors
of the Company. Each member of the Committee so appointed shall serve in such office until his or her death,
resignation or removal by the Board of Directors of the Company. The Board of Directors of the Company may
remove any member of the Committee at any time by giving written notice thereof to the members of the
Committee. Vacancies shall
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likewise be filled from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Company. The members of the Committee
shall receive no remuneration from the Plan for their services as Committee members.
Section 7.2
Powers, Duties and Liabilities of the Committee. The Committee shall have discretionary
and final authority to interpret and implement the provisions of the Plan, including without limitation authority to
determine eligibility for benefits under the Plan, and shall perform all of the duties and exercise all of the powers
and discretion granted to it under the terms of the Plan. The Committee shall act by a majority of its members at
the time in office and such action may be taken either by a vote at a meeting or in writing without a meeting. The
Committee may by such majority action authorize any one or more of its members to execute any document or
documents on behalf of the Committee, in which event the Committee shall notify the Trustee in writing of such
action and the name or names of its member or members so authorized to act. Every interpretation, choice,
determination or other exercise by the Committee of any discretion given either expressly or by implication to it
shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties directly or indirectly affected, without restriction, however, on the
right of the Committee to reconsider and redetermine such actions. In performing any duty or exercising any power
herein conferred, the Committee shall in no event perform such duty or exercise such power in any manner which
discriminates in favor of Highly Compensated Employees. The Employers shall indemnify and hold harmless each
member of the Committee against any claim, cost, expense (including attorneys' fees), judgment or liability
(including any sum paid in settlement of a claim with the approval of the Employers) arising out of any act or
omission to act as a member of the Committee appointed under this Plan, except in the case of willful misconduct.
Section 7.3
Rules, Records and Reports. The Committee may adopt such rules and procedures for the
administration of the Plan as are consistent with the terms hereof, and shall keep adequate records of the
Committee’s proceedings and acts and of the status of the Participants’ Accounts. The Committee may employ
such agents, accountants and legal counsel (who may be agents, accountants or legal counsel for an Employer) as
may be appropriate for the administration of the Plan. The Committee shall at least annually provide each
Participant with a report reflecting the status of his or her Accounts in the Trust and shall cause such other
information, documents or reports to be prepared, provided and/or filed as may be necessary to comply with the
provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 or any other law.
Section 7.4
Administration Expenses and Taxes. Unless otherwise paid by the Employers in their
absolute discretion, the Committee shall direct the Trustee to pay all reasonable and necessary expenses (including
the fees of agents, accountants and legal counsel) incurred by the Committee in connection with the administration
of the Plan. Should any tax of any character (including transfer taxes) be levied upon the Trust assets or the income
therefrom, such tax shall be paid from and charged against the assets of the Trust.
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SECTION VIII
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION
Section 8.1
Amendment. The Board of Directors of the Company shall have the right and power at
any time and from time to time to amend this Plan, in whole or in part, on behalf of all Employers. Any such
amendment made by the Board of Directors of the Company shall be made by or pursuant to a resolution duly
adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company, and shall be evidenced by such resolution or by a written
instrument executed by such person as the Board of Directors of the Company shall authorize for such purpose.
With the consent of the Board of Directors of the Company and subject to such procedure as it may prescribe, the
Board of Directors of each Employer shall have the right and power at any time and from time to time to amend
this Plan, in whole or in part, with respect to the Plan’s application to the Participants of the particular amending
Employer and the assets held in the Trust for their benefit, or to transfer such assets or any portion thereof to a new
trust for the benefit of such Participants. However, in no event shall any amendment or new trust permit any
portion of the trust fund to be used for or diverted to any purpose other than the exclusive benefit of the
Participants and their beneficiaries, nor shall any amendment or new trust reduce a Participant’s Vested Interest
under the Plan.
Section 8.2
Termination. The Board of Directors of the Company shall have the right and power at
any time to terminate this Plan on behalf of all Employers, or to terminate this Plan as it applies to the Participants
who are or were employees of any particular Employer, by giving written notice of such termination to the
Committee and Trustee. Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, upon the termination or partial
termination of the Plan as to any Employer, or in the event any Employer should completely discontinue making
contributions to the Plan without formally terminating it, all amounts credited to the Accounts of the affected
Participants of that particular Employer shall be fully vested.
Section 8.3
Benefit Plan Design Committee. Any action permitted to be taken by the Board with
respect to the amendment of this Plan may be taken by the Benefit Plan Design Committee. The Benefit Plan
Design Committee shall be composed of at least two individuals appointed by the Board of Directors of the
Company. Each member of the Benefit Plan Design Committee so appointed shall serve in such office until his or
her death, resignation or removal by the Board. The Board may remove any member of the Benefit Plan Design
Committee at any time by giving written notice thereof to the members of the Benefit Plan Design Committee.
Vacancies shall likewise be filled from time to time by the Board. The Benefit Plan Design Committee shall act by
a majority of its members at the time in office and such action may be taken either by a vote at a meeting or in
writing without a meeting.
ARTICLE IX
TOP-HEAVY PROVISIONS
Section 9.1

Top-Heavy Definitions. Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, when used in this

Article:
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(a)
“Top-Heavy Plan” means this Plan if, as of the Determination Date, the aggregate of the
Accounts of Key Employees under the Plan exceeds 60% of the aggregate of the Accounts of all
Participants and former Participants under the Plan. The aggregate of the Accounts of any Participant or
former Participant shall include any distributions (other than related rollovers or transfers from the Plan
within the meaning of regulations under Code Section 416(g)) made from such individual’s Accounts
during the one-year period ending on the Determination Date, but shall not include any unrelated
rollovers or transfers (within the meaning of regulations under Code Section 416(g)) made to such
individual’s Accounts after December 31, 1983; provided, however, that in the case of a distribution made
for a reason other than severance from employment, death, or disability, this provision shall be applied by
substituting “five-year period” for “one-year period.” The Account of any Participant or former
Participant who (i) is not a Key Employee for the Plan Year in question but who was a Key Employee in
a prior Plan Year, or (ii) has not completed an Hour of Service during the one-year period ending on the
Determination Date, shall not be taken into account. The determination of whether the Plan is a TopHeavy Plan shall be made after aggregating all other plans of an Employer and any Affiliated Company
qualifying under Code Section 401(a) in which a Key Employee is a participant or which enables such a
plan to meet the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4) or 410, and after aggregating any other plan of
an Employer or Affiliated Company, which is not already aggregated, if such aggregation group would
continue to meet the requirements of Code Sections 401(a)(4) and 410 and if such permissive aggregation
thereby eliminates the top-heavy status of any plan within such permissive aggregation group. For
purposes of determining the aggregate of the Accounts of any Participant or former Participant, the
distributions included, as provided above, shall include distributions under a terminated plan which, had it
not been terminated, would have been aggregated with the Plan under Code Section 416(g)(2)(A)(i). The
determination of whether this Plan is a Top-Heavy Plan shall be made in accordance with Code Section
416(g).
(b)
“Determination Date” means, for purposes of determining whether the Plan is a TopHeavy Plan for a particular Plan Year, the last day of the preceding Plan Year.
(c)
“Key Employee” means any Employee or former Employee (including a beneficiary of
such Employee or former Employee) who at any time during the Plan Year that includes the
Determination Date is:
(i)
an officer of an Employer having Compensation for such Plan Year greater than
$130,000 (as adjusted under Code Section 416(i)(1) for Plan Years beginning after December
31, 2002);
(ii)

a 5% owner of the Employer; or

(iii)
a 1% owner of the Employer having Compensation for such Plan Year of more
than $150,000.
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The determination of who is a Key Employee will be made in accordance with Code Section 416(i)(1)
and the applicable regulations and other guidance of general applicability issued thereunder.
(d)
“Non-Key Employee” means any Employee or former Employee (including a
beneficiary of such Employee or former Employee) who is not a Key Employee.
Section 9.2
Minimum Contribution Requirement. Any provision of this Plan to the contrary
notwithstanding, if the Plan is a Top-Heavy Plan for any Plan Year, then the Employers will contribute to the
Employer Account of each Non-Key Employee who is both eligible to participate and in the employ of an
Employer on the last day of such Plan Year, an amount which, when added to the total amount of Matching
Contributions and forfeitures otherwise allocable under the Plan to such Non-Key Employee for such year, shall
equal the lesser of (i) 3% of such Non-Key Employee’s Compensation for such year or (ii) the amount of
contributions (including Total Tax-Advantaged Contributions) and forfeitures (expressed as a percentage of
Compensation) allocable under the Plan for or on behalf of the Key Employee for whom such percentage is the
highest for the Plan Year after taking into account contributions under other defined contribution plans maintained
by the Employer in which a Key Employee is a participant (as well as any other plan of an Employer which
enables such a plan to meet the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4) or 410); provided, however, that no
minimum contribution shall be made for a Non-Key Employee under this Section for any Plan Year if the
Employer maintains another qualified plan under which a minimum benefit or contribution is being accrued or
made for such Plan Year for the Non-Key Employee in accordance with Code Section 416(c). A Non-Key
Employee who is not a Participant, but for whom a contribution is made pursuant to this Section, shall be accorded
all of the rights and privileges of a Participant under the Plan except that no contributions (other than contributions
pursuant to this Section) shall be made for or on behalf of such Non-Key Employee until he or she meets the
eligibility and participation requirements of Article II.
Section 9.3
Minimum Vesting Schedule. Any provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding,
if the Plan is a Top-Heavy Plan for any Plan Year, then effective as of the first day of such Plan Year with respect
to Participants who complete an Hour of Service on or after such day, the vesting schedule provided in Section 5.2
shall be applied to that portion of such Participants’ Employer Account which is attributable to any amounts
credited to his or her Employer Nonelective Contribution Account under the Superseded Plan as in effect on
September 30, 1997, as if to read as follows:

Period of Service
Completed by Participant

Percentage Vested

Less than 3 years

None

3 or more years

100%
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ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 10.1 Spendthrift Provision. No right or interest of any Participant or beneficiary under the Plan
may be assigned, transferred or alienated, in whole or in part, either directly or by operation of law, and no such
right or interest shall be liable for or subject to any debt, obligation or liability of such Participant or beneficiary;
provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent the payment of amounts from a Participant’s Accounts under
the Plan in accordance with the terms of a court order which the Committee has determined to be a qualified
domestic relations order (as defined in Code Section 414(p)).
Section 10.2 Claims Procedure. If any person (hereinafter called the “Claimant”) feels that he or she is
being denied a benefit to which he or she is entitled under the Plan, such Claimant may file a written claim for said
benefit with any member of the Committee. Within 60 days of the receipt of such claim the Committee shall
determine and notify the Claimant as to whether he or she is entitled to such benefit. Such notification shall be in
writing and, if denying the claim for benefit, shall set forth the specific reason or reasons for the denial, make
specific reference to the pertinent provisions of the Plan, and advise the Claimant that he or she may, within 60
days of the receipt of such notice, in writing request to appear before the Committee for a hearing to review such
denial. Any such hearing shall be scheduled at the mutual convenience of the Committee or its designated
representative and the Claimant, and at such hearing the Claimant and/or his or her duly authorized representative
may examine any relevant documents and present evidence and arguments to support the granting of the benefit
being claimed. The final decision of the Committee with respect to the claim being reviewed shall be made within
60 days following the hearing thereon and the Committee shall in writing notify the Claimant of its final decision,
again specifying the reasons therefor and the pertinent provisions of the Plan upon which such decision is based.
The final decision of the Committee shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties having or claiming to have an
interest in the matter being reviewed.
Section 10.3
Maximum Contribution Limitation. Any provision of this Plan to the contrary
notwithstanding (except to the extent permitted under Section 3.3 of the Plan and Code Section 414(v), if
applicable), the sum of (i) the Employer contributions, (ii) the forfeitures, and (iii) the Participant contributions
(excluding rollover contributions and employee contributions to a simplified employee pension allowable as a
deduction, each within the meaning specified in Code Section 415(c)(2)), allocated to a Participant with respect to
a Plan Year shall in no event exceed the lesser of $40,000 (as adjusted for increases in the cost-of-living under
Code Section 415(d)) or 100% of such Participant’s Compensation for that year. For the purposes of applying the
limitation imposed by this Section, each Employer and its Affiliated Companies shall be considered a single
employer, and all defined contribution plans (meaning plans providing for individual accounts and for benefits
based solely upon the amounts contributed to such accounts and any forfeitures, income, expenses, gains and
losses allocated to such accounts) described in Code Section 415(k), whether or not terminated, maintained by an
Employer or its Affiliated Companies shall be considered a single plan. If the total amount allocable to a
Participant’s Accounts for a particular Plan Year would, but for this sentence, exceed the foregoing limitation,
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such Participant’s After-Tax Contributions shall first be distributed and then, to the extent necessary, Total TaxAdvantaged Contributions shall be distributed pursuant to an election by the Participant made in accordance with
procedures established by the Committee; provided, however, that in the absence of such an election, such Total
Tax-Advantaged Contributions shall be distributed first from any Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions, then from any PreTax Bonus Contributions that are designated as Roth Contributions, then from Pre-Tax Contributions and then
from Pre-Tax Contributions that are designated as Roth Contributions. Any Matching Contributions corresponding
to any distributed Pre-Tax Contributions, Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions and Roth Contributions shall be credited to
a suspense account and thereafter reallocated (prior to the allocation of subsequent forfeitures and the making of
any additional contributions to the Plan) to reduce the earliest subsequent Matching Contributions an Employer
would otherwise be required to make to the Plan pursuant to Section 3.2 for such year and the next succeeding
Plan Year. No adjustment shall be made to such suspense account to reflect income, profits and losses, expenses or
other transactions affecting the Plan. Any Pre-Tax Contributions, Pre-Tax Bonus Contributions or Roth
Contributions distributed to a Participant pursuant to this Section shall not be taken into account in determining
such Participant’s actual deferral percentage for purposes of Section 3.7.
Section 10.4
Employment Noncontractual. The establishment of this Plan shall not enlarge or
otherwise affect the terms of any Employee’s employment with an Employer and an Employer may terminate the
employment of any Employee as freely and with the same effect as if this Plan had not been adopted.
Section 10.5 Limitations on Responsibility. The Employers do not guarantee or indemnify the Trust
against any loss or depreciation of its assets which may occur, nor guarantee the payment of any amount which
may become payable to a Participant or his or her beneficiaries pursuant to the provisions of this Plan. All
payments to Participants and their beneficiaries shall be made by the Trustee at the direction of the Committee
solely from the assets of the Trust and the Employers shall have no legal obligation, responsibility or liability for
any such payments.
Section 10.6
Merger or Consolidation. In no event shall this Plan be merged or consolidated into or
with any other plan, nor shall any of its assets or liabilities be transferred to any other plan, unless each Participant
would be entitled to receive a benefit if the plan in which he or she then participates terminated immediately
following such merger, consolidation or transfer, which is equal to or greater than the benefit he or she would have
been entitled to receive if the Plan had been terminated immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or transfer.
Section 10.7
Applicable Law. This Plan shall be governed and construed in accordance with the
internal laws (and not the principles relating to conflicts of laws) of the State of Texas except where superseded by
federal law.
Section 10.8
USERRA Compliance. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary,
contributions, benefits and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance
with Code Section 414(u).
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this restatement has been executed as of this 27th day of December, 2007, to
be effective as of January 1, 2008.
PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES USA, INC.

By:
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/s/ Larry Paulsen
Larry Paulsen
Vice President – Administration

EXHIBIT 10.24G
PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
SEVERANCE AGREEMENT
This Severance Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into, as of August 16, 2005, among Pioneer Natural
Resources Company, a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc., a Delaware
corporation that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Employer”) and Scott D. Sheffield (“Employee”). As
used henceforth in this Agreement, the term “Company” shall be deemed to include Parent and its direct or
indirect majority-owned subsidiaries.
Recitals
Parent and Employer acknowledge that Employee possesses skills and knowledge instrumental to the
successful conduct of the Company’s business. Parent and Employer are willing to enter into this Agreement with
Employee in order to better ensure themselves of access to the continued services of Employee.
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein
and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
parties to this Agreement hereby agree as follows:
1.
Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date indicated above (the “Effective
Date”) and end on September 30, 2007. Thereafter, on the date on which the term of this Agreement (as it may be
extended from time to time under this paragraph 1) would otherwise expire, so long as Employee is still an
employee of the Company on such date, such term will be automatically extended for 12 months, unless Parent
shall have provided written notice to Employee at least 6 months before the date that the term would otherwise
expire that it does not want the term to be extended. Parent may deliver a conditional notice of non-renewal that
will be effective only if Employee does not agree, within the time period specified by Parent, to any amendment or
modification of this Agreement that Parent shall request be executed as a condition to allowing the term hereof to
be extended. Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as Employee is in the employ of the Company on the date on
which a Potential Change in Control occurs, the term of this Agreement shall continue in effect following such
Potential Change in Control until the date on which the term of any separate agreement between Parent and
Employer and Employee relating to the provision of severance and other benefits after a Change in Control (the
“Change in Control Agreement”) expires; provided, however, that upon the occurrence of such a Change in
Control, this Agreement shall terminate and such Change in Control Agreement shall govern the rights of
Employee to, or obligations of Parent and Employer to provide, severance and other benefits to Employee.
2. Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set
forth below:
(a) “Accrued Obligations” shall mean any vested amounts or benefits owing to Employee
under any of the Company’s employee benefit plans and programs in which Employee has participated,
including any compensation previously deferred by Employee (together with any accrued earnings
thereon) and not yet paid.
(b)
“Base Salary” shall mean Employee’s annualized base salary at the rate in effect at the
relevant date or event as reflected in Employer’s regular payroll records.

(c) “Change in Control” shall mean an event that constitutes a “change in control” as defined
in Parent’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”), as in effect on the Effective Date or as subsequently
amended from time to time (except that any amendment to such definition adopted (1) on or within 180
days prior to a Change in Control or Potential Change in Control or (2) on or after a Potential Change in
Control shall not be applied in determining the definition of such term under this Agreement unless such
amendment is favorable to Employee).
(d)

“Date of Termination” shall mean

(1)
In the case of a termination for which a Notice of Termination is required, the
date of receipt of such Notice of Termination or, if later, the date specified therein; and
(2)

In all other cases, the actual date on which Employee’s employment terminates.

(e)
“Disability” shall mean Employee’s physical or mental impairment or incapacity of
sufficient severity such that
(1)
In the opinion of a qualified physician selected by Parent, after taking into
account all reasonable accommodations that the Company has made or could make, Employee is
unable to continue to perform Employee’s duties and responsibilities as an employee of the
Company; or
(2)
Employee’s condition entitles Employee to long-term disability benefits under
any employee benefit plan maintained by the Company in which Employee participates.
For purposes of subparagraph (e)(1), Employee agrees to provide such access to Employee’s medical
records and to submit to such physical examinations or medical tests as, in the opinion of the physician
selected by Parent, is reasonably necessary to make the determination required as to Employee’s ability to
perform Employee’s duties and responsibilities. If such physician is unable to render an opinion as to
Employee’s ability to perform such duties and responsibilities due to Employee’s failure to provide such
access to any of Employee’s medical records or to submit to any such examination or test (unless, in the
opinion of such physician such failure is a direct result of Employee’s physical or mental impairment),
any failure by Employee to perform Employee’s duties and responsibilities shall be deemed not to be on
account of Employee’s physical or mental impairment or incapacity.
(f)
“Earned Salary” shall mean the Base Salary earned by Employee, but unpaid, through
Employee’s Date of Termination.
(g)

“Normal Retirement Date” shall mean the date on which Employee attains age 60.

(h)
“Notice of Termination” shall mean a written notice given by the party effecting the
termination of Employee’s employment which shall
(1)

Indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon;
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(2)
Set forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a
basis for termination of Employee’s employment under the provision so indicated; and
(3) If the Date of Termination is other than the date of receipt of such notice, specify
the Date of Termination (which date shall be not more than 30 days after the giving of such
notice).
The failure by Employee or Parent or Employer to set forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or
circumstance which contributes to a showing of Termination for Good Reason or Termination for Cause
shall not waive any right of such party hereunder or preclude such party from asserting such fact or
circumstance in enforcing such party’s rights hereunder. In the event that a Potential Change in Control
has occurred, any Notice of Termination by Parent or Employer intended to effect a Termination for
Cause must be given with 45 days of Parent or Employer’s having actual knowledge of the events giving
rise to Termination for Cause.
(i)

“Potential Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events:

(1)
Any person or group shall have announced publicly an intention to effect a
Change in Control, or commenced any action (such as the commencement of a tender offer for
Parent’s common stock or the solicitation of proxies for the election of any of Parent’s directors)
that, if successful, could reasonably be expected to result in the occurrence of a Change in
Control;
(2)
Parent enters into an agreement the consummation of which would constitute a
Change in Control; or
(3)
Any other event occurs which the Board of Directors of Parent (the “Board”)
declares to be a Potential Change in Control.
(j)
“Separation Payment” shall mean any lump sum payment in excess of Earned Salary and
Accrued Obligations payable to Employee under this Agreement.
(k)
“Termination for Cause” shall mean a termination of Employee’s employment by the
Company following the occurrence of any of the following:
(1)
Employee’s continued failure to substantially perform Employee’s duties and
responsibilities (other than any such failure resulting from Employee’s physical or mental
impairment or incapacity);
(2)
Employee’s engaging in fraud or other misconduct that is injurious to the
Company, monetarily or otherwise;
(3)

Employee’s engaging in insubordination;

(4)
Employee’s violation of, or failure to comply with, any material written policy,
guideline, rule or regulation of the Company;
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(5)
Employee’s conviction of (or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a charge of)
any felony, or any crime or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude or financial misconduct;
(6)
Employee’s failure, following a written request from Parent, reasonably to
cooperate (including, without limitation, the refusal by Employee to be interviewed or deposed,
or to give testimony) in connection with any investigation or proceeding, whether internal or
external (including, without limitation, by any governmental or quasi-governmental agency) into
the business practices or operations of the Company; or
(7)
Agreement.

A material violation by Employee of the provisions of paragraphs 5 or 6 of this

(l)
“Termination for Good Reason” shall mean a termination of Employee’s employment by
Employee due to the occurrence of any of the following, without the written consent of Employee:
(1)
The assignment to Employee of any duties inconsistent in any material adverse
respect with Employee’s position, authority or responsibilities as of the Effective Date (or as the
same may be enhanced after the Effective Date),
(2)
Any other material adverse change in Employee’s position referenced in
subclause (1), including titles, authority or responsibilities from those in effect immediately
prior to such change, provided, however, that it is understood that removal of Employee from
the position of Chairman of the Board, shall not, standing alone, be deemed to constitute a basis
for a Termination for Good Reason;
(3)
If Employee is serving as a member of the Board at any time during the term of
this Agreement, any failure of the Company to nominate Employee for re-election, or any failure
of the shareholders to re-elect Employee, as a member of the Board (other than due to
Employee’s death, Disability, Termination for Cause or voluntary resignation from the Board),
regardless of whether any such failure is susceptible of cure; or
(4)
Any failure by the Company, other than an insubstantial or inadvertent failure
remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by Employee, to
provide Employee with Base Salary at the level payable to Employee on the Effective Date or, if
more favorable to Employee, at the highest rate made available to Employee at any time
thereafter.
3.

Termination of Employment, Relocation.

(a) Right to Terminate. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed in any way to limit the
right of the Company to terminate Employee’s employment, with or without cause, or for Employee to
terminate Employee’s employment with the Company, with or without reason; provided, however, that
the Company and Employee must nonetheless comply with any duty or obligation such party has at law
or under any agreement (including paragraphs 5 and 6 of this Agreement) between the parties.
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(b) Termination due to Death or Disability. Employee’s employment with the Company shall
be terminated upon Employee’s death. By written notice to the other party, either the Company or
Employee may terminate Employee’s employment due to Disability.
(c) Relocation. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed in any way to limit the right of
the Company to require Employee to perform Employee’s services on behalf of the Company at a
different location or locations than the one at which Employee was performing Employee’s services
immediately prior to the date hereof, or to require the Company to pay or provide any benefits to
Employee on account of such relocation, other than to the extent benefits would be payable to Employee
under the Company’s applicable relocation policy as in effect at the relevant time.
4. Amounts Payable Upon Termination of Employment. The following provisions shall apply to any
termination of Employee’s employment:
(a)
Death, Disability or Normal Retirement. In the event that Employee’s employment
terminates due to Employee’s death or Disability (regardless of whether such Disability termination is
initiated by Employee or the Company), or due to the voluntary retirement by Employee (which is not a
Termination for Good Reason) at or after attaining Employee’s Normal Retirement Date, Parent or
Employer shall pay Employee (or, if applicable, Employee’s beneficiaries or legal representative(s)):
(1)
The Earned Salary, as soon as practicable (but not more than 10 days) following
Employee’s Date of Termination;
(2)
The Accrued Obligations, in accordance with applicable law and the provisions
of any applicable plan, program, policy or practice; and
(3)
A Separation Payment in an amount equal to Employee’s Base Salary, which
shall be paid, in all cases other than voluntary retirement on or after Normal Retirement Date,
within 10 days following Employee’s Date of Termination, and, in the case of voluntary
retirement on or after Normal Retirement Date, 6 months and 1 day after Employee’s Date of
Termination.
(b)
Cause and Voluntary Termination. If Employee’s employment is terminated by the
Company in a Termination for Cause or voluntarily by Employee (other than in a Termination for Good
Reason or at or after Normal Retirement Date), Parent or Employer shall pay Employee
(1)
The Earned Salary, as soon as practicable (but not more than 10 days) following
Employee’s Date of Termination; and
(2)
The Accrued Obligations, in accordance with applicable law and the provisions
of any applicable plan, program, policy or practice.
(c)
Termination for Good Reason or Not for Cause. If Employee terminates Employee’s
employment in a Termination for Good Reason, or the Company terminates Employee’s employment for
any reason other than those described in paragraphs 4(a) and (b) above, Parent or Employer shall pay or
shall provide to Employee the following benefits and compensation:
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(1)
The Earned Salary, as soon as practicable (but not more than 10 days) following
Employee’s Date of Termination;
(2)
The Accrued Obligations, in accordance with applicable law and the provisions
of any applicable plan, program, policy or practice;
(3)
A Separation Payment, as soon as practicable (but not more than 10 days)
following the expiration of the revocation period stated in the General Release Agreement
described in subparagraph 4(d) below, in an amount equal to the sum of
(i)

3 times Employee’s Base Salary;

(ii)
The product of (A) the monthly amount that, on the Date of
Termination, Employee would be required to pay to continue coverage under the
Employer’s group health plan(s) (as defined by the Consolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1985 (“COBRA”) for Employee and Employee’s eligible
dependents, if any, covered thereunder immediately prior to the Date of Termination
and (B) 36; provided, however, that, if Employee is covered under group health plan(s)
not subject to COBRA, instead of including this amount as part of the Separation
Payment, the Company shall either, at its election, provide Employee and Employee’s
covered dependents continued coverage under such medical plan, at its expense, for a
number of months equal to the number specified in this subparagraph (c)(3)(ii)(B) or
include in the Separation Payment an amount equal to the value of such continued
coverage. For the avoidance of doubt, such payment shall not in any way alter, modify
or affect Employee’s right to (and the conditions upon which, and the period during
which, Employee may elect to) continue coverage for Employee and Employee’s
eligible dependents under COBRA ; and
(iii) If the termination of employment is by the Company and if the Date of
Termination is less than 30 days after the date Notice of Termination is given, an
amount equal to 1/12 (one twelfth) of Employee’s Base Salary, which amount shall be
paid in cash on the Date of Termination; and
(4)
Full vesting, as of the Date of Termination, of all of the grants (other than stock
options granted on or before the date hereof which would not have become vested upon such a
termination under the terms thereof in effect immediately prior to the date of this Agreement)
made to Employee under the LTIP which are outstanding on the Date of Termination.
(d)
Separation Payment Contingent on Release. Any Separation Payment payable to
Employee under subparagraph 4(c) shall be subject to, and contingent upon, Employee’s execution and
non-revocation of a General Release Agreement in favor of the Company in substantially the form and
substance as the one attached hereto as Schedule A.
5.

Nonpublic Information.

(a)
Acknowledgement of Access. Employee hereby acknowledges that, in connection with
Employee’s employment with the Company, Employee has received, and will continue to receive, various
information regarding the Company and its business, operations and affairs. All
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such information, to the extent not publicly available other than as a result of a disclosure by Employee in
violation of this Agreement, is referred to herein as the “Nonpublic Information.”
(b)
Agreement to Keep Confidential. Employee hereby agrees that, from and after the
Effective Date and continuing until 3 years following the Employee’s Date of Termination, Employee
will keep all Nonpublic Information confidential and will not, without the prior written consent of the
Board or the President of Parent, disclose any Nonpublic Information in any manner whatsoever or use
any Nonpublic Information other than in connection with the performance of Employee’s services to the
Company; provided, however, that the provisions of this subparagraph shall not prevent Employee from
(1) Disclosing any Nonpublic Information to any other employee of the Company or
to any representative or agent of the Company (such as an independent accountant, engineer,
attorney or financial advisor) when such disclosure is reasonably necessary or appropriate (in
Employee’s judgment) in connection with the performance by Employee of Employee’s duties
and responsibilities;
(2)
Disclosing any Nonpublic Information as required by applicable law, rule,
regulation or legal process (but only after compliance with the provisions of subparagraph (c) of
this paragraph); and
(3)
Disclosing any information about this Agreement and Employee’s other
compensation arrangement to Employee’s spouse, financial advisors or attorneys, or to enforce
any of Employee’s rights under this Agreement.
(c) Commitment to Seek Protective Order. If Employee is requested pursuant to, or required
by, applicable law, rule, regulation or legal process to disclose any Nonpublic Information, Employee will
notify Parent promptly so that the Company may seek a protective order or other appropriate remedy or,
in Parent’s sole discretion, waive compliance with the terms of this subparagraph, and Employee will
fully cooperate in any attempt by the Company to obtain any such protective order or other remedy. If no
such protective order or other remedy is obtained, or if Parent waives compliance with the terms of this
subparagraph, Employee will furnish or disclose only that portion of the Nonpublic Information as is
legally required and will exercise all reasonable efforts to obtain reliable assurance that confidential
treatment will be accorded the Nonpublic Information that is so disclosed.
6.

Non-Solicitation and Non-Interference.

(a) Non-Solicitation of Employees. During the period of Employee’s employment with the
Company (the “Employment Period”) and during the 2 year period following Employee’s Date of
Termination (the “Restriction Period”), Employee shall not directly or indirectly induce any employee of
the Company to terminate employment with such entity, and shall not directly or indirectly, either
individually or as owner, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, employ or offer employment to any
person who is or was employed by the Company unless such person shall have ceased to be employed by
the Company for a period of at least 6 months.
(b) Non-Interference with Business Relationships. During the Employment Period and the
Restriction Period, Employee shall not directly or indirectly take any actions which can reasonably be
expected to, or are intended to, disrupt or interfere with in any significant way any existing relationship
that the Company has with any third party.
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(c) No Disparaging Comments. Except to the extent otherwise required or compelled at law
or under subpoena, during the Employment Period and the Restriction Period, Employee shall refrain
from making any public derogatory or disparaging comment concerning the Company or any of the
current or former officers, directors or employees of the Company. Notwithstanding the immediately
preceding sentence, nothing herein shall be construed to preclude Employee from enforcing any rights or
claims Employee may have against the Company (or to defend against any claims by the Company)
arising under this Agreement.
(d) Company Property. Promptly following Employee’s Date of Termination, Employee shall
return to the Company all property of the Company, and all copies thereof in Employee’s possession or
under Employee’s control.
7.

Miscellaneous Provisions.

(a) No Mitigation, No Offset. Employee shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any
payment provided for in this Agreement by seeking other employment or otherwise, and the amount of
any payment provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced by any compensation earned by
Employee as the result of employment by another employer after the Date of Termination or otherwise.
Except as provided in subparagraph 4(d), Parent’s or Employer’s obligation to make the payments
provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations hereunder shall not be affected by
any circumstances, including, without limitation, any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other
right which the Company may have against Employee or others whether by reason of the subsequent
employment of Employee or otherwise.
(b) Arbitration. Except to the extent provided in paragraph 7(d), any dispute or controversy
arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be resolved by binding arbitration. The
arbitration shall be held in Dallas, Texas and except to the extent inconsistent with this Agreement, shall
be conducted in accordance with the Expedited Employment Arbitration Rules of the American
Arbitration Association then in effect at the time of the arbitration, and otherwise in accordance with
principles which would be applied by a court of law or equity. The arbitrator shall be acceptable to both
Parent and Employee. If the parties cannot agree on an acceptable arbitrator, the dispute shall be heard by
a panel of three arbitrators, one appointed by each of the parties and the third appointed by the other two
arbitrators. The arbitrator may award pre-judgment interest on any amount found to be due under this
Agreement at a rate not in excess of the rate that would be payable with respect to judgments rendered in
a Texas state court.
(c) Attorney Fees. All legal fees and other costs incurred by Employee in connection with the
resolution of any dispute or controversy under or in connection with this Agreement shall be reimbursed
by the Company to Employee if such dispute or controversy is resolved in favor of Employee. The
Company shall be responsible for, and shall pay, all legal fees and other costs incurred by the Company in
connection with the resolution of any dispute or controversy under or in connection with this Agreement,
regardless of whether such dispute or controversy is resolved in favor of the Company or Employee.
(d)
Equitable Relief Available. Employee acknowledges that remedies at law may be
inadequate to protect the Company against any actual or threatened breach by Employee of the provisions
of paragraphs 5 or 6. Accordingly, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies otherwise available
to the Company, Employee agrees that the Company shall have the right to equitable and injunctive relief
(without requirement to post any bond) to prevent any breach of
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the provisions of paragraphs 5 or 6 (without any requirement to post any bond), as well as to such
damages or other relief as may be available to the Company by reason of any such breach that does occur.
(e) Not A Contract of Employment. Employee acknowledges that that this Agreement is not
an “employment agreement” or “employment contract” (written or otherwise), as either term is used or
defined in, or contemplated by or under
(1)

Parent’s LTIP;

(2)

Any other plan or agreement to which the Company is a party; or

(3)

Applicable statutory, common or case law.

(f)
Notices. Any Notice of Termination or other communication called for by the terms of
this Agreement shall be in writing and either delivered personally or by registered or certified mail
(postage prepaid and return receipt requested) and shall be deemed given when received at the following
addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice):
(1)
If to Parent, Employer or the Company, 5205 North O’Connor Boulevard, Suite
900, Irving, Texas 75039, Attention: General Counsel;
(2)
If to Employee, the address of Employee set forth below Employee’s signature
on the signature page of this Agreement.
(g) Assignment. Employer may assign its duties and obligations hereunder to any other direct
or indirect, majority-owned subsidiary of Parent, but shall remain secondarily liable for the performance
of this Agreement by Parent and/or any such assignee. Except pursuant to the immediately preceding
sentence or an assumption by a successor described in subparagraph (h) of this paragraph, the rights and
obligations of Parent and Employer pursuant to this Agreement may not be assigned, in whole or in part,
by Parent or Employer to any other person or entity without the express written consent of Employee.
The rights and obligations of Employee pursuant to this Agreement may not be assigned, in whole or in
part, by Employee to any other person or entity without the express written consent of the Board.
(h)
Successors. Parent shall require any successor (whether direct or indirect) to all or
substantially all of the business or assets of Parent (whether by purchase of securities, merger,
consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise), to expressly assume and agree to perform the obligations to be
performed by the Company under this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the
Company would be required to perform if no such succession had taken place. This Agreement shall be
binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of, Parent, Employer, the Company, Employee and their
respective successors, permitted assigns, personal and legal representatives, executors, administrators,
heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees, as applicable.
(i)
Amendments and Waivers. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or otherwise
modified, and no right of any party to this Agreement may be waived, unless such amendment,
modification or waiver is agreed to in a written instrument signed by Employee and Company. No waiver
by either party hereto of, or compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement to be
performed by the other party hereto shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or
conditions at the same or at any prior or subsequent time.
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(j)
Complete Agreement. This Agreement replaces and supersedes all prior agreements,
including, but not limited to, the Severance Agreement between Parent and Employee, as in effect
immediately prior to the date hereof, among the parties with respect to payments to be made to Employee
upon the termination of Employee’s employment prior to a Change in Control, and the provisions of this
Agreement constitute the complete understanding and agreement among the parties with respect to such
subject matter. Nothing in this subparagraph (j) is intended to, or shall be construed to (1) supercede the
Change in Control Agreement or (2) limit Employee’s rights under the LTIP or any other Company plan,
program, policy or practice (other than any plan, program, policy or practice primarily providing
severance or other termination benefits) generally applicable to similarly situated employees.
(k)
Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT IS BEING MADE AND EXECUTED IN,
AND IS INTENDED TO BE PERFORMED IN, THE STATE OF TEXAS AND SHALL BE
GOVERNED, CONSTRUED, INTERPRETED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SUBSTANTIVE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS.
(l)
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same agreement.
(m)
Construction. The captions of the paragraphs, subparagraphs and sections of this
Agreement have been inserted as a matter of convenience of reference only and shall not affect the
meaning or construction of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement. Unless otherwise specified,
references in this Agreement to a “paragraph,” “subparagraph,” “section,” “subsection” or “schedule”
shall be considered to be references to the appropriate paragraph, subparagraph, section, subsection or
schedule, respectively, of this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the term “including” shall mean
“including, but not limited to.”
(n) Validity and Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal,
invalid or unenforceable under the present or future laws effective during the term of this Agreement, (1)
such term or provision shall be fully severable, (2) this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if
such term or provision had never comprised a part of this Agreement and (3) the remaining terms and
provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal,
invalid or unenforceable term or provision or by its severance from this Agreement. Furthermore, in lieu
of such illegal, invalid or unenforceable term or provision, there shall be added automatically as a part of
this Agreement, a term or provision as similar to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable term or provision
as may be possible and be legal, valid and enforceable.
(o) Survival. Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, paragraphs 5, 6
and 7, and, to the extent that any of Parent’s and Employer’s obligations thereunder have not theretofore
been satisfied, paragraph 4 of this Agreement shall survive the termination hereof.
(p) Joint and Several Liability. Parent and Employer (or any assignee of Employer pursuant
to paragraph 7(g)) shall each be jointly and severally liable to Employee hereunder with regard to any
obligation imposed by the terms hereof on Parent or Employer.
(SIGNATURE PAGE ATTACHED)
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In Witness Whereof, the parties have executed this Agreement to be effective as of the Effective
Date.
PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY

By:

/s/ Mark S. Berg
Mark S. Berg
Executive Vice President

PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY

By:

/s/ Mark S. Berg
Mark S. Berg
Executive Vice President

EMPLOYEE

By:

/s/ Scott D. Sheffield

Address:
5205 North O’Connor Blvd.
Suite 900
Irving, Texas 75039-3746
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Schedule A
GENERAL RELEASE AGREEMENT
NOTICE: You should thoroughly review and understand the effect of this General Release Agreement
(“Release”) before signing it, and you are advised to discuss this document with your attorney. In accordance
with the requirements of the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act (“OWBPA”), you are allowed at least
[number] days from the date of your receipt of this document to consider the offer made to you and to return an
executed copy of this Release to the Vice President Administration. Additionally, after you have executed this
Release, you have seven (7) days to reconsider and revoke your agreement.
GENERAL RELEASE: In consideration of my acceptance of the payments and benefits offered to me
under the Pioneer Natural Resources Company Severance Agreement effective [date][, as amended,] (the
“Agreement”), I hereby release and discharge Pioneer Natural Resources Company (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries and affiliates, and the officers, directors, employees, agents, predecessors, successors, and
assigns of such entities (collectively the “Released Parties) from any and all claims, liabilities, demands, and
causes of action, known or unknown, fixed or contingent, which I have or claim against any of them as a
result of my employment the termination of my employment or any other act or omission relating to any
matter arising on or before the date I sign this Release, including but not limited to claims arising under
federal, state, or local laws prohibiting employment discrimination, including, but not limited to, the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, and including, but not limited to, claims arising out of any legal
restrictions, contractual or otherwise, on the Company’s right to terminate the employment of its employees
(any and all “Potential Claims”), and I do hereby agree not to file a lawsuit, arbitral proceeding or other
legal action to assert such Potential Claims. I acknowledge and agree that the Released Parties may recover
from me any loss, including attorney’s fees and costs of defending against any such legal action, that they
may suffer arising out of my breach of this Release.
I understand that this Release is final and binding, and I agree not to challenge its enforceability other than as
permitted by applicable laws. If I do challenge the enforceability of this Release other than with respect to claims
of age discrimination, I agree initially to tender to the Company an amount equivalent to the payment and benefits
I received pursuant to the Agreement, and invite the Company to retain such amount and agree with me to cancel
this Release. In the event the Company accepts this offer, the Company shall retain such amount and this Release
will be void. In the event the Company does not accept such offer, the Company shall so notify me, and shall place
such amount in an interest-bearing escrow account pending the resolution of any dispute as to whether this Release
shall be set aside and/or otherwise be rendered unenforceable. If I am successful in challenging the enforceability
of this Release as to age discrimination claims, then, to the extent permitted by law, any damages I may recover for
those claims will be offset by any payments and benefits made to me under the Agreement.
I acknowledge and agree that the Company has no legal obligation to provide the payments and/or benefits offered
to me under the Agreement, except in exchange for this Release, and my acceptance of such payments and benefits
constitutes my agreement to all terms and conditions set forth in this Release.
I acknowledge and agree that, except to the extent otherwise provided in the Agreement or prohibited by law (for
example by the OWBPA with respect to claims of age discrimination), this Release constitutes a waiver of any and
all Potential Claims that I have or may have against the Released Parties. I further acknowledge and agree that this
Release has no effect on any obligations I have assumed under the Agreement with respect to confidentiality, nonsolicitation, non-interference and other such matters and that any such obligations shall survive my execution of
this Release in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.
I acknowledge that I have [number] days to consider this Release before executing it, although I may execute it
any time during this [number] day period (but not before my last day of employment), that I may revoke this
Release within 7 days after I execute it by written notice to the Company’s Vice President of Administration and
that this Release will not become effective or enforceable, and the payments and benefits offered under the
Agreement will not be made or provided, until expiration of this 7 day period without my revocation.
I have carefully read and fully understand all of the provisions of this Release. I further acknowledge that entering
into this General Release Agreement is knowing and voluntary on my part, that I have had a reasonable time to
deliberate regarding its terms, and that I have had the right to consult with an attorney prior to executing this
Release if I so desired.
_________________________________________
Date signed:

________________________________________
Signature of [employee]
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_________________________________________
Date signed:

________________________________________
Witness
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Schedule I
1. The document to which this Schedule I is attached is the form of Severance Agreement between the
Company and Scott D. Sheffield. The Company entered into a Severance Agreement with Timothy L. Dove that
varied from the form as filed in the following respects:
a. The definition of “Termination for Good Reason” does not include the failure of the Company or its
shareholders to nominate and re-elect the employee as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company.
b. The Separation Payment due under Section 4(c)(3) consists of (i) 2.5 times the employee’s base salary,
(ii) an amount equal to 30 months of medical premiums and (iii) an amount equal to 1/12 of the employee’s base
salary if the date of termination is less than 30 days following the notice of termination and the employee’s
employment is terminated by the Company.
2. The Company has entered into Severance Agreements with each of A.R. Alameddine, Mark S. Berg,
Chris J. Cheatwood, Richard P. Dealy, William F. Hannes(1), Darin G. Holderness and Danny L. Kellum, David
McManus(2) and Jay P. Still(2) that varied from the form as filed in the following respects:
a. The definition of “Termination for Good Reason” in Section 2(n) was modified to provide, in its
entirety, the following:
“Termination for Good Reason” shall mean a termination of Employee’s employment by Employee
within 30 days after
(1) the earlier of receipt by Employee of (i) written notice of an Excessive Salary Reduction and
(ii) Employee’s first paycheck that reflects an Excessive Salary Reduction; or
(2) if Employee is an officer of Parent or Employer, the demotion of Employee to either a nonofficer position or an officer position with such entity that is junior to the officer position held by
Employee immediately prior to such demotion, provided, however, that if Employee is a member of the
Management Committee at any time during this Agreement, removal from, or exclusion from regular
participation as a member of, the Management Committee shall be deemed to be a demotion to a junior
officer position on the date Employee receives written notice from the Company of such removal or
exclusion or, if no such notice is given, the date Employee has actual knowledge of such removal or
exclusion.(3)
b. The Separation Payment due under Section 4(c)(3) consists of (i) 1 times the employee’s base salary,
(ii) an amount equal to 18 months of medical premiums and (iii) an amount equal to 1/12 of the employee’s base
salary if the date of termination is less than 30 days following the notice of termination and the employee’s
employment is terminated by the Company.
c. Section 4(c)(4) was modified to provide, in its entirety, the following:
Any additional rights that may be afforded to Employee in accordance with the terms of the LTIP with respect to
awards made to Employee thereunder which are not vested as of such Date of Termination.
_____________
(1) The date of Mr. Hannes’ agreement is December 12, 2005
(2) The date of Messrs. McManus’ and Still’s agreements is December 12, 2007.
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(3) In the case of Mr. Holderness’ agreement, in clause (2) of the definition of “Termination for Good Reason,” the
language commencing with “provided however” and continuing through the end of the sentence is omitted.
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EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
as of December 31, 2007

State or Jurisdiction
of Organization
Delaware
Cayman Islands
Colorado
Colorado
Delaware
Delaware
South Africa
Delaware
Nigeria
Texas
Texas
Delaware
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands
Texas
Delaware
Bahamas
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands
South Africa
Argentina
Cayman Islands
England
Delaware
Cayman Islands
Nigeria
Nigeria
Cayman Islands
Bahamas
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Texas
Cayman Islands
Texas
Texas

Subsidiaries
DMLP CO.
LF Holding Company LDC
Long Canyon Gas Company, LLC
Lorencito Gas Gathering, LLC
Mesa Environmental Ventures Co.
Parker & Parsley Argentina, Inc.
Petroleum South Cape (Pty) Ltd.
Pioneer International Resources Company
Pioneer JDZ Limited
Pioneer Limited Natural Resources Properties
LLC
Pioneer Natural Gas Company
Pioneer Natural Resources Alaska, Inc.
Pioneer Natural Resources Algeria Limited
Pioneer Natural Resources Anaguid Ltd.
Pioneer Natural Resources Equatorial Guinea
Limited
Pioneer Natural Resources Foundation
Pioneer Natural Resources GP LLC
Pioneer Natural Resources Libya Limited
Pioneer Natural Resources Morocco Limited
Pioneer Natural Resources Nigeria Ltd.
Pioneer Natural Resources South Africa (Pty)
Limited
Pioneer Natural Resources (Tierra Del Fuego)
S.R.L.
Pioneer Natural Resources Tunisia Ltd.
Pioneer Natural Resources UK Limited
Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc.
Pioneer Natural Resources West Africa Limited
Pioneer Nigeria Deepwater Limited
Pioneer NR Nigeria (256) Limited
Pioneer Resources Africa Limited
Pioneer Resources Gabon Limited
Pioneer Retained Properties Company LLC
Pioneer Shelf Properties Incorporated
Pioneer Southwest Energy Partners L.P.
Pioneer Southwest Energy Partners USA LLC
Pioneer Uravan, Inc.
TDF Holding Company LDC
Westpan Limited NGL LLC
Westpan Limited Resources LLC

Ownership %
100
100
75.4
85
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Partnerships in which Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. is the
managing general partner

Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Texas

Parker & Parsley 87-A Conv., Ltd.
Parker & Parsley Private Investment 88 L.P.
Parker & Parsley Private Investment 89, L.P.
Parker & Parsley 90 Spraberry Private Development, L.P.
Midkiff Development Drilling Program, Ltd.
Mesa Offshore Royalty Partnership

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(1)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-148655) of Pioneer Natural Resources Company and
Pioneer Natural Resources USA, Inc. and in the related Prospectus,

(2)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-136488) pertaining to the Pioneer Natural Resources
Company Executive Deferred Compensation Plan,

(3)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-136489) pertaining to the Pioneer Natural Resources
Company 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan,

(4)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-136490) pertaining to the Pioneer Natural Resources
Company Long-Term Incentive Plan,

(5)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-119355) pertaining to the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan of
Evergreen Resources, Inc., the Carbon Energy Corporation 1999 Stock Option Plan, and the
Evergreen Resources, Inc. Initial Stock Option Plan,

(6)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-88438) pertaining to the Pioneer Natural Resources
Company Long-Term Incentive Plan,

(7)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-39153) pertaining to the Pioneer Natural Resources
Company Deferred Compensation Retirement Plan,

(8)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-39249) pertaining to the Pioneer Natural Resources USA,
Inc. Profit Sharing 401(k) Plan,

(9)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-35087) pertaining to the Pioneer Natural Resources
Company Long-Term Incentive Plan,

(10)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-35165) pertaining to the Pioneer Natural Resources
Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

of our reports dated February 19, 2008, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Pioneer Natural
Resources Company, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Pioneer Natural
Resources Company, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Ernst & Young LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 19, 2008

Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ENGINEERS AND GEOLOGISTS
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (No. 333-35087, No. 33335165, No. 333-39153, No. 333-39249, No. 333-88438, No. 333-119355, No. 333-136488, No. 333-136489 and
No. 333-136490) on Form S-8 and (No. 333-148655) on Form S-3 of Pioneer Natural Resources Company (the
"Company") and the related Prospectuses of the reference of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, of the Company and its subsidiaries, filed with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
NETHERLAND, SEWELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.
By:

/s/ C.H (Scott) Rees III, P.E.
C.H (Scott) Rees III, P.E.
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer

Dallas, Texas
February 19, 2008

EXHIBIT 31.1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
I, Scott D. Sheffield, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Pioneer Natural Resources Company;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
February 19, 2008
/s/ Scott D. Sheffield
Scott D. Sheffield, Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
I, Richard P. Dealy, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Pioneer Natural Resources Company;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
February 19, 2008
/s/ Richard P. Dealy
Richard P. Dealy, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350
I, Scott D. Sheffield, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Pioneer Natural Resources Company (the
"Company"), hereby certify that the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2007 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (the "Report") by the Company fully complies with the requirements of that section.
I further certify that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Name:

/s/ Scott D. Sheffield
Scott D. Sheffield, Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

Date:

February 19, 2008

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF PIONEER NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANY
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350
I, Richard P. Dealy, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Pioneer Natural Resources
Company (the "Company"), hereby certify that the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Report") by the Company fully complies with the requirements of that
section.
I further certify that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Name:

/s/ Richard P. Dealy
Richard P. Dealy, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

Date:

February 19, 2008

